The Role of the Liver X Receptors in Reverse Cholesterol Transport

and Atherosclerosis

Sarah Rebecca Breevoort Acworth, Georgia

MS, Biological and Physical Sciences, University of Virginia, 2010 BS, Cellular Biology, University of Georgia, 2008 BS, Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University of Georgia, 2008

A dissertation presented to the Graduate Faculty of the University of Virginia in Candidacy for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Pharmacology

University of Virginia August 2014

Ira G. Schulman, Ph.D.

Colleen McNamara M.D.

Norbert Leitinger, Ph.D.

Gary K. Owens, Ph.D.

Eugene J. Barrett, M.D., Ph.D.

ABSTRACT

Liver X receptors (LXR α and LXR β) are important regulators of cholesterol and lipid metabolism, and their activation has been shown to inhibit cardiovascular disease and reduce atherosclerosis in animal models. Believed to be integral to their antiatherogenic effects, LXRs regulate reverse cholesterol transport (RCT), the process by which high density lipoprotein (HDL) particles transport cholesterol from peripheral cells such as lipid-laden macrophages to the liver for catabolism and excretion. LXRs regulate RCT by controlling cholesterol efflux from macrophages to HDL and the excretion, catabolism and absorption of cholesterol in the liver and intestine. Deletion of LXR activity in macrophages increases atherosclerosis; a consequence thought to result from the loss of LXR stimulated RCT. Nevertheless, the relative contribution of LXR activity in the macrophage, liver and intestine to LXR stimulated RCT has not been determined. Utilizing tissue-specific LXR deletions we demonstrate that macrophage LXR activity is neither necessary nor sufficient for LXR agonists to promote RCT. Furthermore, our studies suggest that the ability of macrophages to efflux cholesterol to HDL *in vivo* is not regulated in a cell autonomous fashion but is primarily determined by the quantity and quality of the HDL particles.

While macrophage LXR is not necessary for LXR agonist stimulated RCT, liver LXRα is required for agonist stimulated fecal cholesterol excretion. Interestingly, when the liver specific LXRα deficient mice are challenged with dietary cholesterol the ability of LXR agonists to increase macrophage efflux in is lost. To investigate if the loss of LXR agonist stimulated RCT increases atherosclerosis, we crossed the liver-specific LXRα deficient mouse into a pro-atherogenic background. Hyperlipidemic liver-specific LXR α knockout animals had a significant reduction in agonist-stimulated macrophage cholesterol efflux and fecal cholesterol excretion, highlighting an important role for hepatic LXR α in regulating RCT and cholesterol metabolism. Deletion of liver LXR α also results in increased atherosclerosis, uncovering an important function for hepatic LXR α activity in limiting cardiovascular disease. Nevertheless, synthetic LXR agonists were still protective against atherosclerosis in the absence of hepatic LXR α . Together our data suggests that LXR agonist-stimulated RCT may not be necessary for the antiatherogenic activity of LXR agonists; however, LXR expression in the macrophage is required for their protective effects. In addition to promoting cholesterol efflux LXR agonists exert anti-inflammatory effects in macrophages, and this function may in fact underlie their athero-protective activities. Future studies from this work might elucidate the contribution of macrophage LXR anti-inflammatory activity to the cardio-protective effects of LXR agonists. Such findings could provide valuable insight for future therapeutic strategies for the treatment of cardiovascular disease.

Acknowledgements

It is with tremendous respect and appreciation that I extend my gratitude to my mentor, Ira Schulman, for his excellent mentorship. Without his expertise, support and guidance none of this work would have been possible and the many invaluable skills that he has imparted to me will serve me well on my path to becoming a clinician-scientist. I would also like to thank the members of my doctoral committee for their time, interest and insightful questions and comments. It was a great pleasure sharing the last four years with many wonderful individuals in the Schulman lab and the Pharmacology Department. Their support, companionship and guidance made my PhD training quite an enjoyable experience. Lastly, I'm indebted to the individuals who inspired me to pursue science and medicine and who have continued to remain good friends and now colleagues: Dr. Michael Petelle, Dr. Wes McCoy, and Dr.Walter K. Schmidt. May I inspire and guide the next generation of clinicians/scientists as they so humbly did for me. Lastly, I'd like to thank my family, both related and otherwise, for their continuing to support, love and belief in me over the years.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS AND DEDICATION TABLE OF CONTENTS APPENDIX OF TABLES APPENDIX OF FIGURES APPENDIX OF ACRONYMS	ii iv v-vii viii ix-xi x-xv
Chapter 1: An introduction to Atherosclerosis, high-density lipoprotein particles and Liver X receptors, a comprehensive review	1-90
1.1 Cholesterol – an essential molecule	2
Sources of cellular cholesterol	2
Is excessive dietary cholesterol harmful?	6
1.2 Atherosclerosis	11
Historical perspective	12
Questioning the lipid hypothesis: why don't statins cure cardiovascular disease?	
The "oxidative modification" hypothesis of atherosclerosis	18
The "infectious" hypothesis of atherosclerosis	21
Atherogenic dyslipidemia	25
Molecular pathogenesis of atherosclerosis	32
Inflammation and atherosclerosis	36
1.3 High Density Lipoprotein	44
HDL biogenesis	45
HDL – the "good" cholesterol	49
HDL atheroprotective functions	51
Is raising HDL beneficial?	58
Effects of inflammation on HDL function	63

Obesity and HDL dysfunction	66
1.4 Liver X Receptors	69
LXRs and atherosclerosis	72
LXRs and reverse cholesterol transport	75
LXRs regulate lipid metabolism	78
LXRs and lipoprotein particles	79
LXRs and inflammation	81
Chapter 2: Macrophage independent regulation of reverse cholesterol transport by Liver X Receptors	98-159
2.1 Abstract and significance	98
2.2 Introduction	100
2.3 Results	104
2.4 Discussion	114
Chapter 3: Liver LXRα expression is crucial for whole body cholesterol homeostasis and reverse cholesterol transport in mice	160-200
3.1 Abstract	161
3.2 Introduction	162
3.3 Results	165
3.4 Discussion	174
Chapter 4: Materials and Methods	201-210
4.1 Chapter 2 Materials and Methods	201
4.2 Chapter 3 Materials and Methods	205
Chapter 5: Conclusions and Future Directions	211-225

Publications resulting from this work	291
References	241
Appendix 1: Pathway specific LXR activity limits atherosclerosis	226-240
Contribution of Liver LXRa to HDL function and Atherosclerosis	221
LXR agonists enhance HDL cholesterol acceptor function	220
The effect of diet on Liver LXRα activity	217
CETP inhibits LXR agonist-stimulated macrophage efflux	216
Role of intestinal LXR in agonist-stimulated RCT	214
Role of macrophage LXR in agonist-stimulated RCT	213

APPENDIX OF TABLES

Table 1.1 Atheroprotective Activities of LXR Agonists	85
Table 1.2 LXR activity and Atherosclerosis in Mouse Models	86
Table 2.1 Plasma Lipid Levels	121
Table 2.2 LivKO PLTP mRNA and Plasma Activity	122
Table 3.1 Lipoprotein Particle size and Number	178
Table 4.1 Oligonucleotides for real-time PCR	210

APPENDIX OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Cholesterol biosynthesis pathway	87
Figure 1.2 Progression of Atherosclerosis	88
Figure 1.3 HDL formation and degradation	90
Figure 1.4 HDL metabolism and reverse cholesterol transport	92
Figure 1.5 LXR regulated reverse cholesterol transport	94
Figure 1.6 SUMO-dependent transrepression by LXR agonists	95
Figure 1.7 NCoR repression of LXRs restricts macrophage biosynthesis of insulin- sensitizing omega-3 fatty acids	97
Figure 2.1 Macrophage LXRs are not required for RCT	123
Figure 2.2 Liver ³ H sterol levels	125
Figure 2.3 <i>In vitro</i> cholesterol efflux in $Lxr\alpha^{-/-}/Lxr\beta^{-/-}$ macrophages	127
Figure 2.4 HDL function and adipose tissue drives LXR-dependent RCT	129
Figure 2.5 FPLC profiles	131
Figure 2.6 APOA1 protein levels in FPLC-purified HDL	132
Figure 2.7 Hepatic ABC transporter expression in LivKO mice	134

Figure 2.8 Effect of 0.2% cholesterol diet on hepatic lipids and liver enzymes	136
Figure 2.9 liver histology in 0.2% cholesterol diet fed LivKO mice	138
Figure 2.10 Inflammatory gene expression in 0.2% cholesterol diet fed LivKO mice.	140
Figure 2.11 Gene expression of endoplasmic reticulum stress of 0.2% cholesterol diet fed LivKO mice.	142
Figure 2.12 In vivo RCT in chow and 0.2% cholesterol diet fed LivKO mice	144
Figure 2.13 LXR agonist dependent changes in HDL mass and function in LivKO mice.	146
Figure 2.14 Intestine ABCA1 levels in chow and 0.2% cholesterol diet fed LivKO mice.	148
Figure 2.15 Gene expression analysis of lipoprotein receptors in LivKO mice	150
Figure 2.16 Phospholipid composition of HDL particles from LivKO mice	152
Figure 2.17 LXR agonists increase CETP activity, HDL-phospholipids and fecal ³ H-sterols in CETP transgenic mice	154
Figure 2.18 CETP inhibits LXR agonist-dependent RCT	156
Figure 2.19 Model for LXR-regulated RCT	158
Figure 3.1 Plasma lipid levels in <i>Ldlr</i> ^{-/-} /LivKO mice	179
Figure 3.2 Hepatic lipid levels in <i>Ldlr</i> ^{-/-} /LivKO mice	181

Figure 3.3 Atherosclerosis in <i>Ldlr</i> ^{-/-} /LivKO mice	183
Figure 3.4 Representative <i>en face</i> and root section images	185
Figure 3.5 Macrophage and collagen staining	187
Figure 3.6 Atherosclerosis in <i>Ldlr</i> ^{-/-} /LivKO mice on 10 weeks of Western diet	189
Figure 3.7 <i>Pltp</i> expression in <i>Ldlr</i> ^{-/-} /LivKO mice	191
Figure 3.8 Cholesterol efflux in RAW264.7 cells	193
Figure 3.9 <i>In vivo</i> RCT in <i>Ldlr</i> ^{-/-} /LivKO mice	195
Figure 3.10 In vivo RCT, total fecal sterols and whole blood gene expression	197
Figure 3.11 Radiolabeled cholesterol is redistributed among lipoprotein particles	199

APPENDIX OF ACRONYMS

- $INF\gamma$ interferon γ
- HMG-CoA 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A
- ER- endoplasmic reticulum
- SREBP- sterol regulatory element-binding protein
- LDL low density lipoprotein
- TAG-triacylglycerol
- ApoE apolioprotein E
- ABCG5 ATP-binding cassette sub-family G member 5
- ABCG8 ATP-binding cassette sub-family G member 8
- CVD cardiovascular disease
- CHD coronary heart disease
- HDL high density lipoprotein
- PPAR α peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor α
- SRA scavenger receptor A
- oxLDL oxidized low-density lipoprotein
- LDLR low-density lipoprotein receptor
- TLR toll-like receptor
- MyD88 myeloid differentiation primary response 88
- HSP60 heat shock protein 60
- ApoB apolioprotein B

- NMR nuclear magnetic resonance
- LDL-P low-density lipoprotein particle number
- CETP cholesteryl ester transfer protein
- LPL lipoprotein lipase
- MTP microsomal triglyceride transfer protein
- CV-cardiovascular
- $NF\kappa B$ nuclear factor κB
- $TNF\alpha$ tumor necrosis factor α
- IL-6-interleukin-6
- IL-1 β interleukin-1 β
- IL-12 interleukin 12
- MCP-1 monocyte chemotactic protein-1
- NO nitric oxide
- ApoB-LP apolioprotein B-containing lipoprotein
- VLDL very low-density lipoprotein
- M-CSF macrophage colony stimulating factor
- PDGF platelet-derived growth factor
- FGF fibroblast growth factor
- SMC smooth muscle cell
- MMP metalloproteinase
- DC dendritic cell

- LCAT lethicin-cholesterol acyltransferase
- PLTP phospholipid transfer protein
- HL hepatic lipase
- EL endothelial lipase
- RCT reverse cholesterol transport
- PON1 paraoxonase 1
- LpPLA2 lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2
- NO nitric oxide
- eNOS endothelial nitric oxide synthase
- VCAM-1 vascular cell adhesion molecule 1
- ICAM-1 intracellular adhesion molecule 1
- PL phospholipid
- TG triglyceride
- SLE systemic lupus erythematous
- ESRD end-stage renal disease
- SAA serum amyloid A
- CRP C-reactive protein
- LXR liver X receptor
- CYP7a cholesterol 7α hydroxylase
- RXR retinoid X receptor
- LXRE liver X receptor response element

- SREBP-1c Sterol regulatory binding-element 1c
- PPAR peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
- NPC1L1 Neimann-Pick C1-like 1
- TICE trans-intestinal cholesterol excretion
- ACC acetyl-CoA carboxylase
- FAS fatty acid synthase
- SCD-1 stearoyl Co-A desaturase-1
- ChREBP carbohydrate response element binding protein
- AP-1 activation protein-1
- GPS2 G-pathway suppressor suppressor 2
- APR acute phase response
- NCoR nuclear receptor corepressor complex
- SMRT silencing mediator of retinoic acid and thyroid hormone receptor

CORO2A – coronin 2

CHAPTER 1: Introduction

This introduction is a comprehensive overview of topics that I found to be relevant to my PhD studies and topics that repeatedly surfaced as I was trying to understand the various phenomena that I was uncovering in my work. The task of writing an introduction for my thesis therefore became the opportune time for me to really explore and become more knowledgeable in the various topics that I found to be relevant and interesting. My thesis work has focused on the role of the Liver X Receptors in regulating cholesterol metabolism and the reverse cholesterol transport pathway and the effect of perturbing this activity on the development of atherosclerosis. Moreover, I discovered that LXRs can influence HDL levels and particle size as well as increase their functional activity, and importantly, that effect may be influenced by dietary cholesterol. Thus, in this introduction I have attempted to provide a comprehensive overview of the following topics which I consider relevant to my studies: 1) cholesterol metabolism and the effects of diet on blood cholesterol levels; 2) Historical perspective of atherosclerosis and the development of the various hypotheses of atherogenesis; 3)the molecular basis of atherosclerosis; 4) the athero-protective effects of high density lipoprotein (HDL) and factors that lead to its dysfunction; and 5) Liver X Receptors and their potential antiatherogenic activities. For those looking for a condensed version the most relevant to this work would be best served to start at the HDL section (p.41).

1.1 Cholesterol – an essential molecule

Cholesterol was first isolated from gallstones by physicians in 1789 during the French Revolution, and since that time its complex biosynthesis and metabolism has been extensively studied. Cholesterol is an organic sterol molecule that is an essential component of animal cellular membranes, where it typically accounts for 20-25% of membrane lipid molecules. Cholesterol helps to generate a semi-permeable barrier between cellular compartments and to regulate membrane fluidity. Within the cell membrane cholesterol functions in intracellular transport, cell signaling and nerve conduction and is essential for the structure and function of vesicular endocytosis. Cholesterol also aids cell signaling by organizing lipid rafts in cellular membranes that function to bring surface receptors in closer proximity to secondary messengers. The metabolites of cholesterol – bile acids and steroids – have important biological roles as signal transducers and solubilizers of other lipids and lipid-soluble vitamins. Moreover, cholesterol is important in the pathogenesis of cardiac and brain vascular diseases and has also been implicated in dementias, diabetes and cancer, as well as several rare monogenic diseases, including familial hypercholesterolemia and lysosomal cholesterol-sphingolipid storage diseases^{2, 3}. The biomedical importance of cholesterol in human physiology is undisputable as evident by the degree and variety of pathological states that are associated with either cholesterol deficiency or excess.

Sources of cellular cholesterol

The contribution of *de novo* cholesterol synthesis versus dietary cholesterol for total body cholesterol has been estimated to be 70% and 30%, respectively⁴. This ratio is likely highly variable among individuals, depending both on genetic factors (effectiveness of cholesterol production and absorption) and dietary supply. Since cholesterol is synthesized in the body dietary intake is not a requirement. Yet cellular cholesterol levels must be tightly controlled within a certain physiological range; therefore, under normal conditions there is a balance between *de novo* synthesis and absorption from dietary sources. When dietary cholesterol intake is very low (vegans) its synthesis and absorption is increased. Conversely, when dietary cholesterol is in excess (heavy meat consumption), *de novo* synthesis will be turned off and biliary and intestinal cholesterol excretion will increase.

De novo cholesterol synthesis All nucleated cells can synthesize cholesterol from acetyl-CoA via the mevalonate pathway. Production rates vary by cell type and organ function. About 20-25% of total daily cholesterol production occurs in the liver; other sites of increased production include the intestine, adrenal glands and the reproductive organs. Cholesterol biosynthesis (Figure 1.1) consists of a series of elongation reactions of the acetyl-CoA molecule producing farnesyl pyrophosphate, which is then converted to squalene - the first four-ring sterol in the pathway. The pre-squalene steps of cholesterol biosynthesis produce isoprenoids, farnesyl pyrophosphate, and geranylgeranyl pyrophosphate, which are critical for membrane anchoring of signaling proteins. Squalene epoxidase and lanosterol synthase catalyze the conversion of squalene to a relatively inert sterol, lanosterol, which has been implicated in regulating cellular stress pathways⁵ and the subsequent steps also produce series of precursors possessing various biological activities. The final product of the pathway, cholesterol, can be incorporated into cellular membranes and/or subjected to oxidative modifications in the "tail" and "B" ring of the molecule to produce bile acids, steroid hormones, and vitamin D^{6, 7}. Arresting cholesterol biosynthesis in the pre-squalene steps is universally lethal in all eukaryotes due to disruption of critical membrane-based signaling. In contrast, mutations distal of squalene are viable but produce several developmental defects⁸. Therapeutic trials of cholesterol supplementation in patients with inborn errors of cholesterol biosynthesis have only shown modest improvements^{9, 10}, thus corroborating evidence that accumulating cholesterol precursors can exert unique biological activities.

The rate-limiting step in cholesterol synthesis is the conversion of 3-hydroxy-3methylglutaryl CoA (HMG-CoA) to mevalonate by HMG-CoA reductase. HMG-CoA reductase and several other enzymes integral to later steps of cholesterol synthesis are integral endoplasmic reticulum (ER) membrane proteins. The ER also contains enzymes for several key cholesterol processing steps, such as hydroxylation to generate oxysterols (with hydroxyl groups typically added to sterol side-chain carbons). Oxysterols are found in cells in minor amounts typically 1:1000 compared with cholesterol³. Hydroxyl groups render sterols more hydrophilic allowing oxysterols to move more freely than cholesterol in the aqueous cytoplasmic environment and function as potent signaling lipids.

Regulation of Cholesterol Synthesis The mechanisms that maintain cholesterol homeostasis are quite sensitive to and directly regulated by the level of cholesterol present in the cell. Greater cholesterol intake results in reduced endogenous synthesis whereas lower dietary consumption of cholesterol increases endogenous production. The main regulatory mechanism is the sensing of intracellular cholesterol within the endoplasmic reticulum by sterol regulatory element-binding protein (SREBP) - 2. If intracellular cholesterol is low SREBP-2 is activated by a cleavage event that frees SREBP-2 from the ER membrane allowing it to migrate to the nucleus where it functions as a transcription factor inducing the expression of many genes involved in lipogenesis. Importantly, SREBP-2 increases the transcription levels of low density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor and HMG-CoA reductase. Thus, a drop in the intestinal supply of absorbed dietary and biliary cholesterol results in reduced hepatic cholesterol levels, which in turn increases LDL receptor synthesis and the upregulation of HMG-CoA reductase; the first to sequester more cholesterol from the circulation and second to increase endogenous synthesis.

Dietary Cholesterol and absorption The majority of cholesterol derived from the diet comes from animal fat as plants contain very little cholesterol. Consequently all foods containing animal fat contain some degree of cholesterol and the major dietary sources, which are prevalent in westernized societies, include cheese, egg yolk, beef, pork, poultry, fish and shrimp¹¹. Absorption of cholesterol by the small intestine is critical for the body to maintain cholesterol homeostasis¹². There are two primary routes for cholesterol to enter the digestive tract - dietary intake and biliary secretion into the duodenum. In a typical Western diet daily cholesterol intake is approximately 300-450 milligrams and complements the 800 -1400 milligrams of endogenous cholesterol from bile. In total, about 800-2000 milligrams of cholesterol is available for absorption from the intestinal lumen per day. Niemann-Pick C1-like 1 protein (NPC1L1) is a cholesterol transporter localized on the luminal side of enterocytes and regulates the majority of dietary sterols and cholesterol absorption¹³. It was recently discovered that ezetimibe, a widely prescribed drug for lowering blood cholesterol levels, inhibits NPC1L1 activity, reducing cholesterol absorption by approximately 70%¹⁴.

Non-esterified cholesterol from bile and food intake is incorporated into miscelles allowing the diffusion of cholesterol via various membrane receptors into enterocytes¹⁵. Once in the enterocyte cholesterol is esterified and incorporated into chylomicrons along with dietary triacylglycerol (TAG), microsomal transfer protein and apoB48. Chylomicrons are responsible for the bulk transport of cholesterol from the intestine to the circulation via the lymphatic system. Chylomicrons are quickly metabolized in the bloodstream by Lipoprotein Lipase which releases TAGs for energy production. The cholesterol-enriched chylomicron remnants are then taken up by the liver for further processing.

Is excessive cholesterol in the diet harmful?

Numerous studies in humans have examined the effects of dietary cholesterol on total plasma and lipoprotein cholesterol concentrations. The majority of studies have reported a linear relationship between changes in cholesterol intake and serum cholesterol concentrations; yet many others, including a meta-analysis of 27 controlled metabolic feeding studies of added cholesterol, have indicated that there is little effect on serum cholesterol values when cholesterol consumption is within the normal range of 0-400 mg/dL. In this meta-analysis, the incremental serum cholesterol response to a given amount of dietary cholesterol diminished as baseline serum cholesterol intake increased¹⁶. A number of studies have also reported that a rise in serum cholesterol levels due to increased cholesterol consumption is attenuated by diets low in saturated fat, high in polyunsaturated fat, or both¹⁷⁻¹⁹, although this effect has not been observed by others²⁰, ²¹. The response of serum cholesterol levels to dietary cholesterol is highly variable among individuals, which may explain the equivocal results from the various studies in humans¹⁶. Yet the relative responsiveness of serum cholesterol levels appears to be relatively stable within individuals ^{22, 23} and is associated particularly with saturated fatty acids ²⁴. Furthermore, intrinsic differences in intestinal cholesterol absorption²⁵, suppression of hepatic cholesterol synthesis by dietary cholesterol ^{21, 26-28} and LDL catabolism ^{26, 29} may all contribute to the observed variation in serum cholesterol response to diet.

Dietary response and genetics A growing number of genetic factors have been identified that may be responsible for a significant proportion of the inter-individual variation in response to dietary cholesterol. One informative case is that of the Tarahumara Indians of Mexico who are habituated to a very low cholesterol, low fat diet and have low plasma cholesterol levels. In response to high cholesterol feeding these individuals have decreased cholesterol biosynthesis as would be expected, however, their intestinal absorption of cholesterol remains unchanged and there is little to no change in their serum cholesterol values. Thus the Tarahumara are one example of a group of individuals who have a reduced ability to absorb dietary cholesterol and therefore may be protected against diet-induced changes in serum cholesterol levels³⁰.

Variations in several genes have been associated with altered responsiveness to dietary cholesterol. Individuals with the common E4 polymorphism of the apolioprotein (apo)E gene have increased absorption of dietary cholesterol³¹. The observation that cholesterol absorption and bile acid formation is perturbed in *apoE*^{-/-} mice³² supports the idea that the *apoE* gene plays an important role in modulating dietary cholesterol responsiveness in humans. The A-IV-2 variant allele of the apolioprotein A-IV gene has also been found to attenuate the plasma cholesterol response to dietary cholesterol³³. Finally, defects in the genes encoding ABCG5 and ABCG8, two heterodimeric cholesterol and plant sterols³⁴. This finding suggesting that more common variants of the ABCG5 and ABCG8 genes found in humans may also contribute to the variation in responsiveness to dietary cholesterol.

Dietary cholesterol and cardiovascular disease The connection between cholesterol intake and serum cholesterol levels has been of great interest since early animals studies demonstrated that dietary cholesterol causes arterial lesions - an effect mediated largely through elevations in blood cholesterol levels³⁵⁻³⁹. These findings led to the "diet-heart" hypothesis that dietary saturated fat and cholesterol raises blood cholesterol levels therefore increasing the risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD). The diet-heart hypothesis was then quickly followed by several short-term feeding studies placing cohorts of participants on both low and high-fat diets and measuring the change in their serum cholesterol concentrations. Unfortunately, there were significant flaws in study design, data analysis and use of controls in most of these studies⁴⁰. Nevertheless, the idea that saturated fat was the primary dietary influence on blood cholesterol was widely accepted, and Dr. Ancel Keys, a pioneer in cardiovascular disease research, proposed a formula to predict changes in blood cholesterol levels based on the amounts and types of dietary fats ⁴¹. In 1957, Dr. Keys implemented the landmark Seven Countries Study⁴², which was the first to systematically examine the relationship among, diet, lifestyle, risk factors and coronary heart disease and stroke in populations differing in diet, especially levels of dietary fat. Field surveys began in the US, Italy, Greece, Yugoslavia, the Netherlands, Finland and Japan with follow-ups for morbidity and mortality made every 5 to 10 years.

The Seven Countries Study is said to have "proved" the diet-heart hypothesis, that elevated blood cholesterol levels and intake of saturated fatty acids is a major contributor to cardiovascular disease risk in populations. Subsequent researchers had criticized Dr.Keys' conclusions and pointed out serious flaws and inconsistencies, however, they were largely ignored and the theory that saturated fats cause heart disease became widely accepted. The seven countries in Dr.Keys' study were said to have been chosen for their contrasting dietary patterns and the relative uniformity of their rural populations. However, Dr. Keys had chosen only those countries where both saturated fat consumption and heart disease were high. He ignored the other 16 countries with similar diets but low rates of CVD. Had the final analysis included this additional data the association between diet and CVD would have been much less clear and likely would have led to different dietary advice⁴³.

Is there an association between dietary exposures and CHD? The Bradford Hill criteria is a set of guidelines widely used by epidemiologists to systematically evaluate whether a causal link between an exposure of interest and health outcome exists⁴⁴. In the first systematic review of the literature, Anand and colleagues⁴⁵ used the Bradford criteria to investigate the causal link between dietary factors and coronary heart disease (CHD) by compiling the results from all eligible prospective cohort studies (147) and randomized controlled studies (43) published between 1950 and 2007. In applying the Bradford Hill criteria, they identified strong evidence of a causal relationship for protective factors, including vegetables, nuts, monounsaturated fatty acids and a Mediterranean diet, and harmful factors, including trans-fatty acids, foods with a high glycemic index or load, and a Western diet. Among these dietary exposures, however, only a Mediterranean diet has been studied in randomized control trials and is significantly associated with a decreased risk of CHD. In addition, Anand et al. found modest evidence to support a causal relationship for the intake of fish, ω -3 fatty acids, folate, whole grains, dietary vitamins E and C, fruits, and fiber, and weak evidence of causation for intake of supplementary vitamin E and ascorbic acid, saturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids and total fat, α - linolenic acid, meat, eggs, and milk. The modest or weak evidence of these dietary exposures were mostly consistent with results of randomized control trials, although such trials have yet to be conducted for several of these factors. Taken together, these findings indicate that a causal relationship exists only between a few dietary exposures and CHD and the evidence for most individual nutrients or foods is too modest to be conclusive.

The Dietary Guidelines for Americans were revised in 2005⁴⁶ to reflect the general consensus that reducing saturated and trans-fatty acid consumption and increasing fruit, vegetable, polyunsaturated fatty acid and whole grain intake is beneficial for CHD^{47, 48}. These assumptions were derived from the wealth of epidemiologic studies, however, little direct evidence from randomized controlled trials support these recommendations. Despite the lack of adequate data, evidence-based recommendations derived from cohort studies have been advocated⁴⁹. Unfortunately, it is now becoming clear that the dietary advice to limit the intake of fat may have resulted in the increased consumption of carbohydrates, which can have adverse effects on CHD risk factors, including raising plasma triglycerides and lowering high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol levels⁵⁰. Indeed, metabolic studies have shown that higher glycemic index scores are associated with coronary risk factors, including a rise in serum triglycerides and lower HDL-C levels. More recently, the lack of benefit of diets of reduced total fat has been established⁵¹, and the evidence supporting the adverse effect of trans-fatty acids on cholesterol levels⁵² and CHD⁵³⁻⁵⁶ has increased.

There is a very strong causal link between CHD and particular dietary patterns. Population-based cohort studies have demonstrated that a quality diet (high in whole grains, fruits and vegetables with modest lean meat consumption and limited saturated fats) is protective against CHD and all-cause mortality⁵⁷⁻⁶¹; these benefits are additive as well with other lifestyle modifications aimed at promoting well-being. Furthermore, the Lyon Diet Heart Study demonstrated that a Mediterranean diet reduces mortality in patients who already have CHD⁶². Studying dietary patterns has the advantage of accounting for the complex interactions and compounding effects of the multiple nutrients present in the diet and more accurately represents food and nutrient consumption⁶³. It is now widely accepted that studies aimed at identifying the ideal "Heart-Diet" should test various dietary patterns as opposed to single macromolecules; as had been the precedence for much of the findings which led to the current dietary guidelines.

1.2 Atherosclerosis

More than 100 years ago, German pathologist Virchow observed that the arteries of patients dying from occlusive vascular disease were often thickened and irregular and contained a yellowish fatty substance later identified as cholesterol. He called these plaques atheroma, derived from the Greek word for 'porridge' and postulated that this atheroma contributed to death from cardiovascular causes. Virchow was correct and it is now common knowledge that atherosclerosis is the key contributor to cardiovascular disease (CVD). CVD is currently the leading cause of mortality in developed nations and is it projected that death from CVD will soon reach that status worldwide⁶⁴.

Atherosclerosis has been perceived as a disease of modern times because of its associations with the sedentary lifestyles and poor diets present in many of the societies of the current era. Yet, a recent multi-national study spearheaded by Thompson and colleagues tells a different story. Thompson et al. reportedly found evidence of atherosclerosis in mummified remains representing four geographic areas and spanning more than 4,000 years: ancient Egyptians, ancient Peruvians, Ancestral Puebloans of southwest USA and the Unangan of the Aleutian Islands in present-day Alaska. Overall, probable or definite atherosclerosis was found in one third of the mummies in all four populations. Those with atherosclerosis were about a decade older at the time of death (43 versus 32 years of age); yet, the reason(s) for the presence of atherosclerosis in all four of these populations remains unclear. All four groups were fairly active, none were vegetarian, and all shared common dietary elements. The authors concluded that the presence of atherosclerosis in these pre-modern humans indicate that atherosclerosis is an inherent component of human aging and influenced more so by genetic predispositions and/or other risk factors such as smoking than by any specific diet or lifestyle⁶⁵.

Historical perspective

Atherosclerosis research began in earnest at the start of the 19th century as physicians began to investigate the vascular changes that they observed in their patients. In 1829, French surgeon and pathologist Jean Lobstein first introduced the term "arteriosclerosis" to describe the calcified arterial lesions he found in diseased blood vessels. Further studies revealing inflammatory components within these lesions ignited a debate between medical researchers as to whether inflammation was a contributing factor or a secondary effect in atherogenesis⁶⁶. That the immune system does in fact play a key role in atherosclerosis would not be widely supported by the medical community until the end of the 20th century. In 1910, improvements in microscopy allowed German chemist Windaus to describe the composition of the atherosclerotic plaque as consisting of calcified connective tissue and cholesterol⁶⁷. Three years later, Anitschkow and Chaltow showed that feeding rabbits cholesterol enriched diets produced atheromatous disease similar to what was found in humans⁶⁸. Together, the findings of Windaus and Anitschkow and Chaltow led to the formation of the "lipid hypothesis" postulating that increased serum cholesterol levels drive atherosclerosis. This theory was widely accepted and heavily influenced many early studies aimed at understanding the effect of diet and serum cholesterol on atherosclerosis.

By 1910, heart disease became the number one killer in America, and except for a brief period following the Great Influenza epidemic of 1918, it has remained the most common cause of death in the United States. During the first half of the 20th century, the percentage of deaths due to cardiovascular disease increased substantially across all age groups, in both sexes, and in all races. Indeed, by the 1950s cardiovascular disease accounted for more than 50% of the nation's mortality. A rise in life expectancy due to better treatment of infectious diseases, the increased prevalence of smoking, more sedentary lifestyles, and changes in diet are all factors believed to have contributed to the increase in deaths from CVD over the first half of the century.

The end of World War II brought more attention and financial support to domestic issues, including health, and the American government recognized the enormous toll of cardiovascular disease; thus, the National Heart Institute was created in 1948. The post-war advances in mechanical engineering and electronics seemed well suited for studying the cardiovascular system, as cardiovascular disorders as characterized by pathologies of hemodynamics or electrical function. The initial efforts of the National Heart Institute were quite modest due to limited funding; however, among its most effective actions was the organization of the Framingham Heart Study in 1949, one of the first and most well-known epidemiological studies of chronic disease. This study set precedence for cardiac epidemiology and findings from the Framingham Study have been responsible for much of the medical guidelines for assessing and addressing cardiovascular disease risk in the clinic⁶⁹.

In 1961 the first report from the Framingham Heart Study appeared⁷⁰. This 6 year follow-up report established the concept of risk factors for cardiovascular disease, and hypertension and hypercholesterolemia were identified as major contributors. These findings prompted the National Heart Institute and American Heart Association to promptly establish guidelines and develop both professional and public educational campaigns in an effort to reduce these risk factors in the US. The Framingham study revealed a negative association between cigarette smoke (the 3rd most important risk factor) and cardiovascular disease, which led to the Surgeon General's landmark 1964 report that for the first time in the US publicly denounced the effects of cigarettes on health. It is difficult to determine the relative contributions that the advancements in prevention, diagnosis and treatment made in the fight against cardiovascular disease, however, the reward of the massive campaign efforts was a steady decline in the ageadjusted mortality from heart disease from its peak in 1963⁷¹. The downward trend in CVD mortality rate parallels a similar decline in Americans with hypercholesterolemia (plasma cholesterol >240 mg/dL) from 34% to 19% between the years of 1962 and 1994⁷²; thus providing strong evidence that higher LDL-C levels contributes to heart disease morbidity and mortality.

Discovery of statins Initial studies suggesting a link between serum cholesterol levels and atherosclerosis led to the hypothesis that reducing circulating cholesterol by blocking

endogenous production would reduce the risk of disease. However, early attempts to block cholesterol synthesis failed mainly because of negative side effects attributed to the accumulation of toxic substrates upstream of the inhibited enzyme⁷³. HMG-CoA reductase is the rate-limiting enzyme in the cholesterol biosynthetic pathway. In contrast to desmonsterol and other late-stage intermediates, HMG-CoA is water soluble and can be metabolized through alternative pathways when HMG-CoA reductase is blocked; therefore, no potentially toxic precursors are generated. The first HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor, ML236B (compactin), was discovered by Japanese microbiologist Akira Endo during a search for antimicrobial agents^{74, 75}. Compactin was quickly shown to lower plasma cholesterol levels in rabbit⁷⁶, monkey⁷⁷ and dog⁷⁸. Following the positive results in animal models, compactin was quickly developed for human use and shown to effectively reduce plasma total and LDL cholesterol in patients with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia^{79, 80}.

Prior to the introduction of the first HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor, Lovastatin, into the clinic in 1987 the lipid lowering therapies were limited essentially to dietary changes, bile acid sequestrants, nicotinic acid (niacin), fibrates and probucol. All of these treatments however had limited efficacy or tolerability or both. As described earlier, dietary changes tolerable to western societies produce little to no change in total and LDL cholesterol ^{43, 45}. The bile acid sequestrants (cholestyramine and colestipol), are resins that bind bile acids in the gastrointestinal tract and sequester them from circulation. These compounds are moderately effective at lowering LDL cholesterol; however, since they are not systemically absorbed they cause many gastrointestinal side effects that result in low medication adherence by patients⁸¹. The fibrates are well tolerated peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor α (PPAR α) agonists with multiple mechanistic functions that synergize to modulate lipoprotein concentrations. Fibrates are now used as combination therapy with statins as clinical trials do not support their use as monotherapy agents. Although less effective at lowering LDL cholesterol, by increasing HDL levels and substantially lowering triglycerides, fibrates appear to improve dyslipidemia in certain patient populations, particularly patients with metabolic syndrome⁸². Probucol, originally developed as an antioxidant, was found to increase LDL catabolism effectively lowering serum lipid levels in patients with Familial Hypercholesterolemia^{83, 84}. Yet in other patients the small reduction in LDL cholesterol was offset by a decrease in HDL levels^{85, 86}. Because of the strong inverse correlation between HDL cholesterol levels and CHD risk, clinical trials with Probucol were halted.

When Lovastatin became available for prescription large reductions in serum cholesterol was finally achievable. Lovastatin at a maximal dose of 80 milligrams daily produced a mean reduction in LDL cholesterol of 40%⁸⁷⁻⁹⁰, a reduction never before seen with previous therapies. Other similar compounds quickly followed Lovastatin into the clinic and the class of HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors termed 'statins' was born. All statins produce a qualitatively similar effect on the lipid profile. The mean reduction in LDL cholesterol attainable with the maximal recommended dose of different statins ranges from 35 to 55%. Early studies using quantitative angiography⁹¹⁻⁹⁵ or ultrasound^{96, 97} showed that statins slowed the progression of atherosclerosis; however, the effects were quite small. It would be another decade before statins were determined effective agents for reducing the risk of cardiovascular events in patients who already had CHD

(secondary prevention) ⁹⁸⁻¹⁰⁰ as well as in those who did not (primary prevention) ^{99, 101,}

Questioning the lipid hypothesis: why don't statins cure cardiovascular disease?

The medical community was optimistic following the introduction of statins as the standard of care for cardiovascular disease. Statins finally allowed patients to achieve desirable serum cholesterol levels, and physicians hoped that statin therapy coupled with aggressive risk management would drastically cut morbidity and mortality from cardiovascular disease. While risk factor reduction and statin therapy did ameliorated the risk of vascular complications, patients still remained at a high risk for future adverse cardiovascular events. Data from a meta-analysis including 90,000+ patients in 14 randomized trials showed that one in seven treated patients experienced events over five years^{103, 104} and further lowering of LDL cholesterol with maximal doses of statins did not eliminate this residual risk^{105, 106}. These findings led researchers to focus their efforts on identifying other interventions that could reduce this residual risk among patients receiving optimal therapy. Moreover, the prevalence of residual risk in these individuals led investigators to question the inclusiveness of the lipid hypothesis. By the mid to late 1990s it was widely accepted that treating heart disease was going to be more complicated than merely targeting serum lipid levels. This section will discuss a few of the key theories - the oxidative modification hypothesis, the infectious hypothesis and the atherogenic dyslipidemia hypothesis - that have evolved over the years to help explain atherogenesis and why it is not just about blood lipid levels.

The "oxidative modification" hypothesis of atherosclerosis

The defining characteristic of early atherosclerotic lesions in both animals and humans is the lipid-loaded macrophage "foam cell". These cells originate as circulating monocytes that have infiltrated the sub-endothelial space of the arterial wall where they engulf excessive cholesterol. Researchers postulated, therefore, that studying how arterial macrophages process cholesterol might uncover mechanisms that could be therapeutic targets for cardiovascular disease. Beginning in 1979, Joseph Goldstein and Michael Brown, two University of Texas scientists, decided to study macrophage metabolism in *vitro*¹⁰⁷. In an interesting first series of experiments they observed that macrophages from patients with homozygous Familial Hypercholesterolemia, who express essentially no functional LDL receptors, were equally effective at accumulating cholesterol as macrophages from patients with normal LDL receptors¹⁰⁷. Thus, Goldstein, Brown and collaborators speculated that the LDL was altered prior to engulfment and taken up by an alternative macrophage receptor. Indeed, they found that even at very high LDL concentrations, the ability of mouse peritoneal macrophages to take up native LDL was significantly reduced and foam cell formation attenuated¹⁰⁷. The group then tested a variety of LDL modifications for a mechanism that would turn native LDL into an atherogenic form capable of inducing foam cell formation in vitro. Treatment of LDL with acetic anhydride yielded acetylated LDL which bound to macrophages with high affinity and led to increased accumulation of intracellular cholesterol¹⁰⁷. The macrophage receptor responsible for recognizing and binding acetylated LDL was later cloned and characterized as Scavenger Receptor A (SRA)¹⁰⁸. The acetylation of LDL however does not occur *in vivo*; therefore the search continued for the biological ligand for SRA as well as the mechanism responsible for LDL modification in vivo.

In 1981, Henriksen and colleagues¹⁰⁹ discovered that co-culturing native LDL and endothelial cells induced changes in the LDL that allowed it to be recognized with high affinity by peritoneal macrophages. Later studies revealed that incubation with endothelial cells led to the oxidative modification of LDL that permitted its recognition and rapid uptake by macrophages thereby inducing foam cell formation^{110, 111}. Together, the findings of Goldstein, Brown and collaborators and Henriksen and colleagues led to the "oxidative modification hypothesis" of atherosclerosis, stating that production of modified, pathogenic LDL particles initiates and promotes atherosclerosis. This theory expands upon the original lipid hypothesis by providing a mechanistic explanation for the relationship between atherosclerosis and increased serum LDL levels.

Molecular basis of the oxidative modification hypothesis The Steinberg laboratory was one of the first groups to investigate the oxidative modification hypothesis *in vivo*. This group found that LDL extracted from human and rabbit atherosclerotic lesions resembled LDL that had been oxidized *in vitro*. Importantly, Steinberg et al. also demonstrated that LDL from the lesion, but not from the vessel intima or plasma, was chemotactic for monocytes similar to LDL that had been oxidatively modified *in vitro*. Together, these findings supported the hypothesis that LDL in the lesion is oxidatively modified, which recruits monocytes into the vessel wall and promotes foam cell formation¹¹².

Oxidized LDL (oxLDL) binds with high specificity and affinity to plasma membrane receptors, including SRA, SRB (CD36) and lectin-like oxLDL receptor¹¹³. In contrast to the LDL receptor that is down-regulated when intracellular cholesterol levels rise, the expression of the oxLDL receptor is not regulated by cholesterol content, allowing the progressive accumulation of cholesterol¹¹³. The biological properties of oxLDL have been well characterized *in vitro*. Some of these properties include inducing the expression of monocyte chemotactic factors and vascular adhesion molecules; promoting apoptosis of macrophages and endothelial cells; increasing cytokine production by macrophages; and lastly, raising the levels of oxidation-specific antibodies in circulation¹¹⁴. These effects of oxLDL, however, have been primarily studied in cell culture; the role of oxLDL *in vivo*, and especially in humans, is still not well understood.

Vitamin E (an anti-oxidant) treatment in animal models of atherosclerosis attenuates disease development, thereby supporting the oxidative modification hypothesis of atherogenesis¹¹⁵⁻¹¹⁸. Importantly, the protective effects of vitamin E treatment is lost in mice deficient for 12/15-lipoxygenase, an enzyme believed to play a major role in LDL modification within the arterial wall¹¹⁹. Likewise, atherosclerosis is accelerated upon the delivery *in vivo* of the 15-lipoxygenase gene¹²⁰. Thus, the protective effects of vitamin E, at least in animals, reside in its ability to block LDL modification. Unfortunately, the results of vitamin E intervention in primary and secondary prevention trials in subjects with or without diagnosed cardiovascular disease have been equivocal^{99,} ¹²¹⁻¹²⁵. The discrepancy among the clinical trials and the observational studies suggests that vitamin E supplementation is not effective in cases of pre-existing disease, may only be efficacious when vitamin E deficiency is present¹²⁶, or may only be relevant in the setting of oxidative stress¹²⁶⁻¹²⁸. To note, the primary prevention studies^{99, 121, 123} were conducted in middle-aged individuals. Therefore, it is possible that starting vitamin E therapy at an earlier age could prevent or retard atherosclerosis. In fact, among the most effective approaches targeting cardiovascular disease in adulthood is the prevention or attenuation of atherogenesis in childhood or even earlier during fetal development¹²⁹⁻¹³².

To date, no studies have been conducted to determine the effect of vitamin E supplementation on atherosclerosis if started at an early age. However, a very recent study has just shown that low-dose and long-term vitamin E treatment initiated at an early age in $Ldlr^{-/-}$ mice effectively reduces atherosclerotic lesions and mortality¹³³; thus, further studies in humans across the lifespan may be warranted.

The "infectious" hypothesis of atherosclerosis

The similarity between atherosclerosis and chronic inflammatory conditions was first described in the 1850s¹³⁴, but only more recently has the cellular composition of lesions been characterized. Circulating monocytes and lymphocytes are recruited into the sub-endothelial space in response to chemotactic factors expressed by endothelial cells that are activated by oxLDL and possibly other species. The inflammatory response associated with atherosclerosis will be discussed in detail in a later section.

Chronic bacterial infections, including *Chlamydia pneumonia* and *Helicobacter pylori*, have been associated with heart disease¹³⁵. To note, there are many confounding variables (e.g. socio-economic status) when linking CVD to infections; however, in studies that took these factors into account patients seropositive for *C.pneumoniae* or *H.pylori* were reported to be more likely to suffer from heart disease than seronegative subjects¹³⁶. In addition, *C.pneumoniae* has been detected in aortic^{137, 138} lesions in patients and is found more frequently in atherosclerotic plaques than in non-atherosclerotic tissues¹³⁹. Many of the experimental models studying infectious atherosclerosis introduce *C. pneumoniae* into the respiratory system of animals. In many of these studies, *C. pneumoniae* infection accelerated lesion formation, although some studies reported conflicting results¹⁴⁰. *C. pneumoniae* is an intracellular pathogen and is able to persist
within the vasculature and resist antibiotic therapy¹⁴¹. Such infection has been shown to not only promote inflammation and proliferation in host cells *in vivo*¹⁴¹, but also to reduce the anti-inflammatory properties of HDL¹⁴². To be atherogenic *C. pneumoniae* requires a robust immune system; knockout of toll-like receptors (TLR) 2 and 4 and myeloid differentiation primary response gene (MyD) 88 in *apoE*^{-/-} mice attenuate disease development^{143, 144}, suggesting that the host inflammatory response is the key trigger for atherogenesis. In addition, it has also been suggested that pathogens might promote atherogenesis through molecular mimicry between bacterial and self-antigens. For example, T cells reactive to both human and *C. pneumonia* heat shock protein (HSP) 60 were isolated form human plaques, and autoantibodies against mouse HSP60 were identified following infection of mice with *C. pneumoniae* ^{145, 146}.

The gingival plaque associated with periodontal disease (PD) is colonized by a large number of gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria, including *P. gingivalis*, and *Streptoccoccus mutans*, among others. Oral infections are associated with several systemic diseases, such as infective endocarditis and diabetes. Thus, it is not surprising that periodontal disease has been implicated in CVD risk. Indeed, a meta-analysis of the major epidemiological studies has revealed that there is a moderate, positive association between periodontal disease and cardiovascular outcomes¹⁴⁷⁻¹⁴⁹. Several periodontal organisms have been identified in human atherosclerotic lesions¹⁴⁰; however, it is unclear if periodontal organisms promote atherogenesis through direct or indirect mechanisms. Some data suggest that periodontal disease increases systemic cytokines and acute-phase proteins, and such an inflammatory state could augment inflammation in the vessel wall and indirectly influence atherosclerosis¹⁵⁰. For instance, levels of C-reactive protein, a

biomarker of systemic inflammation and linked to CVD, is two times greater in patients with either periodontal disease or CVD than matched controls, and threefold higher in subjects with both periodontal disease and CVD^{151} . Interestingly, standard treatment of periodontal disease for twelve months attenuated systemic inflammation and reversed dyslipidemia (i.e. lowered LDL-C and raised HDL-C) in patients with severe periodontitis¹⁵². The link between periodontal disease and dyslipidemia is unclear, but similar findings have been reported in mouse models. For example, elevated LDL-C and triglycerides and low HDL-C were found in mice with periodontitis, and HDL cholesterol decreased in $apoE^{-/+}$ mice following infection with *P.ginvivalis*¹⁵³.

Other infectious agents, including *mycoplasma pneumoniae*, *H.pylori*, and *Enterobacter hormaechei* have been detected in human atherosclerotic lesions^{140, 154}. The evidence that these agents play a direct role in atherogenesis is weak; however, they may contribute to the "pathogenic burden". It is now understood that infections by bacteria and/or viruses can contribute to atherosclerosis either directly through infection of vascular cells or indirectly by promoting cytokine production and the acute phase response from nonvascular sites¹⁴⁰. It is likely that no single organism is responsible for the effects of infection on atherosclerosis, but that atherogenesis is influences by the aggregate effects of the pathogenic burden¹⁵⁵. Indeed, one study found that 75% of patients with coronary artery disease were positive for three of five "atherogenic" pathogens tested¹⁵⁶. Moreover, pathogen burden and cardiovascular disease risk were significantly associated, even after adjustment for traditional CV risk factors¹⁵⁶.

Antibiotic therapy and cardiovascular disease

The possible association between infection and CVD prompted clinical trials to assess the therapeutic effect of antibiotic therapy. Four large clinical trials ¹⁵⁷⁻¹⁶⁰ focused on patients with stable coronary artery disease. None of these studies showed any longterm benefit of antibiotic treatment in patients with established CVD. Both short-term (6 week) and long-term (1 year) interventions failed to provide any beneficial effect in patients. Conversely, short term treatment with clarithromycin actually increased cardiovascular mortality¹⁶⁰. Such negative results have led some researchers to argue against a pathogenic role for bacterial microbes and infections in atherosclerosis¹⁶¹ and CVD^{162} . Others, however, have disputed these conclusions¹⁶³, citing the difficulty of treating chronic chlamydial infections and the ability of *C. pneumoniae* to develop antibiotic resistance in cell culture experiments^{140, 164, 165}. Importantly, these trials were conducted in patients with advanced disease; whether antibiotics exert protective activities in patients with early atherosclerosis is unknown. Furthermore, antibiotic treatment might be ineffective due to the complexity of the pathogenic burden thought to contribute to atherosclerosis; not all organisms will be susceptible to the antibiotics used, allowing these agents to further promote atherogenesis¹⁶².

In conclusion, there is convincing data that supports a positive association for specific pathogens in atherosclerosis, particularly *C. pneumoniae* and periodontal organisms¹⁶⁶. Overall the clinical and experimental data suggest that pathogens contribute to atherogenesis via direct (infection of host cells) and indirect (upregulation of cytokines and adhesion molecules) mechanisms. Hope that antibiotics might be an alternative and/or complementary treatment for CVD has greatly diminished following the recent

failures of several large clinical trials as well as the recognition that the pathogenic burden that may contribute to CVD is complex and thus likely difficult to target.

Atherogenic dyslipidemia

Prospective epidemiological studies have unequivocally demonstrated that LDL cholesterol levels are predictive for a patient's risk of CVD events and that pharmacologically lowering LDL cholesterol reduces CVD risk in many patient populations¹⁶⁷. These findings supported the use of risk prediction algorithms to identify individuals with elevated LDL cholesterol who were at an increased risk for CVD. These patients were then prescribed target LDL cholesterol goals believed to be attainable through lifestyle and pharmacological interventions¹⁶⁸. Until the recent change to the cholesterol recommendations that eliminated target LDL-C levels¹⁶⁹, patients with CHD or CHD risk equivalents were challenged to lower their LDL-C level to less than 100 mg/dL. Many patients who achieve these target LDL-C levels, however, are still at risk for CVD, especially within the older age groups¹⁷⁰. Therefore, although widely used in clinic because of its utility, LDL-C concentrations is likely a poor representation of CVD risk.

LDL is a heterogeneous group of particles ranging from small, dense, lipiddepleted particles to large, buoyant cholesterol-enriched particles¹⁷¹. While there is much controversy surrounding the impact of LDL particle size on atherosclerosis, a number of studies have suggested that small LDL particles are more atherogenic¹⁷²⁻¹⁷⁵. Since small LDL contains less cholesterol per particle, a patient may have a normal LDL cholesterol level but a preponderance of small LDL; thus their increased CVD risk would be missed if measuring only the concentration of serum LDL cholesterol. The term atherogenic dyslipidemia was first used by Austin and colleagues¹⁷⁶ to describe the risk-conferring plasma lipid profile comprised of a higher proportion of small LDL particles, reduced HDL-C, and increased triglycerides. Atherogenic dyslipidemia is a signature characteristic of patients with obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus, insulin resistance, and metabolic syndrome^{177, 178} and has become an important indicator of increased CVD risk in these populations.

Besides the traditional blood lipid measurements of LDL-C, HDL-C and triglycerides, recent advancements have allowed for better assessment of lipoprotein subfractions. The best established is the measurement of blood apolioprotein (apo) B concentrations. Each non-HDL particle harbors one apoB molecule; therefore, the apoB concentration represents a count of non-HDL particles in circulation. More sophisticated techniques including analytical ultracentrifugation, gradient gel electrophoresis, and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) allow for the quantification of particles within each lipoprotein class and subclass; however, there are time and cost barriers that prevent the widespread use of these methods the clinic.

A number of recent studies have now used these lipoprotein subfraction measurement techniques to assess whether any of the subfractions possess prognostic power for CVD or CVD intermediate endpoints such as carotid intima-thickness. Many of these studies reveal that the concentration of small LDL particles is a better predictor of cardiovascular events than LDL-C levels ^{175, 179-183}. The increased atherogenicity of small LDL particles is thought to be due to a combination of several biological properties that have been observed – small LDL particles are more susceptible to oxidation than larger particles, therefore more likely to instigate vascular inflammation; they bind more tightly to arterial proteoglycans perhaps allowing them to enter the arterial wall more easily; and in contrast to mid-sized LDL particles, small LDL particles have relatively lower affinity for the LDL receptor, resulting in decreased cellular uptake and more time spent in the circulation where the particles would have prolonged influence on atherogenesis¹⁷³.

Studies which report the concentration of small LDL particles to be predictive of CVD endpoints also find that the total number of LDL particles is similarly predictive ¹⁷⁵, ¹⁷⁹⁻¹⁸³ likely because the amount of small LDL and total LDL particle number (LDL-P) is highly correlated. This correlation may be explained by the idea that among individuals with equal LDL-C levels, the same amount of cholesterol distributed among more particles implies that these particles must be smaller. If this is the case, then it is possible that all LDL particles are equally atherogenic; the association between small LDL particles and CVD disease would, therefore, be explained by the increase in LDL-P, rather than the small LDL particles possessing unique atherogenic traits. Regardless of whether the small LDL particle number or LDL-P values are used, either provide prognostic information distinct from the standard LDL-C measurement. Findings from the Framingham Offspring Study, a large, community-based study that stratified men and women by their LDL-C and LDL-P concentrations, reinforced the prognostic value of LDL-P values. Importantly, the authors report that stratification by LDL-P discriminated CVD event-free survival, whereas there was no difference with stratification by LDL-C. In addition, there was a high degree of variability among individuals in the cholesterol content of LDL particles leading to frequent discrepancies between LDL-C and LDL

particle number.¹⁸⁴ This finding, in addition to other studies reporting LDL composition variability among individuals, has led investigators to search for heritable factors that may influence LDL composition.

Genetics and dyslipidemia Complex segregation analyses indicate that atherogenic dyslipidemia has a strong genetic basis likely resulting from the contribution of multiple genes^{176, 185, 186}. Genes with variants that have been reported to be associated with LDL size include: *CETP* encoding cholesterol ester transfer protein, which transfers cholesteryl esters from HDL to LDL particles; *LDLR*, encoding the LDL receptor, which regulates LDL uptake; *LPL*, encoding lipoprotein lipase, which is responsible for converting VLDL to LDL; *MTP*, encoding microsomal triglyceride transfer protein, which transfers triglycerides to nascent VLDL within hepatocytes; and the apolipoprotein particles¹⁸⁵⁻¹⁹³. All of these genes play a role in regulating LDL particle size and composition (as well as other lipoprotein particles) and so may contribute directly to atherogenic dyslipidemia.

Diet and atherogenic dyslipidemia As discussed earlier, the scientific literature is somewhat divided on the role of diet in altering plasma lipid levels. The current notion is that, contrary to what was proposed 30 years ago, dietary saturated fat probably has little to no effect on serum LDL-C. To address the effect of diet on atherogenic dyslipidemia (i.e. the distribution and composition of particles and not just particle cholesterol levels), a group of healthy middle-age men were placed on high-fat, low-carbohydrate and low-fat, high-carbohydrate diets in a crossover study in which they consumed each diet for 6 weeks. The proportions and types of fats (unsaturated vs. saturated, 1:1 ratio) and types

of carbohydrates (simple vs. complex, 1:1) remained fixed in these diets. Across all subjects, there were higher levels of triglycerides and small LDL particles while on the low-fat/high-carb diet compared to the high-fat/low-carb diet. Interestingly, one third of study participants who had normal LDL particles converted to small LDLs when switched from the high-fat/low-carb to low-fat/high-carb diet¹⁹⁴. Thus, the authors concluded that reducing fat consumption while concurrently increasing carbohydrate intake promotes atherogenic dyslipidemia. This finding was also confirmed in premenopausal women¹⁹⁵. In these studies the changes in fat calories were balanced by reciprocal changes in carbohydrate calories, preventing investigators from determining whether dietary fat or carbohydrates were the major perpetrators of atherogenic dyslipidemia. In a study of 178 overweight men compared on a high-carbohydrate diet versus a low-carbohydrate diet, and the difference in calories being made up in protein and not fat, the subjects had a higher prevalence of small LDL in response to highcarbohydrate feeding¹⁹⁶. Additional analysis of this study also found that saturated fat content had little to no effect on components of the atherogenic lipoprotein phenotype, consistent with other studies^{197, 198}.

Follow-up analysis of the Framingham Heart Study also confirmed that fat content in the diet, after multivariable adjustment for carbohydrate intake and other potential confounders, did not significantly affect LDL size or triglyceride levels in either men or women¹⁹⁸. Taken together, it appears that the type or amount of fat ingested contributes very little if anything to the development of atherogenic dyslipidemia. However, reducing carbohydrate consumption¹⁹⁹ or losing weight¹⁹⁶ has been shown to attenuates atherogenic dyslipidemia (although these effects do not seem to be additive). Metabolic disorders and Atherosclerosis Until the 1970s, physicians considered atherosclerosis to be a natural pathology associated with aging, and while it's true that CVD and life span expectancy have increased simultaneously over the past century, the more likely reason for the exponential rise in CVD during this time period is the increase in cardiovascular (CV) risk factors, including hypercholesterolemia, cigarette smoking and hypertension⁶⁶. Indeed, in the US and Western Europe reductions in risk factors and improvements in the treatment of CVD have yielded a decrease in age-adjusted cardiovascular deaths, more so in men than in women⁶⁴. Unfortunately, the ongoing obesity epidemic threatens to undermine these gains. Obesity has reached epidemic proportions worldwide²⁰⁰ and is associated with increased risk of premature death²⁰¹. Central adiposity is associated with increased cardiovascular morbidity and mortality, and this is independent of the association between obesity and other cardiovascular risk factors^{202, 203}. Interestingly, even within the normal body mass index range, weight gain during adult life²⁰⁴, or even childhood and adolescence²⁰⁵, increases the risk of diabetes and CVD. The increasing rate of childhood obesity now threatens to lower the life expectancy in the United States for the first time in modern history²⁰⁶ and the American Heart Association has classified obesity as a 'major, modifiable risk factor' for CVD²⁰⁷.

Obesity is characterized by the chronic overabundance of nutrients and an unbalanced energy expenditure leading to the accumulation of fatty acids in the liver, muscle and adipose tissue. Free fatty acids can either be oxidized or stored as triglycerides; however, in the setting of obesity these pathways are overwhelmed and fatty acid intermediates, such as diacylglycerol and ceramide accumulate^{208, 209}. These free fatty acid metabolites can bind TLR4 present in adipocytes and macrophages, thus

triggering innate immunity and initiating potent downstream inflammatory responses through nuclear factor κ B (NF κ B) signaling pathways as well as others²¹⁰. In addition, obese compared to lean adipose tissue shows increased expression of inflammatory molecules (e.g. TNF α , IL-6, IL-1 β and MCP-1)^{211, 212}.

Obesity and atherosclerosis share several characteristics; traits that are likely responses to the increased inflammation present in both states. Tissue infiltration by macrophages is a signature of both obese adipose tissue as well as atherosclerotic lesions. The recruitment of macrophages by adipose tissue in the obese state resembles the chemotaxis of these cells into blood vessel walls. Although adjpocytes themselves secrete a variety of bioactive molecules, the infiltrating adipose tissue macrophages are responsible for most of the inflammatory mediators ^{213, 214}. Cell death is the second trait shared between obesity and atherosclerosis. Apoptosis of smooth muscle cells in atherosclerotic lesions causes fibrous cap thinning and contributes to plaque weakening and thrombosis^{215, 216}. Similarly, the number of necrotic adipocytes in adipose tissue is much greater in obese individuals compared to lean controls²¹⁷. In conclusion, obesity and atherosclerosis share similar characteristics associated with them both being disease of chronic inflammation. Inflammatory mediators and hormones secreted by adipose tissue and/or adipose associated macrophages may directly enhance the atherogenic process within the vessel wall. Furthermore, there is increasing evidence that obesity may also directly promote HDL dysfunction, the mechanisms by which this may occur will be discussed in a following section.

Molecular pathogenesis of atherosclerosis

There are four major steps that result in the clinical manifestation of atherosclerosis. These steps are 1) endothelial activation and inflammation; 2) entrapment and modification of lipoprotein particles and foam cell formation; 3) progression of atherosclerotic plaques by fibrosis, thrombosis, and remodeling; and 4) precipitation of acute events. Acute clinical events, such as myocardial infarction ("heart attack"), unstable angina (chest pain due to heart muscle ischemia), sudden cardiac death, and stroke are generally due to plaque destabilization and thrombosis²¹⁸. Major risk factors for cardiovascular disease can act at more than one step of atherogenesis. For example, hyperlipidemia can contribute to endothelial activation²¹⁹; impair nitric oxide (NO) synthesis²²⁰; promote foam cell formation (following modification)²²¹; activate platelets and increase thrombotic potential (e.g. hyperlipidemia is associated with increased oxidized phospholipids that interact with scavenger receptor CD36 on platelets)²²²; and lead to reversible plaque destabilization (likely due to inflammation associated with hyperlipidemia)²²³. The progression of the atherosclerotic plaque is illustrated in Figure 1.2.

Lesion initiation The first step in atherosclerosis is the expansion of the arterial intima, a normally small space between the endothelium and the underlying vascular smooth muscle cells. The intima fills with lipids, cells, and extracellular matrix in a process that occurs over decades and typically begins in early adolescence. While this process itself is relatively benign thanks to the preservation of the arterial lumen (only if the lumen is occluded by 80% do serious symptoms occur), advanced lesions have the propensity to undergo necrosis which leads to acute, occlusive thrombosis. Atherogenesis is a focal disease process occurring primarily at sites of disturbed laminar blood flow, notably

arterial branch points and bifurcations. Studies of the earliest stages of atherogenesis in humans and animal models indicate that the key initiating step is the accumulation of ApoB-containing lipoproteins (ApoB-LPs) in the subendothelial space of the blood vessel wall²²⁴. ApoB-LPs consist of a core of neutral lipids, primarily cholesteryl fatty acyl esters and triglycerides, surrounded by a monolayer of phospholipids and proteins. Hepatocytes secrete ApoB-LPs as very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) particles which are rapidly converted in circulation to atherogenic LDL particles. LDL particles are the predominant atherogenic ApoB-LP in circulation; however, chylomicrons containing dietary lipids can also be converted by lipolysis to atherogenic remnant particles in circulation and may contribute to the mass of atherogenic ApoB-LPs in circulation²²⁵.

Studies in humans and animals show that the movement of LDL particles from the circulation into the vessel wall is determined by both ApoB-LP concentrations and arterial wall permeability. Any change in circulating ApoB-LP levels will quickly affect how much ApoB-LP is delivered into the vessel wall. Vascular permeability is highly variable among individuals, perhaps contributing to genetic susceptibility to CVD. Even in healthy arteries, the permeability of the endothelial layer is variable among individuals by up to 10 fold²²⁶; so some individuals with low serum LDL-C may experience a relatively high flux of LDL into the arterial wall.

Entrapment of ApoB-LPs in the vessel wall activates overlying endothelial cells to recruit circulating monocytes to the site of retained particles^{227, 228}. Activated endothelial cells secrete chemokines that bind the receptors on monocytes and direct their migration. This is an important step in atherogenesis; preventing monocyte entry by blocking chemokine signaling has been shown to prevent or slow down the progress of

atherosclerosis in mouse models²²⁸. Monocyte derived macrophages in the lesion also secrete ApoB lipoprotein binding proteoglycans²²⁴. This mechanism likely plays an important role in LP retention in established lesions versus new lesion formation; this effect may also explain why the inflammatory response is persistent in atherosclerosis²²⁹.

Following chemokinesis, monocytes become tethered to and roll along on endothelial cells overlying trapped ApoB-LPs. Firm adherence of monocytes to lesional endothelial cells is directed by interactions between monocyte integrins and endothelial cell ligands. Atherogenesis occurs at sites of blood flow disturbances and platelet aggregation above the lesion may also promote monocyte-endothelial interactions by activating NFkB signaling and expression of adhesion molecules and through the deposition of platelet-derived chemokines on activated endothelium^{228, 230}. Firm adhesion of monocytes to the endothelium is followed by their entry into the sub-endothelial space²³⁰. The majority of monocytes that enter the lesion site differentiate into macrophages while a smaller subset become dendritic cells²³¹. This process is driven primarily by macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) as well as other differentiation factors.

Atherosclerosis progresses as macrophages engulf oxidized LPs, primarily oxLDL, via scavenger receptor SRA and CD36. SRA and CD36 are the primary receptors directing LP engulfment, however, gene targeting studies in ApoE^{-/-} mice indicate that additional mechanisms are also involved in foam cell formation(cite). Once ingested, the cholesteryl esters of the LPs are hydrolyzed to free cholesterol and fatty acids. The free cholesterol then undergoes re-esterification to cholesteryl fatty acid esters

which is the "foam" of the foam cells. This step is important as accumulation of free cholesterol is toxic to cells and may lead to macrophage cell death in advanced lesions.

Lesion growth Upon engulfment of modified LPs, lesional macrophages secrete a variety of cytokines and growth factors, which synergize to recruit monocytes and vascular smooth muscle cells to the site. In particular, interukin (IL)-1 β and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) α secreted by lesional macrophages stimulate the local production of platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) and fibroblast growth factor (FGF), which play a key role in plaque formation. PDGF is secreted by the activated endothelial cells and stimulates smooth muscle cell (SMC) migration into the intima. An important step for SMC migration and proliferation is the secretion of matrix metalloproteinases (MMP) which are responsible for degrading the internal elastic lamina²³². Lipoprotein lipase, secreted by activated endothelium, also plays a role in promoting SMC proliferation through a complex process^{233, 234}. Together, these factors lead to the formation of a dense, fibrous extracellular matrix that comprises the fibrous cap – elastin and collagens – are responsible for the strength of the cap.

Biomechanical analysis demonstrate that a significant amount of circumferential stress is focused on the fibrous cap, which must resist these high stresses to avoid rupture^{235, 236}. The stability of the lesion depends on a balance between inflammatory and reparative processes directed by immune cells (predominantly macrophages and T cells) in the lesion. Plaque stability is conferred by the thick, fibrous cap that is able to reduce the circumferential tensile stress and prevent the lipid-rich necrotic core from coming in contact with the blood. While a thick cap confers stability, rupture-prone plaques tend to

have thin, friable fibrous caps^{236, 237}. Foam cells produce increased amounts of tissue factor, a powerful pro-coagulant, thereby making the core highly thrombogenic²³⁸. The lesion is highly dynamic and changes in plaque constituents may predispose some parts of the plaque to rupture as well. For example, regions of high macrophage density are more prone to rupture than those with fewer macrophages present²³⁹. Moreover, phenotypic changes occurs in plaque vascular SMCs over time so that they are no longer reparative, thereby increasing the likelihood of plaque rupture^{240, 241}.

Plaque rupture Inflammatory cells erode the fibrous cap through various mechanisms, but the activation of MMPs have been identified as the most significant. Within atherosclerotic lesions, activated macrophages and endothelial cells secrete MMPs, which will weaken the fibrous cap by degrading the matrix proteins, collagen, and other peptides that comprise it. Various hormones, cytokines, steroids and growth factors regulate the expression of MMPs. In addition, activated lesional macrophages secrete cytokines, such as CD40 ligand, which enhance protease production. These proteases can degrade collagen and weaken the fibrous cap as well^{242, 243}. CD40 ligand also blocks the ability of SMCs to proliferate²⁴⁴ and to produce collagen²⁴⁵ as does other inflammatory cytokines, including IL-1 β , TNF α and interferon (INF) γ , which are commonly found in advanced lesions. Together, these effects results in fibrous cap weakening.

Inflammation and atherosclerosis

It is now widely recognized among the scientific and medical communities that atherosclerosis is a chronic inflammatory disease. A significant body of work over the past 20 years has focused on understanding how both the innate and adaptive immune systems contribute to lesion development, progression and thrombotic events²⁴⁶.

Importantly, inflammation plays a decisive role in the likelihood that the plaque ruptures as well as in the activation of pro-coagulants within the lesion responsible for initiating the coagulation cascade¹⁶⁷. The outcome of these events is an occlusive thrombus that manifests clinically as an acute coronary syndrome ("heart attack") or ischemic stroke^{247,} ²⁴⁸. Evidence that the immune system influences atherosclerosis is the finding that Creactive protein (CRP), an acute-phase reactant released during inflammatory processes, adds to the predictive power of traditional CVD risk factors²⁴⁹. Furthermore, HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors, the most effective therapy for CVD to date, also have antiinflammatory activity as they have been shown to reduce leukocyte adhesion, accumulation of macrophages, protease production, pro-coagulant and pro-inflammatory mediator expression, antigen presentation, and T-cell activation²⁵⁰. Support for the immunomodulatory effect of HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors comes from recent clinical studies. For example, the CARE (Cholesterol And Recurrent Events) trial first demonstrated that statin treatment reduces serum levels of CRP in addition to LDL-C; moreover, the magnitude of risk reduction associated with statins exceeds that expected for lowering LDL-C alone²⁵¹. Findings from retrospective studies also supported the usefulness of targeting CRP with statins in normocholesterolemic patients in both primary²⁵² and secondary prevention²⁵³ of adverse cardiac events. Prospective findings from the JUPITER trial (Justification for the Use of Statins in Primary Prevention: an Intervention Trial Evaluating Rosuvastatin) showed that statins prevented adverse cardiac events in patients with optimal LDL-C but elevated CRP levels²⁵⁴.

Innate immunity and the macrophage in atherosclerosis

Monocytes and macrophages are the most numerous leukocytes throughout atherogenesis and they play a critical role in both the initiation and progression of atherosclerotic lesions. Innate immunity is responsible for the recognition of signature molecules, either pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) of microbial origin or danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) which are "self" molecules that have become accessible to immune cells following cell injury or death. Important to atherosclerosis, DAMPs can also be "altered self" molecules – originally benign "self" molecules that have undergone modification. Innate immune cells use pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) to recognize DAMPs and PAMPs, directing responses that are normally protective, such as eliminating microbes or removing damaged tissue. Importantly, these early innate immune responses are followed by secretion of chemokines and cytokines that recruit and activate lymphocytes.

Early research in understanding the inflammatory process in atherosclerosis focused on identifying the antigen(s) responsible for the initial inflammatory response. As discussed previously, the possibility that infectious organisms activate this initial response has been considered, however, little evidence supports a primary role^{140, 166}. Furthermore, clinical trials have not provided adequate support for the therapeutic use of antibiotics as a primary or secondary prevention for CVD²⁵⁵. Similarly, the generation of DAMPs requires a pre-existing injury as they are generally produced during tissue damage. Therefore, while they may contribute to the chronic inflammation of atherosclerosis, DAMPs are unlikely to play a major role in directing the primary inflammatory response of atherogenesis. Laboratory and clinical data indicate that antigens responsible for the initiation of atherosclerosis consist of new epitopes that are formed as a result of oxidative reactions, such as when oxLDL is formed or cells undergo apoptosis ^{246, 256-258}. The innate immune system has evolved to remove these oxidized molecules and cells, since they would otherwise be pro-inflammatory and immunogenic^{257, 259}.

Immune cells normally have limited ability to bind to the endothelium; however, pro-inflammatory stimuli including hypercholesterolemia, hyperglycemia, hypertension, and smoking trigger the endothelial expression of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) and P-selectin and promote the attachment of circulating monocytes and leukocytes²⁶⁰⁻²⁶³. The presence of oxLDL in the vessel wall also increases the expression and secretion of chemoattractant factors from endothelial cells, including MCP-1, which direct the migration and entry of monocytes. Indeed, genetic deletion of MCP-1 in *Ldlr*^{-/-} mice reduces monocyte recruitment and decreases atherosclerosis²⁶⁴; similar results are true for the genetic deletion of the MCP-1 receptor in *apoE*^{-/-} mice²⁶⁵. Experimental studies and human observations also support the involvement of other chemokines in monocyte recruitment into the arterial wall²⁶⁶⁻²⁶⁹. Taken together, these findings support the requirement for innate immune response directing monocyte recruitment, a critical step in atherogenesis.

The inflamed vascular wall overexpresses M-CSF which drives monocyte differentiation into macrophages within the intima^{270, 271}. In addition, M-CSF stimulates increased expression of macrophage scavenger receptors responsible for engulfment of ox-LDL by receptor-mediated endocytosis²⁴³. Lesion monocytes/macrophages also have increased expression of TLRs which activate inflammatory signaling pathways in response to a large number of stimuli, including oxLDL^{272, 273} and heat shock proteins

(released from apoptotic cells in the lesion)²⁷⁴. Consistent with the role of TLRs and their downstream effectors in promoting atherosclerosis by sustaining inflammation, genetic abrogation of the pathway reduces disease^{275, 276}. In addition, atherogenesis is also associated with the selective recruitment of a pro-inflammatory subset of monocytes, Ly- $6C^{hi}$, which preferentially bind activated endothelium and infiltrate into lesions; serum levels of Ly- $6C^{hi}$ are increased in hypercholesterolemic ApoE^{-/-} mice ²⁷⁷. Upon lesion formation, resident macrophages proliferate and amplify the inflammatory response by secreting growth factors and cytokines, including TNF α and IL-1 β . These two cytokines are important immune modulators responsible for the induction of a broad spectrum of adhesion molecules, chemokines, and growth factors, thereby sustaining the chronic inflammatory state within the lesion²⁴³.

Advanced lesions are characterized by a necrotic core of lipid-filled cells covered by a fibrous cap. The amount and type of interstitial collagen fibers comprising the fibrous cap determined its strength. Inflammation can weaken the fibrous cap by limiting the synthesis of new collagen fibers by SMCs and stimulating the degradation of existing collagen²⁴⁵. This response is mediated in large part by the secretion of IL-1 β and CD40L by T-cells which induces macrophages to release collagenases that are responsible for the initial degradation of plaque collagen²⁷⁸⁻²⁸⁰. Collagenase expression and activity is increased in regions of the plaque vulnerable to rupture (e.g. core and shoulder)^{279, 281} suggesting their role in promoting plaque destabilization and thrombotic events. Indeed, plaque collagen content increases in collagenase-resistant apoE^{-/-} mice²⁸². Inflammation also stimulates macrophage foam cells to release proteases that degrade elastin and collagen contributing to plaque evolution and destabilization ^{283, 284}. The combined effect of the various proteases released by macrophage foam cells favors fibrous cap remodeling that may lead to plaque rupture¹⁶⁷.

Other innate immune cells involved in atherosclerosis

Neutrophils Despite being important phagocytic cells of the innate immune system and the most abundant type of white blood cell in humans, neutrophils comprise only a minority of the inflammatory cell composition of atherosclerotic lesions²⁴⁶. Whether neutrophils directly contribute to atherogenesis is controversial and uncertain. There is some evidence, however, that they may play a role in the initial recruitment of immune cells to the lesion site²⁸⁵. Additionally, the degranulation of neutrophils results in the release of a variety of proteins including collagenase, elastase, and proteases which may contribute to plaque destabilization. Indeed, atherosclerotic lesions demonstrate increased markers of neutrophil degranulation and the presence of neutrophil-specific proteases suggesting that neutrophils are playing an active role in the progression of atherosclerosis²⁸⁶. It has also been reported that neutrophils co-localize with myeloperoxidase in lesions²⁸⁷. Myeloperoxidase generates the reactive oxygen species hypochlorous acid, which contributes to the apoptosis of endothelial cells as well as promoting lesion growth²⁸⁸. Myeloperoxidase activity also leads to LDL nitration and lipid peroxidation, increasing the uptake of modified LDL by macrophages²⁸⁹. Interestingly, high circulating levels of neutrophils predict myocardial infarction better than any other leukocyte subset, including total white blood cell, lymphocyte, or monocyte count²⁹⁰.

Dendritic cells Dendritic cells (DCs) are the professional antigen-presenting cells of innate immunity responsible for inducing T-cell responses. As key modulators of the

immune system, DCs likely play a critical role in directing the innate or adaptive immune responses against the altered self-antigens found in atherosclerosis. Indeed, the number of DCs increase in parallel to lesion complexity²⁹¹ as does the expression of CD83²⁹², a marker of DC activation, thus supporting the potential contribution of DCs to atherosclerosis. The influence of DCs in the atherogenic process likely hinges upon their primary function as antigen-presenting cells. Contrary to macrophages that lose their ability to present antigens in the face of cholesterol induced cytotoxicity²⁹³, dendritic cells retain antigen presenting function under conditions typical of atherosclerotic lesions²⁹⁴. This ability is probably due to the increased resistance to oxidative stress and cholesterol-induced cytotoxicity characteristic of DCs^{294, 295}. Importantly, antigen presentation by DCs primes T-cells and enables T-cell antigen-specific differentiation into effector cells. Efficient T-cell priming requires co-stimulatory signaling from DCs and when this is blocked in athero-prone mice the development of atherosclerosis is attenuated²⁹⁶.

Adaptive Immunity in Atherosclerosis The second arm of the immunity is the adaptive immune response that is activated in response to antigen recognition by B-cells and T-cells. Antigen recognition drives lymphocyte proliferation and differentiation into effector cells with pro-inflammatory properties meant to be protective against infection. The adaptive immune response, however, also leads to tissue damage, especially when exposure to the antigen is persistent (i.e. atherosclerosis). Indeed, T-cells constitute approximately 10% to 20% of immune cells in advanced human plaques²⁹⁷ and congregate at rupture-prone sites²⁹⁸. Together, these findings suggest that T-cell plays a role in mediating the tissue damage present in late-stage disease.

T-cells enter the vessel wall in response to several different chemokines that all bind the CXCR3 receptor highly expressed on the surface of lesional T-cells²⁹⁹. Most of the T-cells in atherosclerotic lesions are of the Th1 subset³⁰⁰ and recognize antigens presented by macrophages and DCs, including antigens derived from oxLDL³⁰¹. Antigen recognition leads to the clonal expansion of antigen-specific T-cell effector cells³⁰². Lesional T-cells secrete INF- γ , IL-2, and TNF α which activate macrophage and vascular endothelial cells and promote inflammation³⁰⁰. In addition, compared with non-diseased arterial tissue, there is increased expression of IL-12 and IL-18, Th1 stimulatory molecules, by lesional cells³⁰³. In addition to Th1 cells, atherosclerotic plaques also contain some cytotoxic Th2 cells and occasional B cells²⁹⁸. Although the number of Bcells in plaques is few, their function in antibody secretion may play an important role in atherosclerosis. Indeed, analysis in human subjects reveals both increased plasma titers of anti-oxLDL antibodies and immune complexes containing oxLDL in human lesions³⁰⁴. Further evidence for the role of B-cells in atherosclerosis comes from the discovery that antibody titers to heat shock protein 60 (HSP60), which is released from damaged tissue, correlates with cardiovascular disease³⁰⁵.

The degree to which adaptive immune responses influence the atherogenic process is still under investigation. Studies of atherosclerosis in hypercholesterolemic ApoE^{-/-} or Ldlr^{-/-} mice in which adaptive immunity has been deleted (Rag^{-/-} or SCID background) show that adaptive immunity is not required for atherogenesis, however, its presence affects lesion formation and is largely pro-atherogenic, probably more so at earlier stages³⁰⁶⁻³¹⁰. Indeed, reconstitution of SCID/ apoE^{-/-} mice with Th1 cells from immunocompetent apoE^{-/-} mice results in lesion growth similar to immunocompotent

apoE^{-/-} mice³⁰⁸, suggesting that Th1 cells are the primary adaptive immune cells with proatherogenic activity. Additionally, the disproportionately elevated cardiovascular risk for patients with systemic autoimmune diseases³¹¹⁻³¹³ also supports the role for adaptive immune responses in promoting atherosclerosis.

<u>1.3 High Density Lipoprotein</u>

Early findings that high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol levels were inversely associated with cardiovascular risk led to massive efforts to define the potential anti-atherogenic activity of this particle. Over a half century of research has focused on defining high-density lipoprotein (HDL) particles by their ability to accept cholesterol from peripheral cells, importantly arterial macrophages, and transport it to the liver for metabolism and excretion. While HDL and HDL-cholesterol (HDL-C) levels have historically been considered one and the same, recent evidence has begun to shine light on the dynamic and variable natures of HDL particles. Human HDL, in fact, is actually a heterogeneous collection of lipoprotein particles with a density of ranging from 1.063 to 1.21 g/ml. Size exclusion column or nondenaturing gradient gel analysis reveals that human HDL has several discrete particle sizes. Ultracentrifugation can separate 2 major density subfractions, HDL₂ (density between 1.063 and 1.125 g/mL) and HDL₃ (density between 1.125 and 1.21 g/ml). Proteomics of HDL is complex³¹⁴ but the majority of HDL contains apoA1, which is the most abundant lipoprotein in normal human plasma and comprises approximately 70% of the total HDL protein content. Many HDL particles also contain ApoAII, the second most abundant lipoprotein in HDL. Many of the less abundant proteins associated with HDL are found only in a subfraction of HDL particles³¹⁴, thus increasing HDL diversity.

HDL biogenesis

The biogenesis of HDL is a complex and dynamic process involving the formation of nascent particles that undergo lipidation and extensive remodeling in the circulation (Figure 1.3). The generation of mature HDL begins with the synthesis of apoA1 in the liver and intestine. Maturation of nascent HDL particles require interaction with the cholesterol/phospholipid transport ABCA1 for lipidation. Mouse models of tissue specific ABCA1 deficiency demonstrate that hepatic ABCA1 is responsible for the majority of nascent HDL synthesis, while intestinal ABCA1 plays a significant role in HDL maturation³¹⁵. Following ABCA1-mediated lipidation, HDL is enriched in phospholipids and free cholesterol and this particle is the substrate for lethicin-cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT) which esterifies free cholesterol to cholesteryl ester building up the hydrophobic core and in the process generates larger and less dense HDL particles³¹⁶. LCAT activity is critical for normal HDL metabolism. In humans, the rare genetic disorder of LCAT deficiency is associated with extremely low HDL-C (<10 mg/dL) and apoA1 levels³¹⁷. Loss of LCAT-mediated cholesterol esterification in plasma results in the inability to form mature HDL particles with a cholesteryl ester core and rapid catabolism of circulating apoA1 and apoAII³¹⁷. Interestingly, premature CVD is not evident in LCAT-deficient patients despite the extremely low HDL-C and apoA1 levels^{318, 319}.

Cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) is another important enzyme that plays a critical role in HDL remodeling. CETP is synthesized in liver and adipose tissue and circulates in plasma bound to lipoproteins. The function of CETP in the plasma is to redistribute hydrophobic lipids packaged within the lipoprotein core (triglycerides and

cholesteryl esters) between HDL and triglyceride-rich apoB-containing particles (VLDL, LDL, IDL, chylomicron remnants)³²⁰. The net effect of CETP activity on HDL is cholesteryl ester depletion and triglyceride enrichment, with an overall reduction in HDL-C and generation of smaller HDL particles. CETP activity is increased in hypertriglyceridemia³²¹ and in the post-prandial state³²², perhaps explaining why low HDL-C often appears together with high LDL-C. Despite decreasing HDL-C levels, CETP appears to promote the uptake of HDL-CEs in the liver, arguing that this enzyme might also have anti-atherogenic activity³²³. That CETP plays a critical role in HDL metabolism was conclusively demonstrated by the discovery of a small cohort of CETP deficient patients in Japan who have elevated HDL-C and reduced ApoA1 turnover. Despite a rise in HDL-C levels, however, coronary heart disease was increased among study participants with CETP deficiency 324 . To note, there is discrepancies among the various studies, and in certain cases CETP deficiency is athero-protective, and this effect is seen in parallel with significant increases in HDL-C³²⁵. CETP is not found in rodents and when it is transgenically expressed HDL-C levels are dose-dependently reduced, and as a consequence, atherosclerosis increases³²⁶. In contrast, CETP expression is antiatherogenic in other mouse models more relevant to human pathophysiology (i.e. hypertriglyceridemia)³²⁷. The protective effects of CETP despite opposite effects on HDL-C suggest that the dynamics of HDL metabolism may be more important than HDL levels in determining the effect on atherosclerosis.

Phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP) is an additional enzyme responsible for the remodeling of HDL in circulation. PLTP circulates bound to HDL and mediates the transfer of phospholipids from triglyceride-rich lipoprotein to HDL and also the exchange

of phospholipids between lipoproteins. The net transfer of phospholipids into HDL results in the formation of larger, less dense particles. Besides phospholipids, PLTP can also mediate the transfer of lipid species, including diacylglycerol, ceramide and lipopolysaccharides³²⁸. PLTP deficiency has not been found in human, but PLTP knockout mice have a marked reduction in HDL phospholipids, free cholesterol and apoA1³²⁹ due to increased clearance of phospholipid-depleted HDL³³⁰. Overexpression of human PLTP in mice also results in a 30% to 40% reduction in plasma HDL cholesterol levels^{331, 332}. This reduction in HDL-C is accompanied by an increase in preβ-HDL particles³³¹, which are more rapidly degraded³³³, thereby likely contributing to the decrease in HDL levels. Overall, PLTP deficiency as well as PLTP overexpression causes a significant reduction of HDL levels in circulation.

In addition to the actions of LCAT, CETP, and PLTP, a number of lipases present in both the circulation and tissues also contribute to the composition of HDL particles. Three members of the triglyceride lipase gene family of proteins are primarily active in HDL remodeling: lipoprotein lipase, hepatic lipase and endothelial lipase.

Lipoprotein lipase (LPL) is a multifunctional protein that is produced by many tissues including muscle, adipose and macrophages³³⁴. LPL plays a major role in the hydrolysis of triglycerides from the core of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins, primarily chylomicrons and VLDL³³⁵. LPL has also been show to promote the exchange of lipids between lipoproteins³³⁶. It also mediates the uptake and degradation of cholesterol-rich lipoproteins³³⁷⁻³³⁹, and this effect is independent of the lipolytic activity of LPL³³⁹. Indeed, in cultured human hepatocytes LPL was shown to significantly increase the selective uptake of HDL-CE³⁴⁰ and this effect is independent of SR-B1³⁴¹. More than 100

mutations have been identified in the human LPL gene. A recent meta-analysis has determined that LPL variants that result in reduced LPL activity are associated with adverse lipid profiles – elevated TGs and lower HDL-C³⁴².

Hepatic lipase (HL) is lipolytic enzyme that is synthesized in hepatocytes and is secreted and bound to the surface of hepatocytes and hepatic endothelial cells. Lipoprotein components hydrolyzed by hepatic lipase include triglycerides, cholesterol esters, and phospholipids³⁴³. In contrast to lipoprotein lipase, heaptic lipase does not require interactions with apolipoprotein to be enzymatically active³⁴⁴ HL hydrolyzes HDL phospholipids and triglycerides³⁴³, and in the presence of CETP converts phospholipid-rich HDL to smaller HDL remnants and lipid-poor or lipid-free apoA1³⁴⁵. It has also been shown to enhance HDL-cholesterol ester uptake by hepatocytes, perhaps because of its remodeling effects^{323, 344}. In addition, human HDL turnover studies^{346, 347} have also suggested that hepatic lipase plays an important role in determining HDL protein fractional catabolic rates, further confirming the role of hepatic lipase in HDL metabolism and HDL-CE uptake. Patients with genetic disruption of HL^{348, 349} have moderately elevated HDL-C and knockout³⁵⁰ and overexpression^{351, 352} studies in animals have also demonstrated that HL activity is inversely associated with HDL-C levels.

Endothelial lipase is synthesized and secreted by endothelial cells and has been detected in a variety of tissues, as well as in human atherosclerotic foam cells³⁵³. Endothelial lipase primarily functions as a phospholipase and exhibits preference for HDL over other lipoproteins³⁵³. In sum, EL is a negative regulator of plasma HDL-C levels. Overexpression³⁵⁴⁻³⁵⁶ and knock out studies³⁵⁷ in rodents demonstrate that EL activity reduces HDL-C and apoA1 levels due to an increase in the catabolic rate of HDL

apolipoproteins and HDL-CE. It has been posited, therefore, that the hydrolysis of HDL phospholipids by EL destabilizes the particle, resulting in shedding of apoA1 molecules that are rapidly cleared by the kidneys³⁵⁶. Consequently, the remaining CE within the EL-modulated HDL particle is more susceptible to SR-B1 mediated uptake^{355, 356}. The evidence that EL negatively controls HDL levels in humans comes from several recent GWAS studies³⁵⁸⁻³⁶⁰ that identified EL variants associated with HDL-C levels. Further confirming the effects of EL, a meta-analysis across five cohorts demonstrated that loss of function mutations in EL increases HDL-C levels³⁶⁰.

HDL - the "good" cholesterol

Physicians have long advocated to the public that LDL-C is "bad" whereas HDL-C is "good" based on the early epidemiological findings that high LDL-C increases CVD risk while HDL-C reduces it. The effects of LDL-C and HDL-C on CVD risk are not necessarily related. Indeed, findings in the 1970s and 1980s from follow-up analysis of Framingham Heart Study showed that HDL-C was protective in patients across the strata of LDL-C levels^{361, 362}. Further evidence that HDL-C was an important predictor of CVD risk, the incidence of low HDL-C (<35 mg/dL) was approximately three fold greater among men (<60 years old) with premature coronary heart disease than age-matched controls³⁶³. Genetic disorders characterized by low HDL-C levels are rare and include mutations in or the hypercatabolism of ApoA1, as well as defects in cholesterol transporters such as ABCA1. On the other hand, lifestyle factors such as obesity, physical inactivity, diet, smoking, and the presence of other inflammatory disorders – account for the majority of low HDL-C levels.

Despite the striking epidemiological evidence that HDL-C levels confer protection from CVD, recent human studies have cast serious doubt on the therapeutic benefit of raising HDL-C levels^{364, 365}. Voight and colleagues recently completed a Mendalian randomization study and found that a combined score for the 14 common genetic variants that are associated with HDL-C levels and no other lipoprotein traits was not associated with CVD endpoints³⁶⁶. Furthermore, recent drug trials to increase HDL-C, either with CETP inhibitors^{364, 367} or extended release Niacin³⁶⁸, did not show significant beneficial effects on CV outcomes despite raising HDL-C. Interestingly, a mouse model of SR-B1 deficiency on the hyperlipidemic $ApoE^{-/-}$ background, in which plasma HDL-C accumulate due to the block in hepatic uptake actually developed more severe atherosclerosis than controls³⁶⁹. The accumulating evidence from human and animal studies provides compelling support for the notion that HDL-C in and of itself is not athero-protective. Yet, there is substantial data in mouse models that increased HDL is associated with decreased atherogenesis and increased regression of existing lesions (These studies will be discussed in a following section). Furthermore, human data indicates that HDL particle number is a better indicator of cardiovascular disease risk than HDL-C levels³⁷⁰. While this effect may be due merely to raising the amount of HDL particles available to remove excess cholesterol, increasing HDL particle numbers might also impact other functional activities of HDL. It is important to note, however, that the capacity of HDL to accept macrophage-derived cholesterol has recently been shown to be a better marker for CVD risk than HDL-C³⁷¹. Researchers are only now beginning to understand the full spectrum of HDL's function and cargo; thus, more emphasis should be placed on elucidating the other aspects of HDL besides its role in cholesterol transport, as these may be potential therapeutic targets. Nevertheless, it is becoming clear that HDL particle number and function are likely better predictors of CVD risk than HDL-C. While

it may not be feasible to measure such parameters in every patient, new methods that allow such quantification of HDL particle number and function on a large-scale will greatly enhance CV risk reduction.

HDL atheroprotective functions

HDL has been ascribed many atheroprotective activities, including mediating anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory pathways as well as promoting endothelial cell function and regulating whole body cholesterol transport³⁷². Since the accumulation of cholesterol esters by macrophages in the vessel wall is the hallmark of atherogenesis²²⁴ many have ascribed HDL mediated reverse cholesterol transport (RCT) as the major anti-atherogenic function³⁷³⁻³⁷⁵. Indeed, as noted above, many recent human studies are indicating that HDL efflux capacity is a reliable indicator of CVD risk³⁷¹. Consistent with atherosclerosis being a dynamic and multi-factorial disease, HDL's other roles likely contribute to its atheroprotective properties, and to what degree these properties play a role in suppressing atherogenesis is currently being investigated.

HDL and reverse cholesterol transport The RCT hypothesis first put forth by Glomset³¹⁶ proposes that HDL accepts cholesterol from peripheral cells such as lesion macrophages, and delivers it to the liver where it can be directly excreted into the bile or metabolized into bile salts before excretion. ApoAI, other exchangeable apolipoproteins, and mimetic peptides with the amphipathic helical structure of ApoAI can all accept cellular free cholesterol and phospholipids from ABCA1. In the first step of RCT, macrophage ABCA1 transfers cholesterol and phospholipids to lipid-poor ApoA1 forming nascent HDL (Figure 1.4). LCAT associates with HDL in circulation and promotes its maturation by converting free cholesterol into cholesteryl esters which are immediately sequestered

in the hydrophobic core of HDL³¹⁶(Figure 1.4). The importance of ABCA1 mediated cholesterol efflux is appreciated in patients with Tangier's disease. These patients have a loss of function mutation in *ABCA1* and as a result have reduced HDL-C levels and tissue accumulation of cholesterol esters^{376, 377}. Not unexpectedly, these patients are at increased risk for developing CVD³⁷⁸. Animal studies have further clarified the physiological role of ABCA1. *Abca1^{-/-}* mice have very low HDL-C levels similar to patients with Tangier's disease³⁷⁹. Macrophage specific knockout of ABCA1 had no significant effect on HDL-C levels but resulted in increased atherosclerosis, presumably due to a block in macrophage RCT³⁸⁰. Thus, macrophage ABCA1 contributes little to the bulk lipidation of ApoA1 and HDL however it is important for atheroprotection. Conversely, hepatic ABCA1 is critical for the initial lipidation of nascent lipid-poor apoA1 particles protecting them from rapid degradation in the plasma as liver specific deletion of ABCA1 reduces plasma HDL-C by approximately 80% ³¹⁵.

Mature HDL mobilizes additional cholesterol from macrophages and other lipidladen cells through interaction with ABCG1, SR-B1, or other receptor-independent pathways³⁸¹. SR-B1 binds larger spherical HDL and forms a complex, probably containing a hydrophobic channel, which allows cholesterol transfer to HDL³⁸². SR-B1 mediates bi-directional cholesterol flux and allows HDL-cholesterol to enter cells. In circulating monocytes SR-B1 levels are undetectable, but increase upon differentiation into macrophages³⁸³ indicating the importance of this protein for the first step of RCT. ABCG1 is an intracellular transporter which reorganizes the pool of plasma membrane cholesterol thereby facilitating its absorption via passive diffusion by cholesterol acceptors^{384, 385}. Nascent and mature HDL particles are equally effective acceptors for ABCG1-mediated cholesterol efflux³⁷⁴. Depending on the cholesterol gradient between the cell membrane and the acceptor, passive diffusion can also promote macrophage cholesterol efflux³⁸⁶.

Importantly, cholesterol efflux to HDL does not occur in the circulation but within the arterial wall and HDL must cross the endothelial barrier twice to access lipid-laden arterial macrophages and to re-enter the circulation. Indeed, two recent studies have provided *in vivo* evidence that the trans-endothelial transport of HDL into the lymphatic vasculature is a rate-limiting step in reverse cholesterol transport^{387, 388}. Endothelial cells can bind, internalize and transport mature HDL via distinct mechanisms regulated by SR-B1, ABCG1 and endothelial lipase^{389, 390}. Once in circulation HDL travels to the liver where it deposits its lipid cargo to hepatic SR-B1 (Figure 1.4). In the liver, HDL-derived cholesterol is then secreted into bile by ABCG5/G8, an obligate dimer pair of cholesterol transport proteins, and subsequently excreted via bile into the feces. Alternately, cholesterol can be excreted through a non-biliary pathway termed "trans-intestinal cholesterol export" (TICE) which relies on VLDL targeted to the LDL receptor or another lipoprotein receptor in the small intestine. Intestinal cholesterol is then excreted into the small intestine. Intestinal cholesterol is then excreted into the intestinal lumen by ABCG5/G8^{391, 392}.

Studying the RCT pathway in vitro *and* in vivo Cholesterol efflux assays are useful for studying the first step of the RCT pathway (macrophage to HDL cholesterol transfer), however, proving the RCT hypothesis *in vivo* has been challenging. Rader and colleagues developed an *in vivo* RCT assay system in mice using macrophages that have been labeled with radioactive cholesterol *ex vivo*. These tracer cells are then injected into the peritoneal cavity of mice and the amount of radioactive tracer tracked as it moves into

various compartments, notably the plasma, liver, and feces. As a proof of concept experiment Rader and colleagues demonstrated that RCT can be increased by apoA1 overexpression³⁹³. The utility of this assay is that it can be modified by using different types of donor cells and/or pharmacologically or genetic manipulating the system. Indeed, the numerous studies in mice using this *in vivo* RCT assay has yielded a wealth of information on RCT in rodents that can be extrapolated to humans. Although numerous HDL turnover studies have been performed in humans³⁹⁴, the ability to quantify the movement of cholesterol from macrophage to feces has not been worked out. Recently, a study using continuous ¹³C infusion in humans demonstrated the ability to quantify cholesterol movement *in vivo*³⁹⁵. This method, however, does not specifically address the contribution of cholesterol efflux from foam cells, therefore whether this method would be meaningful in the setting of atherosclerosis remains to be seen.

Anti-oxidative properties of HDL HDL function can be measured in several *in vitro* assays. Cell-based and cell-free assays to measure the anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidant activities were first pioneered by Fogelman and colleagues^{396, 397}. In a culture system containing endothelial and smooth muscle cells, LDL will undergo oxidation and induce the expression of monocyte chemotactic factors leading to increased monocyte transmigration³⁹⁷. The addition of HDL to this culture system can block this response, demonstrating HDL's anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory activities. The anti-oxidant activity of HDL requires several HDL-associated enzymes, including paraoxonase 1 (PON1), lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2 (LpPLA2) and LCAT. These enzymes have all been reported to hydrolyze oxidized phospholipids, thereby reducing the oxidative state of lipoproteins particles^{372, 398-402}. Additionally, sulfur-containing

methionine residues of apoAI, either singularly or in complex with HDL, have detoxifying activity against phospholipid hydroperoxides rendering them redox-inactive⁴⁰³.

HDL and endothelial protection. In vitro studies have shown that HDL can attenuate the inflammatory response in endothelial cells and induce endothelial repair by promoting endothelial nitric oxide (NO) production. Several different mechanisms have been proposed to account for HDL stimulated endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) increases. Several reports have demonstrated that HDL blocks the detrimental effects of oxLDL on endothelial NO synthase activity^{404, 405}, and subsequent studies have shown that HDL binding to SR-B1 on endothelial cells directly stimulates NO production^{406, 407}. Others have suggested that the HDL binding to endothelial SR-B1 facilitates interaction between HDL-associated lysophospholipids (i.e. sphingosine-1-phosphate) and the S1P3 receptor resulting in increased NO production and vasodilation⁴⁰⁸. Moreover, in an ABCG1-dependent manner, HDL treatment of human aortic endothelial cells prevents oxysterol-induced production of reactive oxygen species, thereby maintaining eNOS activity⁴⁰⁹.

HDL and anti-inflammatory activity Fogelman et al.^{399, 410} provided some of the early evidence that HDL possessed anti-inflammatory activity *in vitro*. The *in vivo* significance of HDL's role in mediating inflammation was demonstrated by the findings that HDL potently blocks cytokine release in a murine model of endotoxinemia⁴¹¹. In this model, HDL was found to bind LPS thereby attenuating immune activation. The anti-inflammatory activity of HDL on vascular endothelial cells is mediated through the HDL-dependent induction of eNOS production as described above. At the cellular level, HDL has been shown to affect such inflammatory processes through the inhibition of cytokine

production, upregulation of critical adhesion molecules, and interference with proinflammatory transcription factors such as NF κ B⁴¹². The mechanism by which HDL exerts these effects, however, is poorly understood. NF κ B is a major pro-inflammatory transcription factor in myeloid cells responsible for the production of IL-1b, iNOS, and other cytokines implicated in atherosclerosis. It is believed that HDL inhibits NF κ B activation by blocking a sphingosine kinase signaling pathway upstream of NF- κ B^{413, 414}. Monocytes from patients with liver cirrhosis are inherently pro-inflammatory; however, recombinant HDL was shown to block NF- κ B activation in these cells and prevent their pro-inflammatory phenotype. The authors of this study suggest that the ability of HDL to neutralize LPS attenuates NF- κ B activation⁴¹⁵. ApoA1 plays a central role in HDLdependent LPS neutralization as distinct amino acid substitutions in ApoA1 attenuates the LPS-neutralizing capacity of HDL⁴¹⁶.

In addition to neutralizing endotoxin, HDL also has direct and indirect antiinflammatory activity through its major role as an acceptor of macrophage cholesterol. Indirectly, HDL-mediated cholesterol efflux prevents inflammatory cytotoxicity in macrophages. Indeed, macrophage-specific deletion of ABCA1, which results in the accumulation of free cholesterol, increases cytokines production in response to LPS stimulation⁴¹⁷. Moreover, the HDL-dependent efflux of oxidized lipids – many of which promote vascular inflammation⁴¹⁸ – is consistent with the observation that the ability of HDL to inhibit monocyte chemotaxis correlates strongly with the HDL efflux capacity³⁹⁷. A direct effect of HDL on inflammatory signaling has also been proposed: The transduction of inflammatory signals across the cellular membrane requires the formation of lipid rafts containing high concentrations of cholesterol and sphingolipids. Cholesterol depletion from these microdomains affects subsequent signaling processes⁴¹⁹, and apoA1 has been shown to disrupt lipid rafts by efficiently depletes cholesterol from macrophage membranes⁴²⁰. Thus, the direct effect of HDL and ApoA1 on lipid rafts may explain some of HDL's reported anti-inflammatory activity in immune cells.

One of the initiating steps in atherogenesis is the activation of the vascular endothelium resulting in an increase in the expression of adhesion molecules (e.g. Eselectin, VCAM-1, ICAM-1) and secretion of chemotactic factors. HDL can inhibit cytokine-induced expression of adhesion molecules on human endothelial cells and thereby reduce the adhesion and migration of monocytes^{421, 422}. Consistent with these *in vitro* findings, administration of recombinant HDL or apoA1 reduces adhesion molecule expression and monocyte infiltration in mice⁴²³.

In sum, HDL exerts multiple effects that may lower the activation threshold of immune cells within arterial lesions (i.e. decreasing the intracellular levels of proinflammatory oxidized lipids, attenuation of NF-κb signaling, etc.) thereby reducing the ability of these cells to responds to inflammatory cytokines and microbial stimuli (LPS). This multi-factorial function of HDL is important during times of acute infection, such as in bacteremia, as well as under conditions of chronic inflammation. The inflammatory state, however, can also exert powerful effects on HDL composition and function; these effects will be discussed in a following section. For now, the therapeutic benefits of targeting HDL levels for atherosclerosis will be explored.

Is raising HDL beneficial?

Transgenic and adenoviral methods have been employed to increase HDL production in mouse models of cardiovascular disease⁴²⁴⁻⁴²⁶. These studies all resulted in
decreased cellular cholesterol and atherosclerotic plaque cellularity and afforded atheroprotection under both chow and western diet conditions⁴²⁷. Yet, as described above, the human trials that have raised plasma HDL-C have consistently failed to show clinical benefit for CVD^{364, 365, 428}. A major difficulty in interpreting the result of the available clinical studies, however, is that none of them were able to establish whether the functional activity of HDL was similarly increased. Major efforts, therefore, are currently underway to find markers of HDL function that can be used clinically to measure the benefits of various HDL-altering strategies. A marker of HDL function is highly desirable since most patients only present to the clinic once there is already significant

disease burden. There is now strong supporting data that increasing the number of functional HDL particles induces plaque remodeling⁴²⁹⁻⁴³¹, particularly in the content and inflammatory phenotype of lesion macrophages. Thus, strategies that raise the amount of functional HDL may not only protect against the progression of atherosclerosis, but also promote its regression – an important point considering the state in which most patients first present to the clinic.

HDL raising strategies

Niacin Niacin, the first anti-dyslipidemia agent identified⁴³², remains the most potent drug for increasing HDL-C levels (by 15% to 30%), however it has limited use due to its side-effect profile⁴³². Niacin appears to increase HDL levels by decreasing the hepatic uptake of apoA1, thereby attenuating the catabolism of HDL⁴³³. The AIM-HIGH trial was the first large-scale outcomes-based study to evaluate the impact of adding extended release niacin to statin therapy in patients with existing coronary artery disease³⁶⁸. The study was designed to test whether increasing HDL-C in patients with controlled LDL-C

levels would reduce the risk of recurrent cardiovascular events. The trial was halted prematurely because interim analyses showed no clinical benefit for patients receiving Niacin. The "nail in the coffin" for niacin might have come from the recent release of the findings from the HPS-2-Thrive study. This secondary prevention study using extended-release niacin with statin alone or in combination with Ezetimibe also failed to show clinical benefit for niacin³⁶⁵.

CETP inhibitors Cholesterol ester transfer protein (CETP) mediates the bidirectional transfer of lipids between triglyceride rich lipoproteins and HDL. Rodents do not express CETP and are relatively resistance to high-fat diet induced atherosclerosis. Transgenic exogenous CETP expression in athero-susceptible mice $(ApoE^{-/-} \text{ or } Ldlr^{-/-})$, however, results in increased atherosclerosis⁴³⁴. Plasma CETP mass and activity are elevated in CVD patients and those at increased risk, resulting in decreased HDL and increased triglycerides. Preliminary studies have also revealed a positive correlation between the carotid intima media thickness (early quantification of athero burden) and CETP concentration^{435, 436}. Three single nucleotide polymorphisms in the CETP gene are associated with decreased CETP activity and elevated HDL-C levels in carriers and inversely related to CVD risk^{325, 437}. Together, the correlation between CETP and CVD in humans led to the idea that CETP inhibition would be a reasonable HDL-C based therapeutic target. In rabbit models, CETP inhibitors decreased CETP activity by more than 70%, resulting in a 35% increase in HDL-C and reduction in atherosclerosis⁴³⁸. Statins HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors (statins) have pleiotrophic effects and in addition to lowering LDL-C they have been shown to modestly raise HDL-C level as well. The

HDL-C raising effects have been attributed in part to inhibition of rho-signaling pathways

and concurrent activation of PPAR α^{439} . Moreover, statins also reduce plasma CETP activity, which could also contribute to increased HDL-C levels. Interestingly, statin treatment has been shown to confer the strongest cardioprotective effects on patients with lower baseline HDL-C¹⁰¹. Thus, although their HDL-raising effects are modest, statins reduce CV risk in patients with low HDL-C.

Fibrates Fibrates are ligands for PPARα and in addition to lowering LDL-C and triglycerides they have been shown to increase the expression of ApoAI⁴⁴⁰ and modestly raise HDL-C levels^{441, 442}. Treatment with fibrates significantly reduces coronary events in patients and similar to statins, the cardioprotective effects are stronger in individuals with lower baseline HDL-C levels⁴⁴¹. In all five clinical trials to date, fibrates appear to have the greatest benefit for patients with atherogenic dyslipidemia (low HDL-C, high triglycerides, and prevalence of small LDL). Indeed, a recent meta-analysis of dyslipidemic subgroups from the fibrate trials showed a 35% relative risk reduction in cardiovascular events compared to a non-significant 6% reduction in those without dyslipidemia⁴⁴³. Whether fibrates confer cardioprotection by raising HDL mass or by altering other parameters of atherogenic dyslipidemia remains to be determined. The severe side effects associated with fibrates, especially in combination with statins (e.g. rhabdomyolysis), however, will likely limit their clinical use for the treatment of CVD.

Strategies to directly increase ApoA1 levels Human ApoA1 transgenic mice have elevated levels of HDL and are protected against atherosclerosis⁴⁴⁴; providing evidence that ApoA1 overexpression can increase HDL-C and protect against atherosclerosis. A major question, however, is whether the rate of ApoA1 production is a major determinant of HDL quantity and quality in humans. The ApoA1 gene is regulated primarily by *cis*-

acting elements and partially at the post-translational level by factors that increase mRNA stability^{445, 446}. Dietary fat, alcohol, estrogen, androgens, thyroid hormones, retinoids, glucocorticoids, fibrates, niacin, and HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors are some of the many nutritional, hormonal and pharmacological factors known to influence induction of the ApoA1 gene⁴⁴⁶. Changes in diet have been shown to affect HDL levels^{52, 447, 448}. Such interventions, such as a switch from high-carbohydrate to a high-fat diet appear to exert their major effect on by altering the production rates of apoA1⁴⁴⁹. In addition to uncovering factors that increase the biosynthesis of ApoA1, measures that decrease its catabolism are also being explored. In fact, *in vivo* studies of HDL metabolism indicate that over a wide range of body weights and plasma TG levels the rate of ApoA1 clearance rather than its rate of production is the most important determinant of HDL-C and ApoA1 variability in humans. Within phenotypically similar groups (narrow range of body weights, triglyceride levels, etc.), however, the production rate of apoA1 is an important determinant of the variability of plasma HDL levels⁴⁵⁰⁻⁴⁵².

Augmentation of lipid-poor ApoA1 represents the most validated HDL-related therapeutic approach to raise HDL levels and/or function. Infusions of lipid-poor apoA1-phospholipid complexes, often referred to as recombinant HDL (rHDL), have been extensively studied in animals and in pre-clinical studies in humans. These preliminary studies have demonstrated that the administration of apoA1 is athero-protective and promotes regression of disease⁴⁵³⁻⁴⁵⁵. Consistent with these findings, apoA1 has been shown to not only promote reverse cholesterol transport³⁹³, but also to inhibit vascular inflammation⁴⁵⁶, the expression of endothelial adhesion molecules⁴⁵⁷, and phospholipid oxidation⁴⁵⁸. All of these effects could contribute to the anti-atherogenic potential of

rHDL administration, and early clinical studies in humans have shown that rHDL infusion is well tolerated and decreases coronary atherosclerosis to the similar extent as long-term statin use⁴⁵⁹. An alternative strategy to augment HDL levels involves upregulation of endogenous apoA1 synthesis. Recently a small molecular compound (RVX-208) developed by Resverlogix Corporation was shown to selectively upregulate apoA1 synthesis in hepatocytes⁴⁶⁰. The recent release of their phase II clinical trials data demonstrates that treatment with RVX-208 leads to a significant reduction in major adverse cardiac events. Furthermore, the clinical benefit of RVX-208 was greater in patients with high levels of inflammation (CRP > 2.0 mg/dL)⁴⁶¹.

Conclusion The recent failures of the niacin and CETP inhibitor trials have raised serious doubts about the relevance of raising HDL-C as an atherosclerotic therapy. While niacin and CETP inhibitors raise HDL-C, they do not increase the number of HDL particles. Recent findings indicate that HDL particle number is a better indicator of HDL function than HDL-C values⁴¹²; thus, this may be part of the explanation for why niacin and CETP inhibitors have not shown clinical benefit. Additionally, it is quite possible that therapies aimed at raising HDL levels fail because they do not mitigate the effects of inflammation (PL depletion, TG enrichment, and increases in pro-inflammatory proteins) on HDL particle function. HDL-raising therapies either increase HDL production or reduce HDL catabolism. Increasing HDL in the presence of chronic inflammation such as seen in atherosclerosis may have the paradoxical effect of merely generating more dysfunctional or even pro-inflammatory forms of HDL. Presumably, decreased catabolism of dysfunction HDL also is unlikely to be beneficial for CVD treatment. Being able to

measure HDL function, therefore, will be an invaluable tool as the field explores the therapeutic potential of HDL-targeted therapies.

Effects of inflammation on HDL function

The risk of atherosclerosis is increased in many chronic inflammatory disorders including infection with *Helicobacter pylori*, chronic bronchitis, chronic kidney disease, rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematous (SLE)⁴⁶²⁻⁴⁶⁴. The first observation that inflammation alters HDL form and function arose from studies investigating HDL composition during the acute phase response or influenza A infection^{410, 465}. These studies demonstrated that Inflammation promotes the incorporation of inflammatory cargo, such as acute phase proteins, into the HDL particle. Importantly, these "pro-inflammatory" HDL particles are less able to promote macrophage cholesterol efflux²⁴, protect LDL against oxidation, or to inhibit the increased expression of adhesion molecules associated with inflammation⁴¹⁰. The hypothesis that certain diseases renders HDL dysfunctional was further supported by the observation that despite high HDL-cholesterol levels, HDL from patients with CVD had less anti-oxidative activity⁴⁶⁶. This finding led to a series of studies which found that cohorts of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), end-stage renal disease (ESRD) and metabolic syndrome had HDL with decreased antioxidant activity as well⁴⁶⁷. These results intrigued researchers and have led to a massive effort to characterize dysfunction HDL and determine precisely how inflammation alters HDL composition and function.

Inflammation alters HDL proteins Recent proteomic studies have analyzed HDL from patients with high cardiovascular risk. Interestingly, there are multiple changes in the

protein composition of HDL particles isolated from patients with coronary artery disease^{468, 469}, chronic kidney disease^{470, 471}, rheumatoid arthritis⁴⁷², and psoriasis⁴⁷³. The presence of any one of these inflammatory diseases is associated with HDL enriched in the acute phase protein serum amyloid A (SAA) and complement component 3 (C3). C3 is a modulator of the innate immune system⁴⁷⁴ and has been implicated in contributing to vascular disease⁴⁷⁵. HDL isolated from these patients also displayed decreased apoA1 levels, consistent with the finding that SAA can replace apoA1 from HDL under inflammatory conditions^{476, 477}. Weichhart et al. recently demonstrated that HDL from patients with chronic kidney disease stimulates cytokine production and adhesion molecule expression on monocytes and dendritic cells. Using shotgun proteomics they identified a uremic HDL protein signature, and of all the associated proteins only SAA was found to be responsible for the pro-inflammatory effects⁴⁷¹. These findings are consistent with recent evidence that SAA stimulates innate immune responses⁴⁷⁸ and that SAA is enriched in patients with acute coronary syndrome⁴⁶⁹.

Other proteins found to be increased on inflammatory HDL particles include ApoCII, ApoCIII and ApoAIV⁴⁷⁰. Previous studies have shown that ApoCIII is inhibitory against lipoprotein lipase and hepatic lipase⁴⁷⁹. As described above, alterations in the activity of these lipases can impact HDL levels and composition. ApoCIII is also proinflammatory mediator and can directly activate monocytes through TLR2 and NFκB signaling⁴⁸⁰. This effect of ApoCIII promotes atherosclerosis⁴⁸⁰, suggesting a novel mechanism by which inflammatory HDL particles may contribute to atherogenesis.

Interestingly, even conditions characterized by low-grade inflammation such as psoriasis have been associated with changes in HDL composition and function. HDL

isolated from psoriatic patients with relatively modest inflammation (median CRP of 2.7 mg/dL, within the accepted levels of 1-3 mg/dL) had decreased ApoA1levels and increased acute phase proteins, including SAA and prothrombin⁴⁷³.

The proteomic analysis of HDL is still in its infancy; yet, the data so far suggests that diseases with increased CVD risk, such as rheumatoid arthritis, end-stage kidney disease, and diabetes have a characteristic HDL proteome harboring various proinflammatory proteins. These initial studies, however, need further validation before the HDL proteome can be used as a biomarker for disease. Moreover, how these changes in HDL composition affect HDL function(s) and the progression of atherosclerosis is still not well understood.

Inflammation alters HDL lipids In contrast to HDL proteomics, less is understood about the lipid composition of HDL and how the HDL lipidome changes in association with various inflammatory diseases. Compared to apoB-containing lipoprotein particles, HDL is enriched in phophatidylcholine, lysophosphatidylcholine, and phosphatidylethanolamine. Consistently associated with CVD and other inflammatory disorders is the significant reduction in HDL phospholipids and total cholesterol content^{470, 473, 481, 482}. Interestingly, studies using mice and rats expressing human APOA1 indicate that the prime component of HDL that modulates cholesterol efflux is HDL phospholipid^{483, 484}. Furthermore, the correlation between macrophage cholesterol efflux and HDL phospholipid in human sera is stronger than with any other measured lipoprotein parameter, including HDL cholesterol, APOA1 and triglycerides⁴⁸⁵. Consistent with the changes in HDL phospholipids observed in inflammatory diseases, HDL isolated from patients with chronic kidney disease, rheumatoid arthritis and

psoriasis were shown to be less effective at promoting macrophage efflux^{470, 473, 486}. Together these findings suggest that the lipid composition of HDL might play an important role in influencing HDL function.

Obesity and HDL dysfunction

The incidence of obesity has doubled in the United States since 1960, with more than one third of the adult population currently obese⁴⁸⁷. The incidence of obesity among children has also risen from 6% to 19% over the past 25 years⁴⁸⁸. Obesity has been associated with several conditions including type 2 diabetes, hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, hypertriglyceridemia and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. As a result, a conservative estimate puts the medical costs related to obesity at approximately \$150 billion per year in the US⁴⁸⁹.

One of the first studies to demonstrate an association between obesity and CVD risk was the large, cross-sectional multinational Lipid Research Clinics Program Prevalence Study, which found a significant inverse correlation between the Quetelet index of body mass (measured as height divided by weight squared) and total HDL-C in both men and women⁴⁹⁰. The association remained significant when the authors controlled for confounding variables that affect HDL-C levels. In another large-scale study, plasma HDL-C and ApoA1 levels both significantly declined in a linear fashion with increasing BMI⁴⁹¹. An increase in BMI was also more strongly related to reduced HDL levels than other CV risk factors including LDL-C levels⁴⁹¹. The Quetelet index and BMI are indirect indices of obesity and more direct measurements of adiposity have uncovered a strong correlation specifically between intra-abdominal fat and CV risk including low HDL-C levels^{492, 493}. Although there is strong correlation between obesity

and CVD²⁰³, no epidemiologic or clinical study have yet established a causal link between the low plasma HDL-C concentrations observed in the obese state and an increased risk for CVD. Other lipoprotein abnormalities and metabolic changes also occur in the obese state and likely contribute to the increased CVD risk associated with obesity. These changes, however, are less consistent than the observed effect of obesity on HDL-C levels.

HDL lowering in obesity In addition to lower HDL levels, obesity has also been shown to adversely affect the distribution of HDL subfractions and to alter the composition of HDL particles. Several studies have shown that HDL from obese subjects has reduced cholesterol and protein contents; moreover, the concentration of atheroprotective HDL_2 ("small" HDL; density between 1.063 and 1.125 g/mL) particles specifically is decreased⁴⁹³⁻⁴⁹⁵. Both direct and indirect mechanisms have been proposed to account for the reduced HDL₂ cholesterol levels observed in the obese state. First, other metabolic abnormalities that are known to influence plasma lipid levels are linked to obesity. Hypertriglyceridemia, in particular, is frequently associated with lower HDL levels and increased HDL catabolism in obese subjects⁴⁹⁶. In hypertriglyceridemia CETP mediates a greater net transfer of triglycerides from apoB-containing lipoproteins to HDL than normal resulting in TG-rich, cholesterol-depleted HDL₂ particles⁴⁹⁷. Triglyceride-rich, large HDL₂ are the preferred substrate for hepatic lipase, which hydrolyzes HDL and promotes its uptake by the liver^{498, 499}. Since obese individuals have been found to have increased CETP mass and activity⁵⁰⁰, triglyceride enrichment of HDL₂ by CETP may explain, at least in part, why HDL₂ levels are reduced in hypertriglyceridemic obese subjects. PLTP also plays a dominant role in HDL remodeling and have been shown in

vitro to catabolize HDL_2 to small pre- β HDL, activity which is enhanced by enrichment of HDL with triglycerides⁵⁰¹. Evidence that PLTP may also influence the changes in HDL levels observed in obesity is provided by studies indicating that PLTP activity is increased in obesity and is positively related to BMI⁵⁰² and that weight loss results in a significant decrease in PLTP activity and concomitantly, an increase in HDL₂ particle size⁵⁰³.

There is evidence as well that obesity can directly reduce HDL levels. Clinical studies indicate that weight loss, and specifically loss of adipose tissue, induces a rise in HDL-C in obese patients^{504, 505}. These clinical studies are consistent with *in vitro* data that adipose can specifically bind and mediate the uptake of HDL^{506, 507}. Moreover, the uptake of HDL₂ by adipose appears to be tissue specific with abdominal adipocytes mediating a greater uptake $^{506, 507}$. In addition, HDL₂ uptake by adipocytes is dependent on fat cell size, with larger cells taking up more HDL_2 particles⁵⁰⁷. These findings are consistent with reports that abdominal adiposity is associated with CV risk⁴⁹². Analogous to HDL₂ levels, apoA1 levels are also low in obese patients⁵⁰⁸. To study the factors responsible for reduced ApoA1 in the obese state several studies used radioisotopes to trace apoA1 in normolipidemic, non-smoking individuals^{450, 509}. Compared to controls, obese subjects had a 30% reduction in the residence time of apoA1 in circulation⁵⁰⁹. Conversely, the rate of apoA1 appearance into the plasma was no different between obese and control subjects, indicating that obesity directly enhances the clearance of apoA1 (i.e. HDL) in plasma⁴⁵⁰. These findings were later confirmed by a studying in which the level of intraabdominal fat strongly correlated with the clearance rate of apoA1⁵¹⁰.

<u>1.4 Liver X Receptors</u>

The liver X receptors (LXRs) are nuclear hormone receptors that play a central role in cholesterol homeostasis and lipid metabolism. LXR α (NR1H3) and LXR β (NR1H2) were cloned twenty years ago based on sequence homology with other receptors and were so named because of their isolation from a human liver cDNA library. LXRs were originally assigned to the orphan family of nuclear receptors because their natural ligands were unknown ^{511, 512}. Proteins in this group are defined by the presence of a ~70 amino acid stretch encoding a highly conserved DNA-binding domain that targets the receptors to specific DNA binding elements in the promoter region of target genes. The c-terminus of the receptor contains a larger, less-conserved ligand-binding domain responsible for hormone binding, dimerization, and ligand-dependent receptor activation⁵¹³. Upon ligand-binding, nuclear receptors undergo a conformational change, thereby releasing associated corepressor proteins in exchange for coactivators that promote gene transcription^{514, 515}.

The DNA and ligand binding domains of LXR α and LXR β are highly homologous (>75%); yet, they are encoded by two distinct genes (*LXR* α on chromosome 11p11.2 and *LXR\beta* on chromosome 19q13.3) and display differences in expression patterns. LXR β is ubiquitously expressed while LXR α is highly expressed in the liver and at lower levels in the intestine, adipose, adrenal, macrophage, kidney, and lung ^{511, 512,} ⁵¹⁶ The LXRs form permissive, obligate heterodimers with the retinoid X receptor (RXR), a nuclear receptor bound and activated by 9-cis retinoic acid. The RXR/LXR heterodimer can be activated by either receptor's ligands⁵¹⁷, but the activity of the complex depends solely on LXR to elicit the transcriptional response⁵¹⁸. The RXR/LXR heterodimer binds preferentially to DNA sequences consisting of two conserved hexanucleotides separated by 4 bases (a DR-4 motif referred to as an LXRE)^{512, 519}. Such a motif was then quickly identified within the promoter of the rat *Cyp7a1* gene, which encodes for the rate-liming enzyme, CYP7A, in the bile-acid synthesis pathway. Activation of a *Cyp7a1* reporter construction *in vitro* was determined to be RXR/LXRdependent ⁵²⁰.

Discovery of LXR ligands Cell based assay using a Cyp7a1-reporter construct was then used to screen tissue extracts for LXR ligands and it was found that oxysterols could activate the RXR/LXR heterodimer. Oxysterols are cholesterol metabolites derived from enzymatic and non-enzymatic oxidation. Oxidation makes these molecules more hydrophilic and reduces their half-life. With few exceptions (e.g. atheromas), oxysterols are present in trace amounts and are important intermediates in the elimination of cholesterol from liver and extrahepatic tissues. Subsequent screenings revealed that the most potent LXR ligands are 22(R)-hydroxycholesterol (22-HC), 24(S)-hydroxycholesterol (24-HC), and 24(2),25epoxycholesterol $(24,25-\text{EC})^{517,520,521}$. These ligands bind LXR α and LXR β similarly and within the range of physiological concentrations ^{512, 520}. Desmosterol, an intermediate in the cholesterol biosynthesis pathway, is also an effective LXR activator⁵²² Although the binding affinity of desmosterol for LXRs is about one fifth that of the most potent oxysterol ligand, 24,25-EC⁵²², desmosterol is enriched ~20 fold in foam cells and is the dominant LXR ligand in these cells in vivo⁵²³. Two non-steroidal synthetic LXR agonists, T0901317 and GW3965 are commonly used in experimental studies. T0901317 activates LXR α and LXR β with an EC₅₀ of 20nM⁵²⁴ and in contrast to GW3965 has sustained activity in the liver (Breevoort, unpublished data). T0901317 also activates the farnesoid X receptor (FXR)⁵²⁵ and the pregnane X receptor (PXR)⁵²⁶. These two receptors influence lipid and glucose metabolism and hepatic lipid accumulation,

respectively. Treatment with T0901317 induces a dramatic increase in hepatic lipogenesis^{527, 528}. Some have speculated that T0901317 activation of FXR and PXR in the liver may contribute to this difference, however, in the absence of liver LXR α expression, T0901317 does not increase plasma TGs or hepatic cholesterol accumulation⁵²⁹; therefore, these effects of T0901317 are dependent on LXR α activity in the liver.

Alternative regulation of LXR expression and activity Apart from activation by ligands, LXRs can also be regulated by other mechanism. For instance, the *Lxrα* gene is autoregulated in human macrophages ⁵³⁰ and its expression can be additionally modified by other factors including thyroid hormone and other cytokines⁵³¹⁻⁵³³. The activity of LXRs can also be modulated through post-translational modifications including phosphorylation, acetylation, SUMOylation, and O-GlcNACylation^{1, 534-540}. The phosphorylation of LXRs appears to drive gene- and cell-type specific regulation of LXR-agonist mediated gene expression⁵³⁴⁻⁵³⁸. SIRT1 promotes LXR dependent gene expression by relieving the repressive acetylation of the receptor⁵³⁹; SUMOylation of LXRs plays a key role in transrepression¹ and O-GlcNACylation has been reported as a mechanism through which LXRs can act as glucose sensors⁵⁴⁰.

Identifying the role for LXRs in cholesterol homeostasis. The tissue expression patterns of LXRs, the identification of oxysterol ligands, and the characterization of the LXRE in the *Cyp7a1* promoter suggested that LXRs influence bile acid synthesis. Wildtype mice challenged with a 2% cholesterol diet have an increase in CYP7A1 mRNA levels and consequently bile acid pool size and fecal bile acid excretion increases⁵⁴¹. These effects, however, were absent in the Lxrα knockout mice and as a consequence these animals

accumulate increased hepatic cholesterol⁵⁴¹. Although Lxr β is also expressed in the liver, it does not seem to compensate for the loss of Lx α ; Indeed, the LXR β knockout mouse does not exhibit cholesterol-induced changes in bile acid metabolism⁵¹⁶.

Dietary cholesterol-induced up-regulation of CYP7A1 expression varies widely among species. Rat and mouse show pronounced up-regulation, however, humans show minimal change⁵⁴². There are two sequence differences in the LXRE of the human *Cyp7a1* promoter that significantly decreases the DNA binding of LXR *in vitro*⁵⁴³.

Further analysis of gene expression in $Lxr\alpha^{-L}Lxr\beta^{-L}$ cells uncovered diminished levels of SREBP-1 and stearoyl-CoA desaturase mRNA⁵⁴¹ indicating that LXRs play a significant role in regulating fatty acid metabolism. Together, these early studies implicated a clear role of LXRs in whole body cholesterol homeostasis and through additional studies it has become clear that LXR exerts this role through its ability to regulate reverse cholesterol transport, inhibit intestinal cholesterol absorption, and promote hepatic lipogenesis. In addition, LXRs indirectly modulate the expression of certain genes by either enhancing or repressing the actions of other transcription factors⁵⁴⁴⁻⁵⁴⁷. Such indirect regulation of additional pathways may also contribute to the physiological responses to LXR agonists observed in animal studies.

LXRs and atherosclerosis

LXR agonists are atheroprotective LXRs are involved in many steps of the atherogenic pathway and by regulating important genes involved in lipid homeostasis and inflammation, LXRs have many reported anti-atherogenic properties. LXR agonists have unequivocally now been shown to be anti-atherogenic in various animal models of atherosclerosis. Initial studies demonstrated that the synthetic LXR agonist, GW3965

inhibited lesion development in both $apoE^{-/-}$ and $Ldlr^{-/-}$ mice⁵⁴⁸. Additional studies have confirmed these initial observations using various LXR agonists and different mouse models^{529, 549-555}. Importantly, the beneficial effects of LXR activation is not sex specific^{548, 554, 555}. In some studies, the reduction in atherosclerosis following LXR agonist treatment was associated with reduced total cholesterol and/or elevated HDL cholesterol^{548, 549, 552, 554}, each associated with reduced cardiovascular risk in humans³⁶². Yet, raising HDL-C and/or lowering LDL-C is not required for the athero-protective effects of LXR agonists; we and others have observed a reduction of atherosclerosis without a change in plasma lipids⁵²⁹ In addition, several studies have shown reductions in atherosclerosis in the absence of effects on SREBP1c and hepatic lipogenesis whereas others report a reduction in atherosclerosis despite increased TG levels^{549, 553, 554}. Together, these observations suggest that the beneficial effects of LXR agonists are independent of systemic lipid metabolism and perhaps act more directly in the vessel wall. Indeed, the athero-protective properties of LXR agonists are lost in the absence of hematopoietic LXR expression⁵⁴⁹ yet maintained in liver specific $Lxr\alpha^{-/-}/Ldlr^{-/-}$ mice⁵²⁹. It is important to note as well that not only have these studies demonstrated that LXR agonists attenuate lesion development, but also that LXR agonists can promote the modulation of the plaque itself 529, 549 and stimulate plaque regression 555, 556. This is relevant to the repeatic development of LXR agonists since patients usually already have established lesions before presenting for treatment for cardiovascular disease.

Which LXR subtype is responsible for the anti-atherogenic effects? Researchers have used gene deletion studies in attempts to define the anti-atherogenic activities of the LXR subtypes. Deletion of $Lxr\alpha$ or $Lxr\beta$ alone has no apparent phenotype in animals on chow

diet; however, deletion of both subtypes together lowers serum triglycerides and highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol and increases LDL cholesterol⁵⁵⁷. In the absence of any atherogenic signal, $Lxr\alpha^{-/-}\beta^{-/-}$ mice have increased aortic foam cell accumulation after 18 months of normal-chow diet feeding⁵⁵⁷. The increase in atherosclerosis in the $Lxr\alpha^{-/-}\beta^{-/-}$ mice is predominately mediated by LXR α , as the $Lxr\alpha^{-/-}apoE^{-/-}$ mouse accumulated increased cholesterol in the liver and had increased atherosclerosis⁵⁵⁸. These findings are consistent with earlier reports and add that in the setting of hypercholesterolemia, $LXR\beta$ is not compensatory⁵⁵⁸. Yet LXR agonist treatment reduces cholesterol accumulation and atherosclerosis in $LXRa^{-/-}$ apoE and there is no increase in plasma triglycerides associated with LXR activation⁵⁵⁸ indicating that LXRa mediates this effect. Indeed, Similar studies in $Ldlr^{-/2}$ mice showed that deletion of LXR α but not LXR β is associated with increased atherosclerosis⁵⁵⁹, supporting the dominant role for LXR α in providing athero-protection. Experiments that selectively rescued LXRa function in bone marrow cells or extra-hematopoietic cells suggested that LXR α activity is required in both the macrophages as well as another non-hematopoietic site to limit diet-induced CVD⁵⁵⁹. Moreover, overexpression of LXR α in *Ldlr*^{-/-} mice reduces atherosclerosis⁵⁶⁰. Together these findings point to LXR α as the subtype responsible for the majority of the LXR dependent anti-atherogenic activity. The potential anti-atherogenic activities of LXR agonists and the role of LXRs in atherosclerosis can be found in Tables 1.1 and 1.2, respectively.

LXR and reverse cholesterol transport

Uptake of oxLDL by macrophages in the vessel wall is a critical initiating step in atherosclerosis. RCT, as described previously, is the primary mechanism by which

cholesterol is removed from peripheral cells including lipid loaded foam cells. Importantly, Naik et al. pioneered a model to measure RCT *in vivo* and then demonstrated that LXR agonist treatment could increase RCT⁵⁶¹. We now know that most, if not all, steps of the RCT pathway are governed by LXR (Figure 1.2). First, in response to ligand or increasing intracellular cholesterol levels, LXR promotes the expression of ABCA1 and ABCG1 in macrophages allowing for increased cholesterol efflux to acceptor particles⁵⁶²(Figure 1.2). In addition, activators of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR)- α and $-\gamma$, erythropoietin, and atorvastatin are known to stimulate macrophage cholesterol efflux in a LXR-dependent manner⁵⁶³⁻⁵⁶⁶. In addition to influencing cholesterol efflux, LXRs also play a role in inhibiting macrophage cholesterol uptake^{567, 568}. This effect is mediated by LXR dependent reductions in macrophage pinocytotic vesicles⁵⁶⁷ and increases in Idol expression, resulting in ubiquitination of LDLR and its subsequent degradation⁵⁶⁸. As described above, important roles for macrophage LXRs have been uncovered; Transplantation of LXRa and LXRB deficient bone marrow into $apoE^{-/-}$ and $Ldlr^{-/-}$ recipient mice strongly increased lesion development ⁵⁶⁹. Moreover, isolated macrophages from $Lxra^{-/-}Lxrb^{-/-}$ mice accumulate increased cholesterol *in vitro*⁵⁶⁹. Furthermore, overexpression of LXR α in macrophages specifically reduces atherosclerosis without altering plasma lipid levels in hypercholesterolemic $Ldlr^{-/-}$ mice⁵⁶⁰. Together, these findings indicate that LXR, and particularly LXRa, activity in the macrophage is critical for limiting atherosclerosis. Also, LXR agonists are ineffective against lesion development in Ldlr^{-/-} mice with LXR deficient bone marrow, suggesting that most if not all of the anti-atherogenic effect are derived from activating LXRs in hematopoietic cells⁵⁴⁹. In addition to mediating

cholesterol uptake and efflux, macrophage LXR also represses inflammation⁵⁷⁰, directs cell egress⁵⁵⁶, and limits endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress⁵⁷¹, activities which may all contribute to varying degrees to the anti-atherogenic properties of macrophage LXR.

LXR regulates cholesterol excretion and absorption The increased cholesterol effluxed from macrophages is transported by HDL to the liver where LXR directs its metabolism and excretion (Figure 1.2). The importance of LXR α activity in the liver is evident as mice lacking liver LXR α expression accumulate hepatic cholesterol when fed a high cholesterol diet^{529, 572}. In mice, this defective cholesterol clearance has been shown to be related to the reduced expression of $Cyp7a1^{541}$. As Cyp7a1 is only minimally regulated by LXR in humans⁵⁴², the contribution of this pathway in humans is probably not significant. Perhaps more important in humans is the regulation by LXR of the two half transporters ABCG5 and ABCG8 that act as a dimer to facilitate cholesterol transport⁵⁷³⁻ ⁵⁷⁵ (Figure 1.2). ABCG5/G8 are primarily expressed in the liver and in the intestine where they promote cholesterol excretion (liver) directly into the bile and limit cholesterol absorption (intestine). In contrast to wild-type animals, LXR agonists fail to stimulate biliary cholesterol excretion and reduce cholesterol absorption in ABCG5/G8 double knockout animals⁵⁷³, indicating that these transporters play an important role in LXR mediated cholesterol homeostasis. In addition, LXR agonists decrease the expression of NPC1L1, a protein critical for intestinal cholesterol absorption, in the apical membrane of enterocytes in humans and mice⁵⁷⁶, which is another mechanism leading to LXR dependent reductions in cholesterol absorption.

However, an increase in fecal cholesterol excretion following LXR agonist treatment is not entirely dependent on biliary cholesterol excretion. GW3965 treatment, although not increasing biliary cholesterol content raises fecal cholesterol levels in *Mdr2*^{-/-} mice, which are unable to secrete cholesterol into bile⁵⁷⁷. These findings suggest that LXR activity in the intestine may provide an alternative pathway for cholesterol excretion. This pathway, termed Trans-intestinal cholesterol excretion (TICE), proposes that HDL directly transfers cholesterol from peripheral cells to the intestine, where it is removed to the gut lumen and excreted into the feces.

LXR increases HDL-C levels The liver and the intestines are the two major sites of HDL biosynthesis. The liver generates lipid-poor ApoA1 and nascent HDL while the intestine plays a key role in HDL maturation through ABCA1-dependent lipidation of nascent particles³⁷². LXR agonists increase ABCA1 expression in human enterocytes in vitro resulting in an increase in apoA-1 mediated cholesterol efflux⁵⁷⁸. Brunham et al. preformed studies with tissue-specific ABCA1 deletions and found that Intestine-specific deletion of ABCA1 reduces serum HDL-C by 30% and that LXR agonists raise HDL levels in wild-type mice as well as in hepatic-specific ABCA1 deficient animals, but fail to do so in intestine-specific ABCA1 knockouts^{579, 580}. In addition, the effect of T0901317 on plasma HDL levels is lost in Npc111^{-/-} mice that are deficient for intestinal cholesterol absorption, indicating that gut cholesterol levels are important for HDL formation in response to LXR agonists⁵⁸¹. Ezetimibe is a potent inhibitor of intestine NPC1L1 effectively lowering plasma LDL- C^{582} ; yet, targeting intestinal cholesterol absorption may also have the dual effect of raising HDL levels through an LXR mediated pathway.

LXRs regulate lipid metabolism

Schultz et al.⁵²⁴ and Repa et al.⁵⁸³ simultaneously showed that LXR agonists raise hepatic and plasma triglyceride levels in mice and hamsters. While the effect on plasma triglycerides was transient, hepatic triglyceride levels persisted and led to liver steatosis and dysfunction. In addition, Schultz et al. found that plasma triglycerides were about 4fold lower in $Lxr\alpha^{-/-} Lxr\beta^{-/-}$ mice compared to wild-type controls. The LXR agonist dependent increase in hepatic and plasma triglycerides observed by Schultz et al. is a result of LXR-stimulated lipogenesis in hepatocytes. This effect is mediated by increased expression of SREBP-1c, a transcription factor that acts a master regulator of fatty acid synthesis. SREBP-1c binds to sterol response elements (SRE) within the promoter region of target genes encoding lipogenic enzymes ⁵⁸³. There are two LXREs within the SREBP-1c gene promoter, and LXR as well as RXR agonists increase its transcriptional activity ⁵⁸⁴. In addition, LXR directly regulates the expression of several lipogenic enzymes including acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC)⁵⁸⁵, fatty acid synthase (FAS)⁵⁸⁶, and stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1 (SCD-1)⁵⁸⁷. LXR agonists increase SREBP-1c, ACC, FAS, and SCD-1 gene expression in the liver of wild-type and LXR $\beta^{-/-}$ mice, but not in *Lxra*^{-/-} animals ⁵²⁴. In addition, basal levels of these lipogenic genes are reduced in $Lxra^{-/2}$ mice. Together, these findings indicate that LXR α is the major isoform responsible for the lipogenic effect of LXR agonists. Apart from the direct (SREBP-1c independent) and indirect (SREBP-1c dependent) effects of LXR agonists on lipogenic genes, other mechanisms for LXR-stimulated lipogenesis have been described. For instance, LXREs have been found in the promoter region of the carbohydrate response element binding protein (ChREBP) gene⁵⁸⁸. ChREBP is a glucose-sensitive transcription factor and upon sensing increased glucoses levels it will stimulate the expression of lipogenic genes. LXR

agonists stimulate the expression of ChREBP in the liver in both in vitro and in vivo models, and the agonist-dependent upregulation of FAS, ACC, and SCD-1 are blocked in ChREBP deficient mice⁵⁸⁸.

The physiological result of increased hepatic LXRα activity is the production of triglyceride-rich, large VLDL particles ⁵²⁷. Although the number of VLDL particles does not change, their diameter increases due to the greater number of triglyceride molecules per particle⁵⁸⁹. LXR agonist treated animals show only a transient rise in plasma triglycerides because VLDL metabolism is also increased, presumably through upregulation of lipoprotein lipase, which is a direct LXR target gene⁵⁹⁰.

LXRs and lipoprotein particles

LXR regulates apolipoproteins Apoliprotein E (apoE) is an alternative extracellular cholesterol acceptor found in many classes of lipoproteins and is involved in LXR-mediated cholesterol efflux. ApoE was the found to be under the regulation of LXR both *in vitro* and *in vivo*⁵⁹¹. In addition to apoE, LXR agonists also stimulate the expression of other apolipoproteins in the same gene cluster as apoE including apoC-I, apoC-II, and apoC-IV. The functions of these proteins are still being worked out, however, they are known to influence lipoprotein metabolism⁴⁶³ and can act as cholesterol acceptors⁵⁹².

In humans, ApoA-IV is synthesized exclusively in the intestine; whereas in rodents ApoA-IV is generated in the intestines and, to a lesser extent, in the liver⁵⁹³. ApoA-IV is found mainly associated with chylomicrons, in lower amount in HDL, and as a free plasma protein. In HDL, ApoA-IV stimulates LCAT, thereby facilitating HDL remodeling. Free plasma ApoA-IV facilitates cholesterol efflux from cells and has anti-oxidant properties. Transgenic overexpression of apoA-IV reduces atherosclerosis in

mice, and plasma apoA-IV levels are inversely correlated with atherosclerosis in humans. The ApoA-IV gene contains LXREs; however, LXR agonists stimulate its expression only in hepatocytes and not in the intestine. In vivo, T0901317 increases HDL-associated apoA-IV, presumably of hepatic origin since T0901317 has no effect on intestine-derived chylomicron apoA-IV⁵⁹⁴.

LXRs regulate plasma lipoprotein remodeling enzymes LXR agonists stimulate the expression of CETP and PLTP, and both enzymes play important roles in lipoprotein remodeling and metabolism. CETP is synthesized in the liver and circulates in plasma as a HDL-associated protein. CETP exchanges cholesterol esters from HDL to apoB-containing lipoproteins in exchange for triglycerides. As discussed in the previous section, CETP remodeling may facilitate cholesterol uptake by the liver. LXR agonists increase CETP mRNA levels in the liver as well as plasma protein concentration⁵⁹⁵. The lipid transfer activity of CETP and the fact that it is under LXR regulation is a likely explanation for why LXR agonists dramatically increase plasma HDL-C in animals lacking CETP (e.g. mice) but have little to no effect on HDL in CETP expressing species (e.g. humans)⁵⁹⁶. In fact, LXR agonists have actually been shown to raise LDL-C levels in two CETP positive Syrian hamsters and cynomolgus monkeys⁵⁹⁷ as well as in transgenic mice expressing human CETP⁵⁹⁸.

PLTP mediates the transport of phospholipids from apoB-containing lipoproteins to HDL or lipid-poor apoA-1 as well as the transfer of phospholipids between HDL subfractions. The net effect of PLTP on HDL is the generation of lipid-poor small HDL; whether this is beneficial for cholesterol transport and atherosclerosis is debatable⁵⁹⁹. Nevertheless, T0901317 treatment increases PLTP mRNA in liver, adipose and intestine resulting in greater plasma PLTP activity which is accompanied by increased HDL phospholipid content⁶⁰⁰. PLTP also contributes to VLDL assembly in hepatocytes⁶⁰¹, therefore, the stimulation of PLTP by LXR may contribute to LXR agonist dependent increases in VLDL secretion.

LXRs and Inflammation

In addition to their key role in lipid metabolism, LXRs also influence the inflammatory response. Indeed, the engulfment of pathogens or phagocytized cells increases intracellular cholesterol levels, and given the precedence of LXRs for maintaining cholesterol balance, it's not surprising that LXRs limit inflammation. Furthermore, there's increasing evidence that infections block LXR signaling pathways. Work by Castrillo et al⁶⁰². demonstrated that activation of toll-like receptor (TLR)-3 and -4 by microbial ligands block the induction of LXR target genes including ABCA1 in cultured macrophages and in aortic tissue in vivo, thereby repressing cholesterol efflux. Crosstalk between LXR and TLR signaling is mediated by IRF3, a specific effector of TLR3/4 that inhibits the transcriptional activity of LXR. The association of bacterial infections and atherosclerosis, while controversial have long been recognized ¹⁴⁰, The findings by Castrillo et al. reveal a mechanism whereby pathogens may modulate macrophage cholesterol metabolism and atherosclerosis. Indeed, C. pneumoniae-induced atherosclerosis, which can be reduced by TLR2, TLR4, or MyD88 deficiency, is accelerated in $apoE^{-/-}/Lxr\alpha^{-/-}$ mice¹⁴³ indicating that LXRs play an important role in limiting the manipulations of macrophage cholesterol balance by infectious agents. LXR agonists were first shown to attenuate inflammation in macrophages stimulated with LPS or bacteria by blocking the increased expression of iNOS, COX2 and iL-6. These

results were also observed in the in the aortas of $apoE^{-/-}$ mice⁶⁰³. Since then, LXR activation has been found to reduce inflammatory gene expression and the inflammatory response in many cell types, including macrophages, lymphocytes, microglia, astrocytes and dendritic cells; as well as in mouse models of inflammatory diseases such as contact dermatitis, Alzheimer's, lupus, Mycobacteria tuberculosis infection, and autoimmune encephalomyelitis⁶⁰⁴⁻⁶⁰⁹. Several mechanisms have been proposed to account for the antiinflammatory activity associated with LXR activation. The anti-inflammatory activity of LXRs may be through direct activation of anti-inflammatory target genes possessing LXREs (i.e. arginase II^{610}) and/or indirect repression of other transcription factors that promote inflammation (i.e NF κ B). The ability of LXR to limit the activity of other transcription factors is termed transrepression and this property is shared among several transcription factors, including PPAR γ ; where it has been perhaps more widely studied⁵⁴⁴⁻ ⁵⁴⁶. LXR transrepression was a model proposed a few years ago to account for the majority of the anti-inflammatory activity of LXR agonists. However, the mechanism(s) by which LXRs exert their anti-inflammatory effect is controversial. Recent data published by the same lab, as well as experiments preformed in our lab contradict the transrepression mechanism for LXR agonist-dependent transrepression. Both models are presented below.

Transrepression by LXRs has been most widely studied in mouse macrophages¹, ^{611, 612} where LXR agonists have been shown to block inflammatory pathways activated by lipopolysaccharide (LPS), interleukin (IL)-1b, tumor necrosis factor (TNF) α or interferon (INF)- γ . Ligand-dependent conjugation of SUMO2/3 to LXR, which is dependent on histone deacetylase 4 (HDAC4) SUMO E3 ubiquitin ligase activity, targets the receptor to the promoters of a subset of LPS-inducible genes (Figure 1.3). Docking of SUMOylated LXR inhibits the release of the nuclear receptor corepressor (NCoR) complex upon LPS stimulation (i.e. derepression), thereby maintaining gene repression. Venteclef et al⁶¹³ have further investigated the mechanisms underlying the anti-inflammatory properties of LXRs in the hepatic acute phase response (APR). LXR agonists were found to trigger SUMOylation-dependent recruitment of the nuclear receptor to hepatic APR promoters, including C-reactive protein, and prevent the clearance of the NCoR corepressor complex upon cytokine stimulation (IL-1 β and IL-6).

The use of fetal liver-derived macrophages from genetic knockout mice showed the NCoR and another corepressor complex, silencing mediator of retinoic acid and thyroid hormone receptor (SMRT), are required for nearly all the transrepression function of LXRs⁶¹². Moreover, the TLR4-induced turnover of NCoR requires the coronin 2A (CORO2A) component of the corepressor complex, which interacts with oligomeric nuclear actin⁶¹¹. SUMOylated LXRs bind to a conserved SUMO2/3-interaction motif in CORO2A and prevents actin recruitment⁶¹¹. Pro-inflammatory stimuli that induce CAMKIIy-mediated phosphorylation of LXRs inactivate this transrepression pathway by promoting the de-SUMOylation of LXRs, thereby releasing LXRs from CORO2A⁶¹¹. Noting the requirement for NCoR in mediating the trans-repressing activity of LXRs, presumably the deletion of NCoR from the macrophage should increase inflammation. Instead, Glass and colleagues⁶¹⁴ found that there was a paradoxical anti-inflammatory phenotype in the macrophage-specific NCoR deficient mouse. This effect was attributed to the derepession of LXRs that results in the absence of NCoR. The release of basal LXR repressing activity increases the expression of genes that direct the biosynthesis of

palmitoleic acid and ω 3-fatty acids. Increased ω 3 fatty acid levels primarily inhibit NF κ B dependent inflammatory responses by uncoupling NF κ B binding and enhancer/promoter histone acetylation (Figure 1.5). While it is well known that LXR agonists have strong anti-inflammatory effects both *in vitro* and *in vivo* the mechanism(s) responsible for these effects are still uncertain. Whether LXRs exert anti-inflammatory effects via SUMO-dependent transrepression, through the increased biosynthesis of fatty acids, or by another yet to be identified mechanism remains to be determined.

Athero-protective effects of LXR agonists	References
Blocks the development of atherosclerosis in animal models of cardiovascular disease	529, 548-555, 615- 617
Promote regression of existing atherosclerotic plaques	555, 556
Promote reverse cholesterol transport in vivo	561
Reduce inflammation <i>in vivo</i>	603, 604, 606, 608, 618, 619
Inhibit SMC proliferation in vitro and in vivo	620, 621
Stimulate cholesterol efflux in macrophages and SMC	621, 622
Inhibit platelet aggregation in vitro and reduce thrombi stability <i>in vivo</i>	552
Promote LDL receptor degradation through induction of IDOL	568, 623
Block expression of cytokines induced by pro-inflammatory mediators in macrophages, endothelial cells, and SMCs	603, 620, 621, 624
Inhibit LPS-stimulated surface expression of ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and E-Selectin on endothelial cell	1, 604, 625
Inhibit LPS-induced expression of iNOS, COX-2, osteopontin and MCP-1 in macrophages	1, 603, 625

Table 1.1 Atheroprotective activities of LXR agonists.

treatment	Animal model	Effect on	Effect on lesion	Effect on
		lesion area	composition	plasma lipids
E EEEE				
T0901317 ⁵⁴⁹ ,	Ldlr WD	\downarrow lesion;	↓macrophages.	\uparrow TG, VLDL-C
		↑ regression	\uparrow ABCAI mRNA,	↑ HDL-C
T0001217627			Tcollagen	
10901317	apoe' HFHC	↓ lesion	TABCAI, NPCI	TIG, VLDL-C
T0001217 ⁵⁵⁵		regression	mRNA	HDL-C
1090131/***	apoE*3Leiden, WD	↓ lesion	\downarrow E-selectin,	
T0001217 ⁵⁵⁵	E*2L . L. DD	A	ICAM-1, CD44	
10901317	apoE*3Leiden, KD	regression	ABCAI, caspase-	
			3, BAA, UCK/,	
T0001217 ⁶²⁸	$I_{\rm WD}$	No offect	ADCUI	
T0901317 T0001217 ⁶²⁸	LXIU /LUI , WD			
$CW2065^{548}$	LXIP /Lair , WD			
GW 3903	Lair WD			$\downarrow 1C$
GW 3903	apole cnow	↓ lesion		$ 10, \downarrow \text{VLDL} C$
GW3965 ⁵⁵⁸	$Lxr\alpha^{-/-}/apoE^{-/-}, WD$	\downarrow lesion		No change in
	L	1 1 agi a m		plasma IGs
	LXIU /Latr, WD	lesion		
I	Lxrp /Lair , WD	No effect		
BMT ⁶²⁸		lesion		
$Lxr\alpha^{+/+}/Ldlr^{-/-}$	Lxra ^{-/-} /Ldlr ^{-/-} WD	\downarrow lesion		
BMT ⁶²⁸				
$Lxr\alpha^{-/-}\beta^{-/-}$	$Ldlr^{-/-}$ or $apoE^{-/-}$	↑ lesion	↑ cholesterol	No change
BMT ⁵⁶⁹			accumulation in	
			macrophages	
$Lxr\alpha^{-/-}\beta^{-/-}$	$Ldlr^{-/-}$ WD	\uparrow lesion		
BMT;		(vehicle)		
T0901317 ⁵⁴⁹		No effect of		
	,	T0901317		
Macrophage	$Ldlr^{-}$, SSD	\downarrow lesion	\uparrow efflux and \downarrow iNOS	No change
LXRa Tg ⁵⁶⁰			production in	
			macrophages	

Table 1.2 LXR activity and atherosclerosis in mouse models BMT, bone marrow transfer; WD, western diet; RD, regressive cholesterol-depleted diet; SSD, semi-synthetic diet, 0.02% cholesterol; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglyceride; Tg, transgenic; HFHC, high fat, high cholesterol



Figure 1.1 cholesterol biosynthesis pathway. See text for details



© Elsevier. Kumar et al: Robbins Basic Pathology 8e

Figure 1.2 Progression of Atherosclerosis

Figure 1.2 *Progression of Atherosclerosis* Chronic endothelial cell injury leads to increased permeability of the endothelium and leukocyte adhesion and entry. Oxidation of lipoproteins accumulated in the arterial intima also promotes leukocyte adhesion and entry. Migration of monocytes into the arterial intima is followed by differentiation into macrophages which then engulf ox-LDL and ultimately progress into foam cells as the engulfment of lipids becomes excessive. Necrosis of foam cells results in release of extracellular lipids. Factors released from platelets, macrophages and endothelial cells in the forming lesion induce SMC recruitment from the media. Migrating SMCs proliferate and there is an increased production of ECM and collagen in an attempt to stabilize the atherosclerotic lesion. The plaque can then calcify, occlude, break off or hemorrhage. LDL, low-density lipoprotein; SMC, smooth muscle cell; ECM, extracellular matrix; IL-1, interleukin-1; MCP-1, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1; HDL, high-density lipoprotein



Adapted from treatments for dyslipidemia http://what-when-how.com

Figure 1.3 HDL formation and degradation

Figure 1.3 *HDL formation and degradation.* HDL begins as an ApoA1 phospholipid complex secreted by the liver and intestine. Unesterified cholesterol and phospholipids are added to nascent HDL via ABCA1 and PLTP to begin the formation of the smaller HDL3 particle. LCAT transfers a free fatty acid from HDL-associated phospholipids to unesterified cholesterol forming cholesteryl esters, which migrate to the HDL core. This process results in larger, more buoyant HDL3 particles and then progress to even larger HDL2 particles. CETP transfers cholesteryl esters from HDL to ApoB-containing lipoproteins in exchange for triglycerides, resulting in smaller HDL particles. Hepatic lipase hydrolyzes the phospholipid and triglyceride in the HDL2 particle, promoting the decrease in size and density. Recycling of apoA1 causes the process to repeat itself. The role of ApoAII in this process in humans is not clear. ABCA1-ATP-binding cassette transporter A1; CETP – cholesteryl ester transfer protein; LCAT – lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase; LPL – lipoprotein lipase; PL – phospholipid; PLTP – phospholipid transfer protein; SR-B1 – scavenger receptor B1; UC-unesterified cholesterol



© The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. Harrison's Principles of Internal Medicine, 17e

Figure 1.4 HDL metabolism and reverse cholesterol transport

Figure 1.4 HDL metabolism and reverse cholesterol transport. The liver and intestine produce nascent HDLs. Free cholesterol is acquired from macrophages and other peripheral cells and esterified by LCAT, forming mature HDLs. HDL cholesterol can be selectively taken up by the liver by SR-B1. Alternatively, HDL cholesteryl ester can be transferred to apoB-containing lipoprotein particles (VLDL, LDL and chylomicrons) in exchange for triglycerides. ApoB-containing lipoproteins can be taken up by the liver via LDLR and other lipoprotein receptors. LCAT, lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase; CETP, cholesteryl ester transfer protein; VLDL, very-low density lipoprotein; IDL, intermediate-density lipoprotein; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; LDLR, low-density lipoprotein receptor; TG, triglyceride


Figure 1.5 LXR regulated reverse cholesterol transport. See text for details.



Figure 1.3 *SUMO-dependent transrepression by LXR agonists.* LXR agonist binding induces a conformational change in LXR that alters the specific configurations of the lysine residues that serve as SUMO acceptor sites. Upon conjugation with SUMO2/3 by HDAC4, LXRs dock with the NCoR complex positioned on LPS-responsive genes. Signal-dependent (LPS, TNF α , IL-1b, etc) clearance of NCoR from target promoters involves the activation of the ubiquitin E3 ligase activities of the Tbl1 and TblR1 proteins that are core components of the NcoR complex, leading to the recruitment of the Ubc5/19S proteasome and the subsequent ubiquitylation and dismissal of the NCoR complex. SUMOylated LXR prevents NCoR dismissal following a pro-inflammatory stimulus.



Graphical abstract from Li et al.⁶¹⁴

Figure 1.5 NCoR Repression of LXRs Restricts Macrophage Biosynthesis of Insulin-Sensitizing Omega 3 Fatty Acids

Chapter 2: Macrophage Independent Regulation of Reverse Cholesterol Transport by Liver X Receptors

The work presented in this chapter is my manuscript that was originally submitted for review to the Journal of Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology in February, 2014. We have addressed the reviewers' comments and a revised version, which is presented herein, was re-submitted for review in April 2014. This work was greatly assisted by Jerry Angdisen, who provided valuable help with the in vivo RCT experiments. Additional data that was not submitted with the revised manuscript has been included in this version. In addition, discussion of certain results that were not included in the re-submitted document is emphasized in italics.

2.1 ABSTRACT AND SIGNIFICANCE

ABSTRACT

Objective – The ability of high density lipoprotein (HDL) particles to accept cholesterol from peripheral cells such as lipid-laden macrophages and to transport cholesterol to the liver for catabolism and excretion in a process termed reverse cholesterol transport (RCT) is believed to underlie the beneficial cardiovascular effects of elevated HDL. The liver X receptors (LXR α and LXR β) regulate RCT by controlling the efflux of cholesterol from macrophages to HDL and the excretion, catabolism and absorption of cholesterol in the liver and intestine. Importantly, treatment with LXR agonists increases RCT and decreases atherosclerosis in animal models. Nevertheless, LXRs are expressed in multiple tissues involved in RCT (macrophage, liver, and intestine) and their tissue specific contributions to RCT are still not well defined.

Approach and Results – Utilizing tissue-specific LXR deletions together with *in vitro* and *in vivo* assays of cholesterol efflux we demonstrate that macrophage LXR activity is neither necessary nor sufficient for LXR agonist stimulated RCT. In contrast the ability of LXR agonists to increase HDL mass and HDL function primarily acting in the intestine appears to underlie the ability of LXR agonists to stimulate RCT *in vivo*.

Conclusions – We demonstrate that activation of LXR in macrophages makes little or no contribution to LXR agonist-stimulated RCT. Unexpectedly our studies suggest that the ability of macrophages to efflux cholesterol to HDL *in vivo* is not regulated by macrophage activity but is primarily determined by the quantity and functional activity of HDL.

SIGNIFICANCE

The liver X receptors, LXRα and LXRβ, are important regulators of cholesterol transport. Treatment with LXR agonists promotes the efflux of cholesterol from macrophages and the excretion of cholesterol from the liver resulting in a net movement of cholesterol from the periphery out of the body. Utilizing tissue-specific LXR deletions we demonstrate that macrophage LXR activity is neither necessary nor sufficient for LXR agonist stimulated RCT. In contrast the ability of LXR agonists to increase HDL mass and HDL function primarily acting in the intestine appears to underlie the ability of LXR agonists to stimulate RCT *in vivo*. Our studies suggest that the ability of macrophages to efflux cholesterol to HDL *in vivo* is not regulated in a cell autonomous fashion but is primarily determined by the quantity and functional activity of HDL.

2.2 INTRODUCTION

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is a leading cause of death globally and it is well established that elevated levels of cholesterol in the blood is a major contributor to disease development⁶²⁹. Excess plasma cholesterol accumulates in macrophages lodged in blood vessel walls which along with an associated inflammatory response initiate the formation of atherosclerotic lesions²⁵⁷. Statin therapy is highly effective for lowering disease-causing low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol thereby reducing morbidity and mortality associated with CVD^{630} . Nevertheless, the residual risk for major cardiac events remains high for patients receiving LDL lowering therapies prompting the search for complementary therapeutic approaches⁶³¹. Epidemiological studies have demonstrated that levels of high density lipoprotein particle (HDL) cholesterol are inversely associated with CVD suggesting the potential therapeutic benefit of raising HDL⁶³². Recent clinical trials with cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) inhibitors and niacin, however, have failed to demonstrate clinical benefits of increasing HDL cholesterol^{428, 633}. The clinical trial results have led to the suggestion that HDL functionality, rather than the absolute mass of HDL cholesterol may be a more accurate indicator for CVD risk^{366, 412}. The ability of HDL to promote cholesterol efflux from macrophage foam cells within atherosclerotic lesions was one of its earliest recognized functions^{373, 634}. Importantly, cholesterol efflux from foam cells has been shown to increase macrophage egression and to reduce lesion burden in animal models of cardiovascular disease^{380, 635, 636}. Measuring the dynamic rate of macrophage cholesterol efflux, therefore, may be a better predictor of the anti-atherogenic effects of novel HDLtargeted therapies³⁷¹.

The movement of cholesterol from peripheral cells such as macrophages to HDL constitutes the first step in a process termed reverse cholesterol transport (RCT). HDL-derived cholesterol is then trafficked to the liver where it is catabolized or excreted to the bile^{375, 637}. Recent studies have also described hepatic-independent pathways for cholesterol excretion³⁹¹. Studies in animal models indicate that measurements of RCT can strongly predict the effect of genetic and pharmacological manipulations on atherosclerosis⁶³⁸. Similarly, in humans an inverse relationship has been uncovered between the ability of patient sera to accept cholesterol from macrophages *in vitro* and measurements of carotid intima media thickness with cholesterol acceptor capacity being a strong predictor of coronary disease status³⁷¹. The utility of *in vitro* measurements of plasma cholesterol acceptor activity for predicting CVD as well as the proteins/particles in human sera responsible for accepting cholesterol, however, remain controversial^{381, 639}.

Integral to the regulation of RCT are the liver X receptors, LXR α (NR1H3) and LXR β (NR1H2), which are members of the nuclear hormone receptor superfamily of ligand-activated transcription factors. Studies using genetic knockouts and synthetic agonists have defined important roles for LXRs in the control of cholesterol homeostasis and fatty acid metabolism^{524, 583, 640}. Treatment of animals with LXR agonists results in changes in gene expression promoting the efflux of cholesterol from peripheral cells such as macrophages, the excretion of cholesterol from the liver, and the inhibition of cholesterol absorption in the intestine⁶⁴⁰. Importantly, the endogenous ligands for LXRs are oxidized forms of cholesterol (oxysterols) that increase coordinately with intracellular cholesterol levels, thus allowing these receptors to act as sensors to maintain appropriate cholesterol levels throughout the body^{517, 641}. At the molecular level, LXRs control

macrophage cholesterol efflux by regulating expression of genes encoding the ATPbinding cassette (ABC) transporters ABCA1 and ABCG1 as well the gene encoding apolipoprotein E (APOE)⁶⁴⁰. Up-regulation of ABCA1 and ABCG1 results in increased transfer of intracellular cholesterol to HDL particles, and genome-wide association studies have linked both transporters to HDL cholesterol levels in humans^{642, 643}. Mutations in the human ABCA1 gene results in a genetic syndrome referred to as Tangier disease. Tangier disease patients characteristically present with little or no HDL, massive accumulation of cholesterol in lymph tissues and are at increased risk for atherosclerosis^{638, 644, 645}. LXR also regulates expression of ABCG5 and ABCG8, two half-transporters that dimerize to form an additional cholesterol transporter^{575, 646}. Expression of ABCG5/ABCG8 is largely restricted to the liver and intestine, where these proteins function to promote the excretion of cholesterol (liver) and limit cholesterol absorption (intestine)³⁴. Genetic deletion of ABCG5/G8 or deletion of LXR α in the liver largely blocks the ability of LXR agonists to stimulate fecal excretion of cholesterol⁵²⁹, ⁵⁷³. Thus activation of LXRs promotes a net movement of cholesterol from the periphery out of the body. Not surprisingly, LXR agonists decrease atherosclerosis in animal models of CVD^{529, 548, 549, 628}.

Treatment with LXR agonists also increases plasma HDL cholesterol^{529, 647} suggesting LXRs can regulate RCT in both a cell autonomous fashion, by controlling the transporters required to mobilize intracellular cholesterol, as well as in a non-autonomous fashion by regulating amount of cholesterol acceptor in plasma. Interestingly, the ability of LXR agonists to increase HDL cholesterol levels is largely mediated by the induction of ABCA1 expression in the intestine^{529, 579}. Not unexpected then is the observation that

an intestinal-specific LXR agonist increases RCT⁶⁴⁸. Although LXR agonists appear to act in macrophages, the liver and the intestines to stimulate RCT, studies utilizing genetic knockouts indicate that macrophages are the major site of LXR agonist-dependent anti-atherogenic activity^{549, 560, 569}. The atherosclerosis studies therefore led us to question the tissue-specific contributions of LXRs to the regulation of RCT. Combining *in vivo* measurements with tissue-selective knockouts we show that the ability of LXRs to regulate HDL quantity and activity is a major driver of RCT. In contrast, macrophage LXR activity is neither necessary nor sufficient. Furthermore, our studies suggest that the ability of macrophages to efflux cholesterol to HDL *in vivo* is primarily determined by the quantity and functional activity of HDL in the surrounding environment.

2.3 RESULTS

Macrophage LXR is not necessary for LXR agonist-dependent RCT.

LXR activity in the liver and the macrophage is thought to contribute to RCT⁶⁴⁹ but the relative contribution of LXR at these sites has not been well defined. To determine the contribution of macrophage LXR to RCT, we injected bone marrow derived macrophages (BMM) that had been loaded with ³H-cholesterol *in vitro* into the peritoneal space of mice and followed the movement of macrophage-derived cholesterol to the plasma and ultimately to the feces as described by Naik et al.⁵⁶¹. For these studies we used C57BL/6J (LXR⁺) and $Lxr\alpha^{-/-}/Lxr\beta^{-/-}$ (DKO) mice in the C57BL/6J background to generate three groups of animals: LXR⁺ macrophage introduced into LXR⁺ mice (referred to as Mac^{LXR+} /LXR+), LXR⁺ macrophage introduced into DKO mice (referred to as Mac^{LXR+}/DKO) and DKO macrophages into LXR⁺ mice (referred to as Mac^{DKO} /LXR+). For the RCT experiments age-matched male mice were treated with vehicle or the LXR agonist T0901317 (10mpk) daily by oral gavage for 3 days prior to injection. Following injection of radiolabeled macrophage, mice continued to be treated with vehicle or agonist for the duration of the experiment (for a total of 5 doses) and the appearance of ³H sterol was quantitated in the plasma at 6, 24 and 48 hours after injection. At completion of the experiment (48 hours) the amount of ³H-sterol in the feces and liver was determined. In preliminary experiments we determined that LXR activation (e.g. rise in plasma triglycerides) can be observed following 3 doses of T0901317 at 10mpk and that the plasma concentrations of T0901317 are similar between C57BL/6J and DKO mice and at least 10 times above the reported EC_{50} (data not shown).

As expected, agonist treatment of Mac^{LXR+} /LXR+ mice stimulates the appearance of macrophage-derived cholesterol in plasma over the time course and in the feces at 48 hours (Figure 2.1A-B). When LXR is present only in macrophages (Mac^{LXR+}/DKO). however, the amount of macrophage derived cholesterol in the plasma and feces is significantly decreased (Figure 2.1A-B). Similarly, the ability of T0901317 to increase macrophage cholesterol efflux in Mac^{LXR+}/DKO mice is decreased by 70% (Figure 2.1A) and agonist stimulated fecal excretion is completely blocked in these animals(Figure 2.1B). Quantification of ABCA1 mRNA levels in macrophage re-extracted from the peritoneal space at completion of the experiment demonstrates that placing LXR⁺ macrophages into DKO mice does not impair macrophage LXR transcriptional activity (Figure 2.1C). In contrast to the decreased RCT observed in the Mac^{LXR+}/DKO mice, selective deletion of LXR in macrophages (Mac^{DKO}/LXR+) has little or no effect on either the accumulation of ³H-cholesterol in the plasma or the feces (Figure 2.1A-B). Little or no differences among the groups are seen when hepatic levels of ³H-sterols were examined (Figure 2.2). To further address the contribution of macrophage LXR activity to the ability of LXR agonists to increase the accumulation of macrophage-derived cholesterol in the plasma we examined ³H-cholesterol levels in vehicle and T0901317 treated Mac^{LXR+} /LXR+ and Mac^{DKO} /LXR+ mice at 30, 60 and 90 minutes after introducing radiolabeled macrophage into the peritoneal space. As shown in Figure 2.1D, pretreatment of mice with T0901317 significantly increases ³H-cholesterol in the plasma by 60 minutes. Even at these short time points, however, the LXR genotype has no effect on the response to agonist treatment. The observation that LXR macrophage activity does not appear to play a role in the accumulation of ³H-cholesterol in the plasma *in vivo* is

consistent with studies *in vitro* demonstrating that ABCA1 expression and cholesterol efflux is actually slightly increased in DKO macrophages (Figure 2.3A and B). In the absence of agonists LXRs repress transcription by interacting with corepressors and this activity is lost upon genetic deletion⁶⁵⁰. A similar up-regulation of ABCA1 expression is observed in DKO macrophages recovered from the peritoneal space of LXR+ mice after *in vivo* RCT experiments (Figure 2.1C).

HDL levels and adipose activity drive LXR-agonist-dependent RCT.

LXR agonists are known to increase HDL cholesterol predominately by increasing expression of ABCA1 in the intestine⁵⁷⁹. Consistent with an LXR agonistdependent increase in HDL cholesterol (Table 2.1), plasma from T0901317 treated C57BL/6J (LXR+) mice has increased cholesterol acceptor activity in vitro when ³Hcholesterol loaded RAW264.7 cells are used as donor macrophages. The effect of agonist, however, is lost when plasma from DKO animals is used (Figure 2.4A). To further address the contribution of HDL to macrophage efflux, a similar series of *in* vitro efflux experiments were carried out using FPLC purified HDL particles (Figure 2.4B). For experiments with FPLC purified HDL, peak HDL fractions were pooled (Figure 2.5) and normalized by the amount of apolipoprotein AI (APOAI) as determined by Western blot analysis (Figure 2.6). Western blot analysis of FPLC purified HDL was consistent with APOA1 levels quantified in pooled plasma samples as well (data not shown). Using APOA1 as a relative measure for particle number, HDL from agonist treated C57BL/6J accept greater amounts of macrophage cholesterol compared to DKO mice (Figure 2.4B). Together these experiments show that LXR agonist treatment increases both HDL mass and HDL function.

Over the course of *in vivo* RCT experiments it is likely that macrophage-derived ³H-cholsterol incorporates into cells and tissues throughout the body. Thus along with increasing the cholesterol acceptor activity of HDL, LXR agonists may also increase the amount of cholesterol in plasma by promoting efflux from other tissues via transcriptional up-regulation of ABCA1, ABCG1 and APOE. To address the possible contributions of different tissues to LXR agonist-stimulated RCT, radiolabeled LXR+ macrophages were introduced into vehicle and T0901317 treated LXR+ mice (Mac^{LXR+} /LXR+) and multiple tissues were harvested at 48 hours post injection to determine if agonist treatment produces a net loss in tissue-associated ³H-sterols. As shown in Figure 2.4C, a significant agonist-dependent decrease is observed in white adipose suggesting that fat tissue may make an important contribution to LXR-stimulated accumulation of cholesterol in the plasma and feces. T0901317-dependent changes in ³H-sterol levels were not observed in other tissues (Figure 2.4C). Importantly, the decrease in adipose ³Hsterol levels could result from increased LXR transcriptional activity in fat cells, the improved acceptor activity of HDL or both. An additional question that has arisen from this particular in vivo RCT assay is how much 3H-labeled cholesterol leaves the injected macrophages and how is the radiolabeled cholesterol distributed throughout the body. Our studies indicate that in fact at 48 hours the majority of the ${}^{3}H$ cholesterol leaves the injected macrophages and is redistributed among various cholesterol stores in the body. The amount of radioactivity remaining in re-extracted macrophages was ~4% of CPM injected (data not shown) and extrapolating by the % tissue mass/body mass approximately 30% of the radiolabeled 3H was recovered in the tissues that were

sampled (muscle (8%,), liver (6%), adipose (~6%), testes (~1%) and feces (7%)) (Figure 2.4C).

Diet-dependent regulation of Liver LXR activity and RCT.

We have previously determined under severe hyperlipidemic conditions (Ldlr^{-/-} mice on Western diet) that liver-specific deletion of LXRa impairs the accumulation of macrophage-derived cholesterol in both the plasma and in the feces⁵²⁹. To further investigate the contribution of liver LXR activity to RCT, liver-specific knockout LXR α (LivKO) mice⁵²⁹ and floxed littermate controls (carrying the floxed allele without albumin CRE) were placed on a standard chow diet with or without 0.2% cholesterol. LXR α is the major LXR subtype expressed in the liver⁵⁴¹ and the ability of T0901317 to increase plasma triglycerides and to induce expression of hepatic ABCG5, ABCG8 and ABCA1 is significantly impaired in LivKO mice⁵²⁹ (Table 2.1 and Figure 2.7). After 4 weeks on diet, plasma total cholesterol increases 30-50% in both LivKO and littermate control groups fed the 0.2% cholesterol diet (Table 2.1). Consistent with published data, the 0.2% cholesterol diet also significantly increases hepatic cholesterol in LivKO mice due to impaired fecal excretion and decreased bile acid synthesis^{529, 541} (Figure 2.8A). Hepatic triglycerides, however, are not increased (Figure 2.8B). The increase in hepatic cholesterol measured in LivKO mice, however, does not result in a significant increase in liver damage (Figure 2.8 C-D and Figure 2.9), markers of inflammation or markers of endoplasmic reticulum stress (Figures 2.10 and 2.11). For the final week of the diet treatment (week 4) mice were treated with vehicle or T0901317 and RCT was measured *in vivo* as in previous experiments by introducing radiolabeled LXR+ macrophages. On a standard chow diet the appearance of ³H-cholesterol in the plasma of T0901317 treated

LivKO and littermate controls is significantly increased at 24 and 48 hours (Figure 2.12A) indicating that liver LXR α activity is not required for agonists to increase accumulation of ³H-cholesterol in the plasma. On the other hand, the ability of LXR agonists to increase fecal sterol excretion is completely lost in LivKO mice (Figure 2.11B) a result consistent with decreased agonist-dependent regulation of ABCG5 and ABCG8 in the livers of these animals (Figure 2.7). Interestingly, exposure to the 0.2%cholesterol diet impairs both LXR agonist-dependent plasma and fecal cholesterol accumulation in LivKO mice relative to controls (Figure 2.12C-D). Thus dietary cholesterol uncovers a critical role for hepatic LXR activity in controlling the accumulation of macrophage-derived cholesterol in plasma. The ability of LXR agonists to increase HDL cholesterol levels in LivKO mice is also sensitive to dietary cholesterol (Figure 2.13A and Table 2.1) despite similar increases in the intestinal mRNA levels of ABCA1 (Figure 2.14). Furthermore a dietary cholesterol-dependent decrease in cholesterol acceptor activity is also observed when FPLC purified HDL particles isolated from T0901317 treated LivKO mice are compared to HDL particles from littermate controls in vitro (Figure 2.13B and Figure 2.5). The reason(s) why the cholesterol enriched diet impairs the ability of LXR agonist treatment to increase HDL mass and function remains to be determined. Nevertheless, the failure of T0901317 to modulate HDL levels and functional activity in cholesterol fed LivKO mice supports the hypothesis that ability of LXR agonists to promote macrophage-derived cholesterol accumulation in vivo is largely derived from systemic effects on HDL and independent of macrophage LXR activity.

Although agonist-dependent fecal excretion is blocked in standard chow diet fed LivKO mice, surprisingly a corresponding accumulation of 3 H-cholesterol in the livers of agonist treated LivKO animals is not detected under these conditions (data not shown). The reason for this finding is not apparent. One possibility is that the livers of T0901317 treated LivKO animals take up less cholesterol compared to floxed controls. Gene expression analysis, however, did not reveal any significant differences in the expression of lipoprotein receptors in the livers of T0901317 treated LivKO and floxed animals (Figure 2.15). We note that others have shown that changes in biliary cholesterol secretion do not always directly reflect changes in hepatic cholesterol levels. For instance, adenoviral over expression of ABCG5 and ABCG8 in the liver increases fecal sterol excretion without changing hepatic cholesterol⁶⁵¹. Future studies should be considered to investigate the effect of Liver LXRa deletion on hepatic uptake of HDLcholesterol and HDL turnover. Such studies could provide insight into the paradoxical observation that LXR agonists increase plasma ${}^{3}H$ accumulation without raising liver ${}^{3}H$ levels LivKO mice.

Our results indicate that LXR activation can improve the cholesterol acceptor activity of HDL and this effect is influenced by liver LXR activity in a diet-dependent fashion. As an initial characterization of HDL particle composition we measured phospholipid levels in the FPLC purified HDL fractions. Phospholipids are the major components by mass of HDL and a number of studies suggest that HDL phospholipid levels are a better predictor of cholesterol efflux than other HDL parameters^{485, 652}. As shown in Figure 2.13C and 2.13D, T0901317 treatment increases the amount of total phospholipids associated with purified HDL particles (normalized by APOA1 levels) from standard chow fed floxed and LivKO mice (Figure 2.13C). The increase in HDLphospholipid levels is consistent with studies demonstrating that LXR agonist treatment increased HDL particle size^{529, 653}. The effect of agonist treatment on HDL-phospholipid levels, however, is lost in 0.2% cholesterol diet challenged LivKO animals (Figure 2.13D).

Phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP) is a HDL-bound protein that plays a major role in regulating HDL size and phospholipid composition through its phospholipid transfer activity⁶⁵⁴. PLTP mRNA levels have been shown to be regulated by LXR⁶⁰⁰ however we did not detect significant differences in plasma PLTP activity between floxed and LivKO mice on either dietary condition (Table 2.2). We did, however, detect a loss of LXR agonist stimulated PLTP mRNA expression in the intestine in 0.2% cholesterol diet fed LivKO mice. Two forms of PLTP have been shown to exist in plasma^{655, 656}. The "active" form has the ability to transfer phosphatidylcholine from phospholipid vesicles to HDL and is detected by the activity assay used in this study. The second inactive form constitutes approximately 70% of the PLTP protein mass in human plasma⁶⁵⁶. The two PLTP pools are associated with different types of lipoprotein particles, suggesting that PLTP activity in circulation is modulated by the composition of lipoproteins. While we did not observe a difference in plasma PLTP activity among the groups, whether this loss of agonist stimulated PLTP expression in the intestine of cholesterol fed LivKO mice plays a role in HDL metabolism, perhaps by increasing the amount of the non-enzymatically active PLTP should be addressed in future studies.

FPLC-purified HDL from chow and 0.2% cholesterol diet fed LivKO mice and floxed controls were analyzed for phospholipid composition by mass spectrometry. As

shown in figure 2.16, in the floxed controls on either chow or 0.2% cholesterol diet, LXR agonist treatments increases the amount of all phospholipid species present in HDL particles. In the chow fed LivKO mice, however, LXR agonist increases the appearance of short chain fatty acid containing phospholipid species and there is no agonist-stimulated increase in long chain, unsaturated fatty acid containing species. This is consistent with the role of LXR in regulating the expression of genes encoding for fatty acid elongases and desaturases⁵²⁴. Conversely, the ability of LXR agonists to increase the appearance of all phospholipid species is lost in 0.2% cholesterol diet fed mice.

CETP decreases macrophage-derived cholesterol in plasma

To test the hypothesis that LXR-dependent regulation of HDL levels and activity plays a major role in driving macrophage cholesterol efflux, we took advantage of the observation that LXR agonist-dependent increases in HDL cholesterol are lost in CETP transgenic mice⁶⁵⁷. CETP facilitates the transfer of cholesterol esters from HDL to apolipoprotein B (APOB) containing particles and decreases HDL cholesterol levels⁵⁹⁶. Importantly, the transgene is under control of the human CETP promoter which has been shown to be directly regulated by LXR in human cells and in transgenic mice^{595, 598} (Figure 2.17A and B). Indeed, treatment of CETP transgenic mice with T0901317 decreases HDL cholesterol by approximately 25% and raises the amount of cholesterol associated with APOB containing lipoprotein particles (Figure 2.18A and B and Table 2.1). To determine the effect of CETP expression on RCT *in vivo*, CETP transgenic mice and littermate controls were treated with vehicle or T0901317 and injected with ³H-cholesterol loaded C57BL/6J (LXR⁺) BMM as described in previous experiments. Consistent with a critical role for HDL in promoting macrophage cholesterol efflux, the

amount of ³H-cholesterol in the plasma at 24 and 48 hours is significantly reduced in CETP transgenic mice and the ability of T0901317 to increase plasma cholesterol accumulation is lost (Figure 2.18C). Similarly, unfractionated plasma and HDL particles purified by FPLC from T0901317 treated CETP transgenic mice do not exhibit increased efflux activity as is observed in with non-transgenic controls (Figure 2.18D-E). The ability of LXR agonists to increase HDL phospholipids, however, is not impaired in CETP transgenics (Figure 2.17C). Taken together, the RCT and *in vitro* efflux experiments indicate that LXR-dependent up-regulation of CETP expression counters the ability of agonists to enhance cholesterol efflux. In contrast to the inhibitory effect of CETP expression on the accumulation of macrophage-derived cholesterol is plasma, LXR agonist treatment increases fecal ³H-sterol levels in both CETP transgenic and littermate controls (Figure 2.18F). Interestingly, CETP expression also results in a significant increase in fecal bile acids in vehicle treated cells (Figure 2.17D). Increased bile acid synthesis has previously been reported in CETP transgenic mice^{658, 659}. Little or no difference was observed in hepatic ³H-cholesterol levels among the groups (data not shown). Thus as observed with the LXRa liver-specific knockout mice (LivKO), it is possible to functionally sever the transfer of macrophage-derived cholesterol to HDL from subsequent fecal excretion.

2.4 DISCUSSION

The discovery that LXR agonists can promote macrophage cholesterol efflux in vitro via direct regulation of the genes encoding ABCA1, ABCG1 and APOE^{570, 640} suggested a simple hypothesis for the cardio-protective effect of LXR activation based on promoting cholesterol transfer from macrophage foam cells to HDL; the first step in the RCT pathway. This hypothesis is supported by the finding that macrophage LXR activity is required for the anti-atherogenic activity of LXR agonists⁵⁴⁹. Combining *in vitro* cholesterol efflux measurements, in vivo RCT assays and tissue-specific LXR knockouts we now demonstrate that the ability of LXR agonists to stimulate RCT in vivo defined as the transfer of macrophage-derived cholesterol to the feces is largely independent of macrophage LXR activity (Figure 2.19). Thus macrophage LXRs are neither necessary nor sufficient for LXR agonists to increase RCT at least when measured in an acute assay over a 48 hour time course. Additionally our studies suggest that it is the ability of LXR agonists to increase HDL biogenesis and to improve HDL functional activity that is largely responsible for stimulating the appearance of macrophage-derived cholesterol in plasma (Figure 2.19). The LXR agonist used in these studies, T0901317, has been reported to modulate other nuclear receptors, at least in vitro^{525, 526, 660}. Therefore the possibility that another nuclear receptor such as the pregnane X receptor contributes to the activity of this molecule *in vivo* cannot be ruled out. All the activities of T0901317 measured in this work, however, are lost in cells and animals that deficient in LXRs. Taken together these studies have important implications for understanding the potential therapeutic benefits of LXR agonists.

On a standard mouse chow diet the ability of LXR agonists to stimulate the accumulation of macrophage-derived cholesterol in plasma is independent of LXR activity in both macrophages and the liver. Previous studies have determined that LXR agonists increase HDL cholesterol by inducing ABCA1 expression in the intestine^{529, 579, 661}. Consistent with an important role for intestinal LXR activity in regulating RCT is the finding that selective activation of LXRs in the intestine using either a poorly absorbed "intestine-specific" LXR agonist⁶⁴⁸ or intestinal-specific transgenic over expression of a hyperactive LXR (VP16-LXR α)⁶⁶² increases RCT when measured using assays similar to those described in this work. Furthermore, our studies indicate that intestinal LXR activation can increase the cholesterol acceptor activity of HDL particles (Figure 2.19) most likely by increasing the production of immature nascent particles that have been shown to be preferred cholesterol acceptors⁶⁶³⁻⁶⁶⁵. This work describes a potential role for LXR activity in white adipose in regulating cholesterol trafficking.

To test the hypothesis that agonist dependent increases in HDL mass and function drive the accumulation of macrophage-derived cholesterol in plasma during RCT assays we took advantage of the observation that the ability of LXR agonists to raise HDL cholesterol is lost in CETP transgenic mice^{598, 657}. CETP, an enzyme that transfers cholesterol esters from HDL to APOB containing lipoprotein particles in exchange for triglycerides, is not expressed in rodents but the human gene used in this study is regulated by LXRs^{595, 598, 666}. Importantly CETP activity in the plasma is increased following LXR agonist treatment, HDL levels are lower and plasma cholesterol acceptor activity of unfractionated plasma and FPLC purified HDL from T0901317 treated CETP

transgenic mice is also reduced relative to non-transgenic controls. Finally, the conclusion that increasing CETP activity impairs HDL particle function is consistent with reports that inhibition of CETP activity improves the cholesterol acceptor activity of human HDL particles⁶⁶⁷. Taken together the data supports the hypothesis that the ability of LXR agonists to increase the accumulation of macrophage-derived cholesterol in plasma is primarily determined by the quantity and quality of the HDL. Nevertheless, in CETP transgenic LXR agonist treatment still increases fecal excretion of macrophagederived cholesterol mice. Therefore we cannot rule out the possibility that CETP expression decreases the levels of macrophage-derived cholesterol in plasma by increasing hepatic clearance via receptors for APOB containing particles. Similar to CETP expression, Bi et al. found that liver-specific deletion of ABCA1 reduces plasma HDL levels and decreases plasma accumulation of ³H-cholesterol in RCT assays without altering fecal sterol excretion⁶⁶¹. Bi et al. suggest the small plasma HDL pool that remains in the liver ABCA1 knockout may be quantitatively sufficient to mediate the transport macrophage-derived cholesterol to the liver for excretion⁶⁶¹. Our study with CETP transgenic mice together with the work of Bi et al. raise the possibility, at least under these experimental conditions, that the appearance of macrophage-derived in the plasma is a not a rate limiting step for fecal cholesterol excretion.

In contrast to CETP transgenic expression, liver-specific deletion of LXR α (LivKO) has little or no effect on the accumulation of macrophage-derived cholesterol in plasma (on a standard chow diet) but strongly inhibits LXR agonist-stimulated fecal cholesterol excretion (Figure 2.6). Thus our analysis of CETP transgenic and LXR α LivKO mice indicate that it is possible to functionally separate plasma cholesterol

accumulation from fecal excretion. Plasma cholesterol accumulation is primarily controlled by the ability of LXRs to regulate the quantity and quality of HDL while fecal excretion is controlled by LXR-dependent regulation of hepatic ABCG5 and ABCG8 levels allowing a single transcription factor pair (LXR α and LXR β) to coordinate cholesterol movement throughout the body. These results raise the question regarding the potential therapeutic benefit of regulating either macrophage cholesterol efflux or fecal excretion independently. Current therapeutic approaches for atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease all involve reducing low density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol in the blood. Therefore if increasing fecal cholesterol excretion ultimately reduces plasma LDL levels one might predict a therapeutic benefit. On the other hand, APOA Milano and other APOA1-derived peptides have been shown to increase macrophage cholesterol efflux and to improve cardiovascular endpoints although it not clear that the beneficial effects of these agents are dependent on promoting cholesterol efflux^{668, 669}. Future studies that for instance combine macrophage selective over expression of ABCA1 with LXR liver-specific knockouts may be a way to address the therapeutic benefits of increased macrophage efflux in the absence of fecal cholesterol excretion.

Interestingly, the contribution of liver LXR activity to RCT can be influenced by the cholesterol content of the diet. As described above, on a standard mouse chow diet knocking out LXR α in the liver has little or no effect on the accumulation of macrophage-derived cholesterol in plasma while completely eliminating agoniststimulated fecal excretion (Figure 2.18). When cholesterol (0.2%) is added to the diet, however, LXR agonist-dependent plasma cholesterol accumulation is significantly decreased in LivKO mice. The absence of agonist-dependent accumulation of

macrophage-derived cholesterol in plasma when cholesterol is included in the diet correlates with the inability of agonist treatment to increase HDL cholesterol and to improve the acceptor capacity of purified HDL in LivKO mice under these conditions. LXR agonist treatment still increases ABCA1 expression in the intestines of LivKO on the 0.2% cholesterol diet and the reason(s) why HDL cholesterol levels are not increased in these mice remains to be determined. Compared to littermate floxed controls on the 0.2% cholesterol diet, LivKO mice have increased hepatic cholesterol levels although we did not detect any evidence for increased hepatic inflammation, endoplasmic reticulum stress or liver damage in these mice. We and others have shown that the ability of LXR agonists to increase HDL levels in LXR positive animals is lost under severe hyperlipidemic conditions such as *Ldlr*^{-/-} or *Apoe*^{-/-} mice on Western diets^{529, 548, 552, 628,} ⁶⁴⁷. Thus the ability of LXR agonists to regulate HDL metabolism can be influenced by dietary cholesterol levels. Interestingly, Kalaany et al. demonstrated that $Lxr\alpha^{-/}/Lxr\beta^{/-}$ are resistant to high fat diet-induced obesity, however, this resistance is only observed when the high fat diet also contains cholesterol⁵⁷². These observations raise the possibility that hepatic cholesterol accumulation leads to the generation of a paracrine signal that can influence lipid metabolism in other tissues.

Bone marrow transplantation experiments and over expression studies indicate that macrophages are the site of LXR agonist-dependent anti-atherogenic activity^{549, 560,} ⁵⁶⁹. The studies described in this work, however, indicate that macrophage LXR activity does not make a significant contribution to RCT. Similarly using LivKO mice in a severe hyperlipidemic environment ($Ldlr^{-/-}$ + Western diet) we demonstrated that LXR agonists can reduce atherosclerosis without increasing RCT⁵²⁹. Kappus et al. also reached a

similar conclusion in a recent study using mice with myeloid-specific double knockout of Abcal and $Abcg1^{670}$. Together, these observations suggests that while hematopoietic LXR expression is required for the beneficial effects of LXR agonists an increase in RCT or macrophage efflux is not. LXR activation inhibits NF $\kappa\beta$ signaling suggesting decreased inflammation as an obvious mechanism for LXR-dependent anti-atherogenic activity⁶⁰³, ⁶⁷¹. A dominant role for anti-inflammatory activity as the beneficial effect of LXR activation on atherosclerosis has important implications for the potential therapeutic use of LXR agonists. In particular, *in vitro* experiments have suggested that LXR agonists can have pro-inflammatory actiities in human macrophages⁶⁷² in contrast to the antiinflammatory effects measured in rodents. Additionally, as described above, pre-clinical studies examining the anti-atherogenic activity of LXR ligands generally have been carried out under severe hyperlipidemic conditions where the ability of LXR agonists to increase HDL mass is lost^{529, 548, 673}. Since human cardiovascular disease patients do not usually present with the supra-physiological plasma cholesterol levels observed in genetic mouse models, the ability of LXR agonists to stimulate RCT may be maintained in humans and could be therapeutic. As we observe in CETP transgenic mice, however, the ability of LXR agonists to increase HDL cholesterol appears to be lost in non-human primates that express CETP^{553, 597}.

Recent clinical trials with niacin⁶³³ and CETP inhibitors⁴²⁸ have called into question the hypothesis that raising HDL cholesterol has beneficial effects on human cardiovascular disease. The clinical trials together with experiments suggesting that the cholesterol acceptor activity of HDL isolated from patients can be a more accurate measurement of cardiovascular disease risk has led to the proposal that assessing HDL

function may be more relevant than measurements of HDL cholesterol mass^{371, 381, 412}. Along with increasing the levels of HDL cholesterol, LXR agonist treatment also increases the cholesterol acceptor activity of HDL particles that were normalized by the quantity of APOA1. HDL particles are heterogeneous in size and composition making it difficult to discern the LXR-dependent modifications that improve cholesterol acceptor activity. Nevertheless, our initial analysis of HDL particle composition found increased levels of phospholipids (normalized to APOA1) in the HDL particles purified from agonist treated animals. The phospholipid: APOA1 ratio in HDL has been shown to be an important determining factor in predicting macrophage efflux. Studies using mice and rats expressing human APOA1 indicate that the prime component of HDL that modulates cholesterol efflux is HDL phospholipid^{483, 484}. Furthermore, the correlation between macrophage cholesterol efflux and HDL phospholipid in human sera is stronger than with any other measured lipoprotein parameter, including HDL cholesterol, APOA1 and triglycerides⁴⁸⁵. CETP expression, however, appears to impact HDL function without modulating phospholipid levels suggesting that multiple components of HDL can influence particle function. LXRs likely regulate multiple pathways that modulate HDL activity and future studies employing detailed lipidomic and proteomic approaches can be used to further define the LXR-dependent changes in HDL composition that regulate HDL particle function. These studies that define particle function may open the door to new therapeutic approaches for targeting HDL.

			Total	HDL-	
		Drug	Cholesterol	Cholesterol	Triglycerides
Diet	Strain	treatment	(mg/dL)	(mg/dL)	(mg/dL)
Chow	C57bl6/J	Vehicle	122.2 ± 5.4	65.9 ± 1.2	55.3 ± 3.6
		T0901317	155.4± 3.9*	$100.0\pm4.8*$	$90.5 \pm 7.2*$
Chow	$Lxr\alpha^{-/-}Lxr\beta^{-/-}$	Vehicle	113.6 ± 3.9	$46.1 \pm 1.7 **$	40.2 ± 2.7
		T0901317	112.5 ± 3.6	$54.5 \pm 1.8 * *$	55.5 ± 5.2
Chow	Floxed	Vehicle	109.0 ± 8.1	65.3 ± 3.6	64.2 ± 7.8
		T0901317	163.1 ± 8.3*	$121.5 \pm 10.9*$	$113.4 \pm 10.5*$
Chow	LivKO	Vehicle	115.2 ± 9.4	44.9 ± 5.2	45.1 ± 3.9
		T0901317	$166.4 \pm 9.9*$	$86.4 \pm 6.7*$	47.9 ± 3.1
0.2%					
cholesterol	Floxed	Vehicle	$159.6\pm12.5^\dagger$	58.0 ± 3.3	59.9 ± 3.4
		T0901317	$216.9 \pm 16.0^{*^{\dagger}}$	$94.9 \pm 12.0^{*^{\dagger}}$	$197.2 \pm 17.6^{*^{\dagger}}$
0.2%					
cholesterol	LivKO	Vehicle	$166.7 \pm 11.0^{\dagger}$	50.3 ± 9.9	47.7 ± 7.2
		T0901317	167.9 ± 6.2	59.9 ± 3.8	35.4 ± 3.2
Chow	CETP-	Vehicle	116.9 ± 2.6	68.2 ± 3.3	52.6 ± 3.4
		T0901317	$193.6 \pm 6.8*$	$92.4 \pm 1.7*$	85.2 ± 7.5 *
Chow	CETP+	Vehicle	105.3 ± 4.6	52.4 ± .9	57.0 ± 6.2
		T0901317	$78.4 \pm 4.6^{*}$	$38.0 \pm 1.9^*$	$92.2 \pm 9.2*$

Table 2.1. Plasma Lipid Levels.*Statistically significant difference between vehicle and T0901317-treated animals of the same genotype (n = 6, $p \le 0.05\%$). [†]Statistically significant difference between chow and 0.2% cholesterol diet fed mice of the same genotype and treatment (n = 6, $p \le 0.05\%$). ** Statistically significant difference between C57bl6/J and $Lxr\alpha^{-/-}Lxr\beta^{-/-}$ with the same treatment. Data are mean \pm SEM.

Diet	strain	Treatment	Intestine	Liver PLTP	PLTP activity
			PLTP	mRNA	(nmol
			mRNA		transferred/min)
Chow	Floxed	Vehicle	0.99 ± 0.09	0.49 ± 0.05	3.6 ± 0.1
		T0901317	$1.48 \pm 0.08*$	$1.6 \pm 0.18*$	$4.3 \pm 0.3*$
Chow	LivKO	Vehicle	0.93 ± 0.06	0.43 ± 0.11	3.5 ± 0.2
		T0901317	$1.57 \pm 0.16*$	0.37 ± 0.08	4.0 ± 0.2
0.2%	Floxed	Vehicle	$0.43 \pm 0.06^{\#}$	$0.20 \pm 0.02^{\#}$	2.0 ± 0.3
cholesterol					
		T0901317	$0.97 \pm 0.18*$	0.55 ±0.11* [#]	$3.3 \pm 0.2*$
0.2%	LivKO	Vehicle	$0.46 \pm 0.05^{\#}$	$0.15 \pm 0.01^{\#}$	2.5 ± 0.3
cholesterol					
		T0901317	$0.44 \pm 0.08^{\#}$	0.15 ± 0.03	$3.2 \pm 0.3*$

Table 2.2 LivKO PLTP mRNA and plasma activity. *Statistically significant difference between vehicle and T0901317-treated animals of the same genotype (n = 4-6, $p \le 0.05\%$). [#]Statistically significant difference between chow and 0.2% cholesterol diet fed mice of the same genotype and treatment. (n = 4-6, $p \le 0.05\%$).Data are mean \pm SEM.



Figure 2.1 Macrophage LXRs are not required for RCT.

Figure 2.1 *Macrophage LXRs are not required for RCT*. ³H-cholesterol and acetylated LDL-loaded C57BL6/J or LXRa^{-/-}/LXRβ^{-/-} (DKO) BMMs were injected into C57BL6/J or DKO mice to generate Mac^{LXR+}/LXR+, Mac^{LXR+}/DKO, and Mac^{DKO}/LXR+ mice (see text). Animals were treated for 3 days with or without 10 mg/kg T0901317 (n=6/group), and the amount of ³H sterol in plasma (**A** and **D**) and feces (**B**) were determined as described in the Materials and Methods. Mice continued to receive vehicle or T0901317 treatment for the duration of the experiment. **C**) Total RNA was isolated from BMM that were recovered from the peritoneal space and the mRNA levels of *Abca1* were measured by quantitative real-time PCR. Data are mean ± SEM. *Statistically significant difference between Mac^{LXR+}/LXR+, Mac^{LXR+}/DKO or between Mac^{LXR+}/LXR+ and Mac^{DKO}/LXR+ mice with the same treatment ($p \le 0.05\%$).

³H Liver Sterols



Figure 2.2 *Liver*³*H* sterol levels.

Figure 2.2 *Liver* ³*H sterol levels.* The amount of ³H-sterol in the livers of animals at the conclusion of the RCT experiment were determined as described in Material and Methods. Data are mean \pm SEM.



Figure 2.3 In vitro *cholesterol efflux in Lxrα^{-/-} /Lxrβ^{-/-} macrophages*.

Figure 2.3 In vitro *cholesterol efflux in* $Lxra^{-/}/Lxr\beta^{/-}$ *macrophages.* **A)**Total RNA was isolated from LXR+ and DKO BMM treated with 1uM T0901317 in culture for 24 hours and mRNA levels of *Abca1* were measured by quantitative real-time PCR. **B)** *In vitro* macrophage cholesterol efflux was measured as described in Materials and Methods using ³H-cholesterol labeled LXR+ or DKO incubated with 10ug/ml HDL or 10ug/ml ApoA1. Data are mean ± SEM. *Statistically significant difference between vehicle and T0901317-treated animals of the same genotype ($p \le 0.05\%$). [†]Statistically significant difference between LXR+ and DKO with the same treatment ($p \le 0.05\%$).



Figure 2.4 HDL function and adipose tissue drives LXR-dependent RCT.
Figure 2.4 *HDL function and adipose tissue drives LXR-dependent RCT.* C57BL6/J and LXR $\alpha^{-/-}$ (DKO) mice (n = 5-6/group) were treated for 5 days with vehicle or 10 mg/kgT0901317 and *In vitro* macrophage cholesterol efflux was measured as described in Materials and Methods using ³H-cholesterol labeled Raw264.7 cells that were incubated with 0.03% pooled plasma (A) or FPLC purified HDL (B) Efflux data are representative of 3 independent experiments. C) ³H-cholesterol and acetylated LDL-loaded C57BL6/J BMM were injected into C57bl6/J mice treated for 3 days with or without 10 mg/kg T0901317 (n=6/group), and the amount of ³H sterol in tissues were determined as described in the Materials and Methods. Mice continued to receive vehicle or T0901317 treatment for the duration of the experiment. All data are expressed as mean ± SEM. *Statistically significant difference between vehicle and T0901317-treated animals of the same genotype ($p \le 0.05\%$).



Figure 2.5 FPLC profiles.

Figure 2.5 *FPLC profiles.* A) C57bl6/J; B) $LXR\alpha^{-/-}LXR\beta^{-/-}(DKO)$; C) $LXR\alpha^{fl/fl}$

albumin-CRE^{\cdot} (Floxed) on chow diet; **D**) LXR $\alpha^{fl/fl}$ albumin-CRE+ (LivKO) on chow diet; **E**) Floxed on 0.2% cholesterol diet for 4 weeks; and **F**) LivKO on 0.2% cholesterol diet for 4 weeks were treated with vehicle or T0901317 (10 mpk) for 5 days, plasma was pooled, subjected to FPLC and the cholesterol content of each fraction was measured as described in Materials and Methods. (n=5-6/group) The three fractions containing the greatest amounts of cholesterol were pooled (green circles) and used in additional experiments.



Figure 2.6 APOA1 protein levels in FPLC-purified HDL.

Figure 2.6 *APOA1 protein levels in FPLC-purified HDL.* Pooled plasma from vehicle or T0901317-treated C57BL6/J, $Lxr\alpha^{-/-}Lxr\beta^{-/-}$ ($Lxr\alpha^{-/-}\beta^{-/-}$), Floxed and LivKO animals were subjected to FPLC for lipoprotein analysis. **A-D**) Peak HDL fractions were pooled and APOA1 protein levels were measured by Western blot (n = 4-6/group). Quantification of APOA1 levels was carried out as described in Materials and Methods.

Vehicle treated C57BL6/J, Floxed and CETP was set as 100%.



Figure 2.7 Hepatic ABC transporter expression in LivKO mice.

Figure 2.7 Hepatic ABC transporter expression in LivKO mice. Total RNA was extracted from liver tissue at the completion of the *in vivo* RCT experiment and mRNA levels of ABCG5 (A), ABCG8 (B) and ABCA1 (C) were measured by quantitative realtime PCR. Data are mean \pm SEM. *Statistically significant difference between vehicle and T0901317-treated animals of the same genotype ($p \le 0.05\%$). [†]Statistically significant difference between Floxed and LivKO with the same treatment ($p \le 0.05\%$).



Figure 2.8 Effect of 0.2% cholesterol diet on hepatic lipids and liver enzymes.

Figure 2.8 *Effect of 0.2% cholesterol diet on hepatic lipids and liver enzymes*. At the completion of the in vivo RCT study hepatic cholesterol, hepatic triglycerides, AST activity and ALT activity were determined as described in Materials and Methods. Data are mean \pm SEM, (n=5-6/group). *Statistically significant difference between vehicle and T0901317-treated animals of the same genotype (p \leq 0.05%). [†]Statistically significant difference between Floxed and LivKO with the same treatment (p \leq 0.05%).



Figure 2.9 *Liver histology in 0.2% cholesterol diet fed LivKO mice.*

Figure 2.9 *Liver histology in 0.2% cholesterol diet fed LivKO mice.* Following 4 weeks of 0.2% cholesterol diet feeding, LivKO and Floxed controls were treated with vehicle or 10 mg/kg T0901317 for 5 days. Whole livers were isolated and snap frozen in liquid nitrogen. Frozen livers were then sectioned and H and E stained by University of Virginia Tissue Histology core facility.



Figure 2.10 Inflammatory gene expression in 0.2% cholesterol diet fed LivKO mice.

Figure 2.10 Inflammatory gene expression in 0.2% cholesterol diet fed LivKO mice.

Total RNA was isolated from livers at the completion of *in vivo* RCT studies and mRNA levels were measured by quantitative real-time PCR as described in Materials and Methods. Data is mean \pm SEM, (n=5-6/group). [†]Statistically significant difference between Floxed and LivKO with the same treatment ($p \le 0.05\%$).



Supplemental Figure 2.11 *Gene expression of endoplasmic reticulum stress in 0.2% cholesterol diet fed LivKO mice.*

Figure 2.11 *Gene expression of endoplasmic reticulum stress in 0.2% cholesterol diet fed LivKO mice.* Total RNA was isolated from livers at the completion of *in vivo* RCT studies and mRNA levels were measured by quantitative real-time PCR as described in Materials and Methods. Data is mean \pm SEM, (n=5-6/group). [†]Statistically significant difference between Floxed and LivKO with the same treatment ($p \le 0.05\%$).



Figure 2.12 In vivo RCT in chow and 0.2% cholesterol diet fed LivKO mice.

Figure 2.12 In vivo *RCT in chow and 0.2% cholesterol diet fed LivKO mice.* ³Hcholesterol and acetylated LDL-loaded C57BL6/J BMMs were injected into Floxed or LivKO mice fed standard chow (**A** and **B**) or 0.2% cholesterol supplemented diet (**C** and **D**). Animals were treated for 3 days with or without 10 mg/kg T0901317 (n=6/group) prior to BMM injection, and the amount of ³H sterol in plasma (**A** and **C**) and feces (**B** and **D**) was determined as described in the Materials and Methods. For the 0.2% diet experiment animals were switched from chow to 0.2% diet at 8 weeks of age and were on diet for 4 weeks prior to the start of the experiment. Mice continued to receive vehicle or T0901317 treatment for the duration of the experiment. Data are mean \pm SEM. *Statistically significant difference between vehicle and T0901317-treated animals of the same genotype ($p \le 0.05\%$). [†]Statistically significant difference between Floxed and LivKO mice with the same treatment ($p \le 0.05\%$).



Figure 2.13 LXR agonist dependent changes in HDL mass and function in LivKO mice.

Figure 2.13 LXR agonist dependent changes in HDL mass and function in LivKO mice.

A) Plasma HDL cholesterol levels in chow and 0.2% cholesterol diet fed Floxed and LivKO mice (n = 6/group) treated for 5 days with vehicle or 10 mg/kg T0901317. B) *In vitro* macrophage cholesterol efflux was measured as described in Materials and Methods using ³H-cholesterol labeled Raw264.7 cells that were incubated with FPLC purified HDL from animals treated with vehicle or T0901317 (10 mpk) for 5 days (n=5-6/group). Efflux data are representative of 3 independent experiments. Total phospholipids in FPLC purified HDL from Floxed and LivKO mice fed a standard chow diet (C) or 0.2% cholesterol diet (D) and treated for 5 days with vehicle or T0901317 (10 mpk). HDL phospholipid levels were normalized by HDL APOA1 protein levels as determined by Elisa. Data are mean \pm SEM. *Statistically significant difference between vehicle and T0901317-treated animals of the same genotype ($p \le 0.05\%$). [†]Statistically significant difference between Floxed and LivKO mice with the same treatment and diet ($p \le 0.05\%$).



Figure 2.14 Intestine ABCA1 levels in chow and 0.2% cholesterol diet fed LivKO mice.

Figure 2.14 Intestine ABCA1 levels in chow and 0.2% cholesterol diet fed LivKO mice. Total RNA was isolated from intestines at the completion of *in vivo* RCT studies and ABCA1 mRNA levels were measured by quantitative real-time PCR as described in Materials and Methods. Data is mean \pm SEM, (n=5-6/group). *Statistically significant difference between vehicle and T0901317-treated animals of the same genotype and diet conditions ($p \le 0.05\%$). [†]Statistically significant difference between Floxed and LivKO with the same treatment ($p \le 0.05\%$). [#]Statistically significant difference between chow and 0.2% cholesterol diet fed mice of the same genotype and treatment ($p \le 0.05\%$).



Figure 2.15 Gene expression analysis of lipoprotein receptors in LivKO mice.

Figure 2.15 Gene expression analysis of lipoprotein receptors in LivKO mice. Total

RNA was isolated from livers at the completion of *in vivo* RCT studies and mRNA levels were measured by quantitative real-time PCR as described in Materials and Methods. Data is mean \pm SEM, (n=5-6/group). *Statistically significant difference between vehicle and T0901317-treated animals of the same genotype ($p \le 0.05\%$).



Figure 2.16 phospholipid composition of HDL particles from LivKO mice.

Figure 2.16 *phospholipid analysis of HDL particles from LivKO mice*. Animals on chow or 4 weeks of 0.2% cholesterol diet were treated with vehicle or 10 mg/kg T0901317 for 5 days and pooled plasma was fractionated by FPLC. Phospholipid species were identified from FPLC-purified HDL by mass spectrometry as described in Materials and Methods and normalized by ApoA1 levels as determined by Western blot.



Figure 2.17 *LXR agonists increase CETP activity, HDL-phospholipids and fecal* ³*H-sterols in CETP transgenic mice.*

Figure 2.17 LXR agonists increase CETP activity, HDL-phospholipids and fecal ³Hsterols in CETP transgenic mice. CETP⁻ and CETP⁺ mice were treated vehicle or 10 mg/kg T0901317 for 5 days (n=5/group). A) Total RNA was isolated from liver tissue and the mRNA levels of *CETP* was measured by quantitative real-time PCR as described in Materials and Methods. B) CETP activity in plasma was determined by fluorometric assay as described in Materials and Methods. C)Total phospholipids in FPLC purified HDL from CETP⁻ and CETP⁺ mice treated for 5 days with vehicle or T0901317 (10 mpk). HDL phospholipid levels were normalized by HDL APOA1 protein levels as determined by Elisa. D) At completion of the *in vivo* RCT experiment fecal sterols were extracted and the amount of ³H-cholesterol and ³H-bile acids were determined as described in Materials and Methods. Data are mean \pm SEM. *Statistically significant difference between vehicle and T0901317-treated animals of the same genotype($p \le$ 0.05%). [†]Statistically significant difference between CETP⁻ and CETP⁺ with the same treatment ($p \le 0.05\%$). ND = not detected.



Figure 2.18 CETP inhibits LXR agonist-dependent RCT.

Figure 2.18 *CETP inhibits LXR agonist-dependent RCT*. CETP[•](**A**) and CETP⁺(**B**) mice (n=6/group) were treated with vehicle or T0901317 (10 mpk), plasma was pooled, subjected to FPLC and the cholesterol content of each fraction was measured as described in Materials and Methods. ³H-cholesterol and acetylated LDL-loaded C67BL/6 BMDMs were injected into CETP[•] and CETP⁺ mice (n=6/group) treated with vehicle or T0901317 and the amount of ³H sterol in plasma (**C**) and feces (**F**) were determined as described in Materials and Methods. **D**) Raw 264.7 cells were incubated with 0.03% pooled plasma (**D**) or FPLC purified HDL (**E**) from vehicle or T0901317 treated CETP⁻ and CETP⁺ mice (n=5/group) and cholesterol efflux was measured as described in Materials and Methods. Efflux data is representative of 3 independent experiments. Data are mean ± SEM. *Statistically significant difference between vehicle and T0901317treated animals of the same genotype ($p \le 0.05\%$). [†]Statistically significant difference between CETP⁺ and CETP⁺ with the same treatment ($p \le 0.05\%$).



Figure 2.19 Model for LXR-regulated RCT.

Chapter 3: Liver LXRa expression is crucial for whole body cholesterol homeostasis and reverse cholesterol transport in mice

Yuan Zhang^{1,5}, Sarah R. Breevoort^{2,5}, Jerry Angdisen², Mingui Fu^{1,*}, Daniel R. Schmidt¹, Sam R. Holmstrom¹, Steven A. Kliewer^{1,3}, David J. Mangelsdorf^{1,4}, Ira G. Schulman^{2,¶} ¹Department of Pharmacology, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center,

Dallas, TX, USA 75390

²Department of Pharmacology, University of Virginia Health System, Charlottesville, VA, USA

³Department of Molecular Biology, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, USA 75390

⁴Howard Hughes Medical Institute, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, USA 75390

⁵Yuan Zhang and Sarah R. Breevoort contributed equally to this work.

Zhang and colleagues in the Mangelsdorf Laboratory at the University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center generated the first conditional LXR knockout animal by selectively eliminating LXRα from hepatocytes and this group was responsible for the initial characterization of these albumin-CRE⁺ LXRa^{fl/fl} mice. Interested in the role of liver LXRα in atherosclerosis and the protective effects of LXR agonists, Dr.Schulman received the LivKO mice from the Mangelsdorf group and with Jerry Angidsen's assistance crossed them into the Ldlr^{-/-} background prior to the start of my graduate studies. The first atherosclerosis study with the Ldlr^{-/-} /LivKO was undertaken by Dr. Schulman with Jerry's technical assistance. The finding that the Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO animals had increased atherosclerosis, led me to investigate the role for liver LXRa in atherosclerosis and reverse cholesterol transport. The outcome of this work, which was undertaken during my first two years in the laboratory, resulted in a co-first authorship on the manuscript which appeared in the Journal of Clinical Investigations in April 2012.

3.1 ABSTRACT

Liver X receptors (LXR α and LXR β) are important regulators of cholesterol and lipid metabolism and their activation has been shown to inhibit cardiovascular disease and reduce atherosclerosis in animal models. These previous studies have stimulated interest in the therapeutic potential of small molecules targeting LXRs; however, the finding that agonists also promote hepatic lipogenesis has led to the idea that hepatic LXR activity is undesirable from a therapeutic perspective. In this report we utilized gene targeting to create the first conditional LXR knockout by selectively deleting LXR α in hepatocytes. Liver-specific deletion of LXRa substantially decreased reverse cholesterol transport, cholesterol catabolism and excretion, revealing the essential importance of hepatic LXR α for whole body cholesterol homeostasis. Additionally, in a proatherogenic background liver-specific deletion of LXR α significantly increased atherosclerosis, uncovering an important function for hepatic LXR activity in limiting cardiovascular disease. Nevertheless, LXR agonists still elicited anti-atherogenic activity in the absence of hepatic LXR α indicating that the ability of agonists to reduce cardiovascular disease does not require an increase in cholesterol excretion. Furthermore these observations suggest that therapeutic strategies which bypass the liver or limit the activation of hepatic LXRs should still be beneficial for the treatment of cardiovascular disease.

3.2 INTRODUCTION

The precise regulation of cholesterol metabolism is essential and it is well known that elevated levels of cholesterol in the blood are a major cause of cardiovascular disease ⁶⁷⁴. Studies using global genetic knockouts and synthetic agonists have defined important roles for the liver X receptors, LXR α (NR1H3) and LXR β (NR1H2), in the control of cholesterol metabolism ⁶⁴⁰. LXRs are members of the nuclear hormone receptor superfamily of ligand activated transcription factors and treatment of animals with LXR agonists results in changes in gene expression promoting the efflux of cholesterol from peripheral cells such as macrophages, the excretion of cholesterol from the liver and the inhibition of cholesterol absorption in the intestine ⁶⁴⁰. Importantly, the endogenous ligands for LXRs are oxidized forms of cholesterol (oxysterols) ^{641, 675} that increase coordinately with intracellular cholesterol levels thus allowing these receptors to function as sensors to maintain cholesterol at appropriate levels throughout the body.

At the molecular level, LXRs control cholesterol efflux by regulating expression of the genes encoding the ATP binding cassette (ABC) transporters ABCA1 and ABCG1 ⁶⁴⁰. Up-regulation of ABCA1 and ABCG1 results in increased transfer of intracellular cholesterol to high density lipoprotein particles (HDL) and genome wide association studies have linked both transporters to HDL cholesterol levels in humans ^{642, 643}. Mutations in the human *ABCA1* gene result in Tangier disease and Tangier patients characteristically present with little or no HDL, massive accumulation of cholesterol in macrophages found lodged in lymph tissue and they exhibit an increased risk for atherosclerosis ^{638, 644, 645}. The accumulation of oxidized and other modified forms of cholesterol by macrophages present in blood vessel walls is a critical event in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis ⁶⁷⁶ and the ability of LXR agonists to enhance macrophage cholesterol efflux has stimulated great interest in the therapeutic potential of these compounds ⁶⁷⁷. Activation of LXRs also regulate expression of ABCG5 and ABCG8, two half transporters that dimerize to create an additional cholesterol transporter ^{573, 646}. Expression of ABCG5/ABCG8 is largely restricted to the liver and intestine ³⁴ where these proteins function to promote the excretion of cholesterol (liver) and limit cholesterol absorption (intestine). Thus by mobilizing cholesterol from the periphery, promoting hepatic excretion and limiting absorption, activation of LXRs results in a net loss of cholesterol. This process of trafficking cholesterol to HDL and ultimately out of the body has been termed reverse cholesterol transport (RCT) ^{638, 645}. Importantly LXR agonists decrease atherosclerosis in animal models and it has been suggested that enhanced RCT plays an important role in this activity ^{548, 549, 552, 628}.

In spite of many potential benefits on cholesterol metabolism, enthusiasm for the therapeutic value of LXR agonists has been tempered by the observation that LXR activation stimulates hepatic lipogenesis by increasing expression of sterol regulatory element binding protein-1c (SREPB-1c), a master transcriptional regulator of fatty acid and triglyceride synthesis ^{524, 583}. Along with *Srebp1c*, LXRs regulate either directly or indirectly the genes encoding a number of other proteins involved in fatty acid synthesis ^{586, 678} and treatment with LXR agonists can result in dramatic increases in hepatic and plasma triglycerides ^{524, 583}. Additionally, at least one class of synthetic LXR ligands has been shown to elevate plasma low density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol levels in non-human primates ⁵⁹⁷. Genetic studies have defined the LXR α subtype as the major regulator of hepatic lipogenesis in response to LXR agonists ^{628, 679}. The simple idea of creating LXR β -specific ligands to bypass the undesirable effects on lipogenesis, however,

has been challenging because the ligand binding pockets of the two LXR subtypes differ by only a single amino acid ^{680, 681}. Studies in LDL receptor and apolipoprotein E (*Apoe*) knockout mice have also demonstrated that it is the LXR α subtype which plays the dominant role in limiting diet-induced cardiovascular disease ^{558, 628}. These observations have led to the suggestion that LXR agonists that bypass the liver, or even function as antagonists in the liver, would have ideal therapeutic profiles ^{677, 682, 683}. To address the therapeutic potential of liver LXR activity we have used gene targeting technology to create the first conditional LXR knockout mouse line by selectively deleting LXR α in hepatocytes. Characterization of these animals demonstrates the essential, physiologic importance of hepatic LXR α to whole body cholesterol homeostasis while at the same time revealing the pharmacologic utility of bypassing hepatic LXR activity as a therapeutic strategy for treating cardiovascular disease.

3.3 RESULTS

Summary of initial characterization of Liver LXRa deficient animals.

Below is a summary of the work carried out in the Mangelsdorf Lab prior to our acquisition of the liver-specific LXR α knockout mice.

Generation of liver-specific LXRa knockout mice LXRa floxed mice were crossed with albumin-Cre mice to generate hepatocyte-specific knockout of LXRa ($Lxra^{fl/fl}$ albumin-CRE⁺, referred to as LivKO) and their floxed littermate controls ($Lxra^{fl/fl}$ albumin-CRE⁻, referred to as Floxed). LXRa mRNA was reduced by more than 95% in livers of LivKO mice while the expression of LXR β did not change. There was no change in LXRa or LXR β expression in any other tissue. Feeding LivKO animals a diet containing 2% cholesterol for 30 days resulted in significant hepatic cholesterol accumulation and an increased liver to body weight ratio, demonstrating that liver LXRa activity is responsible for this phenotype that is observed in the global LXRa knockout under the same condition⁶⁷⁸.

Hepatic LXRa regulates lipid metabolism. Treatment with LXR agonists has been shown to increase triglyceride levels, promote cholesterol excretion, and elevate plasma HDL^{640} . Following 2 days of agonist treatment, an increase in plasma triglycerides was observed in control mice that was attenuated in the LivKO animals. Analysis of hepatic gene expression indicated that agonist-dependent increase in *Srebp1*, as well as fatty acid synthase (*Fas*) and stearoyl CoA desaturase 1 (*Scd1*), was reduced in LivKO. Previous studies with global knockouts demonstrated that LXRa is a major regulator of hepatic SREBP-1c expression and triglyceride levels^{559, 679}. Taken together, the lipid measurements and gene expression analysis of LivKO mice support this conclusion and
further indicate that hepatic LXR α activity is responsible for most of the lipogenic activity of LXR agonists.

Regulation of *Abcg5* and *Abcg8* in the liver and intestine has been proposed to account for the ability of LXR agonists to stimulate the biliary secretion of cholesterol and decrease intestinal absorption, resulting in increased neutral sterol loss in the feces^{575, ^{646, 684}. Recent studies, however, have described a biliary-independent trans-intestinal pathway for cholesterol excretion that can be stimulated by LXR activity^{577, 685, 686}. In the absence of liver LXR α activity, the ability of LXR agonists to increase biliary cholesterol was abolished and fecal cholesterol excretion was decreased. The loss of agoniststimulated effects in LivKO mice coincided with a failure to increase *Abcg5* and *Abcg8* in the liver, while *Abcg5* and *Abcg8* expression in the intestine was unaffected. Therefore, hepatic LXR α activity is required for the majority of the LXR agonist-dependent increase in cholesterol excretion. Moreover, these results support the notion that hepatic, and not intestinal, ABCG5/G8 is required for LXR-dependent effects on cholesterol excretion.}

The regulation of bile acid synthesis by LXR has also been suggested to contribute to the ability of LXR agonists to dispose of cholesterol^{520, 678}. As expected, the ability of LXR agonists to increase the expression of Cyp7a1, which encoded the ratelimiting enzyme in the conversion of cholesterol to bile acids, was absent in LivKO mice. Nevertheless, there was no effect of LXR agonist treatment on fecal or biliary bile acids or on the bile acid pool size between LivKO and floxed animals. These results support previous studies showing that LXR agonists have no effect on fecal bile salt excretion despite the increase in *Cyp7a1* expression, which has been suggested to be due to the fast reabsorption and recycling of bile acids. Along with regulation of *Cyp7a1*, treatment of control animals with an LXR agonist resulted in decreased expression of *Cyp8b1*, the gene encoding sterol 12α -hydroxylase, and this effect was lost in the LivKO mice. Sterol 12α -hydroxylase sits at a branch point in the bile acid synthetic pathway, and its enzymatic activity is required for the synthesis of cholic acid (CA). The parallel arm in the pathway leads to synthesis of muricholic acid (MCA) in mice⁶⁸⁷. Consistent with the gene expression data, treatment with T0901317 decreased the ratio of CA to MCA in control mice but not in LivKO. Importantly, individual bile acids differ in their ability to promote intestinal cholesterol absorption, and MCA, among all bile acids tested, promotes the lowest amount of cholesterol absorption, while CA promotes the greatest amount⁶⁸⁸. Thus, the agonist-dependent change in bile acid composition should contribute to the ability of LXR ligands to reduce cholesterol absorption. Consistent with this hypothesis, the ability of T0901317 to decrease fractional cholesterol absorption was also significantly attenuated in LivKO mice.

Hepatic LXRa is not required for the agonist-dependent HDL cholesterol regulation. The liver is considered the major site of HDL production^{580, 689}, and treatment of chowfed mice with LXR agonists is known to increase HDL cholesterol levels^{524, 583}. After treatment with T0901317 for 8 days, a significant increase in plasma cholesterol as observed in both LivKO mice and control mice, although the levels in T0901317-treated LivKO mice were approximately 15% lower than in control animals. Fractionation of lipoprotein particles by fast protein liquid chromatography (FPLC) indicated that the increase primarily resided in the HDL fraction. Thus, LXRα activity in the liver is not required for LXR agonist stimulated increases in HDL cholesterol levels in the plasma. LXR agonists have been shown to increase the presence of large HDL particles^{573, 577, 589}, an effect that was attenuated in T0901317-treated LivKO mice, suggesting that hepatic LXRα can play a role in modulating HDL size. Consistent with these results the expression of several apolipoproteins was altered in LivKO mice. ABCA1 is required for the biogenesis of HDL, and studies with ABCA1-knockout mice indicate that both the liver and intestine contribute to HDL production^{580, 689}. Induction of *Abca1* mRNA by T0901317 was lost in the livers of LivKO animals, while the intestinal *Abca1* levels were not different from those in control mice. The strong LXR agonist-dependent induction of Abca1 in the intestine suggests that this organ serves as a major site for LXR-dependent HDL cholesterol increases, a conclusion supported by earlier studies using tissue-specific knockouts of *Abca1* and intestine-specific overexpression of LXRα^{579, 662}.

Deletion of hepatic LXR a increases atherosclerosis. LXR agonists decrease

atherosclerosis in animal models of cardiovascular disease ^{548, 549, 552, 628} and global deletion of LXR α increases atherosclerosis in either LDL receptor (*Ldlr*) knockout or *ApoE* knockout genetic backgrounds ^{558, 628}. Using a series of bone marrow transplantations we have previously demonstrated that cells derived from the hematopoietic system comprise an important site of LXR-dependent anti-atherogenic activity ^{549, 628}. These studies, however, also indicated important anti-atherogenic functions for LXR α in a site(s) that is not derived from bone marrow cells ⁶²⁸. To determine the impact of liver LXR α activity on atherosclerosis, the liver specific knockout was introduced into the *Ldlr*^{-/-} background. The resulting double knockouts (*Ldlr*^{-/-}/*Lxr* $\alpha^{fl/fl}$ albumin-CRE⁺; i.e. *Ldlr*^{-/-}/LivKO) and littermate controls (*Ldlr*^{-/-} /*Lxr* $\alpha^{fl/fl}$ albumin-CRE⁻; i.e. *Ldlr*^{-/-}/floxed) were placed on a high fat/high cholesterol Western diet for 20 weeks in the absence or presence of the LXR agonist T0901317. By 4

weeks on diet $Ldlr^{-/-}$ /LivKO animals had reduced plasma triglycerides and cholesterol compared to controls and the effect of T0901317 on plasma lipid levels was lost in the $Ldlr^{-/-}$ /LivKO mice (Figure 3.1A-D). Consistent with other studies in hyperlipidemic mouse models ^{548, 549, 552, 558, 628}, treatment with LXR agonist had little or no effect on HDL cholesterol levels in either $Ldlr^{-/-}$ /floxed or $Ldlr^{-/-}$ /LivKO animals (Figure 3.1E-F). As expected, hepatic cholesterol was substantially increased in $Ldlr^{-/-}$ /LivKO animals at the conclusion of the experiment (Figure 3.2B).

When atherosclerosis was quantitated by *en face* analysis of dissected aortas or by serial sections of the aortic root, a significant increase in lesion area was detected in $Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO$ mice compared to controls (Figure 3.3 and Figure 3.4). Immunostaining with the macrophage-specific antibody MOMA-2 indicated increased macrophage content in $Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO$ root sections. Collagen staining, a measure of plaque stability, was roughly similar (Figure 3.5). A similar increase in atherosclerosis was also observed in $Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO$ mice after 10 weeks on Western diet (Figure 3.6). Thus, LXR α activity in the liver plays an essential role in limiting cardiovascular disease in the background of the Ldlr-null animal. Importantly, T0901317 was still able to significantly reduce atherosclerosis in $Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO$ mice (Figure 3.3, Figures 3.4 and 3.6), indicating that liver LXR α activity is not required for the pharmacological anti-atherogenic activity of LXR agonists. The magnitude of the agonist-dependent decrease in $Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO$ mice was similar to observed in $Ldlr^{-/-}/floxed controls$ (30-40%) suggesting that the full therapeutic effect of LXR agonists can be manifested in the absence of liver LXR α .

Lipoprotein particle number, size and function in LivKO mice. We noted that *Ldlr*-/-/LivKO mice have relatively high plasma cholesterol levels while their plasma

triglyceride levels are approximately 5 times less than $Ldlr^{-/-}$ /floxed controls (Figure 3.1A-D). This large difference in plasma triglycerides suggested the possibility that the number and/or size of the lipoprotein particles produced in *Ldlr*^{-/-}/LivKO mice may be altered in a way that influences atherogenesis. To address this possibility we used nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy to examine lipoprotein particle number and size ⁶⁹⁰. The high triglyceride levels in T0901317 treated $Ldlr^{-/-}$ /floxed mice precluded analysis of the effect of agonist treatment on particle number and size by NMR so we restricted this analysis to vehicle treated animals that had been on Western diet for 10 weeks. As expected, the number of VLDL particles is decreased in *Ldlr*^{-/-}/LivKO mice (Table 3.1) consistent with an important role for hepatic LXR α in triglyceride synthesis. In contrast, while both $Ldlr^{-/-}/floxed$ and $Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO$ animals have similar numbers of LDL particles there is a dramatic change in particle size with almost 50% of the Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO particles having diameters less than 21 nM (Table 3.1, small LDL). We note that the high percentage of relatively large LDL particles (diameter ≥ 23 nM) measured in $Ldlr^{-/-}$ /floxed mice is consistent with previous studies in hyperlipidemic mice ⁶⁹¹. Although there is a clear difference in size between LDL particles of the two strains we did not detect a difference in cholesterol accumulation when bone marrow derived macrophages were cultured in vitro in the presence of plasma or FPLC purified apolipoprotein B containing lipoproteins from $Ldlr^{-/-}/floxed$ or $Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO$ animals (data not shown).

Both FPLC (Figure 3.1E-F) and NMR (Table 3.1) indicate that there is no difference in HDL cholesterol levels between the *Ldlr*^{-/-}/floxed and *Ldlr*^{-/-}/LivKO animals. The *Ldlr*^{-/-}/LivKO mice, however, do have a 30% decrease in total HDL particle

number that is largely the result of a decrease in small HDL (particles with diameters less than 8.2 nm; Table 1). Interestingly, hepatic expression of the gene encoding phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP), a known LXR target gene ⁶⁰⁰, is significantly reduced in *Ldlr*^{-/-}/LivKO mice (Figure 3.7). PLTP has been shown to remodel HDL resulting in the production of small particles ⁶⁹². To examine if the change in particle number and size influences HDL function, we performed *in vitro* cholesterol efflux assays using ³H-cholesterol loaded RAW 264.7 cells. Cholesterol efflux was significantly reduced when Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO (Figure 3.8A) or FPLC-purified HDL (Figure 3.8B) was used as the source of cholesterol acceptors. We could not examine the efflux potential of plasma from T0901317 treated mice because the high concentrations of agonist in these plasma samples significantly increased the expression of genes that promote RCT in the cholesterol loaded RAW 264.7 cells. We did not, however, consistently detect differences in macrophage cholesterol efflux when FPLC purified HDL particles from vehicle and T0901317 treated mice were used as cholesterol acceptors (data not shown). The analysis of lipoprotein number, size and function identifies hepatic LXR α as an important regulator of lipoprotein metabolism and suggests that alterations in LDL and/or HDL function may contribute to the increased atherosclerosis observed in Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO mice.

RCT is impaired in LivKO mice. The ability to excrete cholesterol from the liver into the bile is a critical step in the RCT pathway. Our studies in normal lipidemic mice indicate that the ability of LXR agonists to stimulate cholesterol excretion is lost in the absence of hepatic LXR α activity (data not shown); nevertheless T0901317 still retains anti-atherogenic activity (Figures 3.3 and 3.6). To examine RCT under hyperlipidemic conditions, mouse J774 cells loaded with ³H-cholesterol and acetylated LDL *in vitro*

were injected into the peritoneal cavity of $Ldlr^{-/-}/floxed$ and $Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO$ mice that been on Western diet for 9 weeks in the absence or presence of T0901317. The amount of ${}^{3}\text{H}$ in the plasma, liver and feces was determined 48 hours later (Figures 3.9 and 3.10). The ability of T0901317 to increase the fecal excretion of macrophage derived sterols was largely impaired in *Ldlr^{-/-}*/LivKO mice (Figure 3.8A, and 3.10A-C). Concurrently there is an increase in ³H-sterol in the livers of *Ldlr*^{-/-}/LivKO mice (Figure 3.9B) indicating that hepatic LXR α is needed for agonist-dependent fecal excretion of macrophage-derived cholesterol. The ability of LXR agonists to increase the appearance of macrophagederived ³H-cholesterol in the plasma is thought to result from agonists acting on macrophage LXRs to enhance ABCA1 and ABCG1 dependent cholesterol efflux ^{561, 693}. Consistent with other studies ${}^{561, 693, 694}$, treatment of $Ldlr^{-/-}/floxed$ mice with T0901317 produced a time-dependent increase in the level of ³H-cholesterol in the plasma (Figure 3.9C). Interestingly, the level of ³H-cholesterol in the plasma of $Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO$ mice was decreased relative to vehicle treated $Ldlr^{-/-}/floxed$ controls and treatment with T0901317 had no effect (Figure 3.9C). For all 4 groups FPLC analysis indicated that the distribution of ³H-tracer in the plasma exactly coincided with the distribution of bulk, unlabeled cholesterol (Figure 3.11). To determine if the decrease in plasma ³H-cholesterol levels observed in *Ldlr*^{-/-}/LivKO animals resulted from impaired LXR transcriptional activity in macrophages, we recovered the J774 cells from the peritoneal cavity 48 hours after injection and quantitated ABCA1 mRNA levels in RNA isolated from these cells. As shown in Figure 3.9D, agonist treatment produced a similar increase in ABCA1 mRNA in cells recovered from either Ldlr^{-/-}/floxed or Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO animals. Additionally, a similar induction of ABCA1 mRNA was observed in RNA isolated from whole blood

taken from animals on Western diet in the absence or presence of T0901317 for 10 weeks (Figure 3.10D). The gene expression analysis suggests that the inability of LXR agonist to increase the appearance of macrophage-derived cholesterol in the plasma of $Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO$ mice does not arise from a defect in macrophage LXR activity.

3.4 Discussion

LXRs function throughout the body to control cholesterol transport, catabolism and excretion 677 . This report describes the first conditional LXR knockout mouse constructed by selectively eliminating the LXR α subtype in hepatocytes (LivKO mice). When challenged with a 2% cholesterol diet, LivKO mice accumulated increased amounts of cholesterol in liver resulting from failure to induce hepatic cholesterol excretion and catabolism, highlighting the importance of liver LXR α activity to whole body cholesterol homeostasis. Similarly, the ability of synthetic LXR agonists to stimulate biliary cholesterol excretion, inhibit fractional cholesterol absorption and increase the output of neutral sterols in the feces was largely compromised in LivKO mice. Several recent studies have described a *trans*-intestinal pathway for cholesterol excretion that bypasses biliary excretion but nevertheless can be stimulated by LXR activation $^{577, 685, 686}$. Our studies suggest that such a biliary-independent pathway makes only a minor contribution to LXR agonist-dependent cholesterol excretion.

Early studies with synthetic LXR agonists described increases in plasma triglycerides and plasma HDL cholesterol as two pharmacological responses to LXR activation ^{524, 583}. Analysis of LivKO mice indicates that these responses originate from unique sites. The LXR agonist-dependent increases in triglycerides were of hepatic origin and resulted from regulation of the genes encoding SREBP-1c and other enzymes involved in fatty acid and triglyceride synthesis. In contrast, hepatic deletion of LXR α had little effect on the ability of LXR agonists to elevate HDL cholesterol. Both the liver and intestine have been shown to contribute to the production of HDL ^{315, 579, 580, 689} and while the LXR agonist-dependent induction of *Abca1*, a protein required for HDL

biogenesis, was impaired in liver, induction of *Abca1* in the intestine was unchanged. The tissue-specific expression of *Abca1* observed in LivKO mice suggests that LXR activation in the intestine is sufficient to regulate HDL cholesterol levels. Consistent with our conclusion that an intestinal LXR activity is primarily responsible for elevating HDL cholesterol, previous studies indicate that expression of ABCA1 in the intestine is required for LXR agonist-dependent cholesterol increases ⁵⁷⁹ and that transgenic overexpression of a constitutively active LXR α (VP16-LXR α) in the intestine increases HDL ⁶⁶². HDL cholesterol levels inversely correlate with cardiovascular disease risk and the ability of LXR agonists to increase HDL cholesterol initially stimulated great interest in the therapeutic potential of such compounds ⁶⁷⁷. The concurrent increase in lipogenesis, however, has dampened the enthusiasm for LXR agonists and slowed the progression of molecules into the clinic. Analysis of LivKO mice demonstrates that the lipogenic and HDL pathways are tissue specific and suggests that LXR ligands that specifically target the intestine, for instance by limiting systemic absorption or by rapid first-pass clearance, could have therapeutic value.

In mouse models of cardiovascular disease, treatment with LXR agonists decreases atherosclerosis. However, in these hyperlipidemic models LXR agonists have little or no effect on HDL cholesterol levels and this has led to the conclusion that the anti-atherogenic activity originates from increased macrophage cholesterol efflux and/or limiting inflammation in immune cells in atherosclerotic plaque ^{548, 549, 552, 628}. Indeed, selective deletion of LXR α in hematopoietic cells increased atherosclerosis in the *Ldlr*^{-/-}/*Lxra*^{-/-} global knockout mice ^{549, 569, 628}. We now demonstrate that atherosclerosis was

substantially increased when LXR α was selectively eliminated in hepatocytes, identifying the liver as a critical site of LXR α -dependent anti-atherogenic activity. Our studies suggest that hepatic LXR α modulates lipoprotein particle number, size, and function in a manner that influences atherogenicity. In particular the ability of HDL to accept cholesterol from macrophages is defective in *Ldlr*^{-/-}/LivKO mice. These observations suggest that pharmacological strategies utilizing small molecules that inhibit hepatic LXR α activity to reduce lipogenesis may actually increase cardiovascular disease and should be explored with caution. Future studies that explore the effect of hepatic LXR activity on lipoprotein function in the presence of the cholesterol ester transfer protein (CETP), a lipoprotein particle remodeling enzyme expressed in humans but not mice ⁶⁶⁶, will be useful in this regard.

Despite the increased atherosclerosis observed in $Ldlr^{-/-}$ /LivKO mice, treatment with T0901317 was still an effective preventive therapy indicating that extra-hepatic LXR activity can also be anti-atherogenic. Our *in vivo* RCT analysis further suggests that the ability of LXR agonists to stimulate the RCT pathway is significantly compromised in the absence of hepatic LXR α and is thus not necessary for the athero-preventive activity of LXR agonists. The efficacy of agonist treatment in LivKO mice therefore raises questions regarding the potential mechanisms and sites of action for the pharmacological activity of LXR agonists. In contrast to the liver, using bone marrow transplantations we have previously shown that LXR activity in hematopoietic cells is necessary for the anti-atherogenic activity of T0901317⁵⁴⁹. A number of additional functions for LXRs in immune cells including the control of inflammation ⁶⁴⁰, endoplasmic reticulum stress ⁶⁹⁵, macrophage egress ⁶⁹⁶ and monocyte proliferation ^{697, 698} could underlie the anti-atherogenic activity of LXR ligands. Finally, recent studies indicate that intestinal specific activation of LXRs using pharmacological or transgenic approaches can increase RCT and may beneficially impact atherosclerosis^{648, 662}. The failure of LXR agonist treatment to increase the appearance of macrophage-derived cholesterol in the plasma of Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO mice during the *in vivo* RCT assay further raises the possibility that impaired LXR activity in the liver can negatively affect macrophage cholesterol efflux in the periphery. The appearance of macrophage-derived ³H-cholesterol in the plasma during the *in vivo* RCT assay, however, may not simply reflect the rate the macrophage cholesterol efflux. The re-entry of ³H-cholesterol into the plasma compartment after up-take by the liver and/or intestine may also contribute to this measurement. Therefore we cannot rule out the possibility that LXR agonists do in fact promote macrophage cholesterol efflux in $Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO$ mice and that this activity is anti-atherogenic even when hepatic cholesterol excretion to the bile is inhibited. In summary, our characterization of LivKO mice demonstrates that while endogenous hepatic LXR α activity is essential for maintaining normal lipid and sterol homeostasis, pharmacologic strategies that bypass LXR activation in liver may still be of therapeutic benefit.

Table 3.1. Lipoprotein Particle Size and Number	
---	--

	<u>Ldlr^{-/-}/Floxed</u>	<u>Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO</u>
VLDL particles, total nmol/L	727 ± 128	341 ± 130*
Large VLDL (> 60 nm), nmol/L	15.7 ± 4.5	$4.4 \pm 1.3^{*}$
Medium VLDL (35-60 nm), nmol/L	179 ± 103	117 ± 81
Small VLDL (27-35 nm), nmol/L	533 ± 67	$220\pm98*$
LDL particles, total nmol/L	1238 ± 257	1440 ± 463
IDL (23-27 nm), nmol/L	1181 ± 246	$685\pm212*$
Large LDL (21.2-23 nm), nmol/L	0	0
Small LDL (18-21.2 nm), nmol/L	0	$742\pm364*$
HDL particles, total µmol/L	34.6 ± 9.6	$24 \pm 2.7*$
Large HDL (8.8-13 nm), µmol/L	14.2 ± 6.4	16.7 ± 4.6
Medium HDL (8.2-8.2 nm), µmol/L	0	0
Small HDL (7.3-8.2 nm), µmol/L	18 ± 3.2	$7.3\pm4.7*$
HDL Cholesterol mg/dL	50.6 ± 25.8	60.3 ± 17.2

*Statistically significant difference between floxed and LivKO mice (n = 6/group; $p \le$ 0.05).



Figure 3.1 Plasma lipid levels in Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO mice.

Figure 3.1 *Plasma lipid levels in Ldlr*^{-/-}/*LivKO mice. Ldlr*^{-/-}/floxed and *Ldlr*^{-/-}/LivKO mice were fed a Western diet with or without 0.01% T0901317 for 20 weeks and (**A,B**) plasma triglycerides and (**C,D**) plasma total cholesterol levels were determined at 2 week intervals (n=5/group). Data are the mean \pm SEM. *d b*, statistically significant difference between Flox and LivKO mice with the same treatment (p \leq 0.05%). *Ldlr*^{-/-}/floxed (**E**) and *Ldlr*^{-/-}/LivKO (**F**) mice were fed a Western diet with or without 0.01% T0901317 for 10 weeks and FPLC analysis was carried out using pooled plasma (n=6/group) obtained from mice that had been fasted overnight. Elevated plasma triglycerides in samples from *Ldlr*^{-/-}/floxed mice treated with T0901317 resulted in a significant amount of non-HDL aggregating when samples were centrifuged to pellet particulate matter prior to loading the FPLC column; therefore, the non-HDL cholesterol levels measured by FPLC for *Ldlr*^{-/-}/floxed mice treated with T0901317 is likely an underestimate.



Figure 3.2 *Hepatic lipid levels in Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO mice*.

Figure 3.2 Hepatic lipid levels in Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO mice. Ldlr^{-/-}/floxed and Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO mice were fed a Western diet with or without 0.01% T0901317 for 20 weeks and hepatic (A) triglycerides and (B) cholesterol levels were determined at completion of the study (n=5/group; 3 male, 2 female). Data are the mean \pm SEM. *b*, statistically significant difference between Flox and LivKO mice with the same treatment (p \leq 0.05%).



Figure 3.3 Atherosclerosis in Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO mice.

Figure 3.3 *Atherosclerosis in Ldlr*^{-/-}/*LivKO mice.* Mice were fed a Western diet with or without 0.01% T0901317 for 20 weeks, and atherosclerosis was quantitated. (**A**) En face analysis of the aorta was carried out as described in Methods. Ldlr^{-/-}/floxed (vehicle: n = 11, 6 male, 5 female; T0901317: n = 9, 5 male, 4 female). Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO (vehicle: n = 16, 8 male, 8 female; T0901317: n = 15, 8 male, 7 female). (**B**) Lesion area was measured in serial sections of the aortic root (n = 7/group; 4 male, 3 female). Each data point represents an individual animal. The horizontal lines denote the mean of each group. There were no significant differences between sexes within any of the groups.



Figure 3.4 Representative en face and root section images.

Figure 3.4 Representative en face and root section images. Representative Sudan IV

stained aortas (A) and oil red O stained aortic root sections (B).







Figure 3.5 Macrophage and collagen staining.

Figure 3.5 *Macrophage and collagen staining.* Aortic root sections from $Ldlr^{-/-}$ /floxed and $Ldlr^{-/-}$ /LivKO mice fed a Western diet with or without 0.01% T0901317 for 20 weeks were stained with antibodies to MOMA-2 to detect macrophages (**A**,**B**) or with trichrome to detect collagen (**C**,**D**). Quantification was carried out as described in the Methods. Data are the mean \pm SEM. *a*, statistically significant difference between vehicle and T0901317 treated animals of the same genotype (p \le 0.05%). *b*, statistically significant difference between Flox and LivKO mice with the same treatment (p \le 0.05%).



Figure 3.6 Atherosclerosis in Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO mice on 10 weeks of Western diet.

Figure 3.6 *Atherosclerosis in Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO mice on 10 weeks of Western diet.* Mice were fed a Western diet with or without 0.01% T0901317 for 10 weeks and atherosclerosis was quantitated by en face analysis as described in the Methods. *Ldlr*^{-/-}//floxed (vehicle n=11; T0901317 n=12). *Ldlr*^{-/-}/LivKO (vehicle n=12; T0901317 n=12).



Figure 3.7 *Pltp expression in Ldlr^{-/-} /LivKO mice*.

Liver Pltp expression

Figure 3.7 *Pltp expression in Ldlr^{-/-} /LivKO mice*. Total RNA was isolated from livers at the completion of *in vivo* RCT study and mRNA levels were measured by quantitative real-time PCR as described in Materials and Methods. Data is mean \pm SEM, (n=5-6/group). *Statistically significant difference between vehicle and T0901317-treated animals of the same genotype ($p \le 0.05\%$). [†]Statistically significant difference between Floxed and LivKO with the same treatment ($p \le 0.05\%$).



Figure 3.8 Cholesterol efflux in RAW264.7 cells.

Figure 3.8 Cholesterol efflux in RAW264.7 cells. ³H-Cholesterol–loaded RAW264.7 cells were cultured with (A) 0.03% plasma or (B) FPLC-purified HDL isolated from mice fed a Western diet with or without 0.01% T0901317 for 9 weeks, and cholesterol efflux was determined as described in Methods. Efflux to plasma or HDL isolated from Ldlr^{-/-}/floxed mice fed a Western diet without T0901317 was set as 100%. Data are the average of 2 independent experiments and expressed as mean \pm SEM. Data from the experiments with FPLC-purified HDL were normalized to the amount of apoAI added. *P \leq 0.05 between vehicle- and T0901317-treated animals of the same genotype; [†]P \leq 0.05 between floxed and LivKO mice.



Figure 3.9 In vivo *RCT in Ldlr^{-/-} /LivKO*.

Figure 3.9 In vivo *RCT in Ldlr^{-/-} /LivKO*. ³H-cholesterol and acetylated LDL–loaded J774 macrophages were injected into mice fed a Western diet with or without 0.01% T0901317 for 10 weeks (n = 6/group), and the amount of ³H tracer in feces (**A**), liver (**B**), and plasma (**C**) was determined as described in Methods. (**D**) Total RNA was isolated from recovered J774 macrophages, and the mRNA levels of Abca1 were measured by quantitative real-time PCR. Data are mean \pm SEM. *P \leq 0.05 between vehicle- and T0901317-treated animals of the same genotype; [†]P \leq 0.05 between floxed and LivKO mice with the same treatment.



Figure 3.10 In vivo RCT, total fecal sterols and whole blood gene expression.

Figure 3.10 *In vivo RCT, total fecal sterols and whole blood gene expression.* Mice were fed a Western diet with or without 0.01% T0901317 for 9 weeks. (**A,B**) *In vivo* RCT analysis was carried out as described in the Methods (n=6/group) and the levels of ³H-cholesterol (**A**) and ³H-bile acids (**B**) was determined. (**C**) Total fecal sterols were determined as described in the Methods from feces collected just prior to initiating the *in vivo* RCT experiment. (**D**) Total RNA was isolated from whole blood as described in the Methods and the mRNA levels of ABCA1 were measured by quantitative real-time PCR. Data are the mean \pm SEM. *a*, statistically significant difference between vehicle and T0901317 treated animals of the same genotype (p \le 0.05%). *b*, statistically significant difference between Flox and LivKO mice with the same treatment (p \le 0.05%).



Figure 3.11 Radiolabeled cholesterol is redistributed among lipoprotein particles

Figure 3.11 *Radiolabeled cholesterol is redistributed among lipoprotein particles.* At completion of the *in vivo* RCT study, pooled plasma samples were subjected to FPLC and the ³H content (**A** and **B**) was determined (n=6/group). Following 10 weeks of Western diet with or without T0901317 (0.01%) plasma was pooled and subjected to FPLC and the cholesterol content of each fraction was measured as described in the Materials and Methods (**C** and **D**).

Chapter 4: Materials and Methods

4.1 Materials and Methods for Chapter 2

Reagents. LXR agonist T0901317 was purchased from Cayman Chemical. ³Hcholesterol was purchased from Perkin Elmer. ^{14C}Cholic acid was purchased from American Radiolabeled Chemicals Inc.

Animal experiments. All animal experiments were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Research Advisory Committee of the University of Virginia. $Lxr\alpha^{-/-}/Lxr\beta^{-/-}$ and $Lxr\alpha^{1//1}$ /albumin-Cre mice have been described previously^{529, 628}. Male CETP transgenic mice (The Jackson Laboratory) were bred with female C57Bl6/J (The Jackson Laboratory) to generate CETP transgenic (CETP⁺) and CETP⁻ littermate controls. All animals were housed in a temperature-controlled environment with 12-hour light/12-hour dark cycles. Age-matched mice had free access to water and were fed standard rodent chow (TD 7001, Harlan Teklad) or a 0.2% cholesterol diet (TD 07798, Harlan Teklad). For 0.2% cholesterol diet experiments, animals were switched from standard chow to cholesterol diet at 8 weeks of age and experiments carried out following 4 weeks of diet. Animals were treated with vehicle (80% polyethylene glycol, 20% Tween-80) or LXR agonist T0901317 (10 mg per kg of body weight) by oral gavage once per day in the morning. Samples were drawn or experiments were initiated 3 hours after the 3rd dose (in vivo RCT studies) or 5th dose (plasma analysis and FPLC studies).

Plasma Analyses. Blood was collected into EDTA-coated tubes (Starstedt). Plasma was separated by centrifugation and assayed for total cholesterol (Thermo Scientific), triglycerides (Pointe Scientific), HDL-cholesterol (Thermo Scientific), CETP activity (Sigma Aldrich), PLTP activity (Roar Biomedical Inc.), aspartate aminotransferase
(AST) activity (Pointe Scientific) activity, alanine aminotransferase (ALT) activity (Thermo Scientific) and APOA1 levels (Novatein Biosciences). Plasma lipoprotein levels in pooled plasma samples (n=4-6/group) were analyzed by FPLC using a Superose G6 10/300 GL column (GE Healthcare), and assayed for total cholesterol per fraction by enzymatic analysis (Thermo Scientific). FPLC purified fractions containing peak HDLcholesterol (n=3 fractions) were pooled for in vitro experiments. FPLC purified HDL was assayed for total phospholipid by calorimetric kit (Wako).

Western blotting. FPLC purified HDL samples (12.5 µl) in triplicate were resolved on 12% SDS-polyacrylamide gels and transferred to PVDF membranes (Millipore). Membranes were then hybridized with goat anti–mouse APOA1 antibody (Abcam 7614) at a 1:1000 dilution, followed by secondary antibody incubation at a 1:5,000 dilution. APOA1 protein was detected by chemiluminescence and quantitated with ImageQuant software.

Liver cholesterol and triglycerides. Liver samples (0.1 g) were homogenized in 2 ml Folch (chloroform/methanol, 2:1, v/v) with a polytron homogenizer. The organic phase was separated and then dried under nitrogen. Samples were reconstituted in isopropranol:Triton-X100 (9:1 v/v) and aliquots subjected to colorimetric enzymatic assays for total cholesterol (Thermo Scientific) or triglycerides (Pointe Scientific).

Quantitative real-time PCR analysis. Total RNA was extracted from ~100 mg pieces of tissue (liver and small intestine) using a microbead tissue homogenizer and PureZOL (Bio-Rad)/chloroform extraction. Total RNA was isolated from aqueous phase using an RNeasy kit (QIAGEN). RNA was treated with DNase I and reverse transcribed into cDNA with random hexamers using a High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription kit (Life Technologies). RT-qPCR reactions contained 25 ng of cDNA, 385 nM of each primer, and 6.25 μ l of SYBR Green Supermix (Bio-Rad) and were carried out in triplicate using a Bio-Rad MyiQ instrument. Relative mRNA levels were calculated using the comparative Ct method and normalized to cyclophilin.

Cholesterol efflux experiments. RAW264.7 cells were plated in 96-well plates (2×10^5) cells/well) and 24 hours later labeled with 1 μ Ci/ml ³H-cholesterol (PerkinElmer) in DMEM plus 1% FBS media for 18-24 hours. Radiolabeled cells were washed with prewarmed PBS and incubated for 18-24 hours with serum-free media containing 0.03% pooled plasma (n=5-7 animals/group) or with 25% FPLC-purified HDL normalized to APOA1 levels as determined by Western blotting as cholesterol acceptors. For each individual efflux experiment using FPLC purified HDL, triplicate samples of all the HDL samples being compared were quantitated on the same western blot. Following incubation with acceptors, media was collected and radioactivity was measured by liquid scintillation counting. Cells were washed with PBS and lysed in 100 µl of 0.2 N NaOH, and radioactivity in cell lysates was quantitated by liquid scintillation counting. Cholesterol efflux was expressed as percentage of cpm in the medium divided by the total counts (cpm_{media}/[cpm_{media} + cpm_{cell}]). Acceptor-dependent efflux was determined by subtracting the efflux of vehicle cells cultured without acceptor. APOA1 (10 μ g/ml) or HDL (15 μ g/ml) was included as positive control.

In vivo RCT. In vivo RCT experiments were carried out as described by Naik et al⁵⁶¹. Animals were on either chow or 0.2% cholesterol diet as indicated. Three days prior to and for the duration of the experiment mice were gavaged with vehicle or T0901317 (10 mpk). Bone marrow derived macrophages were loaded with 25 μ g/ml acetylated LDL

and 5 µCi/ml ³H-cholesterol for 48 hours in vitro. Cholesterol-loaded cells were injected into the peritoneal cavity of mice (~4.5 x 10^6 cells/mouse, 3 x 10^6 cpm, n=6/group), which were housed individually for the duration of the experiment. Blood was collected at 6, 24, and 48 hours after injection, and the ³H-cholesterol in triplicate plasma samples (10 ul aliquots) was determined by scintillation counting. Frozen livers, gonadal fat pads, testes, and quadriceps skeletal mucsle were ground with mortar and pestle and lipids extracted from duplicate 100 mg samples by standard Folch extraction. Lipids were resuspended in 1ml of liquid scintillation fluid and the ³H-cholesterol levels in triplicate 200 ul aliquots was determined by scintillation counting. Feces was collected at 48 hours, homogenized in 50% EtOH by polytron homogenizer and ³H-sterol levels determined by scintillation counting in 200 ul aliquots in triplicate. To measure ³H-cholesterol and ³Hbile acid in feces, 2 mL of homogenized samples was combined with 2 mL ethanol, 0.03µCi of ¹⁴C-cholic acid as an internal standard, and 400 µL NaOH. The samples were saponified at 95°C for 2 hours, cooled to room temperature and cholesterol separated from bile acids by extracting 2 times with 6 mL hexane. The extracts were pooled, evaporated, resuspended in toluene and ³H-cholesterol levels were determined by scintillation counting. To extract bile acids, the remaining aqueous fraction after the hexane extractions was acidified with concentrated HCl and then extracted 2 times with 6 mL ethyl acetate. The extracts were pooled together, evaporated, resuspended in ethyl acetate, and and ³H-bile acids levels were determined by scintillation counting and normalized to the recovery of ¹⁴C-cholic acid.

To measure gene expression in recovered BMMs, 48 hours after ³H-macrophage injection the peritoneal cavity of the mouse was flushed with PBS and cells were

collected. Recovered cells were lysed with PureZOL (Bio-Rad), extracted with chloroform, and total RNA was isolated from the aqueous layer using an RNeasy kit (QIAGEN). Quantitative RT-PCR was carried out as described above.

Statistics. Results were analyzed by 1-way ANOVA with Tukey's post-test using GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software); p values of 0.05 or less were considered significant.

4.2 Material and Methods for Chapter 3

Reagents. LXR agonist T0901317 was purchased from Cayman Chemical (Ann Arbor, Michigan).

Animal experiments. All animal experiments were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Research Advisory Committee at the University of Virginia. Floxed LXRα mice were bred with C57BL/6J Albumin-Cre transgenic mice (Jackson Laboratories) to generate liver-specific knock out animals (LivKO). The littermates carrying flox/flox allele were used as their control (Flox).

 $Ldlr^{-/-}/Lxr\alpha^{fl/fl}/Albumin-CRE^{-}$ and $Ldlr^{-/-}/Lxr\alpha^{fl/fl}/Albumin-CRE^{+}$ mice were created by mating $Lxr\alpha^{fl/fl}/Albumin-CRE^{+}$ mice with $Ldlr^{-/-}$ mice (male B6.129S7- $Ldlr^{tm1Her}/J$) purchased from Jackson Laboratories. Mice were fed standard chow ad libitum until put on study. To examine atherosclerosis in $Ldlr^{-/-}/Lxr\alpha^{fl/fl}/Albumin-CRE^{-}$ and $Ldlr^{-/-}/Lxr\alpha^{fl/fl}/Albumin-CRE^{+}$ mice, 8-9 week old animals were placed on a Western diet (21% fat wt/wt, 0.15% cholesterol wt/wt; Test Diet 57BD) with or with 0.01% T0901317 added to the diet for 10 or 20 weeks. *Plasma analyses.* Blood was collected into EDTA-coated tubes (Starstedt). Plasma was separated by centrifugation and assayed for total cholesterol (Thermo Scientific), triglycerides (Thermo Scientific). Plasma lipoprotein levels were analyzed by fast protein liquid chromatography using Superose HR6 columns followed by enzymatic assays for total cholesterol and triglycerides.

Liver cholesterol and triglycerides. Liver lipids were extracted in Folch (chloroform: methanol, 2:1, v/v) ⁵⁷². Liver samples (0.1 g) were homogenized in 4 ml of Folch. Extracts were then washed once with 1 ml of 50 mM NaCl and twice with 1 ml of 0.36M CaCl₂/methanol. The organic phase was separated and brought up to 5 ml with chloroform. Fifty microliters of each sample and ten microliters of standards were mixed with 10 mL of 50% Triton X-114 in chloroform (v/v). Samples were air dried and then subjected to colorimetric enzymatic assays for total cholesterol (Thermo Scientific) or triglycerides (Thermo Scientific).

Quantitative real-time PCR analysis. Total RNA was extracted from liver and small intestine using RNA STAT-60 (Tel-Test, Inc.). RNA was treated with DNase I and then reverse transcribed into cDNA with random hexamers using the SuperScript II First-Strand Synthesis System (Invitrogen). Primers for each gene were designed using Primer Express Software (Applied Biosystems) and were validated as previously described ⁶⁹⁹. RT-qPCR reactions contained 25 ng of cDNA, 150 nM of each primer, and 5 ml of SYBR GreenER PCR Master Mix (Invitrogen) and were carried out in triplicate using an Applied Biosystems Prism 7900HT instrument. Relative mRNA levels were calculated using the comparative C_T method normalized to cyclophilin. *Quantitation of Atherosclerosis.* Atherosclerosis, macrophage levels and collagen staining in root sections and *en face* preparations were quantitated as previously described ^{549, 569, 700}.

NMR lipoprotein measurements. $Ldlr^{-/-}/Lxr\alpha^{fl/fl}/Albumin-CRE^{-}$ and $Ldlr^{-/-}$

 $/Lxr\alpha^{fl/fl}$ /Albumin-CRE⁺ mice were fed a Western diet with or without 0.01% T0901317 as described above (n=6/group). After 10 weeks, mice were euthanized, blood was collected into EDTA coated tubes and centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 15 minutes at 4°C to prepare plasma. Lipoprotein particle concentrations and size in plasma samples were analyzed by nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy by LipoScience Inc. (Raleigh, NC)⁶⁹⁰.

Cholesterol efflux experiments. RAW264.7 cells were plated in 96 well plates $(2x10^5$ cells/well) and 24 hours later were labeled with 1µCi/ml ³H-Cholesterol (Perkin Elmer) in DMEM + 1% FBS media for 18-24 hours. Radiolabeled cells were washed with pre-warmed PBS and incubated for 6 hours with serum-free media containing 0.03% pooled plasma (n=6 animals/group) as cholesterol acceptors. Following incubation with acceptors, media was collected and radioactivity was measured by liquid scintillation counting. Cells were washed with PBS, lysed in 100 ul of 0.2 N NaOH and radioactivity in cell lysates was quantitated by liquid scintillation counting. Cholesterol efflux was expressed as percentage of counts/minute (CPM) in the medium divided by the total counts (CPM_{media}/ (CPM_{media} + CPM_{cell}). Acceptor dependent efflux was determined by subtracting the efflux of vehicle cells cultured without acceptor. Apolipoprotein AI (10 µg/ml) or HDL (15µg/ml) was included as positive controls. Data is expressed as mean ± SEM of at least 8 wells/treatment.

Macrophage RCT experiments. In vivo RCT experiments were carried out as described by Naik et al.⁵⁶¹ in *Ldlr*^{-/-}/*Lxra*^{fl/fl}/Albumin-CRE⁻ and *Ldlr*^{-/-}/*Lxra*^{fl/fl}/Albumin-CRE⁺ mice fed a Western diet with or without 0.01% T0901317 for 9 weeks. Briefly, J774.A1 cells were loaded with 25 µg/ml acetylated low-density lipoprotein and 5 µCi/ mL ³Hcholesterol for 48 hours *in vitro*. Cholesterol loaded cells were injected into the peritoneal cavity of mice (4.5 x 10⁶ cells/mouse, 3 x 10⁶ CPM, n = 6/group) which were housed individually for the duration of the experiment. Blood was collected at 6, 24, and 48 hours after injection and the ³H-choelsterol in triplicate plasma samples was determined by scintillation counting. Levels of ³H tracer in the liver, ³H-total fecal sterols, fecal ³Hchoelsterol and fecal ³H-bile acids was measured as described by Naik et al. ⁵⁶¹.

To measure gene expression in J774.A1 cells recovered from the peritoneal cavity of mice, cells were collected from the peritoneal cavity 48 hours after injection, lysed with Purzol (Biorad), extracted with chloroform and total RNA was isolated from the aqueous layer using an RNeasy kit (Qiagen). RNA was treated with DNase I and then reverse transcribed into cDNA with random hexamers using a High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription kit (Applied Biosystems). RT-qPCR reactions contained 20 ng of cDNA, 385 nM of each primer, and 8 μ l of iQ SYBR Green Supermix (Biorad) and were carried out in triplicate using a Biorad MyiQ instrument. Relative mRNA levels were calculated using the comparative C_T method normalized to cyclophilin.

Gene expression in whole blood and liver. Fresh whole blood (approximately 350 µl) was collected in heparinized capillary tubes, transferred to ependorf tubes and cells were lysed with 0.7 ml Purazol (Biorad). Following lysis, 150 ul of chloroform was added and total RNA was isolated from the aqueous layer using an RNeasy kit (Qiagen). ABCA1

mRNA levels were measured and normalized to cyclophilin as described above. Liver samples were lysed in Purazol (Biorad), extracted with chloroform and total RNA was isolated from the aqueous layer using an RNeasy kit (Qiagen). PLTP mRNA were measured and normalized to cyclophilin as described above.

Statistical analyses. Results were analyzed by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) or Student's unpaired t-test, using GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software, Inc.).

Table 4.1	Oligonucleotides	for real-time	PCR.
-----------	------------------	---------------	------

Mouse cyclophilin	5' CGATGACGAGCCCTTGG 3'
	5' TCTGCTGTCTTTGGAACTTTGTC 3'
Mouse ABCA1	5' GCTCTCAGGTGGGATGCAG 3'
	5' GGCTCGTCCAGAATGACAAC 3'
Mouse ABCG1	5' ATCTGAGGGATCTGGGTCTGA 3'
	5' CCTGATGCCACTTCCATGA 3'
Human CETP	5' GGCCAATCAAGTATGGGTTG 3'
	5' ACAGACACGTTCTGAATGGAGA 3'
Mouse ABCG8	5' TGCCCACCTTCCACATGTC 3'
	5' ATGAAGCCGGCAGTAAGGTAGA 3'
Mouse ABCG5	5' ATGAAGCCGGCAGTAAGGTAGA 3'
	5' GGCAGGTTTTCTCGATGAACTG 3'
Mouse ATF4	5' GCAGTGTTGCTGTAACGGACA 3'
	5' CGCTGTTCAGGAAGCTCATCT 3'
mXBP1 (s)	5' GAGTCCGCAGCAGGTG 3'
	5' GTGTCAGAGTCCATGGGA 3'
Mouse CHOP	5' CCACCACACCTGAAAGCAGAA 3'
	5' AGGTGAAAGGCAGGGACTCA 3'
Mouse BIP	5' TTCAGCCAATTATCAGCAAACTCT 3'
	5' TTTTCTGATGTATCCTCTTCACCAGT 3'
Mouse TNFa	5' CTGAGGTCAATCTGCCCAAGTAC 3'
	5' CTTCACAGAGCAATGACTCCAAAG 3'
Mouse IL-1β	5' GGAGAACCAAGCAACGACAAAATA 3'
	5' TGGGGAACTCTGCAGACTCAAAC 3'
Mouse CD36	5' ATGGGCTGTGATCGGAACTG 3'
	5' TTTGCCACGTCATCTGGGTTT 3'
Mouse LSR	5' CTACAACCCCTATGTGGAGTGC 3'
	5' CTGCCCTGGTAGTAGTCTCCC 3'
Mouse LRP1	5' CCACTATGGATGCCCCTAAAAC 3'
	5' GCAATCTCTTTCACCGTCACA 3'
Mouse SRB1	5' TTTGGAGTGGTAGTAAAAAGGGC 3'
	5' TGACATCAGGGACTCAGAGTAG 3'
Mouse LDLR	5' TCAGACGAACAAGGCTGTCC 3'
	5' CCATCTAGGCAATCTCGGTCTC 3'
Mouse PLTP	5' TGGGACGGTGTTGCTCAA 3'
	5' TCGATGCCCACGAGATCA 3'

Chapter 5: CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Cardiovascular disease is a leading cause of death worldwide and the morbidity and mortality from this disease is only likely to increase as rest of the world westernizes. Statins, likely the most widely prescribed drug ever developed, are the current standard of care for the treatment of cardiovascular disease. While statins are quite effective for reducing plasma LDL-C levels and subsequently lowering cardiovascular risk many patients with cardiovascular disease who are on statin therapy still go on to develop major adverse cardiac events (stroke, myocardial infarction, etc.). This high residual risk among patients signifies the importance of uncovering other complementary or alternative approaches for the treatment of cardiovascular disease.

The liver X receptors (LXRs), are key modulators of cholesterol homeostasis throughout the body and pharmacological activation of LXRs has been shown to reduce atherosclerosis in several animal models. Much effort has been undertaken to uncover the potential anti-atherogenic function of LXRs in hopes of developing novel therapeutic targets for CVD that could either complement or supplant statins. The discovery that LXRs control macrophage cholesterol efflux via direct regulation of ABCA1, ABCG1, and APOE^{570, 640} suggested a simple hypothesis for the cardio-protective effect of LXR activation based on promoting cholesterol efflux from macrophage foam cells to HDL; the first step of the RCT pathway. This hypothesis is supported by the finding that macrophage LXR activity is required for the anti-atherogenic activity of LXR agonists⁵⁴⁹. However, LXRs also modulate other key steps in the RCT pathway, namely increasing HDL-C (intestine), promoting cholesterol secretion (liver), and blocking cholesterol absorption (intestine).

The propensity of LXR agonists to increase plasma triglyceride levels through activation of LXRα in the liver presented a major challenge however for researchers interested in developing LXR-targeted therapeutics. There has been great interest, therefore, in uncovering subtype or tissue specific synthetic LXR agonists that could mitigate the negative effect of liver LXRα activation. A significant body of work has now identified the LXR subtype and tissue specific contributions to the anti-atherogenic activity of LXR agonists (see tables 1.1 and 1.2). Yet, LXR activation has pleiotropic effects and can either repress or activate various gene networks. The contribution of these various LXR-dependent pathways to atherosclerosis and the anti-atherogenic effects of agonist treatment are currently under investigation. Since early discoveries identifying a major role for LXRs in regulating macrophage cholesterol efflux and RCT the field has widely believed that these effects underlie much of the athero-protective effects of LXR agonists.

In Chapter Two I investigated the tissue specific contribution of LXR to agoniststimulated RCT. I chose this project primarily for two reasons – first, despite intriguing findings in the literature^{561, 648, 662, 701}, I felt that the contribution of LXR in the macrophage, liver and intestine to agonist-stimulated RCT had not yet been systematically addressed. Second, my studies from the JCI manuscript revealed surprisingly that agonist-stimulated macrophage efflux was impaired in *Ldlr*^{-/-}/LivKO animals. This unexpected finding led me to question the contribution of LXRs in sites other than the macrophage that may influence agonist-stimulated efflux. My goal for the project was not only to uncover the role of LXRs at various sites on mediating RCT, but also to further the understanding of the potential anti-atherogenic effects of LXR agonists in macrophages. For instance, the atheroprotective activity of LXR agonists requires macrophage LXR expression⁵⁴⁹; however, the contribution(s) of LXR-stimulated cholesterol efflux and LXR-dependent anti-inflammatory activity to this effect is unknown. If my studies revealed that macrophage efflux occurred independently of macrophage LXR expression that would provide evidence that the athero-protective function of LXR in these cells was perhaps due to its anti-inflammatory effects. In the studies reported in Chapter Two, I combined in vitro and in vivo measurements of cholesterol efflux and RCT with different LXR genetic models to address the role of LXR in the macrophage, liver, and intestine.

Role of Macrophage LXR in agonist-stimulated RCT

The first data I gathered implicated that macrophage LXR activity was neither necessary nor sufficient for LXR agonists to increase either macrophage cholesterol efflux or fecal excretion *in vivo*. In this study I showed that when macrophages from $Lxr\alpha^{-/-}/Lxr\beta^{-/-}$ (DKO) mice were introduced into C57bl6/J animals there was no impairment in agonist-stimulated RCT, at least as measured in an acute assay over a 48 hour time course. This was a somewhat surprising finding as it has been assumed that LXR agonists must act directly on the macrophage to increase macrophage cholesterol efflux. Moreover, there was no agonist-stimulated RCT when C57bl6/J macrophages were introduced into DKO mice. To convince myself that the increase in macrophage cholesterol efflux was a cell autonomous effect, I analyzed gene expression in cells re-extracted from the peritoneal cavity. These studies revealed that indeed the injected macrophages were behaving as expected - C57bl6/J macrophages responded to T0901317 treatment, increasing ABCA1 transcript levels while DKO macrophages did not. To further address the contribution of macrophage LXR to agonist-stimulated macrophage efflux I repeated the *in vivo* RCT study with vehicle and T0901317 treated C57bl/J mice injected with ³H-labeled DKO or LXR+ BMM. I then quantified ³H-cholesterol accumulation in the plasma at time points up to 90 minutes so I could more specifically capture the contribution of the macrophage genotype to agonist-stimulated efflux. Pretreatment with T0901317 significantly increased ³Hcholesterol in the plasma by 60 minutes and macrophage genotype had no effect on the response to agonist. Taken together, these studies show that LXR agonists increase macrophage cholesterol efflux and RCT independently of macrophage LXR activity.

Future Directions: LXR activation in hematopoietic cells is required for the anti-atherogenic activity of LXR agonists⁵⁴⁹; however, data from my studies suggest that this athero-protective function does not arise from macrophage LXR stimulated cholesterol efflux. In addition to increasing expression the of genes involved in cholesterol transport and metabolism, LXRs

agonists are known to have anti-inflammatory activities, primarily by suppressing NFkBdependent signaling. Inflammation is now widely recognized to be a major contributor to atherogenesis, thus the athero-protective effects of hematopoietic LXRs may reside in their ability to suppress inflammation in macrophages located in atherosclerotic lesions. A model has been proposed suggesting that LXRs repress inflammation through a SUMOylation dependent mechanism that does not require the activation of LXR target genes. Therefore, it may be possible to separate the anti-inflammatory properties of LXR agonists from their cholesterol efflux activities. Genetic and/or pharmacological approaches to address the pathway selective (anti-inflammatory vs. cholesterol efflux) contribution of macrophage LXR to the atheroprotective activity of LXR agonists will not only further the understanding of the role of LXRs in atherosclerosis but may lead to the development of novel LXR targeted therapeutics for the treatment of cardiovascular disease. A future study to address how pathway specific LXR activity limits atherosclerosis was the subject of my F30 and AHA fellowship application, which I have included as appendix 1.

Role of intestinal LXR in agonist-stimulated RCT

The finding that LXR agonists increase macrophage efflux independently of macrophage LXR activity led me to question the effect of agonists on the cholesterol acceptor activity of plasma. Previous studies have determined that LXR agonists increase HDL cholesterol by inducing ABCA1 expression in the intestine^{529, 579, 661}. Consistent with a potential role for intestinal LXR in regulating agonist-stimulated RCT, pharmacological⁶⁴⁸ or genetic approaches⁶⁶² selectively activating LXRs in the intestine increases RCT when measured using similar assays to what I used in these studies. HDL-C levels increased in T0901317 treated LXR+ mice and consequently plasma from these animals had increased cholesterol acceptor activity *in vitro*. The effect of agonist was lost however when plasma from DKO animals was used. To further address the contribution of LXR agonist to HDL functional activity, I repeated the *in vitro* efflux experiments using FPLC-purified HDL particles. Using APOA1 as a relative measure of

particle number, I discovered that LXR agonists increase the cholesterol acceptor activity of HDL from LXR+ mice. There was no effect of agonist treatment on the acceptor activity of HDL isolated from DKO animals. Together, these studies demonstrate that LXR agonist treatment not only increases HDL levels, which has been known, but can also promote HDL function, which is a novel finding. One possible explanation is that intestinal LXR activation specifically increases the production of immature nascent particles that are thought to be preferred cholesterol acceptors⁶⁶³⁻⁶⁶⁵.

Over the course of the *in vivo* RCT experiment it is likely that macrophage-derived ³Hcholesterol incorporates into cells and tissues throughout the body. Indeed, approximately 20% or less of injected ³H tracer is recovered in the plasma, liver, feces and re-extracted cells combined at the conclusion of the RCT studies. To address this, as well as the possibility that LXR agonists may increase the amount of cholesterol in plasma by promoting efflux from other sites, I quantified ³H-sterol levels in additional tissues of vehicle or T0901317 pre-treated LXR+ mice injected with ³H-labeled LXR+ macrophages. By mass the majority of ³H labeled was incorporated into skeletal muscle. Interestingly, I observed a significant agonist-dependent decrease in ³H-sterol accumulation in white adipose tissue suggesting that fat may also make an important contribution to LXR-stimulated accumulation of cholesterol in plasma and feces. Importantly, the decrease in adipose ³H-sterol levels could result from increased LXR transcriptional activity in fat cells, the improved activity of HDL or both.

Future Direction: Identify the contribution of LXR activity in the adipocyte to LXR agonist-dependent RCT and increases in HDL function.

Adipose tissue is the largest free cholesterol reservoir in the body⁷⁰² and abundantly expresses ABCA1⁷⁰³. Moreover, there is accumulating evidence that an imbalance in cholesterol levels in adipose tissue results in adipocyte dysfunction and obesity-mediated metabolic complications, including low levels of HDL cholesterol and insulin resistance⁷⁰⁴. Deletion of

ABCA1 specifically in adipocytes reduces apoA1-stimulated cholesterol efflux from fat and decreases nascent HDL particle formation⁷⁰⁵. Furthermore, there is a strong positive correlation between adipocyte cholesterol content and ABCA1 expression⁷⁰⁵ suggesting that LXR may play an important role in mediating ABCA1-dependent efflux and HDL metabolism in fat. It is possible, therefore, that an additional site of LXR dependent increases in HDL mass and function arises from activation in adipocytes; a possibility that was not explored in my studies. Moreover, the observation that LXR agonist treatment prevents high fat diet-induced obesity and insulin resistance in C57bl6/J⁷⁰⁶ mice supports the potential importance of adipocyte LXRs. The Collins laboratory published studies of an adipose LXRa knockout in which they found that these mice gained more weight and fat mass on a high-fat diet indicating that LXR α plays an important role in adipocyte lipolysis and fatty acid oxidation⁷⁰⁷. While the adipose-specific LXR α knockout and global $Lxr\alpha^{-/-}$ animals are obesity prone⁷⁰⁸, $LXR\alpha^{-/-}/LXR\beta^{-/-}$ animals have been shown to be obesity resistant^{572, 709}, suggesting that LXR β may mediate lipolysis and energy balance in adipose as well. Thus, a complete adipose double $Lxr\alpha^{-/-}/Lxr\beta^{-/-}$ knockout should be generated in order to address the contribution of LXRs in the adipose to RCT and HDL metabolism. The adipose-specific LXR α animals could be crossed into the global LXR $\beta^{-/-}$ knockout to generate adipose-specific $Lxr\alpha^{-}Lxr\beta^{-}$ animals. An alternative approach, although less favorable, would be to use the adipocyte-specific Abca1^{-/-} knockout mouse as LXR regulated cholesterol efflux and effects on HDL synthesis would likely be greatly diminished in these animals as well. Measuring LXR agonist-stimulated cholesterol efflux in vivo and in vitro in an adipocyte-specific LXRa^{-/-} $/LXR\beta^{-/-}$ knockout animal or alternatively the adipose-specific Abcal^{-/-} would address the contribution of LXR activity in the fat to RCT and HDL.

CETP inhibits LXR agonist-stimulated macrophage efflux

To test the hypothesis that agonist-dependent increases in HDL levels are responsible for stimulating macrophage efflux in T0901317 treated animals, I took advantage of the CETP transgenic model in which LXR agonists lose the ability to raise HDL-cholesterol^{598, 657}. In my

studies LXR agonist treatment increased CETP expression and plasma activity and consequently lowered HDL levels in these animals. Both *in vivo* agonist-dependent macrophage cholesterol efflux as well as the acceptor activity of FPLC-purified HDL was decreased in CETP transgenic mice. These findings supported the hypothesis that the macrophage cholesterol efflux measured in the *in vivo* RCT assay is primarily determined by the amount and functional activity of HDL. The finding that increasing CETP activity impairs HDL function is consistent with reports that inhibition of CETP activity improves the cholesterol acceptor activity of human HDL particles⁶⁶⁷.

Despite a loss of agonist-stimulated macrophage cholesterol efflux *in vivo*, I found that LXR agonist treatment still increased the fecal excretion of macrophage-derived cholesterol in the CETP transgenic mice. Using adeno-viral over expression Tanigawa et al.⁷¹⁰ also observed a similar ability of CETP expression to increase fecal cholesterol excretion without impacting macrophage efflux. Taken together, I believe that these results suggest, at least under these conditions, that macrophage cholesterol efflux is not a rate-limiting step for RCT. Combined with the finding that fecal cholesterol excretion is controlled by liver LXR α activity, these studies indicate that it is possible to functionally segregate macrophage cholesterol efflux from fecal excretion. Macrophage efflux is primarily controlled by the ability of LXRs to increase the quantity and quality of HDL while fecal excretion is controlled by LXR-dependent regulation of hepatic ABCG5 and ABCG8 levels allowing LXRs to coordinate cholesterol movement throughout the body.

The effect of diet on Liver LXRa activity

In the absence of liver LXR α expression T0901317 fails to increase the hepatic expression of genes involved in cholesterol excretion (ABCG5 and ABCG8) and bile acid synthesis (CYP7a) and consequently agonist-stimulated fecal cholesterol excretion is lost. On standard chow diet deletion of LXR α in the liver has no effect on the ability of LXR agonists to increase intestinal ABCA1 expression, raise HDL-C levels and HDL acceptor function or to promote macrophage efflux. However, when challenged with a 0.2% cholesterol diet LXR agonist-dependent macrophage cholesterol efflux is significantly impaired. Consistent with the loss of agonist-stimulated macrophage efflux, the ability of agonists to increase HDL levels and function is also significantly attenuated 0.2% cholesterol diet fed LivKO animals. From my studies I was unable to determine the reason(s) for the loss of the positive effect of agonists on HDL in LivKO mice under dietary cholesterol challenge. LXR agonist treatment still increased ABCA1 expression in the intestine of 0.2% cholesterol diet fed LivKO animals so presumably HDL levels should have similarly increased. Compared to littermate controls on the 0.2% cholesterol diet, LivKO mice had increased hepatic cholesterol levels although I did not detect any evidence for increased hepatic inflammation, endoplasmic reticulum stress or liver damage that might influence HDL formation. We and others have shown, however, that the ability of LXR agonists to increase HDL levels is lost under severe hyperlipidemic conditions such as *Ldlr*^{-/-} or *Apoe*^{-/-} mice on Western diets^{529, 548, 552, 628, 647}. Thus, the ability of LXR agonists to regulate HDL levels may in fact be influenced by the amount of dietary cholesterol present. Interestingly, *Lxra*^{-/-}/*Lxrβ*^{-/-} are resistant to high fat diet-induced obesity, however, this resistance is only observed when the high fat diet also contains cholesterol⁵⁷².

Future Directions – Identification of cholesterol sensitive signaling molecules in LivKOs

Hepatic cholesterol increases in LivKO animals fed cholesterol enriched diet compared to littermate controls. This accumulation of hepatic cholesterol may lead to the generation of a paracrine or endocrine signal that could alter lipid metabolism in other tissues thereby influencing LXR-dependent HDL metabolism. In support of the potential role of liver LXR α in regulating hepatic endocrine signaling, bile acids, in addition to their well-established roles in cholesterol homeostasis, also have systemic endocrine functions⁷¹¹. Bile acids have been shown to activate mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways⁷¹², G protein coupled receptors⁷¹³, and the farnesoid X receptor (FXR) α ⁷¹⁴. Through activation of these signaling pathways, bile acids can regulate triglyceride, cholesterol, and energy and glucose homeostasis. Thus, bile acids may be an

important modulator of lipoprotein metabolism. Bile acids are the endogenous ligands for FXR α and as such FXR α is abundantly expressed in both the liver and intestine⁷¹⁵. Importantly, several genes with a role in HDL metabolism are FXR α targets. For instance, FXR α induces human and rodent ApoC-II expression⁷¹⁶. ApoC-II is a coactivator of lipoprotein lipase and its induction lowers serum triglycerides. Activation of FXR α in mouse models has been shown to reduce ApoA1 expression and lowers HDL-C levels⁷¹⁷ whereas FXR-deficient mice are hypercholesterolemic because of an increase in HDL-C⁷¹⁸. Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) like arachidonic and linolenic acid⁷¹⁹ as well as intermediates of the bile acid synthesis pathway⁷²⁰ have been shown to be FXR ligands and modulators *in vitro* Bile acid intermediates have been proposed to be important FXR ligands during cholestasis or metabolic disorders when the compounds could potentially be in abundance.

In the absence of liver LXR α activity bile acid synthesis is greatly reduced⁵²⁹ largely due to the loss of LXR-dependent increases in CYP7a expression. CYP7a is the rate-limiting step of the bile acid biosynthetic pathway. In the absence of CYP7a activity, it is possible that additional enzymes compensate and result in an accumulation of bile acid intermediates. Thus, in the setting of increased hepatic cholesterol such as occurs in 0.2% cholesterol diet fed LivKO mice, there is could be an accumulation of bile acid intermediates that activate FXR. In addition, liver LXR α deletion could increase PUFA synthesis similar to what has been reported in NCOR deficient macrophages due to the loss of LXR repressing activity⁶¹⁴. Taken together, the potential increase in PUFAs and bile acid intermediates that occurs in 0.2% cholesterol diet fed LivKO mice that could activate FXRs and subsequently lower HDL levels and function. This possibility could be explored in future studies, perhaps by using adeno-viral delivery of siRNAs targeted to FXR and/or pharmacologically inhibiting FXR activity in 0.2% cholesterol diet fed LivKO mice. The expectation would be that inhibiting FXR would restore LXR agonist-stimulated increases in HDL mass and function in cholesterol diet fed LivKO mice.

LXR agonists enhance HDL cholesterol acceptor function

Recent clinical trials with niacin⁶³³ and CETP⁴²⁸ inhibitors have raised serious doubts about the cardio-protective effects of raising HDL cholesterol. The clinical trials together with experiments suggesting that the cholesterol acceptor activity of HDL isolated from patients can be a more accurate measurement of cardiovascular disease risk suggests that assessing HDL function may be more relevant than measurements of HDL cholesterol^{371, 381, 412}. In addition to increasing HDL cholesterol levels, my studies presented in chapters two and three provide evidence, for the first time, that LXR agonist treatment also increases the cholesterol acceptor activity of HDL particles. HDL particles are heterogeneous in size and composition making it difficult to discern the LXR-dependent modifications that improve cholesterol acceptor activity. Yet, upon initial analysis I found that LXR agonist treatment increased the HDL phospholipid levels (normalized to ApoA1). The phospholipid:ApoA1 ratio in HDL is an important determining factor in predicting macrophage efflux^{483, 484} and studies with human sera show that a the correlation between macrophage efflux and HDL phospholipid levels is stronger than with any other measured lipoprotein parameter, including HDL cholesterol, APOA1 and triglycerides⁴⁸⁵.

The ability of LXR agonists to increase the acceptor capacity of HDL particles is lost in both 0.2% cholesterol-diet challenged LivKO and hyperlipidemic $Ldlr^{-/-}$ /LivKO animals as well as in the presence of CETP expression. In the cholesterol-fed LivKO animals the loss of agoniststimulated HDL function also correlates with an inability of LXR agonist treatment to increase HDL-phospholipid levels (HDL-phospholipids weren't measured in $Ldlr^{-/-}$ /LivKO animals). Why agonist treatment fails to promote HDL-phospholipids in cholesterol-diet fed LivKO animals may be, a suggested above, due to FXR activation by bile acid intermediates or PUFA. CETP expression, however, impacts HDL function without modulating phospholipid levels suggesting that multiple components of HDL can influence particle function. Furthermore, additional studies in our lab identified changes in HDL associated peptides (data not shown) in hyperlipidemic $Ldlr^{-}$ ^{/-} /LivKO compared to floxed controls further providing evidence that LXRs can regulate HDL lipids and proteins.

<u>Future Directions: High resolution proteomic and lipidomic analysis of lipoprotein particles</u> from LivKO mice.

LXRs likely regulate multiple pathways that modulate HDL activity and future studies using detailed proteomic and lipidomic approaches could be used to further define the LXR-dependent changes in HDL composition that regulate HDL particle function. Such studies that define the LXR-agonist dependent changes in particle composition that are associated with increased particle function (cholesterol acceptor activity) would be insightful for future HDL-targeted therapeutic strategies. Proteomic and lipidomic analysis of lipoprotein particles is still in its infancy and results differ greatly depending on particle isolation procedures. The majority of studies have used ultracentrifugation to isolate HDL prior to proteomic analysis, however this method does not provide complete separation from either plasma proteins or LDL^{721, 722}. Importantly, populations of small LDL particles in particular have been shown to co-precipitate with HDL₂ particles upon ultracentrifugation⁷²². My studies described in chapter three identified a preponderance of small LDL in plasma from hyperlipidemic *Ldlr^{-/-}* /LivKO mice; therefore, any future studies examining LXR-dependent changes in HDL composition and function should employ high resolution FPLC and not ultracentrifugation.

Contribution of Liver LXRa to HDL function and Atherosclerosis

Studies presented in Chapter Three characterize the liver-specific LXR α knockout mouse, the first conditional LXR-deficient animal, which was generated by the Mangelsdorf laboratory at UT-Southwestern. Members of the Mangelsdorf lab provided the early work that demonstrated the critical role for liver LXR α in regulating hepatic cholesterol excretion and catabolism. Several studies have described a *trans*-intestinal pathway for cholesterol excretion independent of the biliary system that can be stimulated by LXR activation^{577, 685, 686}. The work from Mangelsdorf's group, however, suggests that the trans-intestinal pathway makes only a minor contribution to LXR agonist-dependent cholesterol excretion.

Synthetic LXR agonists increase plasma triglycerides and plasma HDL cholesterol, however, which sites contributed to these pharmacological responses to LXR activation were unknown^{524, 583}. Analysis of the LivKO knockout mice demonstrated that these responses occur at unique sites. LXR activation in the liver is responsible for agonist-dependent increases in plasma triglycerides while LXR activation in the intestine drives the agonist-stimulated rise in HDL cholesterol. Indeed, consistent with the idea that intestinal LXR activity is primarily responsible for elevating HDL cholesterol, Brunham et al⁵⁷⁹ showed that expression of ABCA1 in the intestine is required for LXR agonist-dependent HDL cholesterol increases, while Lo Sasso et al. demonstrated that transgenic overexpression of a constitutively active LXRα in the intestine increases HDL⁶⁶².

Treatment with LXR agonists is athero-protective in mouse models, however, in these hyperlipidemic settings LXR agonists have little or no effect on HDL cholesterol levels, and this has led to the conclusion that the anti-atherogenic activity originates from increased macrophage cholesterol efflux and/or other LXR regulated pathways in immune cells in atherosclerotic plaques^{548, 549, 628}. Yet, the anti-atherogenic activity of LXRs is not solely derived from activation in immune cells. While selective deletion of LXR α in hematopoietic cells increased atherosclerosis ($Ldlr^{-\prime}$ background), the effect was not as great as measured in the $Ldlr^{-\prime}$ /Lxr $\alpha^{-\prime}$ global knockout mice^{549, 569, 628}. Therefore, following the initial characterization of the LivKO animals performed by Mangelsdorf's group, we generated $Ldlr^{-\prime}$ /LivKO animals in order to address to the role of liver LXR in atherosclerosis. Deletion of LXR α in hepatocytes increases Western diet induced atherosclerosis, indicating that the liver is a critical site of LXR α -dependent athero-protective activity.

Noting striking differences in the plasma lipid levels between Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO mice and Ldlr^{-/-}/floxed controls, I analyzed the lipoprotein profiles of these mice looking for any change in

particle number or composition that might influence the increased atherogenicity of the Ldlr^{-/-} /LivKO mice. My analysis suggested that hepatic LXR α modulates lipoprotein particle number, size, and function in a manner that influences atherosclerosis. As I describe in the studies presented in Chapter Three, there is impairment in HDL cholesterol acceptor function in hyperlipidemic Ldlr^{-/}/LivKO mice. Impaired HDL function in these animals correlated with a decrease in total HDL particle number that was largely the result of a decrease in small HDL (diameter < 8.2 nm). Furthermore, while $Ldlr^{-/-}$ /floxed and $Ldlr^{-/-}$ /LivKO animals had similar numbers of LDL particles, there was a dramatic shift in particle size with almost 50% of the Ldlr⁻ $\frac{1}{2}$ /LivKO particles being small LDL (diameter < 21 nm). As discussed in Chapter One, small LDL particles are believed to have increased atherogenic properties and promote macrophage foam cell formation. Yet I did not detect a difference in cholesterol accumulation when bone marrow-derived macrophages were cultured in vitro in the presence of plasma or FPLC-purified apoB-containing lipoproteins from Ldlr^{-/}/floxed or Ldlr^{-/}/LivKO animals. Furthermore, I did not detect any differences in either the oxidative properties or inflammatory state of plasma or FPLCpurified apoB-containing lipoproteins from Ldlr^{-/-}/floxed or Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO animals. Thus, preliminary analysis of apoB-containing lipoproteins from Ldlr^{-/}/LivKO animals suggests that despite the change in size there is no increase in atherogenicity of these particles. More detailed studies, however, including lipidomic and proteomic analysis of Ldlr^{-/}/LivKO LDL and HDL particles, similar to the proposal outlined above, would provide valuable insight and address such questions as the contribution of different pathways to atherogenesis (i.e. HDL function vs. LDL atherogenicity) as well as the role of hepatic LXR α in atherosclerosis.

Despite the increase in atherosclerosis in *Ldlr*^{-/-}/LivKO animals, agonist treatment still effectively reduces disease, indicating that the anti-atherogenic activity of LXR agonists is extrahepatic. My *in vivo* RCT analysis in *Ldlr*^{-/-}/LivKO mice indicates that fecal cholesterol excretion is not required for the protective action of agonists. Intriguingly, I discovered that agoniststimulated macrophage efflux also appeared to be blocked in *Ldlr*^{-/-}/LivKO thereby suggesting that macrophage efflux was also was not required for the cardio-protective effects of LXR agonsits. This observation led to the studies presented in Chapter two as well as the hypothesis that an additional LXR regulate pathway in immune cells is responsible for the anti-atherogenic activity of agonists. A number of additional functions for LXRs in immune cells have been identified, including the ability to control inflammation⁶⁴⁰, endoplasmic reticulum stress⁶⁹⁵, macrophage egress⁵⁵⁶, and monocyte proliferation^{697, 698}. Any one or a combination of these activities could be responsible for providing athero-protection in response to macrophage LXR activation by agonists. I believe a major path forward from my body of work would be the identification of such a pathway(s) in macrophages that are responsible for the athero-protective activity of LXR agonists. This future direction is described in detail in the following chapter.

In conclusion, the novel findings from this body of work include:

- Macrophage LXR activity is neither necessary nor sufficient to promote agonist stimulated RCT.
- Liver LXRα regulates LXR-dependent lipogenesis, biliary cholesterol excretion and fecal cholesterol loss.
- LXR-dependent increases in HDL-cholesterol originate from LXR regulation of ABCA1 in the intestine.
- 4. Agonist-dependent increases in HDL levels and cholesterol acceptor activity drives agonist-stimulated macrophage cholesterol efflux *in vitro* and *in vivo*.
- 5. In the presence of CETP, the ability of LXR agonists to increase HDL quantity and quality is lost and consequently agonist-stimulated macrophage efflux is impaired.
- 6. On a chow diet, there is no effect of liver LXRα deletion on HDL function and macrophage cholesterol efflux *in vivo*; however, the presence of dietary cholesterol impairs agonist-stimulated increases in HDL quality and quantity and macrophage efflux in liver-specific LXRα deficient mice.

- There is a change in lipoprotein particle number and size in Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO animals reflecting a preponderance of small LDL and reduction in small HDL.
- 8. Loss of hepatic LXRα activity increases atherosclerosis.
- The atheroprotective function of LXR agonists is independent of hepatic LXRα activity and does not require an increase in fecal cholesterol excretion; furthermore, the protective function of LXR agonist may even be independent of increased macrophage cholesterol efflux.

APPENDIX 1: Pathway specific LXR activity limits atherosclerosis

What lies herein is a version of a grant application submitted in late 2012 for consideration for a F30 fellowship from the NIHLBI. This proposal received an impact score of 20 however was unfunded. I believe that this proposal presents a relevant path forward in continuation of the novel findings that have arisen from my body of work. In the time since this proposal was submitted, however, an alternative mechanism for LXR anti-inflammatory activities has been published which complicates my proposed project below. I have address this new data and presented an additional method to study the contribution of macrophage LXR anti-inflammatory activity to the athero-protective function of LXR agonists at the conclusion of this chapter.

1. SPECIFIC AIMS

Atherosclerosis, one of the greatest health concerns of the western world, is a disease marked by chronic inflammation and disordered lipid metabolism. The Liver X Receptors, LXR α (NR1H3) and LXR β (NR1H2) are ligand activated transcription factors that control cholesterol homeostasis and suppress inflammation throughout the body. Treatment with LXR agonists has been shown to reduce atherosclerosis in animal models, an effect dependent on macrophage LXR expression. A major limitation to the development of LXR ligands for the treatment of cardiovascular disease, however, is their propensity to increase plasma triglycerides by inducing sterol regulatory element binding protein 1c (SREBP1c) mediated hepatic lipogenesis.

LXR activation increases the expression of genes regulating reverse cholesterol transport (RCT), the movement of cholesterol from the periphery through the liver ultimately promoting increased fecal cholesterol excretion. LXR regulates RCT through transactivation (Figure 5.1A), or the agonist dependent recruitment of co-activator proteins to the promoter of target genes. Recent studies also have identified an important role for LXR in suppressing inflammatory genes such as interleukin β (IL-1 β), Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase (iNOS), and Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP-1), which all contribute to atherogenesis (Figure 6.1B). Agonist binding promotes a conformational change in LXR allowing receptor SUMOylation. SUMOylated LXR is recognized and bound by corepressor complexes at the promoter region of NFkB pro-inflammatory genes. Upon inflammatory stimulus – e.g. LPS or oxidized LDL – SUMOylated LXR prevents corepressor dissociation thereby maintaining active gene repression. LXR agonists that have demonstrated the atheroprotective activity of LXRs are not pathway selective, therefore, it is unclear whether LXR transactivation of metabolic/RCT genes (Figure 5.1) or LXR transrepression (Figure 1B) of inflammatory signaling, or a combination of both is responsible for the beneficial effects of synthetic agonists.

We have recently shown that the athero-protective activity of LXR agonists is independent of promoting RCT and, furthermore, increased macrophage cholesterol efflux may not even be required. However, LXR expression is necessary in the hematopoietic compartment for the beneficial effect of agonists. Therefore, we hypothesize that transrepression by LXR of inflammatory signaling in the macrophage is responsible for the anti-atherogenic effect of synthetic LXR agonists. First generation LXR agonists have failed in the clinic because of their propensity to increase plasma triglycerides due to LXR transactivation in the liver. However, if transrepression is responsible for the beneficial activity of LXRs, a 2nd generation of pathway selective LXR agonists could be developed that would circumvent the negative side effects associated with 1st generation agents. **The main goal of this proposal is to determine the contribution of anti-inflammatory LXR activity to the athero-protective effect of LXR agonists**.

SPECIFIC AIM 1: Identify and characterize LXR mutants that dissociate LXR transactivation and transrepression pathways. It has recently been suggested that the transrepression of inflammatory signals by LXR agonists is SUMOylation dependent, and LXR SUMOylation defective mutants inhibit LXR transrepression, however, have little to no effect on transactivation. In Aim 1 we will use site directed mutagenesis to identify LXR mutants that dissociate LXR transactivation from LXR transrepression, and these mutants will be characterized in mouse primary macrophages.

SPECIFIC AIM 2: Determine the contribution of anti-inflammatory LXR activity to the athero-protective effect of LXR agonists. LXR agonists are athero-protective in the absence of RCT, thereby suggesting that the beneficial effect of agonists may be due to the anti-inflammatory properties of LXR in macrophages. LDLR^{-/-}mice will be irradiated and reconstituted with bone marrow from transgenic mice that express pathway selective LXR mutants – i.e. promote macrophage cholesterol efflux or prevent inflammatory signaling. Recipient *Ldlr*^{-/-} mice will be fed a western diet in the absence or presence of LXR ligand and at the end of the study the extent of atherosclerosis will be quantified. This study will provide fundamental knowledge concerning the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis (e.g. inflammation vs. cholesterol accumulation) thereby identifying the important mechanism to target for the treatment of cardiovascular disease.

2. BACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE

Atherosclerosis

Critical to the development of atherosclerosis is the unregulated accumulation of oxidized cholesterol by macrophages in the blood vessel wall and the associated inflammatory response that leads to foam cell formation⁷²³. The role for increased plasma lipids and inflammation in the initiation and progression of atherosclerosis is now well appreciated⁷²³⁻⁷²⁵. Despite the efficacy of current therapy for lowering plasma lipids, the residual risk for developing complications from cardiovascular disease remains at ~75% in these patients⁷²⁶; thus alternative therapies, such as promoting the removal of cholesterol from the macrophage or limiting the inflammatory response are being explored⁷²⁷.

LXRs and Macrophage Reverse Cholesterol Transport

The LXR sub-group of the nuclear hormone receptor superfamily is comprised of two subtypes, LXR α and LXR β^{512} . The two subtypes have considerable sequence homology; however, they differ in tissue expression. LXR α is more highly expressed in the liver, kidney, intestine and macrophages. In contrast, LXR β is more ubiquitously expressed⁵¹⁶. Both LXRs bind to DNA and regulate transcription as heterodimers with retinoid X receptors (RXRs)⁵¹⁸. The link between LXRs and lipid metabolism came from the identification of cholesterol derivatives including 22(R)-hydroxycholesterol, 24(S)-hydroxycholesterol, and 24(S),25-hydroxycholesterol as agonists that directly bind to both LXRs and increase their transcriptional activity by promoting the release of trans-acting corepressor and interactions with trans-acting coactivators^{520, 548, 728-730}.

Gene expression analysis of mice treated with synthetic LXR agonists identified the ATP binding cassette transporter ABCA1 as a direct LXR target gene^{731, 732}. ABCA1 is required for the process of reverse cholesterol transport (RCT), the mechanism by which peripheral cells efflux internal cholesterol to HDL particles^{380, 733}. Loss of functional ABCA1 results in Tangier disease, a condition in which patients have low levels of circulating HDL and an increased risk for developing atherosclerosis. Fibroblasts from patients with Tangier disease are unable to efflux cholesterol, suggesting that low HDL levels and increased risk of atherosclerosis results from loss of reverse cholesterol transport³⁷⁶⁻³⁷⁸. As described above, accumulation of oxidized cholesterol by macrophages in the arterial wall is an initiating step in the development of atherosclerotic lesions. Not surprisingly, transfer of ABCA1 deficient macrophages into hyperlipidemic mice results in increased levels of atherosclerosis⁷³⁴.

Treatment of primary macrophages with LXR agonists results in induction of the ABCA1 gene, increased ABCA1 protein and an increase in cholesterol efflux⁷³². Importantly, binding sites for LXR-RXR heterodimers have been identified in the promoter of the ABCA1⁷³² gene and in the control regions of other genes encoding additional proteins involved in reverse cholesterol transport, such as ABCG1⁷³⁵; thus, activation of LXR promotes a mobilization of cellular cholesterol from peripheral macrophages and other cells to HDL⁵⁶².

Regulation of Hepatic Lipid Metabolism by LXR

LXR α single knockout mice accumulate large amounts of cholesterol in the liver when challenged with a high cholesterol diet. Molecular analysis uncovered aberrant regulation of CYP7a, which encodes cholesterol 7 α hydroxylase, the rate-limiting enzyme in the conversion of cholesterol to bile acids^{520, 541}. Additionally, the ATP binding cassette transporters ABCG5 and ABCG8 which excrete cholesterol out of the liver into the intestine were identified as LXR target genes⁶⁴⁶. Therefore in the liver LXRs control the catabolism of cholesterol to bile acids and the excretion of cholesterol into the intestine. Combined with the effects on reverse cholesterol transport in peripheral cells, activation of LXR results in the mobilization of cholesterol from the periphery and elimination from the body via catabolism and excretion. LXRs, therefore, monitor overall cholesterol balance by controlling the initial steps of RCT (transfer to HDL) in peripheral cells and the final steps of RCT (catabolism and excretion) in the liver^{541, 561}.

Along with effects on cholesterol homeostasis, LXRs regulate expression of genes involved in fatty acid metabolism including the master transcriptional regulator of fatty acid synthesis SREBP1c^{583, 584}, fatty acid synthase (FAS)⁵²⁴, and stearoyl CoA desaturase (SCD-1)⁵²⁴. The up-regulation of fatty acid synthesis is suggested to provide lipids for the storage of cholesterol as cholesterol esters. Indeed, treatment of mice with synthetic LXR ligands results in an increase in plasma triglycerides^{529, 552, 736}.

Anti-Inflammatory Activity of LXR

In addition to stimulating reverse cholesterol transport, studies in macrophages indicate that LXRs can inhibit the expression of several pro-inflammatory genes including iNOS, COX-2, and MMP-9⁶⁰³. Additionally, LXR agonists are effective in a mouse model of contact dermatits⁶⁷¹. Molecular analysis indicates that activation of LXR decreases the transcriptional activity of NFκB⁷³⁷. Since inflammation plays an important role in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis the questions remains whether LXR mediates its anti-atherogenic activity via control of reverse cholesterol transport, by limiting the inflammatory response, or both. A pathway involving agonist-dependent SUMOylation of LXR appears necessary for the repression of inflammatory gene expression^{1, 613}. Importantly, transcriptional repression by LXRs is mechanistically distinct from the positive activation of genes involved in RCT; thus suggesting that these two LXR activities can be dissociated. Indeed, GW9772, a synthetic LXR ligand, has been reported to dissociate LXR activity in vitro; however, the poor bioavailability of GW9772 has prevented it from being tested *in vivo*⁶²⁸.

3. PRELIMINARY DATA

RCT is inhibited in the absence of liver LXRa activity.

To examine the contribution of hepatic LXR activity to the RCT pathway we crossed liver-specific LXR α knockout (LXR $\alpha^{floxed/floxed}$ + albumin-CRE⁺) into the Ldlr^{-/-} background to create Ldlr^{-/-}/Lxra^{-/-} double knockout mice (referred to as Ldlr^{-/-}/LivKO). Importantly LXRa is the major LXR subtype expressed in the liver⁵¹². RCT was measured in vivo using the assay developed by Rader and colleagues⁵⁶¹. Briefly, mouse J774 macrophages were loaded with ³Hcholesterol and acetylated LDL *in vitro* and then injected into the peritoneal cavity of Ldlr^{-/} /LivKO and albumin-CRE negative littermate controls (referred to as Ldlr^{-/-}/Floxed) that had been on western diet for 9 weeks in the absence or presence of the LXR agonist T0901317. The amount of ³H tracer appearing in the plasma, liver and feces was determined 48 hours later. As expected, agonist-stimulated fecal cholesterol excretion was lost in the absence of liver LXR α^{529} . Somewhat more surprising, however, was the finding that the appearance of 3 H tracer in the plasma was significantly reduced and unresponsive to LXR agonists (Figure 3.8). The ability of LXR agonists to increase the appearance of macrophage-derived 3 H-cholesterol in the plasma is thought to result from agonists acting on macrophage LXRs to enhance ABCA1 dependent cholesterol efflux⁵⁶². To determine if the decrease in plasma ³H-cholesterol levels observed in $Ldlr^{-/}$ /LivKO animals resulted from impaired LXR transcriptional activity in macrophages, we recovered the J774 cells from the peritoneal cavity 48 hours following injection and quantitated ABCA1 mRNA levels. Agonist treatment produced a similar increase in ABCA1 mRNA in cells recovered from either $Ldlr^{-/-}$ /Floxed or $Ldlr^{-/-}$ /LivKO animals⁵²⁹. The gene expression analysis suggests that the failure of LXR agonist to increase the appearance of macrophage-derived 3 Hcholesterol in the plasma of $Ldlr^{-/}/LivKO$ mice does not arise from a defect in macrophage LXR activity. Additional studies suggest that the production of defective HDL particles in the LivKO may account for this defect in macrophage cholesterol efflux⁵²⁹.

LXR agonist maintains anti-atherogenic activity independent of Liver LXR expression

Liver-specific knockout of LXR α in the *Ldlr*^{-/-} background significantly increases atherosclerosis (Figure 3.6), however, treatment with T0901317 is still able to significantly reduce atherosclerosis in the Ldlr^{-/}/LivKO animals (Figure 3.6). Importantly, the magnitude of agonist-dependent reduction of atherosclerosis lesion size was similar to that observed in the control mice (Figure 3.6). These findings suggest that LXR agonists can reduce atherosclerosis independent of promoting RCT. Since previous studies from our lab suggest that hematopoietic LXR α activity is required for the anti-atherogenic activity of LXR agonists⁵⁴⁹ (note that LXR α is restricted to the myeloid lineage in hematopoietic cells⁵¹²), we hypothesize that an alternative LXR regulated pathway is responsible for mediating the beneficial effects of LXR agonists in macrophages. One alternative pathway that may contribute significantly to the anti-atherogenic activity of LXR agonists is the inhibition of inflammatory signaling. As mentioned previously, the anti-inflammatory activity of LXRs is mediated by a process quite distinct from LXR regulated cholesterol efflux (Figure 1); however, current LXR agonists with therapeutic efficacy are not pathway-selective. Therefore, I proposed using LXR pathway selective mutants to determine the relative contribution of LXR stimulated RCT and the LXR dependent inhibition of inflammatory activity to the beneficial activity of agonists in macrophages.

4. RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODS AIM 1: Dissociate LXR activity

1.1 Identification of pathway selective LXR mutants

RATIONALE: Preliminary work in our lab suggests that synthetic LXR agonists can maintain anti-atherogenic activity without promoting RCT⁵²⁹ and that macrophages are a critical site for LXR athero-protective activity⁵⁴⁹. In the macrophage, LXR promotes cholesterol efflux and inhibits inflammation through two independent, ligand-dependent mechanisms (Figure 1). However, the relative contribution of LXR pathway specific activity (i.e. activation vs. repression) has yet to be determined. Towards this goal, we will identify and characterize pathway selective LXR mutants in macrophages.

EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN:

Ligand binding to LXRs initiates a conformational change in the receptor which promotes the exchange of trans-acting co-repressors for co-activators and the subsequent increase in transcriptional activity. This process is termed transactivation and, importantly, is also dependent on LXR-DNA interactions (Figure 6.1A). Conversely, ligand binding also promotes conjugation of LXR with SUMO2/3 by the SUMO-conjugating enzyme (UBC9) in a Histone Deactelyase 4 (HDAC4) dependent manner. SUMOvlated LXRs recognize trans-repressing complexes at the promoter region of inflammatory genes and inhibits the release of the complexes that usually occur upon NFkB binding (Figure 6.1B). This process by which LXR actively represses inflammation in the presence of inflammatory signaling is called transrepression. Using site directed mutagenesis, we will make the mutations listed in Table 6.1 in order to dissociate LXR activity. Lysine to arginine mutations at LXR β at residues 410 and 448, and in human LXRα at residues 328 and 434 abolish receptor sumoylation and accordingly block LXR agonist dependent transrepression without having an effect on LXR transactivation¹. These findings were recently validated for LXR β 410/448 in human and mouse hepatocytes⁶¹³. Interaction between sumoylated LXR and Coronin2A, a subunit of the co-repressor complex, is required for agonist dependent transrepression in macrophages⁶¹¹; thus, we will also generate a LXRB S427D mutant that has been shown to be unable to interact with Coronin2A and promote transrepression⁶¹¹.

The interaction between LXR and coactivator proteins that mediate transactivation has been well characterized^{545, 738}. The conformational change that occurs following ligand binding stabilizes helix 12, which is a highly dynamic aliphatic alpha helix located in the C-terminal domain of LXR. A hypdrophobic cleft is created upon stabilization of helix 12 that allows coactivator proteins to bind, thereby promoting the induction of LXR target genes⁶⁸⁰. LXRs contain N-terminal zinc fingers regions that mediate receptor binding to LXR response elements (LXREs)⁷³⁹. Binding of receptor to LXREs upstream of target genes is required for transactivation but not for transrepression^{1, 613, 730}. Helix 12 and zinc finger mutants are described in Table 1. Based on the crystal structures of the LXR receptors, these transactivation defective mutants (Table 1) should disrupt interaction with coactivator proteins or DNA but should not influence ligand binding or overall protein structure^{512, 680}. Indeed, we have preliminary data that the LXR α helix 12 and DBD mutants are transactivation defective (Figure 2B and data not shown). The LXR β mutants are currently being examined.

To measure agonist-dependent transrepression, the mutants described above will be cotransfected into Hela cells with a luciferase reporter gene containing 3 upstream copies of the NFkB-binding sites from the human IL-8 promoter. Transfected cells will be cultured in the absence or presence of LXR ligand overnight and the following day TNF α or vehicle will be added in the continued presence of LXR ligand to induce NFkB signaling. Six hours after the addition of TNF α , cells will be lysed and luciferase activity quantified. Vehicle treated cells transfected with NFkB-reporter alone and ligand-treated cells transfected with WT LXR will serve as negative and positive control respectively (Figure 6.2A). To measure agonist-dependent transactivation the mutants described above will be cotransfected into Hela cells with a luciferase reporter gene containing 3 upstream LXREs. Transfected cells will be cultured in the absence or presence of LXR ligand for 24 hrs, cells lysed, and luciferase activity measured (Figure 2). Vehicle treated cells transfected with LXRE reporter alone and ligand treated cells transfected with WT LXR will serve as negative and positive controls, respectively. Data for both assays (transrepression and transactivation) will be analyzed by 1-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-test to determine statistically significant differences among groups.

Mutants that fail to inhibit LPS induced activity but maintain levels of agonist-stimulated gene expression comparable to WT LXR will be considered to be transactivation selective. Similarly, mutants that fail to activate gene transcription but inhibit LPS induced activity comparable to WT LXR following ligand treatment will be considered to be transrepression selective.

EXPECTED RESULT: We expect that mutating the sumoylated lysine residues in the ligandbinding domain of the LXRs will disrupt agonist dependent transrepression without impacting transactivation. Furthermore, we anticipate that our helix 12 and zinc finger mutants dissociate either coactivator or DNA binding without effecting sumoylation thereby generating transrepression selective mutants. A single representative of each class of mutant (transactivation defective mutant and transrepression defective mutant), regardless of subtype, that demonstrates pathway selectivity will be used in the studies proposed in experiment 1.2.

POTENTIAL PROBLEMS AND ALTERNATIVE APPROACHES: Three other additional sites of sumoylation have recently been reported for $LXR\beta - K30$, K395 and K433. If the SUMO mutants described above fail to behave as expected we will examine the activity of these additional SUMO mutants. Since sumo modification is required for LXR transrepression^{1, 613}, we believe that one or a combination of these additional sumoylation mutations will disrupt LXR transrepression.

Preliminary data in our lab indicate that LXR Helix 12 and zinc finger mutants fail to activate gene transcription upon LXR ligand treatment (see Figure 2 and data not shown). As described above, we do not expect these mutations to disrupt ligand binding or overall protein structure. LXR sumoylation and consequent ligand dependent transrepression, therefore, should be maintained. It is possible, however, that mutations to helix 12 or the zinc fingers could influence LXR sumoylation, thereby also disrupting LXR transrepression. Based on the finding that the activities of the glucocorticoid receptor could be dissociated by single point mutations⁷⁴⁰, we believe that we can dissociate LXR transactivation and transrepression. If our mutants do not behave as expected we will carry out random mutagenesis of the LXR receptors and use our *in vitro* assays which can be run in high throughput form to identify mutants that dissociate the two activities.

1.2 Characterization of pathway selective LXR mutants in LXRα^{-/-}β^{-/-} macrophages

EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN:

<u>Viral Production</u>: Pathway selective LXR mutants identified in AIM 1 will be cloned into lentiviral vectors that co-express GFP. Expression of the mutant LXRs will be under the control of the EF1alpha promoter which expresses well in hematopoietic cells. Empty vector and a vector expressing WT LXR will serve as negative and positive controls, respectively. **<u>BMDM Infection</u>**: Bone marrow will be isolated from the femures of LXRa^{-/-}β^{-/-} (DKO) mice and differentiated into macrophages in tissue culture using Monocyte Colony Stimulating Factor conditioned media (M-CSF). Differentiated macrophages will be infected with lentiviral constructs harboring LXR mutants and proper functional analysis will be undertaken. Namely, mRNA and protein levels of LXR mutants will be measured to insure that infected cells have similar expression levels. Additionally, infected macrophages will be examined for their ability

to activate LXR target genes expression in response to ligand treatment and for their ability to repress inflammatory signaling in response to LXR agonist treatment and LPS stimulation. DKO BMDM infected with empty vector alone and WT LXR will serve as negative and positive controls, respectively. All data will be analyzed by 1-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's posttest.

EXPECTED RESULT: We anticipate that the transactivation and transrepression activity of LXR mutants observed *in vitro* will be recapitulated in primary DKO macrophages infected with lentiviral vectors; thereby identifying LXR mutants that have pathway selective activity *in vivo*.

POTENTIAL PROBLEMS, ALTERNATIVE APPROACHES AND FUTURE DIRECTION:

An alternative approach that we will pursue in parallel is to generate LXR pathway selective transgenic mice in the DKO background. In brief, we will provide the University of Virginia Gene Targeting and Transgenic Facility (GTTF) with DNA constructs containing either LXR mutant or WT LXR (positive control). Following generation of the transgenic lines proper functional analysis will be undertaken as outlined above. The GTTF has prior success generating transgenics in knockout mice on the same background as our DKO mice (C57bl6/J); therefore, we believe this is a reasonable approach.

AIM 2: Determine the relative contribution of LXR regulated pathways to atherosclerosis

RATIONALE: Our data suggests that synthetic LXR agonists do not require RCT⁵²⁹; however, LXR expression in immune cells is necessary for their anti-atherogenic activity⁵⁴⁹. Therefore, we hypothesize that the anti-inflammatory properties of LXRs in macrophages are responsible for the anti-atherogenic activity of LXR agonists. To test this hypothesis, we will infect DKO hematopoietic stem cells with pathway selective LXR mutants and then transplant infected cells into irradiated $Ldlr^{-/-}$ recipient mice in an atherosclerosis study.

EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN:

<u>Hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) isolation and viral infection</u>: Bone marrow cells from DKO mice enriched in hematopoietic reconstitution activity based on their capacity to exclude the vital dye Hoechst (termed side population, or "SP" cells) will be isolated using fluorescence-activated cell sorting after Hoechst staining⁷⁴¹. DKO SP cells will be incubated with lentivirus containing LXR mutants in serum-free media containing polybrene and minimal cytokine stimulation (Stem Cell Factor, SCF, and Thrombopoietin, TPO) for 24 hrs. Infected cells will be isolated by FACS sorting for GFP expression.

Bone marrow transplantation and atherosclerosis study: Infected DKO SP cells expressing LXR mutants will be used to reconstitute irradiated $Ldlr^{-/-}$ mice in an atherosclerosis study following our published procedures^{529, 549}. Our proposed atherosclerosis study will require a total of 90 $Ldlr^{-/-}$ recipient mice and 30 DKO mice to serve as bone marrow donors. There will be 15 animals per group as outlined in Table 2. DKO SP cells will be isolated and infected with lentiviral vectors containing mutant LXRs as described above. Four hours after lethal irradiation $Ldlr^{-/-}$ recipient mice will be injected via tail vein with ~500 transduced SP cells. This number of SP cells can efficiently reconstitute the hematopoietic system with ~90% of cells expressing the transgene and the transgene expression was shown to last for at least 8 months⁷⁴². Following a recovery period of 4 weeks, $Ldlr^{-/-}$ recipients will be bled and LXR mRNA levels will be quantified by RT-PCR of RNA isolated from whole blood. Following confirmation of LXR expression, animals will be switched from standard chow diet to a western diet (21% fat, 0.15% cholesterol) containing vehicle or 0.01% T0901317 and fed *ad libitum*. Mice will be maintained on this diet for 10 weeks, and every 2 weeks animals will be bled to measure plasma lipid levels and mRNA levels of LXR target genes in RNA isolated from whole blood. Inflammation will be

measured using Elisa assays to quantify the amount of TNF α and IL-1 β in the plasma. At the conclusion of the study atherosclerosis will be quantitated using our published procedures^{529, 549}. Agonist treated mice reconstituted with pathway selective LXRs will be compared to agonist treated mice reconstituted with WT LXR to determine the contribution of LXR transactivation and LXR transrepression to the anti-atherogenic activity of agonist. All data will be analyzed by one way ANOVA followed by Dunett's post-test.

EXPECTED RESULT: We expect LXR agonist treatment will reduce atherosclerosis in $Ldlr^{-/-}$ mice receiving wildtype LXR bone marrow, as we have previously shown⁵⁴⁹. Because our recent data⁵²⁹ indicates that LXR agonist reduces atherosclerosis in the absence of increased RCT, we anticipate that treatment with LXR agonist will reduce atherosclerosis in $Ldlr^{-/-}$ animals reconstituted with LXR transrepression selective marrow. On the other hand we expect agonist will have little to no effect in $Ldlr^{-/-}$ animals reconstituted with LXR transactivation selective marrow.

POTENTIAL PROBLEMS, ALTERNATIVE APPROACHES AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

If we cannot achieve sufficient levels of hematopoietic reconstitution using lentiviral infection of DKO we will proceed with the atherosclerosis study once the transgenic animals are in hand. It is possible that transactivation by LXR is in fact required for the anti-atherogenic activity of LXR agonists. LXR transactivates several other pathways that have been proposed to have anti-atherogenic activity in the macrophage, such as macrophage egression⁵⁵⁶ and the repression of endoplasmic reticulum stress⁶⁹⁵. Furthermore, as discussed in the preliminary data section, the failure to observe agonist-dependent increases in ³H cholesterol in the plasma of LivKO mice during the *in vivo* RCT experiment (Figure 3.8A) could result from impairments to the RCT pathway that occur after macrophage efflux. Thus, if our study demonstrates that LXR transactivation and not transrepression is required for the anti-atherogenic activity of agonist we will begin to probe these additional LXR regulated pathways. Nevertheless, having the LXR pathway selective transgenic animals will allow us and other to probe the tissue-specific contribution of LXR selective pathways to atherosclerosis as well as other inflammatory and metabolic disorders.

ADDENDUM

In the time since this project proposal was written the Glass lab^{614} in collaboration with Olefsky et al. put forth an alternative mechanism to describe the LXR agonist dependent repression of NF κ B pro-inflammatory gene expression. Glass and collaborators report in this study that the macrophage-specific deletion of NCoR paradoxically results in an anti-inflammatory phenotype in obese mice. This effect was attributed to the derepression of LXRs resulting in increased expression of genes directing the biosynthesis of ω 3 fatty acids. The increased ω 3 fatty acid levels were found to inhibit NF κ B dependent inflammatory signaling by uncoupling NF κ B binding and the enhancer/promoter histone acetylation required for gene activation (Figure 1.6, adopted from Li et al.⁶¹⁴)

It is possible that LXR agonist-dependent transrepression represents an acute mechanism by which LXRs repress NF κ B pro-inflammatory networks, whereas NF κ B repression by LXR stimulated increases in ω 3 fatty acid levels is more of a delayed long-acting response. Both LXR mediated pathways could contribute to the anti-inflammatory activity of LXR agonists in macrophages. In light of these recent findings, there is a possibility that the LXR transrepression defective mutants described above still maintain LXR-agonist dependent anti-inflammatory activity through this novel ω 3 mediated NF κ B

repression pathway. <u>To address this possibility I present the following alternative</u> <u>approach:</u>

Chip-Seq analysis of NCoR deficient macrophages revealed significantly lower levels of TLR4 dependent H3K4me2 deposition at hyporesponsive genes, a pattern that was observed for all NFkB regulated genes reduced in response to LXR-stimulated $\omega 3$ levels. H3K4me2 is a histone post-translational modification enriched in cis-regulatory regions, particularly promoters, of transcriptionally active genes⁷⁴³. Post-translational modifications of histone tails, especially acetylation and methylation on lysine residues, play a pivotal role in regulating gene expression by controlling the accessibility of chromatin to key regulatory factors. Methylation of H3K4 is associate with open chromatin and transcriptional activation⁷⁴⁴. For lysine residues that are subject to both acetylation and methylation, acetylation can block subsequent methylation, and vice versa, as a result of mutual exclusivity. Recent evidence, moreover, suggests a link between H3 hyperacetylation and increased H3K4 methylation. Indeed, treatment in vitro and *in vivo* with various inhibitors of histone deacetylase (HDAC) has been reported to increase levels of H3K4me2. Histone methylation is a reversible process that is regulated by a dynamic balance between histone methyltransferase and histone demethylase activities⁷⁴⁵ and HDAC inhibitors increase H3K4me2 levels by repressing demethylase activity. Thus, another way to address the role of LXR anti-inflammatory activity could be through the use of HDAC inhibitors. If any LXR transrepression defective mutants are found to maintain anti-inflammatory effects in the proposed athero study, it will be presumably through the ability of these mutants to still increase $\omega 3$ fatty acid synthesis. The concurrent administration of HDAC inhibitors then could increase H3K4me2 levels thereby eliminating the protective effects of LXR-stimulated ω 3 levels. Additionally, inhibitors of fatty acid synthesis could similarly be employed to eliminate LXRstimulated ω 3 levels. Thus, if *Ldlr*^{-/-} mice transplanted with LXR transrepression defective bone marrow are found to maintain LXR agonist dependent anti-inflammatory activity an additional arm of the study would be to treat a cohort of these animals (and controls) with either an HDAC inhibitor or an inhibitor of fatty acid synthesis. HDAC inhibition may have many effects on LXR regulated gene expression; thus if HDAC inhibition is found to reduce LXR agonist-stimulated transactivation, fatty acid synthesis inhibition may be the more appropriate approach.

LXR subtype	Mutant	Expectation	Trans- Repress	Trans- activate
β	K410R, K448R	Disrupt sumoylation	-	+
α	K328R, K434R	Disrupt sumoylation	-	+
β	S427D	Disrupt interaction with transrepression complex	-	+
β	L452A	Destabilize helix 12; disrupt interaction with co-activator	+	-
α	L438A	Destabilize helix 12; disrupt interaction with co-activator	+	-
β	C104A, C107A	Disrupt DNA binding	+	-
α	C115A, C118A	Disrupt DNA binding	+	-

Table 1 LXR Mutants

Group	Marrow	Drug Tx	
1	TA+	Vehicle	
2	TA+	T0901317	
3	TR+	Vehicle	
4	TR+	T0901317	
5	Wildtype	Vehicle	
6	Wildtype	T0901317	

Table 2 *Atherosclerosis study with pathway specific LXR bone marrow. Ldlr*^{-/-} recipient mice (N=15/group) will be reconstituted with LXR transactivation selective (TA+), LXR transrepression selective (TR+) or WT LXR marrow.


Figure 1 *LXR activity* Ligand-dependent transactivation (**A**) and transrepression (**B**). See text for details.



Figure 2 In vitro LXR activity.

Figure 6.2 In vitro LXR activity. A) LXR and a luciferase reporter gene containing 3-NF&B binding sites from the human II-8 promoter were co-transfected into Hela cells with a B-galactosidase plasmid. Following 24 hr incubation in the absence or presence of 1uM T0901317, cells were stimulated with TNF α (1ng/ml) for 6 hrs. Cells were lysed and luciferase activity normalized to B-gal. B) LXR and a luciferase reporter gene containing 3 upstream LXREs were co-transfected into HEK293T cells with a Bgalactosidase plasmid and cultured in the absence or presence of 1uM T0901317 for 24 hrs. Cells were lysed and luciferase activity normalized to B-gal. Luciferase activity was normalized to B-Gal. * \leq 0.05% compared to vehicle treated. Data was analyzed by 1way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-test.

References

- 1. Ghisletti S, Huang W, Ogawa S, Pascual G, Lin ME, Willson TM, Rosenfeld MG, Glass CK. Parallel SUMOylation-dependent pathways mediate gene- and signal-specific transrepression by LXRs and PPARgamma. *Mol Cell.* 2007;25(1):57-70.
- 2. Ikonen E. Mechanisms for cellular cholesterol transport: defects and human disease. *Physiol Rev.* 2006;86(4):1237-1261.
- **3.** Maxfield FR, Tabas I. Role of cholesterol and lipid organization in disease. *Nature*. 2005;438(7068):612-621.
- **4.** Grundy SM. Absorption and metabolism of dietary cholesterol. *Annu Rev Nutr.* 1983;3:71-96.
- Andreyev AY, Fahy E, Guan Z, Kelly S, Li X, McDonald JG, Milne S, Myers D, Park H, Ryan A, Thompson BM, Wang E, Zhao Y, Brown HA, Merrill AH, Raetz CR, Russell DW, Subramaniam S, Dennis EA. Subcellular organelle lipidomics in TLR-4-activated macrophages. J Lipid Res. 2010;51(9):2785-2797.
- **6.** Javitt NB. Bile acid synthesis from cholesterol: regulatory and auxiliary pathways. *The FASEB Journal.* 1994;8(15):1308-1311.
- **7.** Miller WL. Steroid hormone synthesis in mitochondria. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* 2013;379(1-2):62-73.
- **8.** Porter FD, Herman GE. Malformation syndromes caused by disorders of cholesterol synthesis. *Journal of Lipid Research.* 2011;52(1):6-34.
- **9.** Tierney E, Conley SK, Goodwin H, Porter FD. Analysis of short-term behavioral effects of dietary cholesterol supplementation in Smith–Lemli–Opitz syndrome. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A.* 2010;152A(1):91-95.
- **10.** Sikora DM, Pettit-Kekel K, Penfield J, Merkens LS, Steiner RD. The near universal presence of autism spectrum disorders in children with Smith-Lemli-Opitz syndrome. *Am J Med Genet A*. 2006;140(14):1511-1518.
- **11.** Gebhardt SP, P. Cutrufelli, R. Lemar, L. Howe, Juliette; Nickle, M.; Showell, B,; Exler J., Holden, J. USDA national nutrient database for standard reference, release 20. 2007.
- **12.** Carr TP, Jesch ED. Food components that reduce cholesterol absorption. *Adv Food Nutr Res.* 2006;51:165-204.
- **13.** Huff MW, Pollex RL, Hegele RA. NPC1L1: Evolution From Pharmacological Target to Physiological Sterol Transporter. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology.* 2006;26(11):2433-2438.
- Altmann SW, Davis HR, Zhu L-j, Yao X, Hoos LM, Tetzloff G, Iyer SPN, Maguire M, Golovko A, Zeng M, Wang L, Murgolo N, Graziano MP. Niemann-Pick C1 Like 1 Protein Is Critical for Intestinal Cholesterol Absorption. *Science*. 2004;303(5661):1201-1204.
- **15.** Dawson PA, Rudel LL. Intestinal cholesterol absorption. *Curr Opin Lipidol.* 1999;10(4):315-320.
- **16.** Hopkins PN. Effects of dietary cholesterol on serum cholesterol: a meta-analysis and review. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition.* 1992;55(6):1060-1070.
- **17.** Fielding CJ HR, Todd KM, Yeo KE, Schloetter MC, Weinberg V, Frost PH. Effects of dietary cholesterol and fat saturation on plasma lipoproteins in an ethically diverse population of healthy young men. *J Clin Invest.* 1995;95(2):611-618.
- **18.** Schonfeld GP, W. Rudel, LL. Nelson, C. Epstein, M. Olson, RE. . Effects of dietary cholesterol and fatty acids on plasma lipoproteins. *J Clin Invest*. 1982;69:1072-1080.

- **19.** Group ND-HSR. Faribault second study. National Diet-Heart Study final report. *Circulation Research.* 1968;37:1260-1278.
- **20.** Kestin M CP, Rouse IL, Nestel PJ. Effect of dietary cholesterol in normolipidemic subjects is not modified by nature and amount of dietary fat. . *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1989;50:528-532.
- **21.** McNamara DJ, Kolb R, Parker TS, Batwin H, Samuel P, Brown CD, Ahrens EH, Jr. Heterogeneity of cholesterol homeostasis in man. Response to changes in dietary fat quality and cholesterol quantity. *J Clin Invest.* 1987;79(6):1729-1739.
- **22.** Beynen AC, Katan MB. Effect of egg yolk feeding on the concentration and composition of serum lipoproteins in man. *Atherosclerosis.* 1985;54(2):157-166.
- **23.** Beynen AC, Katan MB. Reproducibility of the variations between humans in the response of serum cholesterol to cessation of egg consumption. *Atherosclerosis*. 1985;57(1):19-31.
- 24. Katan MB, Berns MA, Glatz JF, Knuiman JT, Nobels A, de Vries JH. Congruence of individual responsiveness to dietary cholesterol and to saturated fat in humans. *Journal of Lipid Research.* 1988;29(7):883-892.
- **25.** Sehayek E, Nath C, Heinemann T, McGee M, Seidman CE, Samuel P, Breslow JL. U-shape relationship between change in dietary cholesterol absorption and plasma lipoprotein responsiveness and evidence for extreme interindividual variation in dietary cholesterol absorption in humans. *J Lipid Res.* 1998;39(12):2415-2422.
- **26.** Dietschy JM, Turley SD, Spady DK. Role of liver in the maintenance of cholesterol and low density lipoprotein homeostasis in different animal species, including humans. *J Lipid Res.* 1993;34(10):1637-1659.
- **27.** Nestel PJ, Poyser A. Changes in cholesterol synthesis and excretion when cholesterol intake is increased. *Metabolism.* 1976;25(12):1591-1599.
- **28.** Quintao E, Grundy SM, Ahrens EH, Jr. Effects of dietary cholesterol on the regulation of total body cholesterol in man. *J Lipid Res.* 1971;12(2):233-247.
- **29.** Mistry P, Miller NE, Laker M, Hazzard WR, Lewis B. Individual Variation in the Effects of Dietary Cholesterol on Plasma Lipoproteins and Cellular Cholesterol Homeostasis in Man: STUDIES OF LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEIN RECEPTOR ACTIVITY AND 3-HYDROXY-3-METHYLGLUTARYL COENZYME A REDUCTASE ACTIVITY IN BLOOD MONONUCLEAR CELLS. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 1981;67(2):493-502.
- **30.** McMurry MP, Connor WE, Lin DS, Cerqueira MT, Connor SL. The absorption of cholesterol and the sterol balance in the Tarahumara Indians of Mexico fed cholesterol-free and high cholesterol diets. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1985;41(6):1289-1298.
- **31.** Kesaniemi YA, Ehnholm C, Miettinen TA. Intestinal cholesterol absorption efficiency in man is related to apoprotein E phenotype. *J Clin Invest.* 1987;80(2):578-581.
- **32.** Sehayek E SS, Nguyen L, Ono J, Merkel M, Berslow J. Apolipoprotein E regulates dietary cholesterol absorption and biliary cholesterol excretion: studies in C57BL/6 apolioprotein E knockout mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 2000;97(7):3433-3437.
- **33.** McCombs RJ, Marcadis DE, Ellis J, Weinberg RB. Attenuated hypercholesterolemic response to a high-cholesterol diet in subjects heterozygous for the apolipoprotein A-IV-2 allele. *N Engl J Med.* 1994;331(11):706-710.
- **34.** Berge KE, Tian H, Graf GA, Yu L, Grishin NV, Schultz J, Kwiterovich P, Shan B, Barnes R, Hobbs HH. Accumulation of dietary cholesterol in sitosterolemia caused by mutations in adjacent ABC transporters. *Science*. 2000;290(5497):1771-1775.
- **35.** Gordon T. The diet-heart idea. Outline of a history. *Am J Epidemiol.* 1988;127(2):220-225.

- **36.** Anitschkow N. A history of experimentation on arterio atherosclerosis in animals; 1967:21-44.
- **37.** Katz LN. 1953.
- **38.** Wissler RW, Vesselinovitch D. The effects of feeding various dietary fats on the development and regression of hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* 1975;60:65-76.
- **39.** Grundy SM, Bilheimer D, Blackburn H, Brown WV, Kwiterovich PO, Jr., Mattson F, Schonfeld G, Weidman WH. Rationale of the diet-heart statement of the American Heart Association. Report of Nutrition Committee. *Circulation*. 1982;65(4):839a-854a.
- **40.** Reiser R. Saturated fat in the diet and serum cholesterol concentration: a critical examination of the literature. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1973;26(5):524-555.
- **41.** The Lancet, Volume i, 1957: Prediction of serum-cholesterol responses of man to changes in fats in the diet. By Ancel Keys, Joseph T. Anderson, Francisco Grande. *Nutr Rev.* 1988;46(5):195-197.
- **42.** Hofvendahl S. Coronary Heart Disease in Seven Countries. Edited by Ancel Keys, Ph.D. *Acta Medica Scandinavica*. 1971;190(1-6):464-464.
- **43.** Tang JL, Armitage JM, Lancaster T, Silagy CA, Fowler GH, Neil HA. Systematic review of dietary intervention trials to lower blood total cholesterol in free-living subjects. *Bmj.* 1998;316(7139):1213-1220.
- **44.** Hill AB. THE ENVIRONMENT AND DISEASE: ASSOCIATION OR CAUSATION? *Proc R Soc Med.* 1965;58:295-300.
- **45.** Mente A, de Koning L, Shannon HS, Anand SS. A systematic review of the evidence supporting a causal link between dietary factors and coronary heart disease. *Archives of Internal Medicine*. 2009;169(7):659-669.
- **46.** Agriculture UDoHaHSUDo. Dietary guidelines for Americans. 2005.
- **47.** Lichtenstein AH, Appel LJ, Brands M, Carnethon M, Daniels S, Franch HA, Franklin B, Kris-Etherton P, Harris WS, Howard B, Karanja N, Lefevre M, Rudel L, Sacks F, Van Horn L, Winston M, Wylie-Rosett J. Diet and lifestyle recommendations revision 2006: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Nutrition Committee. *Circulation.* 2006;114(1):82-96.
- **48.** Pyorala K, De Backer G, Graham I, Poole-Wilson P, Wood D. Prevention of coronary heart disease in clinical practice: recommendations of the Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology, European Atherosclerosis Society and European Society of Hypertension. *Atherosclerosis.* 1994;110(2):121-161.
- **49.** Srinath Reddy K, Katan MB. Diet, nutrition and the prevention of hypertension and cardiovascular diseases. *Public Health Nutr.* 2004;7(1a):167-186.
- **50.** Samaha FF, Iqbal N, Seshadri P, Chicano KL, Daily DA, McGrory J, Williams T, Williams M, Gracely EJ, Stern L. A low-carbohydrate as compared with a low-fat diet in severe obesity. *N Engl J Med.* 2003;348(21):2074-2081.
- 51. Howard BV, Van Horn L, Hsia J, Manson JE, Stefanick ML, Wassertheil-Smoller S, Kuller LH, LaCroix AZ, Langer RD, Lasser NL, Lewis CE, Limacher MC, Margolis KL, Mysiw WJ, Ockene JK, Parker LM, Perri MG, Phillips L, Prentice RL, Robbins J, Rossouw JE, Sarto GE, Schatz IJ, Snetselaar LG, Stevens VJ, Tinker LF, Trevisan M, Vitolins MZ, Anderson GL, Assaf AR, Bassford T, Beresford SA, Black HR, Brunner RL, Brzyski RG, Caan B, Chlebowski RT, Gass M, Granek I, Greenland P, Hays J, Heber D, Heiss G, Hendrix SL, Hubbell FA, Johnson KC, Kotchen JM. Low-fat dietary pattern and risk of cardiovascular disease: the Women's Health Initiative Randomized Controlled Dietary Modification Trial. Jama. 2006;295(6):655-666.

- Mensink RP, Katan MB. Effect of dietary trans fatty acids on high-density and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels in healthy subjects. *N Engl J Med.* 1990;323(7):439-445.
- **53.** Oh K, Hu FB, Manson JE, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC. Dietary fat intake and risk of coronary heart disease in women: 20 years of follow-up of the nurses' health study. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2005;161(7):672-679.
- Pietinen P, Ascherio A, Korhonen P, Hartman AM, Willett WC, Albanes D, Virtamo J. Intake of fatty acids and risk of coronary heart disease in a cohort of Finnish men. The Alpha-Tocopherol, Beta-Carotene Cancer Prevention Study. *Am J Epidemiol.* 1997;145(10):876-887.
- **55.** Hu FB, Stampfer MJ, Manson JE, Rimm E, Colditz GA, Rosner BA, Hennekens CH, Willett WC. Dietary fat intake and the risk of coronary heart disease in women. *N Engl J Med.* 1997;337(21):1491-1499.
- 56. Oomen CM, Ocke MC, Feskens EJ, van Erp-Baart MA, Kok FJ, Kromhout D. Association between trans fatty acid intake and 10-year risk of coronary heart disease in the Zutphen Elderly Study: a prospective population-based study. *Lancet.* 2001;357(9258):746-751.
- **57.** Kant AK, Schatzkin A, Graubard BI, Schairer C. A prospective study of diet quality and mortality in women. *Jama.* 2000;283(16):2109-2115.
- **58.** Trichopoulou A, Costacou T, Bamia C, Trichopoulos D. Adherence to a Mediterranean diet and survival in a Greek population. *N Engl J Med.* 2003;348(26):2599-2608.
- **59.** Knoops KT, de Groot LC, Kromhout D, Perrin AE, Moreiras-Varela O, Menotti A, van Staveren WA. Mediterranean diet, lifestyle factors, and 10-year mortality in elderly European men and women: the HALE project. *Jama*. 2004;292(12):1433-1439.
- **60.** Hu FB, Rimm EB, Stampfer MJ, Ascherio A, Spiegelman D, Willett WC. Prospective study of major dietary patterns and risk of coronary heart disease in men. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2000;72(4):912-921.
- **61.** Fung TT, Willett WC, Stampfer MJ, Manson JE, Hu FB. Dietary patterns and the risk of coronary heart disease in women. *Arch Intern Med.* 2001;161(15):1857-1862.
- **62.** de Lorgeril M, Renaud S, Mamelle N, Salen P, Martin JL, Monjaud I, Guidollet J, Touboul P, Delaye J. Mediterranean alpha-linolenic acid-rich diet in secondary prevention of coronary heart disease. *Lancet.* 1994;343(8911):1454-1459.
- **63.** Hu FB. Dietary pattern analysis: a new direction in nutritional epidemiology. *Curr Opin Lipidol.* 2002;13(1):3-9.
- 64. MEMBERS WG, Lloyd-Jones D, Adams R, Carnethon M, De Simone G, Ferguson TB, Flegal K, Ford E, Furie K, Go A, Greenlund K, Haase N, Hailpern S, Ho M, Howard V, Kissela B, Kittner S, Lackland D, Lisabeth L, Marelli A, McDermott M, Meigs J, Mozaffarian D, Nichol G, O'Donnell C, Roger V, Rosamond W, Sacco R, Sorlie P, Stafford R, Steinberger J, Thom T, Wasserthiel-Smoller S, Wong N, Wylie-Rosett J, Hong Y, Committee ftAHAS, Subcommittee SS. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics—2009 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. *Circulation.* 2009;119(3):e21-e181.
- **65.** Thompson RC, Allam AH, Lombardi GP, Wann LS, Sutherland ML, Sutherland JD, Soliman MA-T, Frohlich B, Mininberg DT, Monge JM, Vallodolid CM, Cox SL, Abd el-Maksoud G, Badr I, Miyamoto MI, el-Halim Nur el-din A, Narula J, Finch CE, Thomas GS. Atherosclerosis across 4000 years of human history: the Horus study of four ancient populations. *The Lancet.* 2013;381(9873):1211-1222.

- **66.** Libby P, Theroux P. Pathophysiology of coronary artery disease. *Circulation*. 2005;111(25):3481-3488.
- **67.** Windaus A. Ueber den Gehalt normaler und atheromatoeser Aorten au Cholesterol and Cholesterinester. *Zeitschrift Physiol Chem.* 1910;67:174-176.
- **68.** anitschkow N CS. Ueber experimentelle Cholesterinsteatase und ihre Bedeutung fur die ENstehung einiger patholigischer Prozesse. *Centralbl Allg Pathol Anat.* 1913;24:1-9.
- **69.** Dawber TR, Meadors GF, Moore FE. Epidemiological Approaches to Heart Disease: The Framingham Study *. *American Journal of Public Health and the Nations Health*. 1951;41(3):279-286.
- **70.** Kannel WB, Dawber TR, Kagan A, Revotskie N, Stokes IJ. Factors of Risk in the Development of Coronary Heart Disease—Six-Year Follow-up ExperienceThe Framingham Study. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 1961;55(1):33-50.
- **71.** Morbidity and Mortality: 2012 Chart Book on Cardiovascular, Lung and Blood Diseases. *Bethesda, Md: National Institutes of Health: National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute.* 2012.
- **72.** Sing GK MT, Clarke SC, Yannicos T, Smith BL. Annual summary of births, marriages, divorces, and deaths: United States. *Mon Vital Stat Rep.* 1995;43(13).
- **73.** Kirby TJ. Cataracts produced by triparanol. (MER-29). *Trans Am Ophthalmol Soc.* 1967;65:494-543.
- **74.** Endo A, Tsujita Y, Kuroda M, Tanzawa K. Inhibition of cholesterol synthesis in vitro and in vivo by ML-236A and ML-236B, competitive inhibitors of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A reductase. *Eur J Biochem.* 1977;77(1):31-36.
- Findo A, Kuroda M, Tsujita Y. ML-236A, ML-236B, and ML-236C, new inhibitors of cholesterogenesis produced by Penicillium citrinium. *J Antibiot (Tokyo)*. 1976;29(12):1346-1348.
- 76. Watanabe Y, Ito T, Saeki M, Kuroda M, Tanzawa K, Mochizuki M, Tsujita Y, Arai M. Hypolipidemic effects of CS-500 (ML-236B) in WHHL-rabbit, a heritable animal model for hyperlipidemia. *Atherosclerosis.* 1981;38(1-2):27-31.
- **77.** Kuroda M, Tsujita Y, Tanzawa K, Endo A. Hypolipidemic effects in monkeys of ML-236B, a competitive inhibitor of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase. *Lipids*. 1979;14(6):585-589.
- **78.** Tsujita Y, Kuroda M, Tanzawa K, Kitano N, Endo A. Hypolipidemic effects in dogs of ML-236B, a competitive inhibitor of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase. *Atherosclerosis.* 1979;32(3):307-313.
- **79.** Mabuchi H, Haba T, Tatami R, Miyamoto S, Sakai Y, Wakasugi T, Watanabe A, Koizumi J, Takeda R. Effect of an inhibitor of 3-hydroxy-3-methyglutaryl coenzyme A reductase on serum lipoproteins and ubiquinone-10-levels in patients with familial hypercholesterolemia. *N Engl J Med.* 1981;305(9):478-482.
- Mabuchi H, Sakai T, Sakai Y, Yoshimura A, Watanabe A, Wakasugi T, Koizumi J, Takeda R. Reduction of serum cholesterol in heterozygous patients with familial hypercholesterolemia. Additive effects of compactin and cholestyramine. *N Engl J Med.* 1983;308(11):609-613.
- **81.** Aldridge MA, Ito MK. Colesevelam hydrochloride: a novel bile acid-binding resin. *Ann Pharmacother.* 2001;35(7-8):898-907.
- **82.** Dayspring T, Pokrywka G. Fibrate therapy in patients with metabolic syndrome and diabetes mellitus. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* 2006;8(5):356-364.

- **83.** Barnhart JW, Sefranka JA, McIntosh DD. Hypocholesterolemic effect of 4,4'-(isopropylidenedithio)-bis(2,6-di-t-butylphenol) (probucol). *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1970;23(9):1229-1233.
- **84.** Drake JW, Bradford RH, McDearmon M, Furman RH. The effect of [4,4'-(isopropylidenedithio)bis(2,6-di-t-butylphenol)] (DH-581) on serum lipids and lipoproteins in human subjects. *Metabolism*. 1969;18(11):916-925.
- **85.** Cortese C, Marenah CB, Miller NE, Lewis B. The effects of probucol on plasma lipoproteins in polygenic and familial hypercholesterolaemia. *Atherosclerosis.* 1982;44(3):319-325.
- **86.** Atmeh RF, Stewart JM, Boag DE, Packard CJ, Lorimer AR, Shepherd J. The hypolipidemic action of probucol: a study of its effects on high and low density lipoproteins. *J Lipid Res.* 1983;24(5):588-595.
- 87. Havel RJ, Hunninghake DB, Illingworth DR, Lees RS, Stein EA, Tobert JA, Bacon SR, Bolognese JA, Frost PH, Lamkin GE, et al. Lovastatin (mevinolin) in the treatment of heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia. A multicenter study. *Ann Intern Med.* 1987;107(5):609-615.
- **88.** Tobert JA. THERAPEUTIC RESPONSE TO LOVASTATIN (MEVINOLIN) IN NONFAMILIAL HYPERCHOLESTEROLEMIA A MULTICENTER STUDY. *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association.* 1986;256(20):2829-2834.
- **89.** Tobert JA. A MULTICENTER COMPARISON OF LOVASTATIN AND CHOLESTYRAMINE THERAPY FOR SEVERE PRIMARY HYPERCHOLESTEROLEMIA. *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association*. 1988;260(3):359-366.
- **90.** A multicenter comparison of lovastatin and probucol for treatment of severe primary hypercholesterolemia. The Lovastatin Study Group IV. *Am J Cardiol.* 1990;66(8):22b-30b.
- **91.** Blankenhorn DH, Azen SP, Kramsch DM, Mack WJ, Cashin-Hemphill L, Hodis HN, DeBoer LWV, Mahrer PR, Masteller MJ, Vailas LI, Alaupovic P, Hirsch LJ. Coronary Angiographic Changes with Lovastatin Therapy: The Monitored Atherosclerosis Regression Study (MARS). *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 1993;119(10):969-976.
- **92.** Effect of simvastatin on coronary atheroma: the Multicentre Anti-Atheroma Study (MAAS). *Lancet.* 1994;344(8923):633-638.
- **93.** Waters D, Higginson L, Gladstone P, Kimball B, Le May M, Boccuzzi SJ, Lesperance J. Effects of monotherapy with an HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor on the progression of coronary atherosclerosis as assessed by serial quantitative arteriography. The Canadian Coronary Atherosclerosis Intervention Trial. *Circulation.* 1994;89(3):959-968.
- **94.** Jukema JW, Bruschke AV, van Boven AJ, Reiber JH, Bal ET, Zwinderman AH, Jansen H, Boerma GJ, van Rappard FM, Lie KI, et al. Effects of lipid lowering by pravastatin on progression and regression of coronary artery disease in symptomatic men with normal to moderately elevated serum cholesterol levels. The Regression Growth Evaluation Statin Study (REGRESS). *Circulation*. 1995;91(10):2528-2540.
- **95.** Pitt B, Mancini GB, Ellis SG, Rosman HS, Park JS, McGovern ME. Pravastatin limitation of atherosclerosis in the coronary arteries (PLAC I): reduction in atherosclerosis progression and clinical events. PLAC I investigation. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 1995;26(5):1133-1139.
- **96.** Furberg CD, Adams HP, Jr., Applegate WB, Byington RP, Espeland MA, Hartwell T, Hunninghake DB, Lefkowitz DS, Probstfield J, Riley WA, et al. Effect of lovastatin on early carotid atherosclerosis and cardiovascular events. Asymptomatic Carotid Artery Progression Study (ACAPS) Research Group. *Circulation*. 1994;90(4):1679-1687.

- **97.** Salonen R, Nyyssonen K, Porkkala E, Rummukainen J, Belder R, Park JS, Salonen JT. Kuopio Atherosclerosis Prevention Study (KAPS). A population-based primary preventive trial of the effect of LDL lowering on atherosclerotic progression in carotid and femoral arteries. *Circulation.* 1995;92(7):1758-1764.
- **98.** Randomised trial of cholesterol lowering in 4444 patients with coronary heart disease: the Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study (4S). *Lancet.* 1994;344(8934):1383-1389.
- **99.** MRC/BHF Heart Protection Study of antioxidant vitamin supplementation in 20,536 high-risk individuals: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet.* 2002;360(9326):23-33.
- **100.** Serruys PC, de Feyter P, Macaya C, et al. Fluvastatin for prevention of cardiac events following successful first percutaneous coronary intervention: A randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. 2002;287(24):3215-3222.
- **101.** Downs JR, Clearfield M, Weis S, Whitney E, Shapiro DR, Beere PA, Langendorfer A, Stein EA, Kruyer W, Gotto AM, Jr. Primary prevention of acute coronary events with lovastatin in men and women with average cholesterol levels: results of AFCAPS/TexCAPS. Air Force/Texas Coronary Atherosclerosis Prevention Study. *Jama*. 1998;279(20):1615-1622.
- **102.** Shepherd J, Cobbe SM, Ford I, Isles CG, Lorimer AR, MacFarlane PW, McKillop JH, Packard CJ. Prevention of coronary heart disease with pravastatin in men with hypercholesterolemia. West of Scotland Coronary Prevention Study Group. *N Engl J Med.* 1995;333(20):1301-1307.
- Efficacy and safety of cholesterol-lowering treatment: prospective meta-analysis of data from 90?056 participants in 14 randomised trials of statins. *The Lancet.* 2005;366(9493):1267-1278.
- 104. Cholesterol Treatment Trialists C. Efficacy of cholesterol-lowering therapy in 18?686 people with diabetes in 14 randomised trials of statins: a meta-analysis. *The Lancet.* 2008;371(9607):117-125.
- **105.** Cannon CP, Braunwald E, McCabe CH, Rader DJ, Rouleau JL, Belder R, Joyal SV, Hill KA, Pfeffer MA, Skene AM. Intensive versus moderate lipid lowering with statins after acute coronary syndromes. *N Engl J Med*. 2004;350(15):1495-1504.
- 106. LaRosa JC, Grundy SM, Waters DD, Shear C, Barter P, Fruchart J-C, Gotto AM, Greten H, Kastelein JJP, Shepherd J, Wenger NK. Intensive Lipid Lowering with Atorvastatin in Patients with Stable Coronary Disease. New England Journal of Medicine. 2005;352(14):1425-1435.
- **107.** Brown MS, Goldstein JL. Lipoprotein metabolism in the macrophage: implications for cholesterol deposition in atherosclerosis. *Annu Rev Biochem.* 1983;52:223-261.
- 108. Kodama T, Reddy P, Kishimoto C, Krieger M. Purification and characterization of a bovine acetyl low density lipoprotein receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 1988;85(23):9238-9242.
- 109. Henriksen T, Mahoney EM, Steinberg D. Enhanced macrophage degradation of low density lipoprotein previously incubated with cultured endothelial cells: recognition by receptors for acetylated low density lipoproteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 1981;78(10):6499-6503.
- **110.** Steinbrecher UP, Parthasarathy S, Leake DS, Witztum JL, Steinberg D. Modification of low density lipoprotein by endothelial cells involves lipid peroxidation and degradation of low density lipoprotein phospholipids. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 1984;81(12):3883-3887.
- **111.** Hessler JR, Morel DW, Lewis LJ, Chisolm GM. Lipoprotein oxidation and lipoproteininduced cytotoxicity. *Arteriosclerosis*. 1983;3(3):215-222.

- **112.** Yla-Herttuala S, Palinski W, Rosenfeld ME, Parthasarathy S, Carew TE, Butler S, Witztum JL, Steinberg D. Evidence for the presence of oxidatively modified low density lipoprotein in atherosclerotic lesions of rabbit and man. *J Clin Invest.* 1989;84(4):1086-1095.
- **113.** Berliner JA, Heinecke JW. The role of oxidized lipoproteins in atherogenesis. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 1996;20(5):707-727.
- **114.** Itabe H OT, Kato R. The dynamics of LDL during Atherogenesis. *J Lipids*. 2011;2011(418313).
- **115.** Otero P, Bonet B, Herrera E, Rabano A. Development of atherosclerosis in the diabetic BALB/c mice: Prevention with Vitamin E administration. *Atherosclerosis.* 2005;182(2):259-265.
- **116.** Cyrus T, Yao Y, Rokach J, Tang LX, Praticò D. Vitamin E Reduces Progression of Atherosclerosis in Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor-Deficient Mice With Established Vascular Lesions. *Circulation.* 2003;107(4):521-523.
- **117.** Pratico D, Tangirala RK, Rader DJ, Rokach J, FitzGerald GA. Vitamin E suppresses isoprostane generation in vivo and reduces atherosclerosis in ApoE-deficient mice. *Nat Med.* 1998;4(10):1189-1192.
- **118.** Pryor WA. Vitamin E and heart disease:: Basic science to clinical intervention trials. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine.* 2000;28(1):141-164.
- **119.** Zhao L, Pratico D, Rader DJ, Funk CD. 12/15-Lipoxygenase gene disruption and vitamin E administration diminish atherosclerosis and oxidative stress in apolipoprotein E deficient mice through a final common pathway. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat*. 2005;78(1-4):185-193.
- **120.** Kuhn H BJ, Zaiss S, Fahrenklemper T, Wohlfeil S. involvement of 15-lipoxygenase in early stages of atherogenesis. *J Exp Med.* 1994;179.
- **121.** Sesso HD, Buring JE, Christen WG, et al. Vitamins e and c in the prevention of cardiovascular disease in men: The physicians' health study ii randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. 2008;300(18):2123-2133.
- **122.** HOOGWERF BJ, YOUNG JB. Ramipril lowered cardiovascular risk, but vitamin E did not. *Cleveland Clinic Journal of Medicine*. 2000;67(4):287-293.
- 123. Lonn E, Bosch J, Yusuf S, Sheridan P, Pogue J, Arnold JM, Ross C, Arnold A, Sleight P, Probstfield J, Dagenais GR. Effects of long-term vitamin E supplementation on cardiovascular events and cancer: a randomized controlled trial. *Jama*. 2005;293(11):1338-1347.
- **124.** Marchioli R, Levantesi G, Macchia A, Marfisi RM, Nicolosi GL, Tavazzi L, Tognoni G, Valagussa F. Vitamin E increases the risk of developing heart failure after myocardial infarction: Results from the GISSI-Prevenzione trial. *J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown)*. 2006;7(5):347-350.
- **125.** Dietary supplementation with n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and vitamin E after myocardial infarction: results of the GISSI-Prevenzione trial. Gruppo Italiano per lo Studio della Sopravvivenza nell'Infarto miocardico. *Lancet.* 1999;354(9177):447-455.
- **126.** Suarna C, Wu BJ, Choy K, Mori T, Croft K, Cynshi O, Stocker R. Protective effect of vitamin E supplements on experimental atherosclerosis is modest and depends on preexisting vitamin E deficiency. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 2006;41(5):722-730.
- 127. Shirpoor A, Norouzi L, Khadem Ansari MH, Ilkhanizadeh B, Gharaaghaji R. Vasoprotective effect of vitamin E: rescue of ethanol-induced atherosclerosis and inflammatory stress in rat vascular wall. *Int Immunopharmacol.* 2013;16(4):498-504.

- **128.** Goldenstein H, Levy NS, Lipener YT, Levy AP. Patient selection and vitamin E treatment in diabetes mellitus. *Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther.* 2013;11(3):319-326.
- 129. Juonala M, Magnussen CG, Venn A, Dwyer T, Burns TL, Davis PH, Chen W, Srinivasan SR, Daniels SR, Kahonen M, Laitinen T, Taittonen L, Berenson GS, Viikari JS, Raitakari OT. Influence of age on associations between childhood risk factors and carotid intima-media thickness in adulthood: the Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study, the Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study, the Bogalusa Heart Study, and the Muscatine Study for the International Childhood Cardiovascular Cohort (i3C) Consortium. *Circulation.* 2010;122(24):2514-2520.
- **130.** Napoli C, Witztum JL, Calara F, de Nigris F, Palinski W. Maternal Hypercholesterolemia Enhances Atherogenesis in Normocholesterolemic Rabbits, Which Is Inhibited by Antioxidant or Lipid-Lowering Intervention During Pregnancy: An Experimental Model of Atherogenic Mechanisms in Human Fetuses. *Circulation Research*. 2000;87(10):946-952.
- **131.** Bekkers MB, Brunekreef B, Smit HA, Kerkhof M, Koppelman GH, Oldenwening M, Wijga AH. Early-life determinants of total and HDL cholesterol concentrations in 8-year-old children; the PIAMA birth cohort study. *PLoS One.* 2011;6(9):e25533.
- **132.** Bao W, Srinivasan SR, Valdez R, Greenlund KJ, Wattigney WA, Berenson GS. Longitudinal changes in cardiovascular risk from childhood to young adulthood in offspring of parents with coronary artery disease: the Bogalusa Heart Study. *Jama*. 1997;278(21):1749-1754.
- **133.** Meydani M, Kwan P, Band M, Knight A, Guo W, Goutis J, Ordovas J. Long-term vitamin E supplementation reduces atherosclerosis and mortality in Ldlr–/– mice, but not when fed Western style diet. *Atherosclerosis*. 2014;233(1):196-205.
- **134.** Virchow R. Der atermatose prozess der arterien. *Wien Med Wochenschr.* 1856;6:825-827.
- **135.** S. Gupta AC. Chlamydia pneumoniae and coronary heart disease. *Brit Med J.* 1997;314:1778-1779.
- **136.** Patel P, Mendall MA, Carrington D, Strachan DP, Leatham E, Molineaux N, Levy J, Blakeston C, Seymour CA, Camm AJ, Northfield TC. Association of Helicobacter pylori and Chlamydia pneumoniae infections with coronary heart disease and cardiovascular risk factors. *BMJ.* 1995;311(7007):711-714.
- **137.** Blasi F, Denti F, Erba M, Cosentini R, Raccanelli R, Rinaldi A, Fagetti L, Esposito G, Ruberti U, Allegra L. Detection of Chlamydia pneumoniae but not Helicobacter pylori in atherosclerotic plaques of aortic aneurysms. *J Clin Microbiol.* 1996;34(11):2766-2769.
- **138.** Juvonen J, Juvonen T, Laurila A, AlakÄRppÄ H, Lounatmaa K, Surcel H-M, Leinonen M, Kairaluoma MI, Saikku P. Immunohistochemical Detection of Chlamydia pneumoniae in Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*. 1996;800(1):236-238.
- **139.** Danesh J, Collins R, Peto R. Chronic infections and coronary heart disease: is there a link? *Lancet*. 1997;350(9075):430-436.
- **140.** Rosenfeld ME, Campbell LA. Pathogens and atherosclerosis: update on the potential contribution of multiple infectious organisms to the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. *Thromb Haemost.* 2011;106(5):858-867.
- Kern JM, Maass V, Maass M. Chlamydia pneumoniae adversely modulates vascular cell properties by direct interaction with signalling cascades. *Thromb Haemost.* 2009;102(6):1064-1070.
- **142.** Campbell LA, Yaraei K, Van Lenten B. The acute phase reactant response to respiratory infection with Chlamydia pneumoniae: implications for the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. *Microbes Infect.* 2010;12(8-9):598-606.

- 143. Naiki Y, Sorrentino R, Wong MH, Michelsen KS, Shimada K, Chen S, Yilmaz A, Slepenkin A, Schroder NW, Crother TR, Bulut Y, Doherty TM, Bradley M, Shaposhnik Z, Peterson EM, Tontonoz P, Shah PK, Arditi M. TLR/MyD88 and liver X receptor alpha signaling pathways reciprocally control Chlamydia pneumoniae-induced acceleration of atherosclerosis. J Immunol. 2008;181(10):7176-7185.
- 144. Chen S, Sorrentino R, Shimada K, Bulut Y, Doherty TM, Crother TR, Arditi M. Chlamydia pneumoniae-induced foam cell formation requires MyD88-dependent and -independent signaling and is reciprocally modulated by liver X receptor activation. *J Immunol.* 2008;181(10):7186-7193.
- **145.** Erkkilä L, Laitinen K, Haasio K. Heat shock protein 60 autoimmunity and early lipid lesions in cholesterol-fed C57BL/6JBom mice during Chlamydia pneumoniae infection. *Atherosclerosis.* 2004;177(2):321-328.
- Benagiano M, D'Elios MM, Amedei A. Human 60-kDa heat shock protein is a target autoantigen of T cells derived from atherosclerotic plaques. *J Immunol.* 2005;174(10):6509-6517.
- 147. Janket SJ, Baird AE, Chuang SK, Jones JA. Meta-analysis of periodontal disease and risk of coronary heart disease and stroke. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2003;95(5):559-569.
- **148.** Mustapha IZ, Debrey S, Oladubu M, Ugarte R. Markers of systemic bacterial exposure in periodontal disease and cardiovascular disease risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Periodontol.* 2007;78(12):2289-2302.
- **149.** Humphrey LL, Fu R, Buckley DI, Freeman M, Helfand M. Periodontal disease and coronary heart disease incidence: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Gen Intern Med.* 2008;23(12):2079-2086.
- **150.** Teles R, Wang CY. Mechanisms involved in the association between periodontal diseases and cardiovascular disease. *Oral Dis.* 2011;17(5):450-461.
- **151.** Glurich I, Grossi S, Albini B. Systemic inflammation in cardiovascular and periodontal disease: comparative study. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol.* 2002;9(2):425-432.
- **152.** Buhlin K, Hultin M, Norderyd O, Persson L, Pockley AG, Pussinen PJ, Rabe P, Klinge B, Gustafsson A. Periodontal treatment influences risk markers for atherosclerosis in patients with severe periodontitis. *Atherosclerosis.* 2009;206(2):518-522.
- **153.** Griffiths R, Barbour S. Lipoproteins and lipoprotein metabolism in periodontal disease. *Clin Lipidol.* 2010;5(3):397-411.
- **154.** Ameriso SF, Fridman EA, Leiguarda RC, Sevlever GE. Detection of Helicobacter pylori in human carotid atherosclerotic plaques. *Stroke.* 2001;32(2):385-391.
- **155.** Elkind MS. Infectious burden: a new risk factor and treatment target for atherosclerosis. *Infect Disord Drug Targets*. 2010;10(2):84-90.
- **156.** Zhu J, Quyyumi AA, Norman JE. Effects of total pathogen burden on coronary artery disease risk and C-reactive protein levels. *Am J Cardiol.* 2000;85(2):140-146.
- **157.** O'Connor CM, Dunne MW, Pfeffer MA. Azithromycin for the secondary prevention of coronary heart disease events: the WIZARD study: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. 2003;290(11):1459-1466.
- **158.** Grayston JT, Kronmal RA, Jackson LA. Azithromycin for the secondary prevention of coronary events. *N Engl J Med.* 2005;352(16):1637-1645.
- **159.** Cannon CP, Braunwald E, McCabe CH. Antibiotic treatment of Chlamydia pneumoniae after acute coronary syndrome. *N Engl J Med.* 2005;352(16):1646-1654.
- **160.** Jespersen CM, Als-Nielsen B, Damgaard M, Hansen JF, Hansen S, Helo OH, Hildebrandt P, Hilden J, Jensen GB, Kastrup J, Kolmos HJ, Kjoller E, Lind I, Nielsen H, Petersen L,

Gluud C. Randomised placebo controlled multicentre trial to assess short term clarithromycin for patients with stable coronary heart disease: CLARICOR trial. *Bmj.* 2006;332(7532):22-27.

- **161.** Danesh J. Antibiotics in the prevention of heart attacks. *Lancet.* 2005;365(9457):365-367.
- **162.** Epstein SE, Zhu J, Najafi AH, Burnett MS. Insights into the role of infection in atherogenesis and in plaque rupture. *Circulation*. 2009;119(24):3133-3141.
- **163.** Grayston JT. Chlamydia pneumoniae and atherosclerosis. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2005;40(8):1131-1132.
- **164.** Kutlin A, Roblin PM, Hammerschlag MR. Effect of prolonged treatment with azithromycin, clarithromycin, or levofloxacin on Chlamydia pneumoniae in a continuous-infection Model. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother.* 2002;46(2):409-412.
- **165.** Gieffers J, Fullgraf H, Jahn J, Klinger M, Dalhoff K, Katus HA, Solbach W, Maass M. Chlamydia pneumoniae infection in circulating human monocytes is refractory to antibiotic treatment. *Circulation.* 2001;103(3):351-356.
- **166.** Tufano A, Di Capua M, Coppola A, Conca P, Cimino E, Cerbone AM, Di Minno G. The infectious burden in atherothrombosis. *Semin Thromb Hemost.* 2012;38(5):515-523.
- **167.** Libby P. Current concepts of the pathogenesis of the acute coronary syndromes. *Circulation.* 2001;104(3):365-372.
- **168.** Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III) final report. *Circulation*. 2002;106(25):3143-3421.
- 169. Stone NJ, Robinson J, Lichtenstein AH, Bairey Merz CN, Lloyd-Jones DM, Blum CB, McBride P, Eckel RH, Schwartz JS, Goldberg AC, Shero ST, Gordon D, Smith SC, Levy D, Watson K, Wilson PWF. 2013 ACC/AHA Guideline on the Treatment of Blood Cholesterol to Reduce Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Risk in AdultsA Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*. 2013.
- **170.** Genest J, Jr., McNamara JR, Ordovas JM, Jenner JL, Silberman SR, Anderson KM, Wilson PW, Salem DN, Schaefer EJ. Lipoprotein cholesterol, apolipoprotein A-I and B and lipoprotein (a) abnormalities in men with premature coronary artery disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 1992;19(4):792-802.
- **171.** Krauss RM, Burke DJ. Identification of multiple subclasses of plasma low density lipoproteins in normal humans. *J Lipid Res.* 1982;23(1):97-104.
- **172.** Lamarche B, Tchernof A, Moorjani S, Cantin B, Dagenais GR, Lupien PJ, Despres JP. Small, dense low-density lipoprotein particles as a predictor of the risk of ischemic heart disease in men. Prospective results from the Quebec Cardiovascular Study. *Circulation*. 1997;95(1):69-75.
- **173.** Berneis KK, Krauss RM. Metabolic origins and clinical significance of LDL heterogeneity. *J Lipid Res.* 2002;43(9):1363-1379.
- 174. St-Pierre AC, Ruel IL, Cantin B, Dagenais GR, Bernard PM, Despres JP, Lamarche B. Comparison of various electrophoretic characteristics of LDL particles and their relationship to the risk of ischemic heart disease. *Circulation*. 2001;104(19):2295-2299.
- 175. Rosenson RS, Otvos JD, Freedman DS. Relations of lipoprotein subclass levels and lowdensity lipoprotein size to progression of coronary artery disease in the Pravastatin Limitation of Atherosclerosis in the Coronary Arteries (PLAC-I) trial. Am J Cardiol. 2002;90(2):89-94.

- **176.** Austin MA, King MC, Vranizan KM, Krauss RM. Atherogenic lipoprotein phenotype. A proposed genetic marker for coronary heart disease risk. *Circulation*. 1990;82(2):495-506.
- **177.** Kathiresan S, Otvos JD, Sullivan LM, Keyes MJ, Schaefer EJ, Wilson PW, D'Agostino RB, Vasan RS, Robins SJ. Increased small low-density lipoprotein particle number: a prominent feature of the metabolic syndrome in the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation.* 2006;113(1):20-29.
- **178.** Reaven GM, Chen YD, Jeppesen J, Maheux P, Krauss RM. Insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia in individuals with small, dense low density lipoprotein particles. *J Clin Invest*. 1993;92(1):141-146.
- **179.** Blake GJ, Otvos JD, Rifai N, Ridker PM. Low-density lipoprotein particle concentration and size as determined by nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy as predictors of cardiovascular disease in women. *Circulation*. 2002;106(15):1930-1937.
- 180. Otvos JD, Collins D, Freedman DS, Shalaurova I, Schaefer EJ, McNamara JR, Bloomfield HE, Robins SJ. Low-density lipoprotein and high-density lipoprotein particle subclasses predict coronary events and are favorably changed by gemfibrozil therapy in the Veterans Affairs High-Density Lipoprotein Intervention Trial. *Circulation*. 2006;113(12):1556-1563.
- 181. Kuller L, Arnold A, Tracy R, Otvos J, Burke G, Psaty B, Siscovick D, Freedman DS, Kronmal R. Nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy of lipoproteins and risk of coronary heart disease in the cardiovascular health study. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2002;22(7):1175-1180.
- 182. Mackey RH, Kuller LH, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Evans RW, Holubkov R, Matthews KA. Lipoprotein subclasses and coronary artery calcium in postmenopausal women from the healthy women study. *Am J Cardiol.* 2002;90(8a):71i-76i.
- 183. Mora S, Szklo M, Otvos JD, Greenland P, Psaty BM, Goff DC, Jr., O'Leary DH, Saad MF, Tsai MY, Sharrett AR. LDL particle subclasses, LDL particle size, and carotid atherosclerosis in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). *Atherosclerosis*. 2007;192(1):211-217.
- 184. Cromwell WC, Otvos JD, Keyes MJ, Pencina MJ, Sullivan L, Vasan RS, Wilson PW, D'Agostino RB. LDL Particle Number and Risk of Future Cardiovascular Disease in the Framingham Offspring Study - Implications for LDL Management. J Clin Lipidol. 2007;1(6):583-592.
- **185.** Rotter JI, Bu X, Cantor RM, Warden CH, Brown J, Gray RJ, Blanche PJ, Krauss RM, Lusis AJ. Multilocus genetic determinants of LDL particle size in coronary artery disease families. *Am J Hum Genet.* 1996;58(3):585-594.
- **186.** Allayee H, Aouizerat BE, Cantor RM, Dallinga-Thie GM, Krauss RM, Lanning CD, Rotter JI, Lusis AJ, de Bruin TW. Families with familial combined hyperlipidemia and families enriched for coronary artery disease share genetic determinants for the atherogenic lipoprotein phenotype. *Am J Hum Genet.* 1998;63(2):577-585.
- **187.** Austin MA, Talmud PJ, Luong LA, Haddad L, Day IN, Newman B, Edwards KL, Krauss RM, Humphries SE. Candidate-gene studies of the atherogenic lipoprotein phenotype: a sib-pair linkage analysis of DZ women twins. *Am J Hum Genet.* 1998;62(2):406-419.
- **188.** Hokanson JE, Brunzell JD, Jarvik GP, Wijsman EM, Austin MA. Linkage of low-density lipoprotein size to the lipoprotein lipase gene in heterozygous lipoprotein lipase deficiency. *Am J Hum Genet.* 1999;64(2):608-618.
- **189.** Ordovas JM, Cupples LA, Corella D, Otvos JD, Osgood D, Martinez A, Lahoz C, Coltell O, Wilson PW, Schaefer EJ. Association of cholesteryl ester transfer protein-TaqIB

polymorphism with variations in lipoprotein subclasses and coronary heart disease risk: the Framingham study. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2000;20(5):1323-1329.

- **190.** Talmud PJ, Edwards KL, Turner CM, Newman B, Palmen JM, Humphries SE, Austin MA. Linkage of the cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) gene to LDL particle size: use of a novel tetranucleotide repeat within the CETP promoter. *Circulation.* 2000;101(21):2461-2466.
- **191.** Humphries SE, Berglund L, Isasi CR, Otvos JD, Kaluski D, Deckelbaum RJ, Shea S, Talmud PJ. Loci for CETP, LPL, LIPC, and APOC3 affect plasma lipoprotein size and sub-population distribution in Hispanic and non-Hispanic white subjects: the Columbia University BioMarkers Study. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* 2002;12(4):163-172.
- **192.** Mar R, Pajukanta P, Allayee H, Groenendijk M, Dallinga-Thie G, Krauss RM, Sinsheimer JS, Cantor RM, de Bruin TW, Lusis AJ. Association of the APOLIPOPROTEIN A1/C3/A4/A5 gene cluster with triglyceride levels and LDL particle size in familial combined hyperlipidemia. *Circ Res.* 2004;94(7):993-999.
- **193.** Skoglund-Andersson C, Ehrenborg E, Fisher RM, Olivecrona G, Hamsten A, Karpe F. Influence of common variants in the CETP, LPL, HL and APO E genes on LDL heterogeneity in healthy, middle-aged men. *Atherosclerosis*. 2003;167(2):311-317.
- **194.** Krauss RM, Dreon DM. Low-density-lipoprotein subclasses and response to a low-fat diet in healthy men. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1995;62(2):478s-487s.
- **195.** Dreon DM, Fernstrom HA, Williams PT, Krauss RM. LDL subclass patterns and lipoprotein response to a low-fat, high-carbohydrate diet in women. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1997;17(4):707-714.
- **196.** Krauss RM, Blanche PJ, Rawlings RS, Fernstrom HS, Williams PT. Separate effects of reduced carbohydrate intake and weight loss on atherogenic dyslipidemia. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2006;83(5):1025-1031; quiz 1205.
- **197.** Moreno JA, Perez-Jimenez F, Marin C, Gomez P, Perez-Martinez P, Moreno R, Bellido C, Fuentes F, Lopez-Miranda J. The effect of dietary fat on LDL size is influenced by apolipoprotein E genotype in healthy subjects. *J Nutr.* 2004;134(10):2517-2522.
- 198. Rivellese AA, Maffettone A, Vessby B, Uusitupa M, Hermansen K, Berglund L, Louheranta A, Meyer BJ, Riccardi G. Effects of dietary saturated, monounsaturated and n-3 fatty acids on fasting lipoproteins, LDL size and post-prandial lipid metabolism in healthy subjects. *Atherosclerosis.* 2003;167(1):149-158.
- **199.** Feinman R, Volek J. Low carbohydrate diets improve atherogenic dyslipidemia even in the absence of weight loss. *Nutrition & Metabolism.* 2006;3(1):24.
- **200.** James PT, Rigby N, Leach R. The obesity epidemic, metabolic syndrome and future prevention strategies. *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil.* 2004;11(1):3-8.
- **201.** Adams KF, Schatzkin A, Harris TB, Kipnis V, Mouw T, Ballard-Barbash R, Hollenbeck A, Leitzmann MF. Overweight, obesity, and mortality in a large prospective cohort of persons 50 to 71 years old. *N Engl J Med.* 2006;355(8):763-778.
- **202.** Lakka TA, Lakka HM, Salonen R, Kaplan GA, Salonen JT. Abdominal obesity is associated with accelerated progression of carotid atherosclerosis in men. *Atherosclerosis.* 2001;154(2):497-504.
- **203.** Kenchaiah S, Evans JC, Levy D, Wilson PW, Benjamin EJ, Larson MG, Kannel WB, Vasan RS. Obesity and the risk of heart failure. *N Engl J Med.* 2002;347(5):305-313.
- **204.** Hu FB, Willett WC, Li T, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Manson JE. Adiposity as compared with physical activity in predicting mortality among women. *N Engl J Med.* 2004;351(26):2694-2703.

- **205.** Berenson GS, Srinivasan SR, Bao W, Newman WP, 3rd, Tracy RE, Wattigney WA. Association between multiple cardiovascular risk factors and atherosclerosis in children and young adults. The Bogalusa Heart Study. *N Engl J Med.* 1998;338(23):1650-1656.
- **206.** Olshansky SJ, Passaro DJ, Hershow RC, Layden J, Carnes BA, Brody J, Hayflick L, Butler RN, Allison DB, Ludwig DS. A Potential Decline in Life Expectancy in the United States in the 21st Century. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2005;352(11):1138-1145.
- **207.** Eckel RH, Kahn R, Robertson RM, Rizza RA. Preventing cardiovascular disease and diabetes: a call to action from the American Diabetes Association and the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2006;113(25):2943-2946.
- **208.** Turinsky J, O'Sullivan DM, Bayly BP. 1,2-Diacylglycerol and ceramide levels in insulinresistant tissues of the rat in vivo. *J Biol Chem.* 1990;265(28):16880-16885.
- **209.** Schenk S, Saberi M, Olefsky JM. Insulin sensitivity: modulation by nutrients and inflammation. *J Clin Invest.* 2008;118(9):2992-3002.
- **210.** Janeway CA, Jr., Medzhitov R. Innate immune recognition. *Annu Rev Immunol.* 2002;20:197-216.
- **211.** Hotamisligil GS, Shargill NS, Spiegelman BM. Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha: direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. *Science*. 1993;259(5091):87-91.
- **212.** Rocha VZ, Libby P. The multiple facets of the fat tissue. *Thyroid.* 2008;18(2):175-183.
- **213.** Weisberg SP, McCann D, Desai M, Rosenbaum M, Leibel RL, Ferrante AW, Jr. Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. *J Clin Invest.* 2003;112(12):1796-1808.
- **214.** Xu H, Barnes GT, Yang Q, Tan G, Yang D, Chou CJ, Sole J, Nichols A, Ross JS, Tartaglia LA, Chen H. Chronic inflammation in fat plays a crucial role in the development of obesity-related insulin resistance. *J Clin Invest*. 2003;112(12):1821-1830.
- **215.** Geng YJ, Libby P. Progression of atheroma: a struggle between death and procreation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2002;22(9):1370-1380.
- **216.** Clarke MC, Figg N, Maguire JJ, Davenport AP, Goddard M, Littlewood TD, Bennett MR. Apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cells induces features of plaque vulnerability in atherosclerosis. *Nat Med.* 2006;12(9):1075-1080.
- **217.** Alkhouri N, Gornicka A, Berk MP, Thapaliya S, Dixon LJ, Kashyap S, Schauer PR, Feldstein AE. Adipocyte Apoptosis, a Link between Obesity, Insulin Resistance, and Hepatic Steatosis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 2010;285(5):3428-3438.
- **218.** Virmani R, Burke AP, Kolodgie FD, Farb A. Vulnerable plaque: the pathology of unstable coronary lesions. *J Interv Cardiol.* 2002;15(6):439-446.
- **219.** Suriyaphol P, Fenske D, Zähringer U, Han S-R, Bhakdi S, Husmann M. Enzymatically Modified Nonoxidized Low-Density Lipoprotein Induces Interleukin-8 in Human Endothelial Cells: Role of Free Fatty Acids. *Circulation*. 2002;106(20):2581-2587.
- **220.** Aikawa M, Sugiyama S, Hill CC, Voglic SJ, Rabkin E, Fukumoto Y, Schoen FJ, Witztum JL, Libby P. Lipid Lowering Reduces Oxidative Stress and Endothelial Cell Activation in Rabbit Atheroma. *Circulation*. 2002;106(11):1390-1396.
- 221. Tabas I, Williams KJ, Borén J. Subendothelial Lipoprotein Retention as the Initiating Process in Atherosclerosis: Update and Therapeutic Implications. *Circulation*. 2007;116(16):1832-1844.
- 222. Podrez EA, Byzova TV, Febbraio M, Salomon RG, Ma Y, Valiyaveettil M, Poliakov E, Sun M, Finton PJ, Curtis BR, Chen J, Zhang R, Silverstein RL, Hazen SL. Platelet CD36 links hyperlipidemia, oxidant stress and a prothrombotic phenotype. *Nat Med.* 2007;13(9):1086-1095.

- **223.** Libby P. Molecular and cellular mechanisms of the thrombotic complications of atherosclerosis. *Journal of Lipid Research.* 2009;50(Supplement):S352-S357.
- **224.** Williams KJ, Tabas I. The Response-to-Retention Hypothesis of Early Atherogenesis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology.* 1995;15(5):551-561.
- **225.** Wilhelm MG, Cooper AD. Induction of atherosclerosis by human chylomicron remnants: a hypothesis. *J Atheroscler Thromb.* 2003;10(3):132-139.
- **226.** Stender S HE. In vivo transfer of cholesteryl ester from high and low density lipoproteins into human aortic tissue. *Atherosclerosis.* 1988;8(252-262).
- 227. Glass CK, Witztum JL. Atherosclerosis. the road ahead. Cell. 2001;104(4):503-516.
- **228.** Mestas J, Ley K. Monocyte-endothelial cell interactions in the development of atherosclerosis. *Trends Cardiovasc Med.* 2008;18(6):228-232.
- **229.** Tabas I. Macrophage death and defective inflammation resolution in atherosclerosis. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2010;10(1):36-46.
- 230. Koenen RR, von Hundelshausen P, Nesmelova IV, Zernecke A, Liehn EA, Sarabi A, Kramp BK, Piccinini AM, Paludan SR, Kowalska MA, Kungl AJ, Hackeng TM, Mayo KH, Weber C. Disrupting functional interactions between platelet chemokines inhibits atherosclerosis in hyperlipidemic mice. *Nat Med.* 2009;15(1):97-103.
- **231.** Johnson JL, Newby AC. Macrophage heterogeneity in atherosclerotic plaques. *Curr Opin Lipidol.* 2009;20(5):370-378.
- **232.** Palombo D, Maione M, Cifiello BI, Udini M, Maggio D, Lupo M. Matrix metalloproteinases. Their role in degenerative chronic diseases of abdominal aorta. *J Cardiovasc Surg (Torino)*. 1999;40(2):257-260.
- **233.** Mamputu JC, Desfaits AC, Renier G. Lipoprotein lipase enhances human monocyte adhesion to aortic endothelial cells. *J Lipid Res.* 1997;38(9):1722-1729.
- **234.** Mamputu JC, Levesque L, Renier G. Proliferative effect of lipoprotein lipase on human vascular smooth muscle cells. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2000;20(10):2212-2219.
- **235.** Cheng GC, Loree HM, Kamm RD, Fishbein MC, Lee RT. Distribution of circumferential stress in ruptured and stable atherosclerotic lesions. A structural analysis with histopathological correlation. *Circulation*. 1993;87(4):1179-1187.
- **236.** Richardson PD, Davies MJ, Born GV. Influence of plaque configuration and stress distribution on fissuring of coronary atherosclerotic plaques. *Lancet.* 1989;2(8669):941-944.
- **237.** Loree HM, Kamm RD, Stringfellow RG, Lee RT. Effects of fibrous cap thickness on peak circumferential stress in model atherosclerotic vessels. *Circulation Research*. 1992;71(4):850-858.
- **238.** Wilcox JN, Smith KM, Schwartz SM, Gordon D. Localization of tissue factor in the normal vessel wall and in the atherosclerotic plaque. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.* 1989;86(8):2839-2843.
- **239.** Lendon CL, Davies MJ, Born GVR, Richardson PD. Atherosclerotic plaque caps are locally weakened when macrophages density is increased. *Atherosclerosis.* 1991;87(1):87-90.
- **240.** Libby P. Multiple mechanisms of thrombosis complicating atherosclerotic plaques. *Clin Cardiol.* 2000;23 Suppl 6:Vi-3-7.
- **241.** Libby P, Aikawa M. New insights into plaque stabilisation by lipid lowering. *Drugs.* 1998;56 Suppl 1:9-13; discussion 33.
- **242.** Hansson GK. Inflammation, atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease. *N Engl J Med.* 2005;352(16):1685-1695.
- **243.** Hansson GK, Libby P. The immune response in atherosclerosis: a double-edged sword. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2006;6(7):508-519.

- **244.** Hansson GK, Hellstrand M, Rymo L, Rubbia L, Gabbiani G. Interferon gamma inhibits both proliferation and expression of differentiation-specific alpha-smooth muscle actin in arterial smooth muscle cells. *J Exp Med.* 1989;170(5):1595-1608.
- **245.** Amento EP, Ehsani N, Palmer H, Libby P. Cytokines and growth factors positively and negatively regulate interstitial collagen gene expression in human vascular smooth muscle cells. *Arterioscler Thromb.* 1991;11(5):1223-1230.
- **246.** Hansson GK, Hermansson A. The immune system in atherosclerosis. *Nat Immunol.* 2011;12(3):204-212.
- 247. Naghavi M, Libby P, Falk E, Casscells SW, Litovsky S, Rumberger J, Badimon JJ, Stefanadis C, Moreno P, Pasterkamp G, Fayad Z, Stone PH, Waxman S, Raggi P, Madjid M, Zarrabi A, Burke A, Yuan C, Fitzgerald PJ, Siscovick DS, de Korte CL, Aikawa M, Airaksinen KE, Assmann G, Becker CR, Chesebro JH, Farb A, Galis ZS, Jackson C, Jang IK, Koenig W, Lodder RA, March K, Demirovic J, Navab M, Priori SG, Rekhter MD, Bahr R, Grundy SM, Mehran R, Colombo A, Boerwinkle E, Ballantyne C, Insull W, Jr., Schwartz RS, Vogel R, Serruys PW, Hansson GK, Faxon DP, Kaul S, Drexler H, Greenland P, Muller JE, Virmani R, Ridker PM, Zipes DP, Shah PK, Willerson JT. From vulnerable plaque to vulnerable patient: a call for new definitions and risk assessment strategies: Part II. *Circulation*. 2003;108(15):1772-1778.
- 248. Naghavi M, Libby P, Falk E, Casscells SW, Litovsky S, Rumberger J, Badimon JJ, Stefanadis C, Moreno P, Pasterkamp G, Fayad Z, Stone PH, Waxman S, Raggi P, Madjid M, Zarrabi A, Burke A, Yuan C, Fitzgerald PJ, Siscovick DS, de Korte CL, Aikawa M, Juhani Airaksinen KE, Assmann G, Becker CR, Chesebro JH, Farb A, Galis ZS, Jackson C, Jang IK, Koenig W, Lodder RA, March K, Demirovic J, Navab M, Priori SG, Rekhter MD, Bahr R, Grundy SM, Mehran R, Colombo A, Boerwinkle E, Ballantyne C, Insull W, Jr., Schwartz RS, Vogel R, Serruys PW, Hansson GK, Faxon DP, Kaul S, Drexler H, Greenland P, Muller JE, Virmani R, Ridker PM, Zipes DP, Shah PK, Willerson JT. From vulnerable plaque to vulnerable patient: a call for new definitions and risk assessment strategies: Part I. *Circulation*. 2003;108(14):1664-1672.
- **249.** Ridker PM, Rifai N, Rose L, Buring JE, Cook NR. Comparison of C-reactive protein and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels in the prediction of first cardiovascular events. *N Engl J Med.* 2002;347(20):1557-1565.
- **250.** Liao JK, Laufs U. Pleiotropic effects of statins. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol.* 2005;45:89-118.
- **251.** Ridker PM, Rifai N, Pfeffer MA, Sacks F, Braunwald E. Long-term effects of pravastatin on plasma concentration of C-reactive protein. The Cholesterol and Recurrent Events (CARE) Investigators. *Circulation*. 1999;100(3):230-235.
- **252.** Ridker PM, Rifai N, Clearfield M, Downs JR, Weis SE, Miles JS, Gotto AM, Jr. Measurement of C-reactive protein for the targeting of statin therapy in the primary prevention of acute coronary events. *N Engl J Med.* 2001;344(26):1959-1965.
- 253. Ridker PM, Cannon CP, Morrow D, Rifai N, Rose LM, McCabe CH, Pfeffer MA, Braunwald E. C-reactive protein levels and outcomes after statin therapy. N Engl J Med. 2005;352(1):20-28.
- 254. Ridker PM, Danielson E, Fonseca FAH, Genest J, Gotto AM, Kastelein JJP, Koenig W, Libby P, Lorenzatti AJ, MacFadyen JG, Nordestgaard BG, Shepherd J, Willerson JT, Glynn RJ. Rosuvastatin to Prevent Vascular Events in Men and Women with Elevated C-Reactive Protein. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2008;359(21):2195-2207.
- **255.** Anderson J MJ. Antibiotic Trials for Coronary Heart Disease. *Tex Heart Inst J.* 2004;31(1):33-38.

- **256.** Steinberg D, Witztum JL. Oxidized low-density lipoprotein and atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2010;30(12):2311-2316.
- **257.** Moore KJ, Tabas I. Macrophages in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. *Cell.* 2011;145(3):341-355.
- **258.** Packard RR, Lichtman AH, Libby P. Innate and adaptive immunity in atherosclerosis. *Semin Immunopathol.* 2009;31(1):5-22.
- **259.** Miller YI, Choi SH, Wiesner P, Fang L, Harkewicz R, Hartvigsen K, Boullier A, Gonen A, Diehl CJ, Que X, Montano E, Shaw PX, Tsimikas S, Binder CJ, Witztum JL. Oxidation-specific epitopes are danger-associated molecular patterns recognized by pattern recognition receptors of innate immunity. *Circ Res.* 2011;108(2):235-248.
- **260.** Cybulsky MI, Gimbrone MA, Jr. Endothelial expression of a mononuclear leukocyte adhesion molecule during atherogenesis. *Science*. 1991;251(4995):788-791.
- **261.** Cybulsky MI, Iiyama K, Li H, Zhu S, Chen M, Iiyama M, Davis V, Gutierrez-Ramos JC, Connelly PW, Milstone DS. A major role for VCAM-1, but not ICAM-1, in early atherosclerosis. *J Clin Invest*. 2001;107(10):1255-1262.
- **262.** Li H, Cybulsky MI, Gimbrone MA, Jr., Libby P. An atherogenic diet rapidly induces VCAM-1, a cytokine-regulatable mononuclear leukocyte adhesion molecule, in rabbit aortic endothelium. *Arterioscler Thromb*. 1993;13(2):197-204.
- **263.** Johnson RC, Chapman SM, Dong ZM, Ordovas JM, Mayadas TN, Herz J, Hynes RO, Schaefer EJ, Wagner DD. Absence of P-selectin delays fatty streak formation in mice. *J Clin Invest.* 1997;99(5):1037-1043.
- **264.** Gu L, Okada Y, Clinton SK, Gerard C, Sukhova GK, Libby P, Rollins BJ. Absence of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 reduces atherosclerosis in low density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice. *Mol Cell*. 1998;2(2):275-281.
- **265.** Boring L, Gosling J, Cleary M, Charo IF. Decreased lesion formation in CCR2-/- mice reveals a role for chemokines in the initiation of atherosclerosis. *Nature.* 1998;394(6696):894-897.
- **266.** Boisvert WA, Santiago R, Curtiss LK, Terkeltaub RA. A leukocyte homologue of the IL-8 receptor CXCR-2 mediates the accumulation of macrophages in atherosclerotic lesions of LDL receptor-deficient mice. *J Clin Invest.* 1998;101(2):353-363.
- **267.** Gerszten RE, Garcia-Zepeda EA, Lim YC, Yoshida M, Ding HA, Gimbrone MA, Jr., Luster AD, Luscinskas FW, Rosenzweig A. MCP-1 and IL-8 trigger firm adhesion of monocytes to vascular endothelium under flow conditions. *Nature*. 1999;398(6729):718-723.
- **268.** Combadiere C, Potteaux S, Gao JL, Esposito B, Casanova S, Lee EJ, Debre P, Tedgui A, Murphy PM, Mallat Z. Decreased atherosclerotic lesion formation in CX3CR1/apolipoprotein E double knockout mice. *Circulation*. 2003;107(7):1009-1016.
- **269.** Lesnik P, Haskell CA, Charo IF. Decreased atherosclerosis in CX3CR1-/- mice reveals a role for fractalkine in atherogenesis. *J Clin Invest.* 2003;111(3):333-340.
- **270.** Rajavashisth TB, Andalibi A, Territo MC, Berliner JA, Navab M, Fogelman AM, Lusis AJ. Induction of endothelial cell expression of granulocyte and macrophage colonystimulating factors by modified low-density lipoproteins. *Nature*. 1990;344(6263):254-257.
- **271.** Clinton SK, Underwood R, Hayes L, Sherman ML, Kufe DW, Libby P. Macrophage colonystimulating factor gene expression in vascular cells and in experimental and human atherosclerosis. *Am J Pathol.* 1992;140(2):301-316.
- **272.** Xu XH, Shah PK, Faure E, Equils O, Thomas L, Fishbein MC, Luthringer D, Xu XP, Rajavashisth TB, Yano J, Kaul S, Arditi M. Toll-like receptor-4 is expressed by

macrophages in murine and human lipid-rich atherosclerotic plaques and upregulated by oxidized LDL. *Circulation*. 2001;104(25):3103-3108.

- **273.** Miller YI, Viriyakosol S, Binder CJ, Feramisco JR, Kirkland TN, Witztum JL. Minimally modified LDL binds to CD14, induces macrophage spreading via TLR4/MD-2, and inhibits phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. *J Biol Chem.* 2003;278(3):1561-1568.
- **274.** Kol A, Lichtman AH, Finberg RW, Libby P, Kurt-Jones EA. Cutting edge: heat shock protein (HSP) 60 activates the innate immune response: CD14 is an essential receptor for HSP60 activation of mononuclear cells. *J Immunol.* 2000;164(1):13-17.
- **275.** Michelsen KS, Wong MH, Shah PK, Zhang W, Yano J, Doherty TM, Akira S, Rajavashisth TB, Arditi M. Lack of Toll-like receptor 4 or myeloid differentiation factor 88 reduces atherosclerosis and alters plaque phenotype in mice deficient in apolipoprotein E. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2004;101(29):10679-10684.
- **276.** Bjorkbacka H, Kunjathoor VV, Moore KJ, Koehn S, Ordija CM, Lee MA, Means T, Halmen K, Luster AD, Golenbock DT, Freeman MW. Reduced atherosclerosis in MyD88-null mice links elevated serum cholesterol levels to activation of innate immunity signaling pathways. *Nat Med.* 2004;10(4):416-421.
- **277.** Swirski FK, Libby P, Aikawa E, Alcaide P, Luscinskas FW, Weissleder R, Pittet MJ. Ly-6Chi monocytes dominate hypercholesterolemia-associated monocytosis and give rise to macrophages in atheromata. *J Clin Invest.* 2007;117(1):195-205.
- **278.** Deguchi JO, Aikawa E, Libby P, Vachon JR, Inada M, Krane SM, Whittaker P, Aikawa M. Matrix metalloproteinase-13/collagenase-3 deletion promotes collagen accumulation and organization in mouse atherosclerotic plaques. *Circulation.* 2005;112(17):2708-2715.
- **279.** Sukhova GK, Schonbeck U, Rabkin E, Schoen FJ, Poole AR, Billinghurst RC, Libby P. Evidence for increased collagenolysis by interstitial collagenases-1 and -3 in vulnerable human atheromatous plaques. *Circulation.* 1999;99(19):2503-2509.
- **280.** Herman MP, Sukhova GK, Libby P, Gerdes N, Tang N, Horton DB, Kilbride M, Breitbart RE, Chun M, Schonbeck U. Expression of neutrophil collagenase (matrix metalloproteinase-8) in human atheroma: a novel collagenolytic pathway suggested by transcriptional profiling. *Circulation*. 2001;104(16):1899-1904.
- **281.** Galis ZS, Sukhova GK, Lark MW, Libby P. Increased expression of matrix metalloproteinases and matrix degrading activity in vulnerable regions of human atherosclerotic plaques. *J Clin Invest.* 1994;94(6):2493-2503.
- **282.** Fukumoto Y, Deguchi JO, Libby P, Rabkin-Aikawa E, Sakata Y, Chin MT, Hill CC, Lawler PR, Varo N, Schoen FJ, Krane SM, Aikawa M. Genetically determined resistance to collagenase action augments interstitial collagen accumulation in atherosclerotic plaques. *Circulation*. 2004;110(14):1953-1959.
- **283.** Liu J, Sukhova GK, Sun JS, Xu WH, Libby P, Shi GP. Lysosomal cysteine proteases in atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2004;24(8):1359-1366.
- **284.** Lutgens E, Lutgens SP, Faber BC, Heeneman S, Gijbels MM, de Winther MP, Frederik P, van der Made I, Daugherty A, Sijbers AM, Fisher A, Long CJ, Saftig P, Black D, Daemen MJ, Cleutjens KB. Disruption of the cathepsin K gene reduces atherosclerosis progression and induces plaque fibrosis but accelerates macrophage foam cell formation. *Circulation.* 2006;113(1):98-107.
- **285.** Simon DI, Zidar D. Neutrophils in Atherosclerosis: Alarmin Evidence of a Hit and Run? *Circulation Research.* 2012;110(8):1036-1038.

- **286.** Leclercq A, Houard X, Philippe M, Ollivier V, Sebbag U, Meilhac O, Michel JB. Involvement of intraplaque hemorrhage in atherothrombosis evolution via neutrophil protease enrichment. *J Leukoc Biol.* 2007;82(6):1420-1429.
- **287.** van Leeuwen M, Gijbels MJ, Duijvestijn A, Smook M, van de Gaar MJ, Heeringa P, de Winther MP, Tervaert JW. Accumulation of myeloperoxidase-positive neutrophils in atherosclerotic lesions in LDLR-/- mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2008;28(1):84-89.
- **288.** Sugiyama S, Kugiyama K, Aikawa M, Nakamura S, Ogawa H, Libby P. Hypochlorous acid, a macrophage product, induces endothelial apoptosis and tissue factor expression: involvement of myeloperoxidase-mediated oxidant in plaque erosion and thrombogenesis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2004;24(7):1309-1314.
- **289.** Podrez EA, Schmitt D, Hoff HF, Hazen SL. Myeloperoxidase-generated reactive nitrogen species convert LDL into an atherogenic form in vitro. *J Clin Invest.* 1999;103(11):1547-1560.
- **290.** Horne BD, Anderson JL, John JM, Weaver A, Bair TL, Jensen KR, Renlund DG, Muhlestein JB. Which white blood cell subtypes predict increased cardiovascular risk? *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2005;45(10):1638-1643.
- **291.** Yilmaz A, Lochno M, Traeg F, Cicha I, Reiss C, Stumpf C, Raaz D, Anger T, Amann K, Probst T, Ludwig J, Daniel WG, Garlichs CD. Emergence of dendritic cells in rupture-prone regions of vulnerable carotid plaques. *Atherosclerosis.* 2004;176(1):101-110.
- **292.** Erbel C, Sato K, Meyer FB, Kopecky SL, Frye RL, Goronzy JJ, Weyand CM. Functional profile of activated dendritic cells in unstable atherosclerotic plaque. *Basic Res Cardiol.* 2007;102(2):123-132.
- **293.** Feng B, Yao PM, Li Y, Devlin CM, Zhang D, Harding HP, Sweeney M, Rong JX, Kuriakose G, Fisher EA, Marks AR, Ron D, Tabas I. The endoplasmic reticulum is the site of cholesterol-induced cytotoxicity in macrophages. *Nat Cell Biol.* 2003;5(9):781-792.
- **294.** Packard RR, Maganto-Garcia E, Gotsman I, Tabas I, Libby P, Lichtman AH. CD11c(+) dendritic cells maintain antigen processing, presentation capabilities, and CD4(+) T-cell priming efficacy under hypercholesterolemic conditions associated with atherosclerosis. *Circ Res.* 2008;103(9):965-973.
- **295.** Rivollier A, Perrin-Cocon L, Luche S, Diemer H, Strub JM, Hanau D, van Dorsselaer A, Lotteau V, Rabourdin-Combe C, Rabilloud T, Servet-Delprat C. High expression of antioxidant proteins in dendritic cells: possible implications in atherosclerosis. *Mol Cell Proteomics.* 2006;5(4):726-736.
- **296.** Buono C, Pang H, Uchida Y, Libby P, Sharpe AH, Lichtman AH. B7-1/B7-2 costimulation regulates plaque antigen-specific T-cell responses and atherogenesis in low-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice. *Circulation*. 2004;109(16):2009-2015.
- **297.** Jonasson L, Holm J, Skalli O, Bondjers G, Hansson GK. Regional accumulations of T cells, macrophages, and smooth muscle cells in the human atherosclerotic plaque. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology.* 1986;6(2):131-138.
- **298.** van der Wal AC, Becker AE, van der Loos CM, Das PK. Site of intimal rupture or erosion of thrombosed coronary atherosclerotic plaques is characterized by an inflammatory process irrespective of the dominant plaque morphology. *Circulation.* 1994;89(1):36-44.
- **299.** Mach F, Sauty A, Iarossi AS, Sukhova GK, Neote K, Libby P, Luster AD. Differential expression of three T lymphocyte-activating CXC chemokines by human atheroma-associated cells. *J Clin Invest.* 1999;104(8):1041-1050.
- **300.** Frostegard J, Ulfgren AK, Nyberg P, Hedin U, Swedenborg J, Andersson U, Hansson GK. Cytokine expression in advanced human atherosclerotic plaques: dominance of pro-

inflammatory (Th1) and macrophage-stimulating cytokines. *Atherosclerosis*. 1999;145(1):33-43.

- **301.** Stemme S, Faber B, Holm J, Wiklund O, Witztum JL, Hansson GK. T lymphocytes from human atherosclerotic plaques recognize oxidized low density lipoprotein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 1995;92(9):3893-3897.
- **302.** Paulsson G, Zhou X, Tornquist E, Hansson GK. Oligoclonal T cell expansions in atherosclerotic lesions of apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2000;20(1):10-17.
- **303.** Gerdes N, Sukhova GK, Libby P, Reynolds RS, Young JL, Schönbeck U. Expression of Interleukin (IL)-18 and Functional IL-18 Receptor on Human Vascular Endothelial Cells, Smooth Muscle Cells, and Macrophages: Implications for Atherogenesis. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 2002;195(2):245-257.
- **304.** Yla-Herttuala S, Palinski W, Butler SW, Picard S, Steinberg D, Witztum JL. Rabbit and human atherosclerotic lesions contain IgG that recognizes epitopes of oxidized LDL. *Arterioscler Thromb.* 1994;14(1):32-40.
- **305.** Wick G, Knoflach M, Xu Q. Autoimmune and inflammatory mechanisms in atherosclerosis. *Annu Rev Immunol.* 2004;22:361-403.
- **306.** Dansky HM, Charlton SA, Harper MM, Smith JD. T and B lymphocytes play a minor role in atherosclerotic plaque formation in the apolipoprotein E-deficient mouse. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 1997;94(9):4642-4646.
- **307.** Daugherty A, Pure E, Delfel-Butteiger D, Chen S, Leferovich J, Roselaar SE, Rader DJ. The effects of total lymphocyte deficiency on the extent of atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-/- mice. *J Clin Invest.* 1997;100(6):1575-1580.
- **308.** Zhou X, Nicoletti A, Elhage R, Hansson GK. Transfer of CD4(+) T cells aggravates atherosclerosis in immunodeficient apolipoprotein E knockout mice. *Circulation*. 2000;102(24):2919-2922.
- **309.** Song L, Leung C, Schindler C. Lymphocytes are important in early atherosclerosis. *J Clin Invest.* 2001;108(2):251-259.
- **310.** Reardon CA, Blachowicz L, White T, Cabana V, Wang Y, Lukens J, Bluestone J, Getz GS. Effect of immune deficiency on lipoproteins and atherosclerosis in male apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2001;21(6):1011-1016.
- **311.** Wade NS, Major AS. The problem of accelerated atherosclerosis in systemic lupus erythematosus: insights into a complex co-morbidity. *Thromb Haemost.* 2011;106(5):849-857.
- **312.** Kitas GD, Gabriel SE. Cardiovascular disease in rheumatoid arthritis: state of the art and future perspectives. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2011;70(1):8-14.
- **313.** Patel RV, Shelling ML, Prodanovich S, Federman DG, Kirsner RS. Psoriasis and vascular disease-risk factors and outcomes: a systematic review of the literature. *J Gen Intern Med.* 2011;26(9):1036-1049.
- **314.** Gordon SM, Deng J, Lu LJ, Davidson WS. Proteomic characterization of human plasma high density lipoprotein fractionated by gel filtration chromatography. *J Proteome Res.* 2010;9(10):5239-5249.
- **315.** Singaraja RR, Van Eck M, Bissada N, Zimetti F, Collins HL, Hildebrand RB, Hayden A, Brunham LR, Kang MH, Fruchart JC, Van Berkel TJ, Parks JS, Staels B, Rothblat GH, Fievet C, Hayden MR. Both hepatic and extrahepatic ABCA1 have discrete and essential functions in the maintenance of plasma high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels in vivo. *Circulation.* 2006;114(12):1301-1309.

- **316.** Glomset JA. The plasma lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase reaction. *Journal of Lipid Research.* 1968;9(2):155-167.
- **317.** Savel J, Lafitte M, Pucheu Y, Pradeau V, Tabarin A, Couffinhal T. Very low levels of HDL cholesterol and atherosclerosis, a variable relationship--a review of LCAT deficiency. *Vasc Health Risk Manag.* 2012;8:357-361.
- 318. Calabresi L, Pisciotta L, Costantin A, Frigerio I, Eberini I, Alessandrini P, Arca M, Bon GB, Boscutti G, Busnach G, Frasca G, Gesualdo L, Gigante M, Lupattelli G, Montali A, Pizzolitto S, Rabbone I, Rolleri M, Ruotolo G, Sampietro T, Sessa A, Vaudo G, Cantafora A, Veglia F, Calandra S, Bertolini S, Franceschini G. The molecular basis of lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase deficiency syndromes: a comprehensive study of molecular and biochemical findings in 13 unrelated Italian families. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2005;25(9):1972-1978.
- **319.** Kuivenhoven JA, Pritchard H, Hill J, Frohlich J, Assmann G, Kastelein J. The molecular pathology of lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT) deficiency syndromes. *J Lipid Res.* 1997;38(2):191-205.
- **320.** Main LA, Okumura-Noji K, Ohnishi T, Yokoyama S. Cholesteryl Ester Transfer Protein Reaction between Plasma Lipoproteins. *Journal of Biochemistry*. 1998;124(1):237-243.
- **321.** Mann CJ, Yen FT, Grant AM, Bihain BE. Mechanism of plasma cholesteryl ester transfer in hypertriglyceridemia. *J Clin Invest*. 1991;88(6):2059-2066.
- **322.** Syeda F, Senault C, Delplanque B, Le Roy B, Thaminy A, Gripois D, Blouquit MF, Ruelland A, Mendy F, Lutton C. Postprandial variations in the cholesteryl ester transfer protein activity, phospholipid transfer protein activity and plasma cholesterol efflux capacity in normolipidemic men. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* 2003;13(1):28-36.
- **323.** Collet X, Tall AR, Serajuddin H, Guendouzi K, Royer L, Oliveira H, Barbaras R, Jiang XC, Francone OL. Remodeling of HDL by CETP in vivo and by CETP and hepatic lipase in vitro results in enhanced uptake of HDL CE by cells expressing scavenger receptor B-I. *J Lipid Res.* 1999;40(7):1185-1193.
- **324.** Zhong S, Sharp DS, Grove JS, Bruce C, Yano K, Curb JD, Tall AR. Increased coronary heart disease in Japanese-American men with mutation in the cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene despite increased HDL levels. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 1996;97(12):2917-2923.
- **325.** Thompson A, Di Angelantonio E, Sarwar N, Erqou S, Saleheen D, Dullaart RP, Keavney B, Ye Z, Danesh J. Association of cholesteryl ester transfer protein genotypes with CETP mass and activity, lipid levels, and coronary risk. *Jama.* 2008;299(23):2777-2788.
- **326.** Marotti KR, Castle CK, Boyle TP, Lin AH, Murray RW, Melchior GW. Severe atherosclerosis in transgenic mice expressing simian cholesteryl ester transfer protein. *Nature*. 1993;364(6432):73-75.
- **327.** Hayek T, Masucci-Magoulas L, Jiang X, Walsh A, Rubin E, Breslow JL, Tall AR. Decreased early atherosclerotic lesions in hypertriglyceridemic mice expressing cholesteryl ester transfer protein transgene. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 1995;96(4):2071-2074.
- **328.** Massey JB, Hickson D, She HS, Sparrow JT, Via DP, Gotto AM, Jr., Pownall HJ. Measurement and prediction of the rates of spontaneous transfer of phospholipids between plasma lipoproteins. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 1984;794(2):274-280.
- **329.** Jiang XC, Bruce C, Mar J, Lin M, Ji Y, Francone OL, Tall AR. Targeted mutation of plasma phospholipid transfer protein gene markedly reduces high-density lipoprotein levels. *J Clin Invest*. 1999;103(6):907-914.
- **330.** Qin S, Kawano K, Bruce C, Lin M, Bisgaier C, Tall AR, Jiang X. Phospholipid transfer protein gene knock-out mice have low high density lipoprotein levels, due to

hypercatabolism, and accumulate apoA-IV-rich lamellar lipoproteins. *J Lipid Res.* 2000;41(2):269-276.

- **331.** van Haperen R, van Tol A, Vermeulen P, Jauhiainen M, van Gent T, van den Berg P, Ehnholm S, Grosveld F, van der Kamp A, de Crom R. Human plasma phospholipid transfer protein increases the antiatherogenic potential of high density lipoproteins in transgenic mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2000;20(4):1082-1088.
- **332.** Yang XP, Yan D, Qiao C, Liu RJ, Chen JG, Li J, Schneider M, Lagrost L, Xiao X, Jiang XC. Increased atherosclerotic lesions in apoE mice with plasma phospholipid transfer protein overexpression. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2003;23(9):1601-1607.
- **333.** Kunitake ST, Chen GC, Kung SF, Schilling JW, Hardman DA, Kane JP. Pre-beta high density lipoprotein. Unique disposition of apolipoprotein A-I increases susceptibility to proteolysis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology.* 1990;10(1):25-30.
- **334.** Wang H, Eckel RH. Lipoprotein lipase: from gene to obesity. *American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism.* 2009;297(2):E271-E288.
- **335.** Eckel RH. Lipoprotein lipase. A multifunctional enzyme relevant to common metabolic diseases. *N Engl J Med.* 1989;320(16):1060-1068.
- **336.** Murdoch SJ, Breckenridge WC. Influence of lipoprotein lipase and hepatic lipase on the transformation of VLDL and HDL during lipolysis of VLDL. *Atherosclerosis*. 1995;118(2):193-212.
- **337.** Beisiegel U, Weber W, Bengtsson-Olivecrona G. Lipoprotein lipase enhances the binding of chylomicrons to low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.* 1991;88(19):8342-8346.
- **338.** Mulder M, Lombardi P, Jansen H, van Berkel TJ, Frants RR, Havekes LM. Low density lipoprotein receptor internalizes low density and very low density lipoproteins that are bound to heparan sulfate proteoglycans via lipoprotein lipase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 1993;268(13):9369-9375.
- **339.** Williams KJ, Fless GM, Petrie KA, Snyder ML, Brocia RW, Swenson TL. Mechanisms by which lipoprotein lipase alters cellular metabolism of lipoprotein(a), low density lipoprotein, and nascent lipoproteins. Roles for low density lipoprotein receptors and heparan sulfate proteoglycans. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 1992;267(19):13284-13292.
- **340.** Rinninger F, Kaiser T, Mann WA, Meyer N, Greten H, Beisiegel U. Lipoprotein lipase mediates an increase in the selective uptake of high density lipoprotein-associated cholesteryl esters by hepatic cells in culture. *Journal of Lipid Research.* 1998;39(7):1335-1348.
- **341.** Rinninger F BM, Brosch I, Donarski N, Budzinski RM, Greten H. lipoprotein lipase mediates an increase in selective uptake of HDL-associated cholesteryl esters by cells in culture independent of scavenger receptor BI. *J lipid Res.* 2001;42(11):1740-1751.
- **342.** Sagoo GS, Tatt I, Salanti G, Butterworth AS, Sarwar N, van Maarle M, Jukema JW, Wiman B, Kastelein JJP, Bennet AM, de Faire U, Danesh J, Higgins JPT. Seven Lipoprotein Lipase Gene Polymorphisms, Lipid Fractions, and Coronary Disease: A HuGE Association Review and Meta-Analysis. *American Journal of Epidemiology*. 2008;168(11):1233-1246.
- **343.** Waite M, Thuren TY, Wilcox RW, Sisson PJ, Kucera GL. [30] Purification and substrate specificity of rat hepatic lipase. In: Edward AD, ed. *Methods in Enzymology*. Vol Volume 197: Academic Press; 1991:331-339.
- **344.** Lambert G CM, Dugi K, Bensadoun A, Brewer HB, Santamarina-Fojo S. . hepatic lipase promotes the selective uptake of high density lipoprotein-cholesteryl esters via the scavenger receptor B1. *J lipid Res.* 1999;40:1294-1303

- **345.** Rye KA, Clay MA, Barter PJ. remodeling of high density lipoproteins by plasma factors. *Atherosclerosis.* 1999;145:227-238
- **346.** Brinton EA ES, Breslow JL. Human HDL choleserol levels are determined by ApoA-I fractional catabolic rate, which correlates inversely with estimates of HDL particle size. *Artioscler Thromb.* 1994;14:707-720.
- **347.** EA. B. Oral estrogen replacement therapy in postmenopausal women selectively raises levels and production rates of lipoprotein A-I and lowers hepatic lipase activity without lowering the fractional catabolic rate. *Arterioscler Thromb* 1996;16:431-440.
- **348.** Breckenridge WC, Little JA, Alaupovic P, Wang CS, Kuksis A, Kakis G, Lindgren F, Gardiner G. Lipoprotein abnormalities associated with a familial deficiency of hepatic lipase. *Atherosclerosis.* 1982;45(2):161-179.
- 349. Jansen H, Verhoeven AJM, Weeks L, Kastelein JJP, Halley DJJ, van den Ouweland A, Jukema JW, Seidell JC, Birkenhäger JC. Common C-to-T Substitution at Position –480 of the Hepatic Lipase Promoter Associated With a Lowered Lipase Activity in Coronary Artery Disease Patients. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*. 1997;17(11):2837-2842.
- **350.** Weng W BN, Zhong SB, Halkias J, Wu L, Jiang XC, et al. ApoA-II maintains HDL levels in part by inhibition of hepatic lipase: studies in apoA-II and hepatic lipase double knockout mice. *J lipid Res.* 1999;40:1064-1070.
- **351.** Fan J WJ, Bensadoun A, Lauer SJ, Dang Q, Mahley RW, Taylor JM et al. overexpression of hepatic lipase in transgenic rabbits leads to marked reduction of plasma high density lipoproteins and intermediate density lipoproteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 1994;91:8724-8728.
- **352.** Busch SJ BR, Martin GA, Fitzgerald MC, Yates MT, Mao SJ, et al. Human hepatic triglyceride lipase expression reduced high density lipoprotein and aortic cholesterol in cholesterol-fed transgenic mice. *J Biol Chem.* 1994;269:16376-16382.
- **353.** Yasuda T, Ishida T, Rader DJ. Update on the role of endothelial lipase in high-density lipoprotein metabolism, reverse cholesterol transport, and atherosclerosis. *Circ J.* 2010;74(11):2263-2270.
- **354.** Jaye M, Lynch KJ, Krawiec J, Marchadier D, Maugeais C, Doan K, South V, Amin D, Perrone M, Rader DJ. A novel endothelial-derived lipase that modulates HDL metabolism. *Nat Genet.* 1999;21(4):424-428.
- **355.** Nijstad N, Wiersma H, Gautier T, van der Giet M, Maugeais C, Tietge UJ. Scavenger receptor BI-mediated selective uptake is required for the remodeling of high density lipoprotein by endothelial lipase. *J Biol Chem.* 2009;284(10):6093-6100.
- **356.** Maugeais C, Tietge UJ, Broedl UC, Marchadier D, Cain W, McCoy MG, Lund-Katz S, Glick JM, Rader DJ. Dose-dependent acceleration of high-density lipoprotein catabolism by endothelial lipase. *Circulation*. 2003;108(17):2121-2126.
- **357.** Brown RJ, Lagor WR, Sankaranaravanan S, Yasuda T, Quertermous T, Rothblat GH, Rader DJ. Impact of combined deficiency of hepatic lipase and endothelial lipase on the metabolism of both high-density lipoproteins and apolipoprotein B-containing lipoproteins. *Circ Res.* 2010;107(3):357-364.
- **358.** Yamakawa-Kobayashi K, Yanagi H, Endo K, Arinami T, Hamaguchi H. Relationship between serum HDL-C levels and common genetic variants of the endothelial lipase gene in Japanese school-aged children. *Hum Genet.* 2003;113(4):311-315.

- **359.** Mank-Seymour AR, Durham KL, Thompson JF, Seymour AB, Milos PM. Association between single-nucleotide polymorphisms in the endothelial lipase (LIPG) gene and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2004;1636(1):40-46.
- **360.** Edmondson AC, Brown RJ, Kathiresan S, Cupples LA, Demissie S, Manning AK, Jensen MK, Rimm EB, Wang J, Rodrigues A, Bamba V, Khetarpal SA, Wolfe ML, Derohannessian S, Li M, Reilly MP, Aberle J, Evans D, Hegele RA, Rader DJ. Loss-of-function variants in endothelial lipase are a cause of elevated HDL cholesterol in humans. *J Clin Invest.* 2009;119(4):1042-1050.
- **361.** Gordon T, Castelli WP, Hjortland MC, Kannel WB, Dawber TR. High density lipoprotein as a protective factor against coronary heart disease: The Framingham study. *The American journal of medicine*. 1977;62(5):707-714.
- **362.** Castelli WP, Garrison RJ, Wilson PW, Abbott RD, Kalousdian S, Kannel WB. Incidence of coronary heart disease and lipoprotein cholesterol levels. The Framingham Study. *Jama*. 1986;256(20):2835-2838.
- **363.** Genest JJ, McNamara JR, Salem DN, Schaefer EJ. Prevalence of risk factors in men with premature coronary artery disease. *The American Journal of Cardiology*. 1991;67(15):1185-1189.
- **364.** Niacin in Patients with Low HDL Cholesterol Levels Receiving Intensive Statin Therapy. *New England Journal of Medicine.* 2011;365(24):2255-2267.
- **365.** Hps-2-Thrive. Niacin causes serious unexpected side-effects, but no worthwhile benefits, for patients who are at increased risk for heart attacks and strokes. *press release.* 2013.
- 366. Voight BF, Peloso GM, Orho-Melander M, Frikke-Schmidt R, Barbalic M, Jensen MK, Hindy G, Holm H, Ding EL, Johnson T, Schunkert H, Samani NJ, Clarke R, Hopewell JC, Thompson JF, Li M, Thorleifsson G, Newton-Cheh C, Musunuru K, Pirruccello JP, Saleheen D, Chen L, Stewart A, Schillert A, Thorsteinsdottir U, Thorgeirsson G, Anand S, Engert JC, Morgan T, Spertus J, Stoll M, Berger K, Martinelli N, Girelli D, McKeown PP, Patterson CC, Epstein SE, Devaney J, Burnett MS, Mooser V, Ripatti S, Surakka I, Nieminen MS, Sinisalo J, Lokki ML, Perola M, Havulinna A, de Faire U, Gigante B, Ingelsson E, Zeller T, Wild P, de Bakker PI, Klungel OH, Maitland-van der Zee AH, Peters BJ, de Boer A, Grobbee DE, Kamphuisen PW, Deneer VH, Elbers CC, Onland-Moret NC, Hofker MH, Wijmenga C, Verschuren WM, Boer JM, van der Schouw YT, Rasheed A, Frossard P, Demissie S, Willer C, Do R, Ordovas JM, Abecasis GR, Boehnke M, Mohlke KL, Daly MJ, Guiducci C, Burtt NP, Surti A, Gonzalez E, Purcell S, Gabriel S, Marrugat J, Peden J, Erdmann J, Diemert P, Willenborg C, Konig IR, Fischer M, Hengstenberg C, Ziegler A, Buysschaert I, Lambrechts D, Van de Werf F, Fox KA, El Mokhtari NE, Rubin D, Schrezenmeir J, Schreiber S, Schafer A, Danesh J, Blankenberg S, Roberts R, McPherson R, Watkins H, Hall AS, Overvad K, Rimm E, Boerwinkle E, Tybjaerg-Hansen A, Cupples LA, Reilly MP, Melander O, Mannucci PM, Ardissino D, Siscovick D, Elosua R, Stefansson K, O'Donnell CJ, Salomaa V, Rader DJ, Peltonen L, Schwartz SM, Altshuler D, Kathiresan S. Plasma HDL cholesterol and risk of myocardial infarction: a mendelian randomisation study. Lancet. 2012;380(9841):572-580.
- **367.** Barter PJ, Caulfield M, Eriksson M, Grundy SM, Kastelein JJP, Komajda M, Lopez-Sendon J, Mosca L, Tardif J-C, Waters DD, Shear CL, Revkin JH, Buhr KA, Fisher MR, Tall AR, Brewer B. Effects of Torcetrapib in Patients at High Risk for Coronary Events. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2007;357(21):2109-2122.
- **368.** The role of niacin in raising high-density lipoprotein cholesterol to reduce cardiovascular events in patients with atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease and optimally treated low-

density lipoprotein cholesterol: baseline characteristics of study participants. The Atherothrombosis Intervention in Metabolic syndrome with low HDL/high triglycerides: impact on Global Health outcomes (AIM-HIGH) trial. *Am Heart J.* 2011;161(3):538-543.

- **369.** Braun A, Trigatti BL, Post MJ, Sato K, Simons M, Edelberg JM, Rosenberg RD, Schrenzel M, Krieger M. Loss of SR-BI Expression Leads to the Early Onset of Occlusive Atherosclerotic Coronary Artery Disease, Spontaneous Myocardial Infarctions, Severe Cardiac Dysfunction, and Premature Death in Apolipoprotein E–Deficient Mice. *Circulation Research.* 2002;90(3):270-276.
- **370.** Mackey RH, Greenland P, Goff DC, Jr., Lloyd-Jones D, Sibley CT, Mora S. High-density lipoprotein cholesterol and particle concentrations, carotid atherosclerosis, and coronary events: MESA (multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis). *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2012;60(6):508-516.
- **371.** Khera AV, Cuchel M, de la Llera-Moya M, Rodrigues A, Burke MF, Jafri K, French BC, Phillips JA, Mucksavage ML, Wilensky RL, Mohler ER, Rothblat GH, Rader DJ. Cholesterol efflux capacity, high-density lipoprotein function, and atherosclerosis. *N Engl J Med.* 2011;364(2):127-135.
- **372.** Assmann G, Nofer JR. Atheroprotective effects of high-density lipoproteins. *Annu Rev Med.* 2003;54:321-341.
- **373.** von Eckardstein A, Nofer JR, Assmann G. High density lipoproteins and arteriosclerosis. Role of cholesterol efflux and reverse cholesterol transport. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2001;21(1):13-27.
- **374.** Rothblat GH, Phillips MC. High-density lipoprotein heterogeneity and function in reverse cholesterol transport. *Curr Opin Lipidol.* 2010;21(3):229-238.
- **375.** Lewis GF, Rader DJ. New insights into the regulation of HDL metabolism and reverse cholesterol transport. *Circ Res.* 2005;96(12):1221-1232.
- 376. Brooks-Wilson A, Marcil M, Clee SM, Zhang LH, Roomp K, van Dam M, Yu L, Brewer C, Collins JA, Molhuizen HO, Loubser O, Ouelette BF, Fichter K, Ashbourne-Excoffon KJ, Sensen CW, Scherer S, Mott S, Denis M, Martindale D, Frohlich J, Morgan K, Koop B, Pimstone S, Kastelein JJ, Genest J, Jr., Hayden MR. Mutations in ABC1 in Tangier disease and familial high-density lipoprotein deficiency. *Nat Genet.* 1999;22(4):336-345.
- **377.** Rust S, Rosier M, Funke H, Real J, Amoura Z, Piette JC, Deleuze JF, Brewer HB, Duverger N, Denefle P, Assmann G. Tangier disease is caused by mutations in the gene encoding ATP-binding cassette transporter 1. *Nat Genet.* 1999;22(4):352-355.
- **378.** Bodzioch M, Orso E, Klucken J, Langmann T, Bottcher A, Diederich W, Drobnik W, Barlage S, Buchler C, Porsch-Ozcurumez M, Kaminski WE, Hahmann HW, Oette K, Rothe G, Aslanidis C, Lackner KJ, Schmitz G. The gene encoding ATP-binding cassette transporter 1 is mutated in Tangier disease. *Nat Genet.* 1999;22(4):347-351.
- **379.** McNeish J, Aiello RJ, Guyot D, Turi T, Gabel C, Aldinger C, Hoppe KL, Roach ML, Royer LJ, de Wet J, Broccardo C, Chimini G, Francone OL. High density lipoprotein deficiency and foam cell accumulation in mice with targeted disruption of ATP-binding cassette transporter-1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.* 2000;97(8):4245-4250.
- **380.** van Eck M, Bos IS, Kaminski WE, Orso E, Rothe G, Twisk J, Bottcher A, Van Amersfoort ES, Christiansen-Weber TA, Fung-Leung WP, Van Berkel TJ, Schmitz G. Leukocyte ABCA1 controls susceptibility to atherosclerosis and macrophage recruitment into tissues. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 2002;99(9):6298-6303.
- **381.** Rosenson RS, Brewer HB, Jr., Davidson WS, Fayad ZA, Fuster V, Goldstein J, Hellerstein M, Jiang XC, Phillips MC, Rader DJ, Remaley AT, Rothblat GH, Tall AR, Yvan-Charvet L.

Cholesterol efflux and atheroprotection: advancing the concept of reverse cholesterol transport. *Circulation*. 2012;125(15):1905-1919.

- **382.** de la Llera-Moya M, Rothblat GH, Connelly MA, Kellner-Weibel G, Sakr SW, Phillips MC, Williams DL. Scavenger receptor BI (SR-BI) mediates free cholesterol flux independently of HDL tethering to the cell surface. *J Lipid Res.* 1999;40(3):575-580.
- **383.** Hirano K-i, Yamashita S, Nakagawa Y, Ohya T, Matsuura F, Tsukamoto K, Okamoto Y, Matsuyama A, Matsumoto K, Miyagawa J-i, Matsuzawa Y. Expression of Human Scavenger Receptor Class B Type I in Cultured Human Monocyte-Derived Macrophages and Atherosclerotic Lesions. *Circulation Research.* 1999;85(1):108-116.
- **384.** Sankaranarayanan S, Oram JF, Asztalos BF, Vaughan AM, Lund-Katz S, Adorni MP, Phillips MC, Rothblat GH. Effects of acceptor composition and mechanism of ABCG1-mediated cellular free cholesterol efflux. *J Lipid Res.* 2009;50(2):275-284.
- 385. Tarling EJ, Edwards PA. ATP binding cassette transporter G1 (ABCG1) is an intracellular sterol transporter. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2011;108(49):19719-19724.
- **386.** Tall AR, Costet P, Wang N. Regulation and mechanisms of macrophage cholesterol efflux. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 2002;110(7):899-904.
- **387.** Lim HY, Thiam CH, Yeo KP, Bisoendial R, Hii CS, McGrath KC, Tan KW, Heather A, Alexander JS, Angeli V. Lymphatic vessels are essential for the removal of cholesterol from peripheral tissues by SR-BI-mediated transport of HDL. *Cell Metab.* 2013;17(5):671-684.
- 388. Martel C, Li W, Fulp B, Platt AM, Gautier EL, Westerterp M, Bittman R, Tall AR, Chen SH, Thomas MJ, Kreisel D, Swartz MA, Sorci-Thomas MG, Randolph GJ. Lymphatic vasculature mediates macrophage reverse cholesterol transport in mice. J Clin Invest. 2013;123(4):1571-1579.
- **389.** Robert J, Lehner M, Frank S, Perisa D, von Eckardstein A, Rohrer L. Interleukin 6 stimulates endothelial binding and transport of high-density lipoprotein through induction of endothelial lipase. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2013;33(12):2699-2706.
- **390.** Rohrer L, Ohnsorg PM, Lehner M, Landolt F, Rinninger F, von Eckardstein A. High-density lipoprotein transport through aortic endothelial cells involves scavenger receptor BI and ATP-binding cassette transporter G1. *Circ Res.* 2009;104(10):1142-1150.
- **391.** van der Velde AE, Brufau G, Groen AK. Transintestinal cholesterol efflux. *Curr Opin Lipidol.* 2010;21(3):167-171.
- **392.** Vrins CLJ, Ottenhoff R, van den Oever K, de Waart DR, Kruyt JK, Zhao Y, van Berkel TJC, Havekes LM, Aerts JM, van Eck M, Rensen PCN, Groen AK. Trans-intestinal cholesterol efflux is not mediated through high density lipoprotein. *Journal of Lipid Research*. 2012;53(10):2017-2023.
- **393.** Zhang Y, Zanotti I, Reilly MP, Glick JM, Rothblat GH, Rader DJ. Overexpression of Apolipoprotein A-I Promotes Reverse Transport of Cholesterol From Macrophages to Feces In Vivo. *Circulation.* 2003;108(6):661-663.
- **394.** Rashid S, Patterson BW, Lewis GF. Thematic review series: Patient-Oriented Research. What have we learned about HDL metabolism from kinetics studies in humans? *Journal* of Lipid Research. 2006;47(8):1631-1642.
- **395.** Turner S, Voogt J, Davidson M, Glass A, Killion S, Decaris J, Mohammed H, Minehira K, Boban D, Murphy E, Luchoomun J, Awada M, Neese R, Hellerstein M. Measurement of Reverse Cholesterol Transport Pathways in Humans: In Vivo Rates of Free Cholesterol Efflux, Esterification, and Excretion. *Journal of the American Heart Association*. 2012;1(4).

- **396.** Navab M, Hama SY, Hough GP, Subbanagounder G, Reddy ST, Fogelman AM. A cell-free assay for detecting HDL that is dysfunctional in preventing the formation of or inactivating oxidized phospholipids. *Journal of Lipid Research*. 2001;42(8):1308-1317.
- **397.** Navab M, Imes SS, Hama SY, Hough GP, Ross LA, Bork RW, Valente AJ, Berliner JA, Drinkwater DC, Laks H, et al. Monocyte transmigration induced by modification of low density lipoprotein in cocultures of human aortic wall cells is due to induction of monocyte chemotactic protein 1 synthesis and is abolished by high density lipoprotein. *J Clin Invest.* 1991;88(6):2039-2046.
- **398.** Mackness MI, Arrol S, Durrington PN. Paraoxonase prevents accumulation of lipoperoxides in low-density lipoprotein. *FEBS Letters*. 1991;286(1–2):152-154.
- Watson AD, Berliner JA, Hama SY, La Du BN, Faull KF, Fogelman AM, Navab M.
 Protective effect of high density lipoprotein associated paraoxonase. Inhibition of the biological activity of minimally oxidized low density lipoprotein. J Clin Invest. 1995;96(6):2882-2891.
- **400.** Watson AD, Navab M, Hama SY, Sevanian A, Prescott SM, Stafforini DM, McIntyre TM, Du BN, Fogelman AM, Berliner JA. Effect of platelet activating factor-acetylhydrolase on the formation and action of minimally oxidized low density lipoprotein. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 1995;95(2):774-782.
- **401.** Aviram M, Billecke S, Sorenson R, Bisgaier C, Newton R, Rosenblat M, Erogul J, Hsu C, Dunlop C, La Du B. Paraoxonase active site required for protection against LDL oxidation involves its free sulfhydryl group and is different from that required for its arylesterase/paraoxonase activities: selective action of human paraoxonase allozymes Q and R. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1998;18(10):1617-1624.
- **402.** Zerrad-Saadi A, Therond P, Chantepie S, Couturier M, Rye KA, Chapman MJ, Kontush A. HDL3-mediated inactivation of LDL-associated phospholipid hydroperoxides is determined by the redox status of apolipoprotein A-I and HDL particle surface lipid rigidity: relevance to inflammation and atherogenesis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2009;29(12):2169-2175.
- **403.** Garner B, Waldeck AR, Witting PK, Rye KA, Stocker R. Oxidation of high density lipoproteins. II. Evidence for direct reduction of lipid hydroperoxides by methionine residues of apolipoproteins AI and AII. *J Biol Chem.* 1998;273(11):6088-6095.
- **404.** Uittenbogaard A, Shaul PW, Yuhanna IS, Blair A, Smart EJ. High density lipoprotein prevents oxidized low density lipoprotein-induced inhibition of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase localization and activation in caveolae. *J Biol Chem.* 2000;275(15):11278-11283.
- **405.** Galle J, Ochslen M, Schollmeyer P, Wanner C. Oxidized lipoproteins inhibit endotheliumdependent vasodilation. Effects of pressure and high-density lipoprotein. *Hypertension*. 1994;23(5):556-564.
- **406.** Li XA, Titlow WB, Jackson BA, Giltiay N, Nikolova-Karakashian M, Uittenbogaard A, Smart EJ. High density lipoprotein binding to scavenger receptor, Class B, type I activates endothelial nitric-oxide synthase in a ceramide-dependent manner. *J Biol Chem.* 2002;277(13):11058-11063.
- **407.** Yuhanna IS, Zhu Y, Cox BE, Hahner LD, Osborne-Lawrence S, Lu P, Marcel YL, Anderson RG, Mendelsohn ME, Hobbs HH, Shaul PW. High-density lipoprotein binding to scavenger receptor-BI activates endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Nat Med.* 2001;7(7):853-857.
- **408.** Nofer JR, van der Giet M, Tolle M, Wolinska I, von Wnuck Lipinski K, Baba HA, Tietge UJ, Godecke A, Ishii I, Kleuser B, Schafers M, Fobker M, Zidek W, Assmann G, Chun J, Levkau

B. HDL induces NO-dependent vasorelaxation via the lysophospholipid receptor S1P3. *J Clin Invest.* 2004;113(4):569-581.

- **409.** Terasaka N, Yu S, Yvan-Charvet L, Wang N, Mzhavia N, Langlois R, Pagler T, Li R, Welch CL, Goldberg IJ, Tall AR. ABCG1 and HDL protect against endothelial dysfunction in mice fed a high-cholesterol diet. *J Clin Invest.* 2008;118(11):3701-3713.
- **410.** Van Lenten BJ, Hama SY, de Beer FC, Stafforini DM, McIntyre TM, Prescott SM, La Du BN, Fogelman AM, Navab M. Anti-inflammatory HDL becomes pro-inflammatory during the acute phase response. Loss of protective effect of HDL against LDL oxidation in aortic wall cell cocultures. *J Clin Invest.* 1995;96(6):2758-2767.
- **411.** Levine DM, Parker TS, Donnelly TM, Walsh A, Rubin AL. In vivo protection against endotoxin by plasma high density lipoprotein. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.* 1993;90(24):12040-12044.
- **412.** Triolo M, Annema W, Dullaart RP, Tietge UJ. Assessing the functional properties of highdensity lipoproteins: an emerging concept in cardiovascular research. *Biomark Med.* 2013;7(3):457-472.
- **413.** Park SH, Park JH, Kang JS, Kang YH. Involvement of transcription factors in plasma HDL protection against TNF-alpha-induced vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 expression. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol.* 2003;35(2):168-182.
- **414.** Xia P, Vadas MA, Rye KA, Barter PJ, Gamble JR. High density lipoproteins (HDL) interrupt the sphingosine kinase signaling pathway. A possible mechanism for protection against atherosclerosis by HDL. *J Biol Chem.* 1999;274(46):33143-33147.
- **415.** Galbois A, Thabut D, Tazi KA, Rudler M, Mohammadi MS, Bonnefont-Rousselot D, Bennani H, Bezeaud A, Tellier Z, Guichard C, Coant N, Ogier-Denis E, Moreau R, Lebrec D. Ex vivo effects of high-density lipoprotein exposure on the lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory response in patients with severe cirrhosis. *Hepatology*. 2009;49(1):175-184.
- **416.** Grunfeld C, Feingold KR. HDL and innate immunity: a tale of two apolipoproteins. *J Lipid Res.* 2008;49(8):1605-1606.
- **417.** Zhu X, Lee JY, Timmins JM, Brown JM, Boudyguina E, Mulya A, Gebre AK, Willingham MC, Hiltbold EM, Mishra N, Maeda N, Parks JS. Increased cellular free cholesterol in macrophage-specific Abca1 knock-out mice enhances pro-inflammatory response of macrophages. *J Biol Chem.* 2008;283(34):22930-22941.
- **418.** Pentikäinen MO, Öörni K, Ala-Korpela M, Kovanen PT. Modified LDL trigger of atherosclerosis and inflammation in the arterial intima. *Journal of Internal Medicine*. 2000;247(3):359-370.
- **419.** Cherukuri A, Dykstra M, Pierce SK. Floating the raft hypothesis: lipid rafts play a role in immune cell activation. *Immunity*. 2001;14(6):657-660.
- **420.** Smythies LE, White CR, Maheshwari A, Palgunachari MN, Anantharamaiah GM, Chaddha M, Kurundkar AR, Datta G. Apolipoprotein A-I mimetic 4F alters the function of human monocyte-derived macrophages. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 2010;298(6):C1538-1548.
- **421.** Calabresi L, Franceschini G, Sirtori CR, de Palma A, Saresella M, Ferrante P, Taramelli D. Inhibition of VCAM-1 Expression in Endothelial Cells by Reconstituted High Density Lipoproteins. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. 1997;238(1):61-65.
- **422.** Cockerill GW, Rye KA, Gamble JR, Vadas MA, Barter PJ. High-density lipoproteins inhibit cytokine-induced expression of endothelial cell adhesion molecules. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1995;15(11):1987-1994.

- 269
- **423.** Feig JE, Rong JX, Shamir R, Sanson M, Vengrenyuk Y, Liu J, Rayner K, Moore K, Garabedian M, Fisher EA. HDL promotes rapid atherosclerosis regression in mice and alters inflammatory properties of plaque monocyte-derived cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2011;108(17):7166-7171.
- **424.** Shah PK, Yano J, Reyes O, Chyu K-Y, Kaul S, Bisgaier CL, Drake S, Cercek B. High-Dose Recombinant Apolipoprotein A-IMilano Mobilizes Tissue Cholesterol and Rapidly Reduces Plaque Lipid and Macrophage Content in Apolipoprotein E–Deficient Mice : Potential Implications for Acute Plaque Stabilization. *Circulation*. 2001;103(25):3047-3050.
- **425.** Tangirala RK, Tsukamoto K, Chun SH, Usher D, Puré E, Rader DJ. Regression of Atherosclerosis Induced by Liver-Directed Gene Transfer of Apolipoprotein A-I in Mice. *Circulation.* 1999;100(17):1816-1822.
- **426.** Tsukamoto K, Tangirala R, Chun SH, Puré E, Rader DJ. Rapid Regression of Atherosclerosis Induced by Liver-Directed Gene Transfer of ApoE in ApoE-Deficient Mice. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology.* 1999;19(9):2162-2170.
- **427.** Choudhury RP, Rong JX, Trogan E, Elmalem VI, Dansky HM, Breslow JL, Witztum JL, Fallon JT, Fisher EA. High-Density Lipoproteins Retard the Progression of Atherosclerosis and Favorably Remodel Lesions Without Suppressing Indices of Inflammation or Oxidation. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology.* 2004;24(10):1904-1909.
- **428.** Mohammadpour AH, Akhlaghi F. Future of cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) inhibitors: a pharmacological perspective. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 2013;52(8):615-626.
- **429.** Plump AS, Scott CJ, Breslow JL. Human apolipoprotein A-I gene expression increases high density lipoprotein and suppresses atherosclerosis in the apolipoprotein E-deficient mouse. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.* 1994;91(20):9607-9611.
- **430.** Feig JE, Rong JX, Shamir R, Sanson M, Vengrenyuk Y, Liu J, Rayner K, Moore K, Garabedian M, Fisher EA. HDL promotes rapid atherosclerosis regression in mice and alters inflammatory properties of plaque monocyte-derived cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2011;108(17):7166-7171.
- **431.** Shaw JA, Bobik A, Murphy A, Kanellakis P, Blombery P, Mukhamedova N, Woollard K, Lyon S, Sviridov D, Dart AM. Infusion of Reconstituted High-Density Lipoprotein Leads to Acute Changes in Human Atherosclerotic Plaque. *Circulation Research*. 2008;103(10):1084-1091.
- **432.** Berge KG, Canner PL. Coronary drug project: experience with niacin. Coronary Drug Project Research Group. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 1991;40 Suppl 1:S49-51.
- **433.** Kamanna VS, Kashyap ML. Mechanism of action of niacin on lipoprotein metabolism. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* 2000;2(1):36-46.
- **434.** Plump AS, Masucci-Magoulas L, Bruce C, Bisgaier CL, Breslow JL, Tall AR. Increased atherosclerosis in ApoE and LDL receptor gene knock-out mice as a result of human cholesteryl ester transfer protein transgene expression. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1999;19(4):1105-1110.
- **435.** de Vries R, Perton FG, Dallinga-Thie GM, van Roon AM, Wolffenbuttel BH, van Tol A, Dullaart RP. Plasma cholesteryl ester transfer is a determinant of intima-media thickness in type 2 diabetic and nondiabetic subjects: role of CETP and triglycerides. *Diabetes*. 2005;54(12):3554-3559.
- **436.** Foger B, Luef G, Ritsch A, Schmidauer C, Doblinger A, Lechleitner M, Aichner F, Patsch JR. Relationship of high-density lipoprotein subfractions and cholesteryl ester transfer protein in plasma to carotid artery wall thickness. *J Mol Med (Berl)*. 1995;73(7):369-372.

- **437.** Inazu A, Brown ML, Hesler CB, Agellon LB, Koizumi J, Takata K, Maruhama Y, Mabuchi H, Tall AR. Increased high-density lipoprotein levels caused by a common cholesteryl-ester transfer protein gene mutation. *N Engl J Med.* 1990;323(18):1234-1238.
- **438.** Okamoto H, Yonemori F, Wakitani K, Minowa T, Maeda K, Shinkai H. A cholesteryl ester transfer protein inhibitor attenuates atherosclerosis in rabbits. *Nature*. 2000;406(6792):203-207.
- **439.** Rader D. Raising HDL in Clinical Practice: Clinical Strategies to Elevate HDL. *Medscape*.
- **440.** Wierzbicki AS, Mikhailidis DP, Wray R, Schachter M, Cramb R, Simpson WG, Byrne CB. Statin-fibrate combination therapy for hyperlipidaemia: a review. *Current Medical Research and Opinion.* 2003;19(3):155-168.
- **441.** Rubins HB, Robins SJ, Collins D, Fye CL, Anderson JW, Elam MB, Faas FH, Linares E, Schaefer EJ, Schectman G, Wilt TJ, Wittes J. Gemfibrozil for the Secondary Prevention of Coronary Heart Disease in Men with Low Levels of High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 1999;341(6):410-418.
- **442.** Ericsson CG, Hamsten A, Nilsson J, Grip L, Svane B, de Faire U. Angiographic assessment of effects of bezafibrate on progression of coronary artery disease in young male postinfarction patients. *Lancet.* 1996;347(9005):849-853.
- **443.** Sacks FM, Carey VJ, Fruchart JC. Combination lipid therapy in type 2 diabetes. *N Engl J Med.* 2010;363(7):692-694; author reply 694-695.
- **444.** Rubin EM, Krauss RM, Spangler EA, Verstuyft JG, Clift SM. Inhibition of early atherogenesis in transgenic mice by human apolipoprotein AI. *Nature*. 1991;353(6341):265-267.
- **445.** Srivastava RA, Srivastava N. High density lipoprotein, apolipoprotein A-I, and coronary artery disease. *Mol Cell Biochem.* 2000;209(1-2):131-144.
- **446.** Malik S. Transcriptional regulation of the apolipoprotein AI gene. *Front Biosci.* 2003;8:d360-368.
- **447.** Mensink RP, Zock PL, Kester AD, Katan MB. Effects of dietary fatty acids and carbohydrates on the ratio of serum total to HDL cholesterol and on serum lipids and apolipoproteins: a meta-analysis of 60 controlled trials. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2003;77(5):1146-1155.
- **448.** Santos FL, Esteves SS, da Costa Pereira A, Yancy Jr WS, Nunes JPL. Systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical trials of the effects of low carbohydrate diets on cardiovascular risk factors. *Obesity Reviews*. 2012;13(11):1048-1066.
- **449.** Vélez-Carrasco W, Lichtenstein AH, Welty FK, Li Z, Lamon-Fava S, Dolnikowski GG, Schaefer EJ. Dietary Restriction of Saturated Fat and Cholesterol Decreases HDL ApoA-I Secretion. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology.* 1999;19(4):918-924.
- **450.** Brinton EA, Eisenberg S, Breslow JL. Increased apo A-I and apo A-II fractional catabolic rate in patients with low high density lipoprotein-cholesterol levels with or without hypertriglyceridemia. *J Clin Invest.* 1991;87(2):536-544.
- **451.** Brinton EA, Eisenberg S, Breslow JL. Elevated high density lipoprotein cholesterol levels correlate with decreased apolipoprotein A-I and A-II fractional catabolic rate in women. *J Clin Invest.* 1989;84(1):262-269.
- **452.** Brinton EA, Eisenberg S, Breslow JL. Human HDL cholesterol levels are determined by apoA-I fractional catabolic rate, which correlates inversely with estimates of HDL particle size. Effects of gender, hepatic and lipoprotein lipases, triglyceride and insulin levels, and body fat distribution. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology.* 1994;14(5):707-720.

- **453.** Badimon JJ, Badimon L, Fuster V. Regression of atherosclerotic lesions by high density lipoprotein plasma fraction in the cholesterol-fed rabbit. *J Clin Invest*. 1990;85(4):1234-1241.
- **454.** Parolini C, Marchesi M, Lorenzon P, Castano M, Balconi E, Miragoli L, Chaabane L, Morisetti A, Lorusso V, Martin BJ, Bisgaier CL, Krause B, Newton RS, Sirtori CR, Chiesa G. Dose-related effects of repeated ETC-216 (recombinant apolipoprotein A-I Milano/1palmitoyl-2-oleoyl phosphatidylcholine complexes) administrations on rabbit lipid-rich soft plaques: in vivo assessment by intravascular ultrasound and magnetic resonance imaging. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2008;51(11):1098-1103.
- **455.** Chiesa G, Monteggia E, Marchesi M, Lorenzon P, Laucello M, Lorusso V, Di Mario C, Karvouni E, Newton RS, Bisgaier CL, Franceschini G, Sirtori CR. Recombinant Apolipoprotein A-IMilano Infusion Into Rabbit Carotid Artery Rapidly Removes Lipid From Fatty Streaks. *Circulation Research*. 2002;90(9):974-980.
- **456.** Barter PJ, Nicholls S, Rye KA, Anantharamaiah GM, Navab M, Fogelman AM. Antiinflammatory properties of HDL. *Circ Res.* 2004;95(8):764-772.
- **457.** Dimayuga P, Zhu J, Oguchi S, Chyu KY, Xu XO, Yano J, Shah PK, Nilsson J, Cercek B. Reconstituted HDL containing human apolipoprotein A-1 reduces VCAM-1 expression and neointima formation following periadventitial cuff-induced carotid injury in apoE null mice. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1999;264(2):465-468.
- **458.** Nicholls SJ, Dusting GJ, Cutri B, Bao S, Drummond GR, Rye KA, Barter PJ. Reconstituted high-density lipoproteins inhibit the acute pro-oxidant and proinflammatory vascular changes induced by a periarterial collar in normocholesterolemic rabbits. *Circulation*. 2005;111(12):1543-1550.
- **459.** Waksman R, Torguson R, Kent KM, Pichard AD, Suddath WO, Satler LF, Martin BD, Perlman TJ, Maltais JA, Weissman NJ, Fitzgerald PJ, Brewer HB, Jr. A first-in-man, randomized, placebo-controlled study to evaluate the safety and feasibility of autologous delipidated high-density lipoprotein plasma infusions in patients with acute coronary syndrome. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2010;55(24):2727-2735.
- **460.** Bailey D, Jahagirdar R, Gordon A, Hafiane A, Campbell S, Chatur S, Wagner GS, Hansen HC, Chiacchia FS, Johansson J, Krimbou L, Wong NC, Genest J. RVX-208: a small molecule that increases apolipoprotein A-I and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol in vitro and in vivo. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2010;55(23):2580-2589.
- **461.** Corp R. RVX-208 treated patients have significant lower MACE events in high risk CVD patients. 2014.
- **462.** Wanner C, Quaschning T. Dyslipidemia and renal disease: pathogenesis and clinical consequences. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens.* 2001;10(2):195-201.
- **463.** Quaschning T, Krane V, Metzger T, Wanner C. Abnormalities in uremic lipoprotein metabolism and its impact on cardiovascular disease. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 2001;38(4 Suppl 1):S14-19.
- **464.** van Leuven SI, Franssen R, Kastelein JJ, Levi M, Stroes ESG, Tak PP. Systemic inflammation as a risk factor for atherothrombosis. *Rheumatology*. 2008;47(1):3-7.
- **465.** Van Lenten BJ, Wagner AC, Nayak DP, Hama S, Navab M, Fogelman AM. High-Density Lipoprotein Loses Its Anti-Inflammatory Properties During Acute Influenza A Infection. *Circulation*. 2001;103(18):2283-2288.
- **466.** Ansell BJ, Navab M, Hama S, Kamranpour N, Fonarow G, Hough G, Rahmani S, Mottahedeh R, Dave R, Reddy ST, Fogelman AM. Inflammatory/Antiinflammatory Properties of High-Density Lipoprotein Distinguish Patients From Control Subjects Better

Than High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Levels and Are Favorably Affected by Simvastatin Treatment. *Circulation*. 2003;108(22):2751-2756.

- **467.** Navab M, Reddy ST, Van Lenten BJ, Anantharamaiah GM, Fogelman AM. The role of dysfunctional HDL in atherosclerosis. *J Lipid Res.* 2009;50 Suppl:S145-149.
- **468.** Vaisar T, Pennathur S, Green PS, Gharib SA, Hoofnagle AN, Cheung MC, Byun J, Vuletic S, Kassim S, Singh P, Chea H, Knopp RH, Brunzell J, Geary R, Chait A, Zhao X-Q, Elkon K, Marcovina S, Ridker P, Oram JF, Heinecke JW. Shotgun proteomics implicates protease inhibition and complement activation in the antiinflammatory properties of HDL. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation.* 2007;117(3):746-756.
- **469.** Alwaili K, Bailey D, Awan Z, Bailey SD, Ruel I, Hafiane A, Krimbou L, Laboissiere S, Genest J. The HDL proteome in acute coronary syndromes shifts to an inflammatory profile. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2012;1821(3):405-415.
- **470.** Holzer M, Birner-Gruenberger R, Stojakovic T, El-Gamal D, Binder V, Wadsack C, Heinemann A, Marsche G. Uremia alters HDL composition and function. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2011;22(9):1631-1641.
- **471.** Weichhart T, Kopecky C, Kubicek M, Haidinger M, Döller D, Katholnig K, Suarna C, Eller P, Tölle M, Gerner C, Zlabinger GJ, van der Giet M, Hörl WH, Stocker R, Säemann MD. Serum Amyloid A in Uremic HDL Promotes Inflammation. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*. 2012;23(5):934-947.
- **472.** Watanabe J, Charles-Schoeman C, Miao Y, Elashoff D, Lee YY, Katselis G, Lee TD, Reddy ST. Proteomic profiling following immunoaffinity capture of high-density lipoprotein: Association of acute-phase proteins and complement factors with proinflammatory high-density lipoprotein in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis & Rheumatism.* 2012;64(6):1828-1837.
- **473.** Holzer M, Wolf P, Curcic S, Birner-Gruenberger R, Weger W, Inzinger M, El-Gamal D, Wadsack C, Heinemann A, Marsche G. Psoriasis alters HDL composition and cholesterol efflux capacity. *Journal of Lipid Research*. 2012;53(8):1618-1624.
- **474.** Strunk RC KK, Giclas PC. Human peripheral blood monocyte derived macrophages produce haemolytically active C3 in vitro. *Immunology*. 1983;49:169-174.
- **475.** Oksjoki R KP, Pentikainen MO. Role of complement activation in atherosclerosis. *Curr Opin Lipidol.* 2003;14:447-482.
- **476.** Coetzee GA SA, van der Westhuyzen DR, Hoppe HC, Jennah MS, de Beer FC. Serum amyloid A-containing human high density lipoprotein 3. Density, size, and apolipoprotein composition. *J Biol Chem.* 1986;261:9644-9651.
- **477.** Artl A, Marsche G, Lestavel S, Sattler W, Malle E. Role of Serum Amyloid A During Metabolism of Acute-Phase HDL by Macrophages. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology.* 2000;20(3):763-772.
- **478.** Niemi K, Teirilä L, Lappalainen J, Rajamäki K, Baumann MH, Öörni K, Wolff H, Kovanen PT, Matikainen S, Eklund KK. Serum Amyloid A Activates the NLRP3 Inflammasome via P2X7 Receptor and a Cathepsin B-Sensitive Pathway. *The Journal of Immunology.* 2011;186(11):6119-6128.
- **479.** W. Virgil Brown MB. Inhibition of lipoprotein lipase by an apoprotein of human very low density lipoprotein. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. 1972;46(2):375-382.
- **480.** Kawakami A OM, Aikawa M, Uematsu S, Akira S, Libby P. et al. Toll-like receptor 2 mediates apolipoprotein CIII-induced monocyte activation. *Circ Res.* 2008;103:1402-1409.

- **481.** Holzer M GM, Pfeifer T, Wadsack C, Fauler G, Steigler P et al. Protein carbamylation renders high-density lipoprotein dysfunctional. *Antioxid Redox Signal*. 2011;14:2337-2346.
- **482.** Kunz F, Pechlaner C, Erhart R, Fend F, Mühlberger V. HDL and plasma phospholipids in coronary artery disease. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology.* 1994;14(7):1146-1150.
- **483.** Atger V, de la Llera Moya M, Bamberger M, Francone O, Cosgrove P, Tall A, Walsh A, Moatti N, Rothblat G. Cholesterol efflux potential of sera from mice expressing human cholesteryl ester transfer protein and/or human apolipoprotein AI. *J Clin Invest.* 1995;96(6):2613-2622.
- **484.** Fournier N, de la Llera Moya M, Burkey BF, Swaney JB, Paterniti J, Jr., Moatti N, Atger V, Rothblat GH. Role of HDL phospholipid in efflux of cell cholesterol to whole serum: studies with human apoA-I transgenic rats. *J Lipid Res.* 1996;37(8):1704-1711.
- **485.** Fournier N, Paul JL, Atger V, Cogny A, Soni T, de la Llera-Moya M, Rothblat G, Moatti N. HDL phospholipid content and composition as a major factor determining cholesterol efflux capacity from Fu5AH cells to human serum. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1997;17(11):2685-2691.
- **486.** Charles-Schoeman C, Lee YY, Grijalva V, Amjadi S, FitzGerald J, Ranganath VK, Taylor M, McMahon M, Paulus HE, Reddy ST. Cholesterol efflux by high density lipoproteins is impaired in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. 2012;71(7):1157-1162.
- **487.** Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Curtin LR, McDowell MA, Tabak CJ, Flegal KM. Prevalence of overweight and obesity in the United States, 1999-2004. *Jama*. 2006;295(13):1549-1555.
- **488.** Ogden CL, Troiano RP, Briefel RR, Kuczmarski RJ, Flegal KM, Johnson CL. Prevalence of overweight among preschool children in the United States, 1971 through 1994. *Pediatrics.* 1997;99(4):E1.
- **489.** Finkelstein EA, Trogdon JG, Cohen JW, Dietz W. Annual medical spending attributable to obesity: payer-and service-specific estimates. *Health Aff (Millwood).* 2009;28(5):w822-831.
- **490.** CJ. Glueck HT, D Jacobs, JA Morrison, R Beaglehole, OD Williams. Plasma high density lipoprotein cholesterol: association with measurements of boddy mass (Suppl IV). *circulation* 1980;62:IV62-69.
- **491.** Lamon-Fava S, Wilson PW, Schaefer EJ. Impact of body mass index on coronary heart disease risk factors in men and women. The Framingham Offspring Study. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1996;16(12):1509-1515.
- **492.** Peiris AN, Sothmann MS, Hoffmann RG, Hennes MI, Wilson CR, Gustafson AB, Kissebah AH. Adiposity, fat distribution, and cardiovascular risk. *Ann Intern Med.* 1989;110(11):867-872.
- **493.** Després JP, Moorjani S, Ferland M, Tremblay A, Lupien PJ, Nadeau A, Pinault S, Thériault G, Bouchard C. Adipose tissue distribution and plasma lipoprotein levels in obese women. Importance of intra-abdominal fat. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology.* 1989;9(2):203-210.
- **494.** Bertiere MC, Fumeron F, Rigaud D, Malon D, Apfelbaum M, Girard-Globa A. Low high density lipoprotein-2 concentrations in obese male subjects. *Atherosclerosis*. 1988;73(1):57-61.
- **495.** Ostlund RE, Jr., Staten M, Kohrt WM, Schultz J, Malley M. The ratio of waist-to-hip circumference, plasma insulin level, and glucose intolerance as independent predictors of the HDL2 cholesterol level in older adults. *N Engl J Med.* 1990;322(4):229-234.
- **496.** Després JP, Ferland M, Moorjani S, Nadeau A, Tremblay A, Lupien PJ, Thériault G, Bouchard C. Role of hepatic-triglyceride lipase activity in the association between intraabdominal fat and plasma HDL cholesterol in obese women. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology.* 1989;9(4):485-492.
- **497.** Tall AR. Plasma high density lipoproteins. Metabolism and relationship to atherogenesis. *J Clin Invest.* 1990;86(2):379-384.
- **498.** Patsch JR, Karlin JB, Scott LW, Smith LC, Gotto AM, Jr. Inverse relationship between blood levels of high density lipoprotein subfraction 2 and magnitude of postprandial lipemia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 1983;80(5):1449-1453.
- **499.** Murakami T, Michelagnoli S, Longhi R, Gianfranceschi G, Pazzucconi F, Calabresi L, Sirtori CR, Franceschini G. Triglycerides are major determinants of cholesterol esterification/transfer and HDL remodeling in human plasma. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1995;15(11):1819-1828.
- **500.** Arai T, Yamashita S, Hirano K, Sakai N, Kotani K, Fujioka S, Nozaki S, Keno Y, Yamane M, Shinohara E, et al. Increased plasma cholesteryl ester transfer protein in obese subjects. A possible mechanism for the reduction of serum HDL cholesterol levels in obesity. *Arterioscler Thromb.* 1994;14(7):1129-1136.
- **501.** Marques-Vidal P, Jauhiainen M, Metso J, Ehnholm C. Transformation of high density lipoprotein 2 particles by hepatic lipase and phospholipid transfer protein. *Atherosclerosis.* 1997;133(1):87-95.
- **502.** Dullaart RPF, Sluiter WJ, Dikkeschei LD, Hoogenberg K, Tol AV. Effect of adiposity on plasma lipid transfer protein activities: a possible link between insulin resistance and high density lipoprotein metabolism. *European Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 1994;24(3):188-194.
- **503.** Kaser S, Laimer M, Sandhofer A, Salzmann K, Ebenbichler CF, Patsch JR. Effects of weight loss on PLTP activity and HDL particle size. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord.* 2004;28(10):1280-1282.
- **504.** RN Wolf SG. Effects of caloric restriction on plasma lipids and lipoproteins. *Clin Res.* 1980;28:55a.
- **505.** Williams PT, Wood PD, Krauss RM, Haskell WL, Vranizan KM, Blair SN, Terry R, Farquhar JW. Does weight loss cause the exercise-induced increase in plasma high density lipoproteins? *Atherosclerosis.* 1983;47(2):173-185.
- **506.** Fong BS, Rodrigues PO, Salter AM, Yip BP, Despres JP, Angel A, Gregg RE. Characterization of high density lipoprotein binding to human adipocyte plasma membranes. *J Clin Invest.* 1985;75(6):1804-1812.
- **507.** Despres JP, Fong BS, Julien P, Jimenez J, Angel A. Regional variation in HDL metabolism in human fat cells: effect of cell size. *Am J Physiol.* 1987;252(5 Pt 1):E654-659.
- **508.** Garrison RJ, Wilson PW, Castelli WP, Feinleib M, Kannel WB, McNamara PM. Obesity and lipoprotein cholesterol in the Framingham offspring study. *Metabolism.* 1980;29(11):1053-1060.
- **509.** Gylling H, Vega GL, Grundy SM. Physiologic mechanisms for reduced apolipoprotein A-I concentrations associated with low levels of high density lipoprotein cholesterol in patients with normal plasma lipids. *J Lipid Res.* 1992;33(10):1527-1539.

- **510.** EA Brinton JT. increased intra-abdominal fat may lower HDL levels by increasing the fractional catabolic rate of lp A-1 in postmenopausal women. *circulation.* 1996;94 (Suppl):1-266.
- **511.** Apfel R, Benbrook D, Lernhardt E, Ortiz MA, Salbert G, Pfahl M. A novel orphan receptor specific for a subset of thyroid hormone-responsive elements and its interaction with the retinoid/thyroid hormone receptor subfamily. *Mol Cell Biol.* 1994;14(10):7025-7035.
- **512.** Willy PJ, Umesono K, Ong ES, Evans RM, Heyman RA, Mangelsdorf DJ. LXR, a nuclear receptor that defines a distinct retinoid response pathway. *Genes Dev.* 1995;9(9):1033-1045.
- **513.** Weatherman RV, Fletterick RJ, Scanlan TS. Nuclear-receptor ligands and ligand-binding domains. *Annu Rev Biochem.* 1999;68:559-581.
- **514.** Glass CK, Rosenfeld MG. The coregulator exchange in transcriptional functions of nuclear receptors. *Genes Dev.* 2000;14(2):121-141.
- **515.** McKenna NJ, Lanz RB, O'Malley BW. Nuclear receptor coregulators: cellular and molecular biology. *Endocr Rev.* 1999;20(3):321-344.
- **516.** Repa JJ, Mangelsdorf DJ. The role of orphan nuclear receptors in the regulation of cholesterol homeostasis. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol.* 2000;16:459-481.
- **517.** Janowski BA, Willy PJ, Devi TR, Falck JR, Mangelsdorf DJ. An oxysterol signalling pathway mediated by the nuclear receptor LXR alpha. *Nature*. 1996;383(6602):728-731.
- **518.** Willy PJ, Mangelsdorf DJ. Unique requirements for retinoid-dependent transcriptional activation by the orphan receptor LXR. *Genes Dev.* 1997;11(3):289-298.
- **519.** Teboul M, Enmark E, Li Q, Wikstrom AC, Pelto-Huikko M, Gustafsson JA. OR-1, a member of the nuclear receptor superfamily that interacts with the 9-cis-retinoic acid receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 1995;92(6):2096-2100.
- 520. Lehmann JM, Kliewer SA, Moore LB, Smith-Oliver TA, Oliver BB, Su JL, Sundseth SS, Winegar DA, Blanchard DE, Spencer TA, Willson TM. Activation of the nuclear receptor LXR by oxysterols defines a new hormone response pathway. *J Biol Chem.* 1997;272(6):3137-3140.
- **521.** Janowski BA, Grogan MJ, Jones SA, Wisely GB, Kliewer SA, Corey EJ, Mangelsdorf DJ. Structural requirements of ligands for the oxysterol liver X receptors LXRα and LXRβ. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.* 1999;96(1):266-271.
- **522.** Yang C, McDonald JG, Patel A, Zhang Y, Umetani M, Xu F, Westover EJ, Covey DF, Mangelsdorf DJ, Cohen JC, Hobbs HH. Sterol intermediates from cholesterol biosynthetic pathway as liver X receptor ligands. *J Biol Chem.* 2006;281(38):27816-27826.
- 523. Spann Nathanael J, Garmire Lana X, McDonald Jeffrey G, Myers David S, Milne Stephen B, Shibata N, Reichart D, Fox Jesse N, Shaked I, Heudobler D, Raetz Christian RH, Wang Elaine W, Kelly Samuel L, Sullards MC, Murphy Robert C, Merrill Jr Alfred H, Brown HA, Dennis Edward A, Li Andrew C, Ley K, Tsimikas S, Fahy E, Subramaniam S, Quehenberger O, Russell David W, Glass Christopher K. Regulated Accumulation of Desmosterol Integrates Macrophage Lipid Metabolism and Inflammatory Responses. *Cell.* 2012;151(1):138-152.
- **524.** Schultz JR, Tu H, Luk A, Repa JJ, Medina JC, Li L, Schwendner S, Wang S, Thoolen M, Mangelsdorf DJ, Lustig KD, Shan B. Role of LXRs in control of lipogenesis. *Genes Dev.* 2000;14(22):2831-2838.
- **525.** Houck KA, Borchert KM, Hepler CD, Thomas JS, Bramlett KS, Michael LF, Burris TP. T0901317 is a dual LXR/FXR agonist. *Mol Genet Metab.* 2004;83(1-2):184-187.
- **526.** Mitro N, Vargas L, Romeo R, Koder A, Saez E. T0901317 is a potent PXR ligand: implications for the biology ascribed to LXR. *FEBS Lett.* 2007;581(9):1721-1726.

- **527.** Grefhorst A, Elzinga BM, Voshol PJ, Plosch T, Kok T, Bloks VW, van der Sluijs FH, Havekes LM, Romijn JA, Verkade HJ, Kuipers F. Stimulation of lipogenesis by pharmacological activation of the liver X receptor leads to production of large, triglyceride-rich very low density lipoprotein particles. *J Biol Chem.* 2002;277(37):34182-34190.
- **528.** Chisholm JW, Hong J, Mills SA, Lawn RM. The LXR ligand T0901317 induces severe lipogenesis in the db/db diabetic mouse. *Journal of Lipid Research*. 2003;44(11):2039-2048.
- **529.** Zhang Y, Breevoort SR, Angdisen J, Fu M, Schmidt DR, Holmstrom SR, Kliewer SA, Mangelsdorf DJ, Schulman IG. Liver LXRalpha expression is crucial for whole body cholesterol homeostasis and reverse cholesterol transport in mice. *J Clin Invest.* 2012;122(5):1688-1699.
- **530.** Whitney KD, Watson MA, Goodwin B, Galardi CM, Maglich JM, Wilson JG, Willson TM, Collins JL, Kliewer SA. Liver X receptor (LXR) regulation of the LXRalpha gene in human macrophages. *J Biol Chem.* 2001;276(47):43509-43515.
- **531.** Hashimoto K, Matsumoto S, Yamada M, Satoh T, Mori M. Liver X receptor-alpha gene expression is positively regulated by thyroid hormone. *Endocrinology*. 2007;148(10):4667-4675.
- 532. Kim MS, Sweeney TR, Shigenaga JK, Chui LG, Moser A, Grunfeld C, Feingold KR. Tumor necrosis factor and interleukin 1 decrease RXRalpha, PPARalpha, PPARgamma, LXRalpha, and the coactivators SRC-1, PGC-1alpha, and PGC-1beta in liver cells. *Metabolism.* 2007;56(2):267-279.
- **533.** Hao XR, Cao DL, Hu YW, Li XX, Liu XH, Xiao J, Liao DF, Xiang J, Tang CK. IFN-gamma down-regulates ABCA1 expression by inhibiting LXRalpha in a JAK/STAT signaling pathway-dependent manner. *Atherosclerosis.* 2009;203(2):417-428.
- **534.** Chen M, Bradley MN, Beaven SW, Tontonoz P. Phosphorylation of the liver X receptors. *FEBS Lett.* 2006;580(20):4835-4841.
- **535.** Delvecchio CJ, Capone JP. Protein kinase C alpha modulates liver X receptor alpha transactivation. *J Endocrinol.* 2008;197(1):121-130.
- **536.** Torra IP, Ismaili N, Feig JE, Xu CF, Cavasotto C, Pancratov R, Rogatsky I, Neubert TA, Fisher EA, Garabedian MJ. Phosphorylation of liver X receptor alpha selectively regulates target gene expression in macrophages. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2008;28(8):2626-2636.
- **537.** Yamamoto T, Shimano H, Inoue N, Nakagawa Y, Matsuzaka T, Takahashi A, Yahagi N, Sone H, Suzuki H, Toyoshima H, Yamada N. Protein kinase A suppresses sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1C expression via phosphorylation of liver X receptor in the liver. *J Biol Chem.* 2007;282(16):11687-11695.
- **538.** Huwait EA, Greenow KR, Singh NN, Ramji DP. A novel role for c-Jun N-terminal kinase and phosphoinositide 3-kinase in the liver X receptor-mediated induction of macrophage gene expression. *Cell Signal.* 2011;23(3):542-549.
- **539.** Li X, Zhang S, Blander G, Tse JG, Krieger M, Guarente L. SIRT1 deacetylates and positively regulates the nuclear receptor LXR. *Mol Cell*. 2007;28(1):91-106.
- **540.** Anthonisen EH, Berven L, Holm S, Nygard M, Nebb HI, Gronning-Wang LM. Nuclear receptor liver X receptor is O-GlcNAc-modified in response to glucose. *J Biol Chem.* 2010;285(3):1607-1615.
- **541.** Peet DJ, Turley SD, Ma W, Janowski BA, Lobaccaro JM, Hammer RE, Mangelsdorf DJ. Cholesterol and bile acid metabolism are impaired in mice lacking the nuclear oxysterol receptor LXR alpha. *Cell.* 1998;93(5):693-704.
- **542.** Chiang JYL, Kimmel R, Stroup D. Regulation of cholesterol 7α-hydroxylase gene (CYP7A1) transcription by the liver orphan receptor (LXRα). *Gene.* 2001;262(1–2):257-265.

- **543.** Chen J, Cooper AD, Levy-Wilson B. Hepatocyte nuclear factor 1 binds to and transactivates the human but not the rat CYP7A1 promoter. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1999;260(3):829-834.
- **544.** Chinetti-Gbaguidi G, Staels B. Lipid ligand-activated transcription factors regulating lipid storage and release in human macrophages. *Biochim Biophys Acta.* 2009;1791(6):486-493.
- **545.** Bensinger SJ, Tontonoz P. Integration of metabolism and inflammation by lipid-activated nuclear receptors. *Nature*. 2008;454(7203):470-477.
- **546.** Oosterveer MH, Grefhorst A, Groen AK, Kuipers F. The liver X receptor: control of cellular lipid homeostasis and beyond Implications for drug design. *Prog Lipid Res.* 2010;49(4):343-352.
- **547.** Pourcet B, Feig JE, Vengrenyuk Y, Hobbs AJ, Kepka-Lenhart D, Garabedian MJ, Morris SM, Jr., Fisher EA, Pineda-Torra I. LXRalpha regulates macrophage arginase 1 through PU.1 and interferon regulatory factor 8. *Circ Res.* 2011;109(5):492-501.
- **548.** Joseph SB, McKilligin E, Pei L, Watson MA, Collins AR, Laffitte BA, Chen M, Noh G, Goodman J, Hagger GN, Tran J, Tippin TK, Wang X, Lusis AJ, Hsueh WA, Law RE, Collins JL, Willson TM, Tontonoz P. Synthetic LXR ligand inhibits the development of atherosclerosis in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2002;99(11):7604-7609.
- **549.** Levin N, Bischoff ED, Daige CL, Thomas D, Vu CT, Heyman RA, Tangirala RK, Schulman IG. Macrophage liver X receptor is required for antiatherogenic activity of LXR agonists. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2005;25(1):135-142.
- 550. Peng D, Hiipakka RA, Xie JT, Dai Q, Kokontis JM, Reardon CA, Getz GS, Liao S. A novel potent synthetic steroidal liver X receptor agonist lowers plasma cholesterol and triglycerides and reduces atherosclerosis in LDLR(-/-) mice. *Br J Pharmacol.* 2011;162(8):1792-1804.
- **551.** Peng D, Hiipakka RA, Dai Q, Guo J, Reardon CA, Getz GS, Liao S. Antiatherosclerotic effects of a novel synthetic tissue-selective steroidal liver X receptor agonist in low-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* 2008;327(2):332-342.
- **552.** Terasaka N, Hiroshima A, Koieyama T, Ubukata N, Morikawa Y, Nakai D, Inaba T. T-0901317, a synthetic liver X receptor ligand, inhibits development of atherosclerosis in LDL receptor-deficient mice. *FEBS Lett.* 2003;536(1-3):6-11.
- **553.** Quinet EM, Basso MD, Halpern AR, Yates DW, Steffan RJ, Clerin V, Resmini C, Keith JC, Berrodin TJ, Feingold I, Zhong W, Hartman HB, Evans MJ, Gardell SJ, DiBlasio-Smith E, Mounts WM, LaVallie ER, Wrobel J, Nambi P, Vlasuk GP. LXR ligand lowers LDL cholesterol in primates, is lipid neutral in hamster, and reduces atherosclerosis in mouse. *J Lipid Res.* 2009;50(12):2358-2370.
- 554. Kratzer A, Buchebner M, Pfeifer T, Becker TM, Uray G, Miyazaki M, Miyazaki-Anzai S, Ebner B, Chandak PG, Kadam RS, Calayir E, Rathke N, Ahammer H, Radovic B, Trauner M, Hoefler G, Kompella UB, Fauler G, Levi M, Levak-Frank S, Kostner GM, Kratky D. Synthetic LXR agonist attenuates plaque formation in apoE-/- mice without inducing liver steatosis and hypertriglyceridemia. J Lipid Res. 2009;50(2):312-326.
- **555.** Verschuren L, de Vries-van der Weij J, Zadelaar S, Kleemann R, Kooistra T. LXR agonist suppresses atherosclerotic lesion growth and promotes lesion regression in apoE*3Leiden mice: time course and mechanisms. *J Lipid Res.* 2009;50(2):301-311.
- **556.** Feig JE, Pineda-Torra I, Sanson M, Bradley MN, Vengrenyuk Y, Bogunovic D, Gautier EL, Rubinstein D, Hong C, Liu J, Wu C, van Rooijen N, Bhardwaj N, Garabedian M, Tontonoz P, Fisher EA. LXR promotes the maximal egress of monocyte-derived cells from mouse aortic plaques during atherosclerosis regression. *J Clin Invest*. 2010;120(12):4415-4424.

- 557. Schuster GU, Parini P, Wang L, Alberti S, Steffensen KR, Hansson GK, Angelin B, Gustafsson JA. Accumulation of foam cells in liver X receptor-deficient mice. *Circulation*. 2002;106(9):1147-1153.
- **558.** Bradley MN, Hong C, Chen M, Joseph SB, Wilpitz DC, Wang X, Lusis AJ, Collins A, Hseuh WA, Collins JL, Tangirala RK, Tontonoz P. Ligand activation of LXR beta reverses atherosclerosis and cellular cholesterol overload in mice lacking LXR alpha and apoE. *J Clin Invest.* 2007;117(8):2337-2346.
- **559.** Bischoff ED, Daige CL, Petrowski M, Dedman H, Pattison J, Juliano J, Li AC, Schulman IG. Non-redundant roles for LXRα and LXRβ in atherosclerosis susceptibility in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice. *Journal of Lipid Research.* 2010;51(5):900-906.
- **560.** Teupser D, Kretzschmar D, Tennert C, Burkhardt R, Wilfert W, Fengler D, Naumann R, Sippel AE, Thiery J. Effect of macrophage overexpression of murine liver X receptoralpha (LXR-alpha) on atherosclerosis in LDL-receptor deficient mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2008;28(11):2009-2015.
- **561.** Naik SU, Wang X, Da Silva JS, Jaye M, Macphee CH, Reilly MP, Billheimer JT, Rothblat GH, Rader DJ. Pharmacological activation of liver X receptors promotes reverse cholesterol transport in vivo. *Circulation.* 2006;113(1):90-97.
- **562.** venkateswaran A LB, Joseph S, Mak P, Wilpitz DC, Edwards PA, Tontonoz P. Control of cellular cholesterol efflux by the nuclear oxysterol receptor LXR alpha. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 2000;97:12097-12102.
- **563.** Nakaya K, Tohyama J, Naik SU, Tanigawa H, MacPhee C, Billheimer JT, Rader DJ. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-alpha activation promotes macrophage reverse cholesterol transport through a liver X receptor-dependent pathway. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2011;31(6):1276-1282.
- 564. Chawla A, Boisvert WA, Lee CH, Laffitte BA, Barak Y, Joseph SB, Liao D, Nagy L, Edwards PA, Curtiss LK, Evans RM, Tontonoz P. A PPAR gamma-LXR-ABCA1 pathway in macrophages is involved in cholesterol efflux and atherogenesis. *Mol Cell.* 2001;7(1):161-171.
- **565.** Qiu G, Hill JS. Atorvastatin inhibits ABCA1 expression and cholesterol efflux in THP-1 macrophages by an LXR-dependent pathway. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol.* 2008;51(4):388-395.
- **566.** Lu KY, Ching LC, Su KH, Yu YB, Kou YR, Hsiao SH, Huang YC, Chen CY, Cheng LC, Pan CC, Lee TS. Erythropoietin suppresses the formation of macrophage foam cells: role of liver X receptor alpha. *Circulation*. 2010;121(16):1828-1837.
- **567.** Buono C, Li Y, Waldo SW, Kruth HS. Liver X receptors inhibit human monocyte-derived macrophage foam cell formation by inhibiting fluid-phase pinocytosis of LDL. *J Lipid Res.* 2007;48(11):2411-2418.
- **568.** Zelcer N, Hong C, Boyadjian R, Tontonoz P. LXR regulates cholesterol uptake through Idol-dependent ubiquitination of the LDL receptor. *Science*. 2009;325(5936):100-104.
- 569. Tangirala RK, Bischoff ED, Joseph SB, Wagner BL, Walczak R, Laffitte BA, Daige CL, Thomas D, Heyman RA, Mangelsdorf DJ, Wang X, Lusis AJ, Tontonoz P, Schulman IG. Identification of macrophage liver X receptors as inhibitors of atherosclerosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2002;99(18):11896-11901.
- **570.** Zelcer N, Tontonoz P. Liver X receptors as integrators of metabolic and inflammatory signaling. *J Clin Invest.* 2006;116(3):607-614.
- **571.** Rong X, Albert Carolyn J, Hong C, Duerr Mark A, Chamberlain Brian T, Tarling Elizabeth J, Ito A, Gao J, Wang B, Edwards Peter A, Jung Michael E, Ford David A, Tontonoz P. LXRs

Regulate ER Stress and Inflammation through Dynamic Modulation of Membrane Phospholipid Composition. *Cell Metabolism.* 2013;18(5):685-697.

- **572.** Kalaany NY, Gauthier KC, Zavacki AM, Mammen PP, Kitazume T, Peterson JA, Horton JD, Garry DJ, Bianco AC, Mangelsdorf DJ. LXRs regulate the balance between fat storage and oxidation. *Cell Metab.* 2005;1(4):231-244.
- **573.** Yu L, York J, von Bergmann K, Lutjohann D, Cohen JC, Hobbs HH. Stimulation of cholesterol excretion by the liver X receptor agonist requires ATP-binding cassette transporters G5 and G8. *J Biol Chem.* 2003;278(18):15565-15570.
- **574.** Yu L, Li-Hawkins J, Hammer RE, Berge KE, Horton JD, Cohen JC, Hobbs HH. Overexpression of ABCG5 and ABCG8 promotes biliary cholesterol secretion and reduces fractional absorption of dietary cholesterol. *J Clin Invest.* 2002;110(5):671-680.
- **575.** Yu L, Gupta S, Xu F, Liverman AD, Moschetta A, Mangelsdorf DJ, Repa JJ, Hobbs HH, Cohen JC. Expression of ABCG5 and ABCG8 is required for regulation of biliary cholesterol secretion. *J Biol Chem.* 2005;280(10):8742-8747.
- **576.** Duval C, Touche V, Tailleux A, Fruchart JC, Fievet C, Clavey V, Staels B, Lestavel S. Niemann-Pick C1 like 1 gene expression is down-regulated by LXR activators in the intestine. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2006;340(4):1259-1263.
- **577.** Kruit JK, Plosch T, Havinga R, Boverhof R, Groot PH, Groen AK, Kuipers F. Increased fecal neutral sterol loss upon liver X receptor activation is independent of biliary sterol secretion in mice. *Gastroenterology*. 2005;128(1):147-156.
- **578.** Murthy S, Born E, Mathur SN, Field FJ. LXR/RXR activation enhances basolateral efflux of cholesterol in CaCo-2 cells. *J Lipid Res.* 2002;43(7):1054-1064.
- **579.** Brunham LR, Kruit JK, Pape TD, Parks JS, Kuipers F, Hayden MR. Tissue-specific induction of intestinal ABCA1 expression with a liver X receptor agonist raises plasma HDL cholesterol levels. *Circ Res.* 2006;99(7):672-674.
- **580.** Brunham LR, Kruit JK, Iqbal J, Fievet C, Timmins JM, Pape TD, Coburn BA, Bissada N, Staels B, Groen AK, Hussain MM, Parks JS, Kuipers F, Hayden MR. Intestinal ABCA1 directly contributes to HDL biogenesis in vivo. *J Clin Invest*. 2006;116(4):1052-1062.
- **581.** Tang W, Ma Y, Jia L, Ioannou YA, Davies JP, Yu L. Niemann-Pick C1-like 1 is required for an LXR agonist to raise plasma HDL cholesterol in mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2008;28(3):448-454.
- **582.** Davis HR, Veltri EP. Zetia: inhibition of Niemann-Pick C1 Like 1 (NPC1L1) to reduce intestinal cholesterol absorption and treat hyperlipidemia. *J Atheroscler Thromb.* 2007;14(3):99-108.
- **583.** Repa JJ, Liang G, Ou J, Bashmakov Y, Lobaccaro JM, Shimomura I, Shan B, Brown MS, Goldstein JL, Mangelsdorf DJ. Regulation of mouse sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1c gene (SREBP-1c) by oxysterol receptors, LXRalpha and LXRbeta. *Genes Dev.* 2000;14(22):2819-2830.
- 584. Yoshikawa T, Shimano H, Amemiya-Kudo M, Yahagi N, Hasty AH, Matsuzaka T, Okazaki H, Tamura Y, Iizuka Y, Ohashi K, Osuga J, Harada K, Gotoda T, Kimura S, Ishibashi S, Yamada N. Identification of liver X receptor-retinoid X receptor as an activator of the sterol regulatory element-binding protein 1c gene promoter. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2001;21(9):2991-3000.
- **585.** Talukdar S, Hillgartner FB. The mechanism mediating the activation of acetyl-coenzyme A carboxylase-alpha gene transcription by the liver X receptor agonist T0-901317. *J Lipid Res.* 2006;47(11):2451-2461.

- **586.** Joseph SB, Laffitte BA, Patel PH, Watson MA, Matsukuma KE, Walczak R, Collins JL, Osborne TF, Tontonoz P. Direct and indirect mechanisms for regulation of fatty acid synthase gene expression by liver X receptors. *J Biol Chem.* 2002;277(13):11019-11025.
- 587. Wang Y, Kurdi-Haidar B, Oram JF. LXR-mediated activation of macrophage stearoyl-CoA desaturase generates unsaturated fatty acids that destabilize ABCA1. J Lipid Res. 2004;45(5):972-980.
- **588.** Cha JY, Repa JJ. The liver X receptor (LXR) and hepatic lipogenesis. The carbohydrateresponse element-binding protein is a target gene of LXR. *J Biol Chem.* 2007;282(1):743-751.
- 589. Grefhorst A, Elzinga BM, Voshol PJ, Plösch T, Kok T, Bloks VW, van der Sluijs FH, Havekes LM, Romijn JA, Verkade HJ, Kuipers F. Stimulation of Lipogenesis by Pharmacological Activation of the Liver X Receptor Leads to Production of Large, Triglyceride-rich Very Low Density Lipoprotein Particles. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 2002;277(37):34182-34190.
- **590.** Zhang Y, Repa JJ, Gauthier K, Mangelsdorf DJ. Regulation of Lipoprotein Lipase by the Oxysterol Receptors, LXRα and LXRβ. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 2001;276(46):43018-43024.
- **591.** Laffitte BA, Repa JJ, Joseph SB, Wilpitz DC, Kast HR, Mangelsdorf DJ, Tontonoz P. LXRs control lipid-inducible expression of the apolipoprotein E gene in macrophages and adipocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 2001;98(2):507-512.
- **592.** DeLamatre J, Wolfbauer G, Phillips MC, Rothblat GH. Role of apolipoproteins in cellular cholesterol efflux. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Lipids and Lipid Metabolism*. 1986;875(3):419-428.
- **593.** Elshourbagy NA, Walker DW, Boguski MS, Gordon JI, Taylor JM. The nucleotide and derived amino acid sequence of human apolipoprotein A-IV mRNA and the close linkage of its gene to the genes of apolipoproteins A-I and C-III. *J Biol Chem.* 1986;261(5):1998-2002.
- **594.** Liang Y, Jiang XC, Liu R, Liang G, Beyer TP, Gao H, Ryan TP, Dan Li S, Eacho PI, Cao G. Liver X receptors (LXRs) regulate apolipoprotein AIV-implications of the antiatherosclerotic effect of LXR agonists. *Mol Endocrinol.* 2004;18(8):2000-2010.
- **595.** Luo Y, Tall AR. Sterol upregulation of human CETP expression in vitro and in transgenic mice by an LXR element. *J Clin Invest.* 2000;105(4):513-520.
- **596.** Masson D, Jiang XC, Lagrost L, Tall AR. The role of plasma lipid transfer proteins in lipoprotein metabolism and atherogenesis. *J Lipid Res.* 2009;50 Suppl:S201-206.
- **597.** Groot PH, Pearce NJ, Yates JW, Stocker C, Sauermelch C, Doe CP, Willette RN, Olzinski A, Peters T, d'Epagnier D, Morasco KO, Krawiec JA, Webb CL, Aravindhan K, Jucker B, Burgert M, Ma C, Marino JP, Collins JL, Macphee CH, Thompson SK, Jaye M. Synthetic LXR agonists increase LDL in CETP species. *J Lipid Res.* 2005;46(10):2182-2191.
- **598.** Masson D, Staels B, Gautier T, Desrumaux C, Athias A, Le Guern N, Schneider M, Zak Z, Dumont L, Deckert V, Tall A, Jiang XC, Lagrost L. Cholesteryl ester transfer protein modulates the effect of liver X receptor agonists on cholesterol transport and excretion in the mouse. *J Lipid Res.* 2004;45(3):543-550.
- **599.** Jiang XC. The effect of phospholipid transfer protein on lipoprotein metabolism and atherosclerosis. *Front Biosci.* 2002;7:d1634-1641.
- **600.** Laffitte BA, Joseph SB, Chen M, Castrillo A, Repa J, Wilpitz D, Mangelsdorf D, Tontonoz P. The phospholipid transfer protein gene is a liver X receptor target expressed by macrophages in atherosclerotic lesions. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2003;23(6):2182-2191.

- 601. A Yazdanyar XJ. Liver phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP) expression with a PLTP-null background promotes very low density lipoprotein production. *Hepatology*. 2012;56:576-584.
- **602.** Castrillo A, Joseph SB, Vaidya SA, Haberland M, Fogelman AM, Cheng G, Tontonoz P. Crosstalk between LXR and toll-like receptor signaling mediates bacterial and viral antagonism of cholesterol metabolism. *Mol Cell*. 2003;12(4):805-816.
- **603.** Joseph SB, Castrillo A, Laffitte BA, Mangelsdorf DJ, Tontonoz P. Reciprocal regulation of inflammation and lipid metabolism by liver X receptors. *Nat Med.* 2003;9(2):213-219.
- **604.** Hindinger C, Hinton DR, Kirwin SJ, Atkinson RD, Burnett ME, Bergmann CC, Stohlman SA. Liver X receptor activation decreases the severity of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Neurosci Res.* 2006;84(6):1225-1234.
- **605.** Zelcer N, Khanlou N, Clare R, Jiang Q, Reed-Geaghan EG, Landreth GE, Vinters HV, Tontonoz P. Attenuation of neuroinflammation and Alzheimer's disease pathology by liver x receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2007;104(25):10601-10606.
- 606. N AG, Bensinger SJ, Hong C, Beceiro S, Bradley MN, Zelcer N, Deniz J, Ramirez C, Diaz M, Gallardo G, de Galarreta CR, Salazar J, Lopez F, Edwards P, Parks J, Andujar M, Tontonoz P, Castrillo A. Apoptotic cells promote their own clearance and immune tolerance through activation of the nuclear receptor LXR. *Immunity*. 2009;31(2):245-258.
- **607.** Zhang-Gandhi CX, Drew PD. Liver X receptor and retinoid X receptor agonists inhibit inflammatory responses of microglia and astrocytes. *J Neuroimmunol.* 2007;183(1-2):50-59.
- **608.** Korf H, Vander Beken S, Romano M, Steffensen KR, Stijlemans B, Gustafsson JA, Grooten J, Huygen K. Liver X receptors contribute to the protective immune response against Mycobacterium tuberculosis in mice. *J Clin Invest.* 2009;119(6):1626-1637.
- **609.** Hanley TM, Blay Puryear W, Gummuluru S, Viglianti GA. PPARgamma and LXR signaling inhibit dendritic cell-mediated HIV-1 capture and trans-infection. *PLoS Pathog.* 2010;6:e1000981.
- **610.** Marathe C, Bradley MN, Hong C, Lopez F, Ruiz de Galarreta CM, Tontonoz P, Castrillo A. The arginase II gene is an anti-inflammatory target of liver X receptor in macrophages. *J Biol Chem.* 2006;281(43):32197-32206.
- **611.** Huang W, Ghisletti S, Saijo K, Gandhi M, Aouadi M, Tesz GJ, Zhang DX, Yao J, Czech MP, Goode BL, Rosenfeld MG, Glass CK. Coronin 2A mediates actin-dependent de-repression of inflammatory response genes. *Nature*. 2011;470(7334):414-418.
- **612.** Ghisletti S, Huang W, Jepsen K, Benner C, Hardiman G, Rosenfeld MG, Glass CK. Cooperative NCoR/SMRT interactions establish a corepressor-based strategy for integration of inflammatory and anti-inflammatory signaling pathways. *Genes Dev.* 2009;23(6):681-693.
- **613.** Venteclef N, Jakobsson T, Ehrlund A, Damdimopoulos A, Mikkonen L, Ellis E, Nilsson LM, Parini P, Janne OA, Gustafsson JA, Steffensen KR, Treuter E. GPS2-dependent corepressor/SUMO pathways govern anti-inflammatory actions of LRH-1 and LXRbeta in the hepatic acute phase response. *Genes Dev.* 2010;24(4):381-395.
- 614. Li P, Spann Nathanael J, Kaikkonen Minna U, Lu M, Oh Da Y, Fox Jesse N, Bandyopadhyay G, Talukdar S, Xu J, Lagakos William S, Patsouris D, Armando A, Quehenberger O, Dennis Edward A, Watkins Steven M, Auwerx J, Glass Christopher K, Olefsky Jerrold M. NCoR Repression of LXRs Restricts Macrophage Biosynthesis of Insulin-Sensitizing Omega 3 Fatty Acids. *Cell.* 2013;155(1):200-214.
- **615.** van der Hoorn J, Linden D, Lindahl U, Bekkers M, Voskuilen M, Nilsson R, Oscarsson J, Lindstedt E, Princen H. Low dose of the liver X receptor agonist, AZ876, reduces

atherosclerosis in APOE*3Leiden mice without affecting liver or plasma triglyceride levels. *Br J Pharmacol.* 2011;162(7):1553-1563.

- **616.** Yan W, Zhang T, Cheng J, Zhou X, Qu X, Hu H. Liver X receptor agonist methyl-3betahydroxy-5alpha,6alpha-epoxycholanate attenuates atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E knockout mice without increasing plasma triglyceride. *Pharmacology.* 2010;86(5-6):306-312.
- **617.** Giannarelli C, Cimmino G, Connolly TM, Ibanez B, Garcia Ruiz JM, Alique M, Zafar MU, Fuster V, Feuerstein G, Badimon JJ. Synergistic effect of liver X receptor activation and simvastatin on plaque regression and stabilization: an magnetic resonance imaging study in a model of advanced atherosclerosis. *European Heart Journal*. 2012;33(2):264-273.
- **618.** Morales JR, Ballesteros I, Deniz JM, Hurtado O, Vivancos J, Nombela F, Lizasoain I, Castrillo A, Moro MA. Activation of liver X receptors promotes neuroprotection and reduces brain inflammation in experimental stroke. *Circulation.* 2008;118(14):1450-1459.
- **619.** Blaschke F, Takata Y, Caglayan E, Collins A, Tontonoz P, Hsueh WA, Tangirala RK. A nuclear receptor corepressor-dependent pathway mediates suppression of cytokine-induced C-reactive protein gene expression by liver X receptor. *Circ Res.* 2006;99(12):e88-99.
- **620.** Blaschke F, Leppanen O, Takata Y, Caglayan E, Liu J, Fishbein MC, Kappert K, Nakayama KI, Collins AR, Fleck E, Hsueh WA, Law RE, Bruemmer D. Liver X receptor agonists suppress vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation and inhibit neointima formation in balloon-injured rat carotid arteries. *Circ Res.* 2004;95(12):e110-123.
- **621.** Delvecchio CJ, Bilan P, Radford K, Stephen J, Trigatti BL, Cox G, Parameswaran K, Capone JP. Liver X receptor stimulates cholesterol efflux and inhibits expression of proinflammatory mediators in human airway smooth muscle cells. *Mol Endocrinol.* 2007;21(6):1324-1334.
- **622.** Delvecchio CJ, Bilan P, Nair P, Capone JP. LXR-induced reverse cholesterol transport in human airway smooth muscle is mediated exclusively by ABCA1. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* 2008;295(5):L949-957.
- **623.** Scotti E, Hong C, Yoshinaga Y, Tu Y, Hu Y, Zelcer N, Boyadjian R, de Jong PJ, Young SG, Fong LG, Tontonoz P. Targeted disruption of the idol gene alters cellular regulation of the low-density lipoprotein receptor by sterols and liver x receptor agonists. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2011;31(9):1885-1893.
- **624.** Peter A, Weigert C, Staiger H, Rittig K, Cegan A, Lutz P, Machicao F, Haring HU, Schleicher E. Induction of stearoyl-CoA desaturase protects human arterial endothelial cells against lipotoxicity. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* 2008;295(2):E339-349.
- **625.** Ogawa D, Stone JF, Takata Y, Blaschke F, Chu VH, Towler DA, Law RE, Hsueh WA, Bruemmer D. Liver x receptor agonists inhibit cytokine-induced osteopontin expression in macrophages through interference with activator protein-1 signaling pathways. *Circ Res.* 2005;96(7):e59-67.
- **626.** Peng D, Hiipakka RA, Reardon CA, Getz GS, Liao S. Differential anti-atherosclerotic effects in the innominate artery and aortic sinus by the liver X receptor agonist T0901317. *Atherosclerosis.* 2009;203(1):59-66.
- **627.** Dai XY, Ou X, Hao XR, Cao DL, Tang YL, Hu YW, Li XX, Tang CK. The effect of T0901317 on ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 and Niemann-Pick type C1 in apoE-/- mice. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol.* 2008;51(5):467-475.

- **628.** Bischoff ED, Daige CL, Petrowski M, Dedman H, Pattison J, Juliano J, Li AC, Schulman IG. Non-redundant roles for LXRalpha and LXRbeta in atherosclerosis susceptibility in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice. *J Lipid Res.* 2010;51(5):900-906.
- **629.** Chyu KY, Shah PK. Emerging therapies for atherosclerosis prevention and management. *Cardiol Clin.* 2011;29(1):123-135.
- **630.** Ward S, Lloyd Jones M, Pandor A, Holmes M, Ara R, Ryan A, Yeo W, Payne N. A systematic review and economic evaluation of statins for the prevention of coronary events. *Health Technol Assess.* 2007;11(14):1-160, iii-iv.
- **631.** Fruchart JC, Sacks FM, Hermans MP, Assmann G, Brown WV, Ceska R, Chapman MJ, Dodson PM, Fioretto P, Ginsberg HN, Kadowaki T, Lablanche JM, Marx N, Plutzky J, Reiner Z, Rosenson RS, Staels B, Stock JK, Sy R, Wanner C, Zambon A, Zimmet P. The Residual Risk Reduction Initiative: a call to action to reduce residual vascular risk in dyslipidaemic patient. *Diab Vasc Dis Res.* 2008;5(4):319-335.
- **632.** Gordon DJ, Rifkind BM. High-density lipoprotein--the clinical implications of recent studies. *N Engl J Med.* 1989;321(19):1311-1316.
- **633.** Boden WE, Probstfield JL, Anderson T, Chaitman BR, Desvignes-Nickens P, Koprowicz K, McBride R, Teo K, Weintraub W. Niacin in patients with low HDL cholesterol levels receiving intensive statin therapy. *N Engl J Med.* 2011;365(24):2255-2267.
- **634.** Fielding CJ, Fielding PE. Molecular physiology of reverse cholesterol transport. *J Lipid Res.* 1995;36(2):211-228.
- **635.** Cuchel M, Rader DJ. Macrophage reverse cholesterol transport: key to the regression of atherosclerosis? *Circulation.* 2006;113(21):2548-2555.
- **636.** Moore RE, Navab M, Millar JS, Zimetti F, Hama S, Rothblat GH, Rader DJ. Increased atherosclerosis in mice lacking apolipoprotein A-I attributable to both impaired reverse cholesterol transport and increased inflammation. *Circ Res.* 2005;97(8):763-771.
- **637.** Wang X, Rader DJ. Molecular regulation of macrophage reverse cholesterol transport. *Curr Opin Cardiol.* 2007;22(4):368-372.
- **638.** Rader DJ, Alexander ET, Weibel GL, Billheimer J, Rothblat GH. The role of reverse cholesterol transport in animals and humans and relationship to atherosclerosis. *J Lipid Res.* 2009;50 Suppl:S189-194.
- **639.** Sankaranarayanan S, de la Llera-Moya M, Drazul-Schrader D, Phillips MC, Kellner-Weibel G, Rothblat GH. Serum albumin acts as a shuttle to enhance cholesterol efflux from cells. *J Lipid Res.* 2013;54(3):671-676.
- **640.** Calkin AC, Tontonoz P. Liver x receptor signaling pathways and atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2010;30(8):1513-1518.
- **641.** Chen W, Chen G, Head DL, Mangelsdorf DJ, Russell DW. Enzymatic reduction of oxysterols impairs LXR signaling in cultured cells and the livers of mice. *Cell Metab.* 2007;5(1):73-79.
- 642. Edmondson AC, Braund PS, Stylianou IM, Khera AV, Nelson CP, Wolfe ML, Derohannessian SL, Keating BJ, Qu L, He J, Tobin MD, Tomaszewski M, Baumert J, Klopp N, Doring A, Thorand B, Li M, Reilly MP, Koenig W, Samani NJ, Rader DJ. Dense genotyping of candidate gene loci identifies variants associated with high-density lipoprotein cholesterol. *Circ Cardiovasc Genet*. 2011;4(2):145-155.
- **643.** Teslovich TM, Musunuru K, Smith AV, Edmondson AC, Stylianou IM, Koseki M, Pirruccello JP, Ripatti S, Chasman DI, Willer CJ, Johansen CT, Fouchier SW, Isaacs A, Peloso GM, Barbalic M, Ricketts SL, Bis JC, Aulchenko YS, Thorleifsson G, Feitosa MF, Chambers J, Orho-Melander M, Melander O, Johnson T, Li X, Guo X, Li M, Shin Cho Y, Jin Go M, Jin Kim Y, Lee JY, Park T, Kim K, Sim X, Twee-Hee Ong R, Croteau-Chonka DC,

Lange LA, Smith JD, Song K, Hua Zhao J, Yuan X, Luan J, Lamina C, Ziegler A, Zhang W, Zee RY, Wright AF, Witteman JC, Wilson JF, Willemsen G, Wichmann HE, Whitfield JB, Waterworth DM, Wareham NJ, Waeber G, Vollenweider P, Voight BF, Vitart V, Uitterlinden AG, Uda M, Tuomilehto J, Thompson JR, Tanaka T, Surakka I, Stringham HM, Spector TD, Soranzo N, Smit JH, Sinisalo J, Silander K, Sijbrands EJ, Scuteri A, Scott J, Schlessinger D, Sanna S, Salomaa V, Saharinen J, Sabatti C, Ruokonen A, Rudan I, Rose LM, Roberts R, Rieder M, Psaty BM, Pramstaller PP, Pichler I, Perola M, Penninx BW, Pedersen NL, Pattaro C, Parker AN, Pare G, Oostra BA, O'Donnell CJ, Nieminen MS, Nickerson DA, Montgomery GW, Meitinger T, McPherson R, McCarthy MI, McArdle W, Masson D, Martin NG, Marroni F, Mangino M, Magnusson PK, Lucas G, Luben R, Loos RJ, Lokki ML, Lettre G, Langenberg C, Launer LJ, Lakatta EG, Laaksonen R, Kyvik KO, Kronenberg F, Konig IR, Khaw KT, Kaprio J, Kaplan LM, Johansson A, Jarvelin MR, Janssens AC, Ingelsson E, Igl W, Kees Hovingh G, Hottenga JJ, Hofman A, Hicks AA, Hengstenberg C, Heid IM, Hayward C, Havulinna AS, Hastie ND, Harris TB, Haritunians T, Hall AS, Gyllensten U, Guiducci C, Groop LC, Gonzalez E, Gieger C, Freimer NB, Ferrucci L, Erdmann J, Elliott P, Ejebe KG, Doring A, Dominiczak AF, Demissie S, Deloukas P, de Geus EJ, de Faire U, Crawford G, Collins FS, Chen YD, Caulfield MJ, Campbell H, Burtt NP, Bonnycastle LL, Boomsma DI, Boekholdt SM, Bergman RN, Barroso I, Bandinelli S, Ballantyne CM, Assimes TL, Quertermous T, Altshuler D, Seielstad M, Wong TY, Tai ES, Feranil AB, Kuzawa CW, Adair LS, Taylor HA, Jr., Borecki IB, Gabriel SB, Wilson JG, Holm H, Thorsteinsdottir U, Gudnason V, Krauss RM, Mohlke KL, Ordovas JM, Munroe PB, Kooner JS, Tall AR, Hegele RA, Kastelein JJ, Schadt EE, Rotter JI, Boerwinkle E, Strachan DP, Mooser V, Stefansson K, Reilly MP, Samani NJ, Schunkert H, Cupples LA, Sandhu MS, Ridker PM, Rader DJ, van Duijn CM, Peltonen L, Abecasis GR, Boehnke M, Kathiresan S. Biological, clinical and population relevance of 95 loci for blood lipids. *Nature*. 2010;466(7307):707-713.

- **644.** Oram JF, Lawn RM. ABCA1. The gatekeeper for eliminating excess tissue cholesterol. *J Lipid Res.* 2001;42(8):1173-1179.
- **645.** Tall AR, Yvan-Charvet L, Terasaka N, Pagler T, Wang N. HDL, ABC transporters, and cholesterol efflux: implications for the treatment of atherosclerosis. *Cell Metab.* 2008;7(5):365-375.
- **646.** Repa JJ, Berge KE, Pomajzl C, Richardson JA, Hobbs H, Mangelsdorf DJ. Regulation of ATP-binding cassette sterol transporters ABCG5 and ABCG8 by the liver X receptors alpha and beta. *J Biol Chem.* 2002;277(21):18793-18800.
- **647.** Lund EG, Peterson LB, Adams AD, Lam MH, Burton CA, Chin J, Guo Q, Huang S, Latham M, Lopez JC, Menke JG, Milot DP, Mitnaul LJ, Rex-Rabe SE, Rosa RL, Tian JY, Wright SD, Sparrow CP. Different roles of liver X receptor alpha and beta in lipid metabolism: effects of an alpha-selective and a dual agonist in mice deficient in each subtype. *Biochem Pharmacol.* 2006;71(4):453-463.
- **648.** Yasuda T, Grillot D, Billheimer JT, Briand F, Delerive P, Huet S, Rader DJ. Tissue-specific liver X receptor activation promotes macrophage reverse cholesterol transport in vivo. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2010;30(4):781-786.
- **649.** Schulman IG. Nuclear receptors as drug targets for metabolic disease. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* 2010;62(13):1307-1315.
- **650.** Wagner BL, Valledor AF, Shao G, Daige CL, Bischoff ED, Petrowski M, Jepsen K, Baek SH, Heyman RA, Rosenfeld MG, Schulman IG, Glass CK. Promoter-specific roles for liver X receptor/corepressor complexes in the regulation of ABCA1 and SREBP1 gene expression. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2003;23(16):5780-5789.

- **651.** Su K, Sabeva NS, Wang Y, Liu X, Lester JD, Liu J, Liang S, Graf GA. Acceleration of Biliary Cholesterol Secretion Restores Glycemic Control and Alleviates Hypertriglyceridemia in Obese db/db Mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2014;34(1):26-33.
- **652.** Yancey PG, de la Llera-Moya M, Swarnakar S, Monzo P, Klein SM, Connelly MA, Johnson WJ, Williams DL, Rothblat GH. High density lipoprotein phospholipid composition is a major determinant of the bi-directional flux and net movement of cellular free cholesterol mediated by scavenger receptor BI. *J Biol Chem.* 2000;275(47):36596-36604.
- 653. Okazaki H, Goldstein JL, Brown MS, Liang G. LXR-SREBP-1c-phospholipid transfer protein axis controls very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) particle size. *J Biol Chem.* 2010;285(9):6801-6810.
- **654.** Yazdanyar A, Yeang C, Jiang XC. Role of phospholipid transfer protein in high-density lipoprotein- mediated reverse cholesterol transport. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* 2011;13(3):242-248.
- **655.** Siggins S, Kärkkäinen M, Tenhunen J, Metso J, Tahvanainen E, Olkkonen VM, Jauhiainen M, Ehnholm C. Quantitation of the active and low-active forms of human plasma phospholipid transfer protein by ELISA. *Journal of Lipid Research*. 2004;45(2):387-395.
- **656.** Oka T, Kujiraoka T, Ito M, Egashira T, Takahashi S, Nanjee MN, Miller NE, Metso J, Olkkonen VM, Ehnholm C, Jauhiainen M, Hattori H. Distribution of phospholipid transfer protein in human plasma: presence of two forms of phospholipid transfer protein, one catalytically active and the other inactive. *J Lipid Res.* 2000;41(10):1651-1657.
- **657.** Honzumi S, Shima A, Hiroshima A, Koieyama T, Ubukata N, Terasaka N. LXRalpha regulates human CETP expression in vitro and in transgenic mice. *Atherosclerosis.* 2010;212(1):139-145.
- **658.** Agarwal-Mawal A, Murray CM, Belkhode S, Cheema SK. Differential regulation of cholesterol homeostasis in transgenic mice expressing human cholesterol ester transfer protein. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol.* 2007;85(3-4):430-438.
- **659.** Cappel DA, Palmisano BT, Emfinger CH, Martinez MN, McGuinness OP, Stafford JM. Cholesteryl ester transfer protein protects against insulin resistance in obese female mice. *Mol Metab.* 2013;2(4):457-467.
- **660.** Kumar N, Solt LA, Conkright JJ, Wang Y, Istrate MA, Busby SA, Garcia-Ordonez RD, Burris TP, Griffin PR. The benzenesulfoamide T0901317 [N-(2,2,2-trifluoroethyl)-N-[4-[2,2,2-trifluoro-1-hydroxy-1-(trifluorometh yl)ethyl]phenyl]-benzenesulfonamide] is a novel retinoic acid receptor-related orphan receptor-alpha/gamma inverse agonist. *Mol Pharmacol.* 2010;77(2):228-236.
- **661.** Bi X, Zhu X, Duong M, Boudyguina EY, Wilson MD, Gebre AK, Parks JS. Liver ABCA1 deletion in LDLrKO mice does not impair macrophage reverse cholesterol transport or exacerbate atherogenesis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2013;33(10):2288-2296.
- **662.** Lo Sasso G, Murzilli S, Salvatore L, D'Errico I, Petruzzelli M, Conca P, Jiang ZY, Calabresi L, Parini P, Moschetta A. Intestinal specific LXR activation stimulates reverse cholesterol transport and protects from atherosclerosis. *Cell Metab.* 2010;12(2):187-193.
- **663.** Favari E, Calabresi L, Adorni MP, Jessup W, Simonelli S, Franceschini G, Bernini F. Small discoidal pre-beta1 HDL particles are efficient acceptors of cell cholesterol via ABCA1 and ABCG1. *Biochemistry*. 2009;48(46):11067-11074.
- **664.** Castro GR, Fielding CJ. Early incorporation of cell-derived cholesterol into pre-betamigrating high-density lipoprotein. *Biochemistry.* 1988;27(1):25-29.
- **665.** Asztalos B, Zhang W, Roheim PS, Wong L. Role of free apolipoprotein A-I in cholesterol efflux. Formation of pre-alpha-migrating high-density lipoprotein particles. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1997;17(9):1630-1636.

- **666.** Barter PJ, Brewer HB, Jr., Chapman MJ, Hennekens CH, Rader DJ, Tall AR. Cholesteryl ester transfer protein: a novel target for raising HDL and inhibiting atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2003;23(2):160-167.
- **667.** Tall AR. The effects of cholesterol ester transfer protein inhibition on cholesterol efflux. *Am J Cardiol.* 2009;104(10 Suppl):39E-45E.
- **668.** Nissen SE, Tsunoda T, Tuzcu EM, Schoenhagen P, Cooper CJ, Yasin M, Eaton GM, Lauer MA, Sheldon WS, Grines CL, Halpern S, Crowe T, Blankenship JC, Kerensky R. Effect of recombinant ApoA-I Milano on coronary atherosclerosis in patients with acute coronary syndromes: a randomized controlled trial. *Jama*. 2003;290(17):2292-2300.
- **669.** Zhu X, Parks JS. New roles of HDL in inflammation and hematopoiesis. *Annu Rev Nutr.* 2012;32:161-182.
- **670.** Kappus MS, Murphy AJ, Abramowicz S, Ntonga V, Welch CL, Tall AR, Westerterp M. Activation of Liver X Receptor Decreases Atherosclerosis in Ldlr-/- Mice in the Absence of ATP-Binding Cassette Transporters A1 and G1 in Myeloid Cells. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2014;34(2):279-284.
- **671.** Fowler AJ, Sheu MY, Schmuth M, Kao J, Fluhr JW, Rhein L, Collins JL, Willson TM, Mangelsdorf DJ, Elias PM, Feingold KR. Liver X receptor activators display antiinflammatory activity in irritant and allergic contact dermatitis models: liver-X-receptorspecific inhibition of inflammation and primary cytokine production. *J Invest Dermatol*. 2003;120(2):246-255.
- **672.** Fontaine C, Rigamonti E, Nohara A, Gervois P, Teissier E, Fruchart JC, Staels B, Chinetti-Gbaguidi G. Liver X receptor activation potentiates the lipopolysaccharide response in human macrophages. *Circ Res.* 2007;101(1):40-49.
- **673.** Claudel T, Leibowitz MD, Fievet C, Tailleux A, Wagner B, Repa JJ, Torpier G, Lobaccaro JM, Paterniti JR, Mangelsdorf DJ, Heyman RA, Auwerx J. Reduction of atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E knockout mice by activation of the retinoid X receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2001;98(5):2610-2615.
- **674.** Steinberg D. The cholesterol controversy is over. Why did it take so long? *Circulation*. 1989;80(4):1070-1078.
- **675.** Janowski BA, Willy PJ, Devi TR, Falck JR, Mangelsdorf DJ. An oxysterol signalling pathway mediated by the nuclear receptor LXRα. *Nature*. 1996;383:728-731.
- 676. Glass CK, Witztum JL. Atherosclerosis: the road ahead. *Cell*. 2001;104(4):503-516.
- **677.** Schulman IG, Heyman RA. LXR as a therapeutic target for atherosclerosis. In: Packard CJ, Rader DJ, eds. *Lipids and Atherosclerosis*. London: Taylor & Francis; 2006:93-100.
- **678.** Peet DJ, Turley SD, Ma W, Janowski BA, Lobaccaro J-MA, Hammer RE, Mangelsdorf DJ. Cholesterol and bile acid metabolism are impaired in mice lacking the nuclear oxysterol receptor LXRα. *Cell.* 1998;93:693-704.
- **679.** Quinet EM, Savio DA, Halpern AR, Chen L, Schuster GU, Gustafsson JA, Basso MD, Nambi P. Liver X receptor (LXR)-beta regulation in LXRalpha-deficient mice: implications for therapeutic targeting. *Mol Pharmacol.* 2006;70(4):1340-1349.
- **680.** Svensson S, Ostberg T, Jacobsson M, Norstrom C, Stefansson K, Hallen D, Johansson IC, Zachrisson K, Ogg D, Jendeberg L. Crystal structure of the heterodimeric complex of LXRalpha and RXRbeta ligand-binding domains in a fully agonistic conformation. *Embo j.* 2003;22(18):4625-4633.
- **681.** Williams S, Bledsoe RK, Collins JL, Boggs S, Lambert MH, Miller AB, Moore J, McKee DD, Moore L, Nichols J, Parks D, Watson M, Wisely B, Willson TM. X-ray crystal structure of the liver X receptor beta ligand binding domain: regulation by a histidine-tryptophan switch. *J Biol Chem.* 2003;278(29):27138-27143.

- 682. Lund EG, Menke JG, Sparrow CP. Liver X receptor agonists as potential therapeutic agents for dyslipidemia and atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2003;23(7):1169-1177.
- **683.** Motoshima K, Noguchi-Yachide T, Sugita K, Hashimoto Y, Ishikawa M. Separation of alpha-glucosidase-inhibitory and liver X receptor-antagonistic activities of phenethylphenyl phthalimide analogs and generation of LXRalpha-selective antagonists. *Bioorg Med Chem.* 2009;17(14):5001-5014.
- **684.** Plosch T, Kok T, Bloks VW, Smit MJ, Havinga R, Chimini G, Groen AK, Kuipers F. Increased hepatobiliary and fecal cholesterol excretion upon activation of the liver X receptor is independent of ABCA1. *J Biol Chem.* 2002;277(37):33870-33877.
- **685.** van der Veen JN, van Dijk TH, Vrins CL, van Meer H, Havinga R, Bijsterveld K, Tietge UJ, Groen AK, Kuipers F. Activation of the liver X receptor stimulates trans-intestinal excretion of plasma cholesterol. *J Biol Chem.* 2009;284(29):19211-19219.
- **686.** Temel RE, Sawyer JK, Yu L, Lord C, Degirolamo C, McDaniel A, Marshall S, Wang N, Shah R, Rudel LL, Brown JM. Biliary sterol secretion is not required for macrophage reverse cholesterol transport. *Cell Metab.* 2010;12(1):96-102.
- **687.** Russell DW. The enzymes, regulation, and genetics of bile acid synthesis. *Annu Rev Biochem.* 2003;72:137-174.
- **688.** Wang DQ, Tazuma S. Effect of beta-muricholic acid on the prevention and dissolution of cholesterol gallstones in C57L/J mice. *J Lipid Res.* 2002;43(11):1960-1968.
- **689.** Timmins JM, Lee JY, Boudyguina E, Kluckman KD, Brunham LR, Mulya A, Gebre AK, Coutinho JM, Colvin PL, Smith TL, Hayden MR, Maeda N, Parks JS. Targeted inactivation of hepatic Abca1 causes profound hypoalphalipoproteinemia and kidney hypercatabolism of apoA-I. *J Clin Invest*. 2005;115(5):1333-1342.
- **690.** Jeyarajah EJ, Cromwell WC, Otvos JD. Lipoprotein particle analysis by nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Clin Lab Med.* 2006;26(4):847-870.
- **691.** Hammad SM, Powell-Braxton L, Otvos JD, Eldridge L, Won W, Lyons TJ. Lipoprotein subclass profiles of hyperlipidemic diabetic mice measured by nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Metabolism.* 2003;52(7):916-921.
- **692.** Yazdanyar A, Yeang C, Jiang XC. Role of phospholipid transfer protein in high-density lipoprotein- mediated reverse cholesterol transport. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.***13**(3):242-248.
- **693.** Wang X, Collins HL, Ranalletta M, Fuki IV, Billheimer JT, Rothblat GH, Tall AR, Rader DJ. Macrophage ABCA1 and ABCG1, but not SR-BI, promote macrophage reverse cholesterol transport in vivo. *J Clin Invest.* 2007;117(8):2216-2224.
- **694.** Nijstad N, Gautier T, Briand F, Rader DJ, Tietge UJ. Biliary sterol secretion is required for functional in vivo reverse cholesterol transport in mice. *Gastroenterology*. 2011;140(3):1043-1051.
- **695.** Erbay E, Babaev VR, Mayers JR, Makowski L, Charles KN, Snitow ME, Fazio S, Wiest MM, Watkins SM, Linton MF, Hotamisligil GS. Reducing endoplasmic reticulum stress through a macrophage lipid chaperone alleviates atherosclerosis. *Nat Med.* 2009;15(12):1383-1391.
- **696.** Feig JE, Pineda-Torra I, Sanson M, Bradley MN, Vengrenyuk Y, Bogunovic D, Gautier EL, Rubinstein D, Hong C, Liu J, Wu C, van Rooijen N, Bhardwaj N, Garabedian M, Tontonoz P, Fisher EA. LXR promotes the maximal egress of monocyte-derived cells from mouse aortic plaques during atherosclerosis regression. *J Clin Invest*.120(12):4415-4424.
- **697.** Murphy AJ, Akhtari M, Tolani S, Pagler T, Bijl N, Kuo CL, Wang M, Sanson M, Abramowicz S, Welch C, Bochem AE, Kuivenhoven JA, Yvan-Charvet L, Tall AR. ApoE regulates

hematopoietic stem cell proliferation, monocytosis, and monocyte accumulation in atherosclerotic lesions in mice. *J Clin Invest.* 2011;121(10):4138-4149.

- **698.** Yvan-Charvet L, Pagler T, Gautier EL, Avagyan S, Siry RL, Han S, Welch CL, Wang N, Randolph GJ, Snoeck HW, Tall AR. ATP-binding cassette transporters and HDL suppress hematopoietic stem cell proliferation. *Science*. 2010;328(5986):1689-1693.
- **699.** Bookout AL, Mangelsdorf DJ. Quantitative real-time PCR protocol for analysis of nuclear receptor signaling pathways. *Nucl Recept Signal.* 2003;1:e012.
- **700.** Tangirala RK, Rubin EM, Palinski W. Quantitation of atherosclerosis in murine models: correlation between lesions in the aortic origin and in the entire aorta, and differences in the extent of lesions between sexes in LDL receptor-deficient and apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. *J Lipid Res.* 1995;36(11):2320-2328.
- **701.** Zanotti I, Poti F, Pedrelli M, Favari E, Moleri E, Franceschini G, Calabresi L, Bernini F. The LXR agonist T0901317 promotes the reverse cholesterol transport from macrophages by increasing plasma efflux potential. *J Lipid Res.* 2008;49(5):954-960.
- **702.** Krause BR, Hartman AD. Adipose tissue and cholesterol metabolism. *J Lipid Res.* 1984;25(2):97-110.
- Zhang Y, McGillicuddy FC, Hinkle CC, O'Neill S, Glick JM, Rothblat GH, Reilly MP. Adipocyte modulation of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol. *Circulation*. 2010;121(11):1347-1355.
- **704.** Yu BL, Zhao SP, Hu JR. Cholesterol imbalance in adipocytes: a possible mechanism of adipocytes dysfunction in obesity. *Obesity Reviews*. 2010;11(8):560-567.
- **705.** Chung S, Sawyer JK, Gebre AK, Maeda N, Parks JS. Adipose Tissue ATP Binding Cassette Transporter A1 Contributes to High-Density Lipoprotein Biogenesis In Vivo. *Circulation*. 2011;124(15):1663-1672.
- **706.** Gao M, Liu D. The liver X receptor agonist T0901317 protects mice from high fat dietinduced obesity and insulin resistance. *Aaps j.* 2013;15(1):258-266.
- **707.** Dib L, Bugge A, Collins S. LXRα fuels fatty acid-stimulated oxygen consumption in white adipocytes. *Journal of Lipid Research*. 2014;55(2):247-257.
- **708.** Korach-André M, Archer A, Barros RP, Parini P, Gustafsson J-Å. Both liver-X receptor (LXR) isoforms control energy expenditure by regulating Brown Adipose Tissue activity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.* 2011;108(1):403-408.
- **709.** Separate and overlapping metabolic functions of LXRα and LXRβ in C57Bl/6 female mice. Vol 298; 2010.
- **710.** Tanigawa H, Billheimer JT, Tohyama J, Zhang Y, Rothblat G, Rader DJ. Expression of cholesteryl ester transfer protein in mice promotes macrophage reverse cholesterol transport. *Circulation.* 2007;116(11):1267-1273.
- **711.** Houten SM, Watanabe M, Auwerx J. Endocrine functions of bile acids. *Embo j.* 2006;25(7):1419-1425.
- 712. Qiao L, Han SI, Fang Y, Park JS, Gupta S, Gilfor D, Amorino G, Valerie K, Sealy L, Engelhardt JF, Grant S, Hylemon PB, Dent P. Bile acid regulation of C/EBPbeta, CREB, and c-Jun function, via the extracellular signal-regulated kinase and c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase pathways, modulates the apoptotic response of hepatocytes. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2003;23(9):3052-3066.
- **713.** Maruyama T, Miyamoto Y, Nakamura T, Tamai Y, Okada H, Sugiyama E, Nakamura T, Itadani H, Tanaka K. Identification of membrane-type receptor for bile acids (M-BAR). *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2002;298(5):714-719.
- **714.** Wang H, Chen J, Hollister K, Sowers LC, Forman BM. Endogenous bile acids are ligands for the nuclear receptor FXR/BAR. *Mol Cell.* 1999;3(5):543-553.

- **715.** Forman BM, Goode E, Chen J, Oro AE, Bradley DJ, Perlmann T, Noonan DJ, Burka LT, McMorris T, Lamph WW, Evans RM, Weinberger C. Identification of a nuclear receptor that is activated by farnesol metabolites. *Cell*. 1995;81(5):687-693.
- **716.** Kast HR, Nguyen CM, Sinal CJ, Jones SA, Laffitte BA, Reue K, Gonzalez FJ, Willson TM, Edwards PA. Farnesoid X-activated receptor induces apolipoprotein C-II transcription: a molecular mechanism linking plasma triglyceride levels to bile acids. *Mol Endocrinol.* 2001;15(10):1720-1728.
- **717.** Claudel T, Sturm E, Duez H, xE, xE, ne, Torra I, xE, s P, Sirvent A, Kosykh V, Fruchart J-C, Dallongeville J, Hum DW, Kuipers F, Staels B. Bile acid-activated nuclear receptor FXR suppresses apolipoprotein A-I transcription via a negative FXR response element. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 2002;109(7):961-971.
- **718.** Sinal CJ, Tohkin M, Miyata M, Ward JM, Lambert G, Gonzalez FJ. Targeted Disruption of the Nuclear Receptor FXR/BAR Impairs Bile Acid and Lipid Homeostasis. *Cell*.102(6):731-744.
- 719. Zhao A, Yu J, Lew JL, Huang L, Wright SD, Cui J. Polyunsaturated fatty acids are FXR ligands and differentially regulate expression of FXR targets. DNA Cell Biol. 2004;23(8):519-526.
- **720.** Nishimaki-Mogami T, Une M, Fujino T, Sato Y, Tamehiro N, Kawahara Y, Shudo K, Inoue K. Identification of intermediates in the bile acid synthetic pathway as ligands for the farnesoid X receptor. *Journal of Lipid Research.* 2004;45(8):1538-1545.
- **721.** Albers JJ, Marcovina SM. Standardization of Lp(a) measurements. *Chem Phys Lipids*. 1994;67-68:257-263.
- **722.** Albers JJ, Kennedy H, Marcovina SM. Evidence that Lp[a] contains one molecule of apo[a] and one molecule of apoB: evaluation of amino acid analysis data. *J Lipid Res.* 1996;37(1):192-196.
- **723.** conference c. Lowering blood cholesterol to prevent heart disease. *J AM Med Assoc.* 1985;253:189-218.
- 724. Ross R. Atherosclerosis--an inflammatory disease. *N Engl J Med.* 1999;340(2):115-126.
- **725.** Corrado E RM, Coppola G, Fattouch K, Novo G, Marturana I et al. An update on the role of markers of inflammation in atherosclerosis. *J Atheroscler Thromb.* 2010;69:614-624.
- **726.** Baigent C KA, Kearney PM, Blackwell L, Buck G, Pollicino C, Kirby A, Sourjina T, Peto R, Collins R, Simes R. . Efficacy and safety of cholesterol-lowering treatment: prospective meta-analysis of data from 90,056 participants in 14 randomised trials of statins. *Lancet*. 2005;366:1267-1278.
- **727.** Klingenberg R, Hansson GK. Treating inflammation in atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease: emerging therapies. *Eur Heart J.* 2009;30(23):2838-2844.
- **728.** Hu X, Li S, Wu J, Xia C, Lala DS. Liver X receptors interact with corepressors to regulate gene expression. *Mol Endocrinol.* 2003;17(6):1019-1026.
- **729.** Fu X, Menke JG, Chen Y, Zhou G, MacNaul KL, Wright SD, Sparrow CP, Lund EG. 27hydroxycholesterol is an endogenous ligand for liver X receptor in cholesterol-loaded cells. *J Biol Chem.* 2001;276(42):38378-38387.
- **730.** Schulman IG, Chakravarti D, Juguilon H, Romo A, Evans RM. Interactions between the retinoid X receptor and a conserved region of the TATA-binding protein mediate hormone-dependent transactivation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1995;92(18):8288-8292.
- **731.** Costet P, Luo Y, Wang N, Tall AR. Sterol-dependent transactivation of the ABC1 promoter by the liver X receptor/retinoid X receptor. *J Biol Chem.* 2000;275(36):28240-28245.

- **732.** Repa JJ, Turley SD, Lobaccaro JA, Medina J, Li L, Lustig K, Shan B, Heyman RA, Dietschy JM, Mangelsdorf DJ. Regulation of absorption and ABC1-mediated efflux of cholesterol by RXR heterodimers. *Science*. 2000;289(5484):1524-1529.
- **733.** Tontonoz P, Mangelsdorf DJ. Liver X receptor signaling pathways in cardiovascular disease. *Mol Endocrinol.* 2003;17(6):985-993.
- **734.** Joyce CW, Amar MJ, Lambert G, Vaisman BL, Paigen B, Najib-Fruchart J, Hoyt RF, Jr., Neufeld ED, Remaley AT, Fredrickson DS, Brewer HB, Jr., Santamarina-Fojo S. The ATP binding cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1) modulates the development of aortic atherosclerosis in C57BL/6 and apoE-knockout mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2002;99(1):407-412.
- **735.** Sabol SL, Brewer HB, Jr., Santamarina-Fojo S. The human ABCG1 gene: identification of LXR response elements that modulate expression in macrophages and liver. *J Lipid Res.* 2005;46(10):2151-2167.
- **736.** Honzumi S, Shima A, Hiroshima A, Koieyama T, Terasaka N. Synthetic LXR agonist inhibits the development of atherosclerosis in New Zealand White rabbits. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids.* 2011;1811(12):1136-1145.
- **737.** Fontaine C, Rigamonti E, Nohara A, Gervois P, Teissier E, Fruchart J-C, Staels B, Chinetti-Gbaguidi G. Liver X Receptor Activation Potentiates the Lipopolysaccharide Response in Human Macrophages. *Circulation Research.* 2007;101(1):40-49.
- **738.** Darimont BD, Wagner RL, Apriletti JW, Stallcup MR, Kushner PJ, Baxter JD, Fletterick RJ, Yamamoto KR. Structure and specificity of nuclear receptor-coactivator interactions. *Genes Dev.* 1998;12(21):3343-3356.
- **739.** Temple KA, Cohen RN, Wondisford SR, Yu C, Deplewski D, Wondisford FE. An intact DNA-binding domain is not required for peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARgamma) binding and activation on some PPAR response elements. *J Biol Chem.* 2005;280(5):3529-3540.
- **740.** Schacke H, Schottelius A, Docke WD, Strehlke P, Jaroch S, Schmees N, Rehwinkel H, Hennekes H, Asadullah K. Dissociation of transactivation from transrepression by a selective glucocorticoid receptor agonist leads to separation of therapeutic effects from side effects. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 2004;101(1):227-232.
- **741.** Zhang TY, Daynes RA. Macrophages from 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1deficient mice exhibit an increased sensitivity to lipopolysaccharide stimulation due to TGF-beta-mediated up-regulation of SHIP1 expression. *J Immunol.* 2007;179(9):6325-6335.
- **742.** Haruta H, Nagata Y, Todokoro K. Role of Flk-1 in mouse hematopoietic stem cells. *FEBS Letters.* 2001;507(1):45-48.
- 743. Bernstein BE, Kamal M, Lindblad-Toh K, Bekiranov S, Bailey DK, Huebert DJ, McMahon S, Karlsson EK, Kulbokas EJ, 3rd, Gingeras TR, Schreiber SL, Lander ES. Genomic maps and comparative analysis of histone modifications in human and mouse. *Cell*. 2005;120(2):169-181.
- **744.** Sims RJ, III, Nishioka K, Reinberg D. Histone lysine methylation: a signature for chromatin function. *Trends in Genetics*.19(11):629-639.
- **745.** Trojer P, Reinberg D. Histone lysine demethylases and their impact on epigenetics. *Cell.* 2006;125(2):213-217.

Publications resulting from this work

Journal articles

Breevoort SR, Angdisen J, Schulman IG. Macrophage Independent Regulation of Reverse Cholesterol Transport by Liver X Receptors. **2014**. ATVB. Submitted

Zhang Y*, **Breevoort SR***, Angdisen J, Fu M, Schmidt DR, Holmstrom SR, Kliewer SA, Mangesdorf DJ, Schulman IG. Liver LXRα is crucial for whole body cholesterol homeostasis and reverse cholesterol transport in mice. **2012**. *J Clinic invest*. 122(5):1688-99. PMCID: PMC3336978 * *co-first author*

Conference Abstracts

Sarah Breevoort, Jerry Angdisen and Ira G. Schulman (**January 2014**) Macrophage Independent Regulation of Reverse Cholesterol Transport by Liver X Receptors. Poster presentation at Keystone Symposia on Nuclear Hormone Receptors, Taos, NM.

Sarah Breevoort, Jerry Angdisen and Ira G. Schulman (**September 2013**) The Liver X Receptors and Reverse Cholesterol Transport. Oral presentation at S.

Sarah Breevoort, Jerry Angdisen and Ira G. Schulman. Liver LXRα plays a critical role in regulating LXR-dependent Reverse Cholesterol Transport.

- Poster presentation, Deuel Lipid Meeting, Napa, CA March 2013
- Poster presentation, Southeast Regional Lipid Meeting, Pine Mountain, GA September 2013

Sarah Breevoort, Jerry Angdisen, Yuan Zhang, Steven A. Kliewer, David J. Mangelsdorf, and Ira G. Schulman. LXRα regulates liver-dependent and - independent pathways to limit atherosclerosis

- Poster presentation, Keystone Symposia, Molecular Basis of Vascular Inflammation and Atherosclerosis, Big Sky, MT March 2012
- Poster presentation, American Physician Scientist Association (APSA) conference, Chicago, IL April 2012
- Poster presentation, Robert Berne Cardiovascular Center Symposium, Charlottesville, VA – May 2012